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It is difficult to believe that a year 
has passed since I introduced 
my first set of report and 
accounts. Last year I focused 
on the challenges that we faced 
and outlined my concerns that 
faced the RD&E and the wider 
NHS. These concerns still 
feature large on the agenda we 
are facing and the difficulties 
we identified in continuing to 
deliver the magnitude of cost 
reduction and savings expected 
of us materialised in 2013/14.   
In summary, we have reached 
the point where it is simply not 
feasible to be able to do more for 
less each year, unless we work in 
a fundamentally different manner 
- not only within the RD&E - but
across our local health and social
care economy.

So what has changed? 
We continue to make good 
progress on many fronts. We have 
continued to provide high quality, 
compassionate care with good 
outcomes. We have the highest 
ratings possible from Monitor for 
quality and continuity of service (in 
practice, financial sustainability) 
and hold the lowest possible risk 
scoring from the Care Quality 
Commission. We have met all of 
our regulatory targets for the year, 
reduced our cancellations over 
winter for elective patients and 
continue to deliver brilliant and 
sustained care for patients despite 
the challenges we face from a 
growing elderly population often 
with complex medical issues. Our 
safety statistics compare very 
favourably with the best of our 

peers and the performance of 
our clinical teams on the wards 
continues to improve from an 
already high level. All this has 
been achieved with increasingly 
positive feedback from staff in 
the national survey, despite the 
challenges that many of our staff 
will be facing as a consequence of 
the economy.

So did I overstate the 
challenges in my last report?
Unfortunately not. Positively, 
the challenge for us remains 
primarily a financial one, not one 
of quality, safety or outcomes, 
and this is down to a combination 
of key factors. The first of these 
is the year-on-year reductions in 
the prices we are paid to carry 
out our services. The second is 

It is my pleasure to introduce our Annual Report, 
Quality Account and Accounts for 2013/14

Chairman’s Introduction

James Brent
Chairman
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that we are paid only 30p in the 
Pound for additional emergency 
patients above the level admitted 
in 2008/9, the impact of which 
is approximately £5.2 million in 
the current financial year. And 
the third factor is the penalties 
we are charged for unavoidable 
re-admissions and delays in 
operations caused by late 
discharge of fit patients.

The outcome of these pressures 
is that we have generated an 
operating deficit of £3.1 million 
this financial year. We will 
continue to generate deficits at 
an increasing level until we can 
substantially change the way in 
which health and social care is 
delivered and/or the income we 
receive is better aligned with the 
costs of the services we provide. 
The challenge we - and other 
providers of acute health care - 
face is recognised by Parliament; 
as the Chair of the Commons 
Select Health Committee recently 
said: “Traditional methods need 
to change if the health and care 
system is to meet the demands 
of the modern world... the pace of 
change is often too slow and the 
obstacles to change are often too 
powerful.”

So what is your Board doing 
about it?
First we have established a 
clear hierarchy of priorities: what 
matters? And who matters? There 
is danger in times of austerity that 
we could try to be ‘all things, for 
all men’ and, given the financial 
resource available, end up doing 
little well for anyone. Your Board - 
supported by your Governors - has 

determined to focus primarily on 
safety, outcomes and (avoidance 
of) risk as the three things that 
matter most and on our patients, 
communities and staff as the 
people who matter most. We 
intend to use this barometer to 
ensure we make decisions in the 
future that remain firmly in the best 
interests of our patients and the 
wider community on the issues 
that matter most to them.

We are also working closely with 
our partners, not only in health 
but also in social care. There 
is a recognition - highlighted 
even more so by the ‘Financially 
Challenged’ status which has been 
attributed to Devon and 10 other 
regions - that in order to meet the 
expectations of our communities 
within the constrained budgets 
that we have, we will need to 
work with stronger partnerships 
than seen to date. Change can 
quite naturally be concerning and 
I have been very impressed by 
the focus shown by most of our 
partners in delivering the right 
outcome for our communities and 
patients. I am positive that as long 
as we, our partners, the system 
regulators and the central NHS 
organisations remain focused on 
‘what matters and who matters’, 
we will see a rapid evolution of our 
services to the benefit of our key 
stakeholders.

A ‘thank you’
The achievements over the last 
year in such difficult times have 
been a real testimony to our staff. 
We have some 7,000 staff who 
looked after over 145,000 admitted 
patients and over. 348,000 
outpatients last year. These are, 
however, just the numbers; in 
an acute hospital setting like the 
RD&E, each episode of care 
provides an individual - and 
potentially stressful - experience 
for a patient and often their carer 
and family. I have had the privilege 
of sitting on the judging panel for 
our Extraordinary People Awards: 
it has been a truly humbling 
experience. We have so many 
people who do so much more than 
can be reasonably expected for so 
many patients. As their Chairman, 
but also as a prospective 
patient, I thank them all for their 
professionalism and compassion. 
I would also thank our volunteers, 
over four hundred of them, who 
give so much of their time freely to 
the RD&E and to our Governors, 
who play a key role in the 
governance for our Trust. Finally, 
I would thank Brian Aird and 
David Wright, respectively Vice-
Chairman and Senior Independent 
Director, who retired at the end of 
the year after six years’ service.

James Brent 
Chairman
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Over the past year the RD&E has 
continued to strive to fulfil this 
vision; it has been an extremely 
busy hospital, treating over 
700,000 patients. Despite growing 
demand and an increasingly 
challenging financial position, I am 
proud to say our staff continue to 
deliver exceptional standards of 
care to our population and thanks 
to their dedication, skill and hard 
work we have achieved some 
significant milestones. 

We are always conscious of the 
importance of patient experience 
and how coming into hospital 
for many people is unsettling 
particularly if you are having 
an operation. In the last twelve 
months on-the-day cancellation 
of operations has reduced by a 
remarkable 97%. 

A key feature of the population 
we serve is its aged profile. In 
November we introduced a new 
Acute Care for the Elderly (ACE) 
service based in the Emergency 
Department. It is designed 
to provide multi-professional 
consultant-led geriatric assessment 
at our front door to ensure patients 
get a comprehensive care plan 
most suited to their needs and to 
enable people to be cared for at 
home and thus reduce admissions 
to hospital. 

Our focus and commitment 
to research, education and 
innovation being at the heart of 
safe and effective care reached 
a key milestone with the opening 
of the stunning £25million 
Research Innovation Learning 
and Development Centre (RILD) 

in December. Developed in 
collaboration with the University 
of Exeter, Exeter Medical School 
and generous grants from the 
Wellcome Wolfson Foundation it 
is a cornerstone in our continuing 
commitment to innovate and 
improve care and treatment for 
patients.  

We continue to meet all national 
targets and standards and feature 
strongly in national surveys 
and benchmark exercises on 
the quality and efficiency of our 
services. Reducing avoidable 
hospital acquired infections has 
been a key objective since we 
became a Foundation Trust 
ten years ago. We have made 
tremendous and sustained 
progress and once again this year 
our infection rates have reduced. 

The Trust vision is to provide safe, high quality, 
seamless services delivered with courtesy  
and respect

Chief Executive’s Introduction

Angela Pedder OBE 
Chief Executive



Annual Report and Accounts 2013/14 5

We can celebrate a second 
consecutive year with no MRSA 
Bacteraemia and a 40% reduction 
in the number of cases of 
C.difficile and we are now one of
the best performing acute teaching
hospitals in the country.

Planning for the winter is now a 
key feature of our work to ensure 
we are able to deal with the 
increased volumes of emergency 
patients who require our care. 
Compared to previous winters 
we did well in 2013/14 with a 
robust Capacity Plan designed 
to make us more robust through 
this difficult period. As anticipated 
we did once again treat high 
numbers of patients attending the 
hospital particularly from amongst 
our more elderly population. Our 
clinical teams once again rose to 
this challenge and provided safe 
care high quality care with dignity 
and respect – a key element of 
the Trust’s overarching vision for 
service. 

As part of our commitment to 
delivering our vision, and ensuring 
we continue to meet the needs 
of our increasingly dependent 
and acutely ill patients we 
have invested over £2 million 
in additional nursing staff. We 
have also worked with our 
staff and reviewed our senior 
management structure resulting in 
a more devolved approach to the 
management of our services with 
clinical staff, particularly Matrons, 
having dedicated time to lead the 
delivery of care and manage their 
teams. The RD&E is the safest 
hospital in the Southwest.

The RD&E is the largest provider 
of acute and specialist care to the 
population of Devon. This is a big 
responsibility but one we take very 

seriously. The quality we achieve 
is rooted in the commitment and 
dedication of all who work for and 
support the RD&E. As with any 
complex service we know we don’t 
always get things right but we are 
committed to listening and learning 
and to further improving the care 
we offer. So we have much to 
celebrate. 

However, the financial reality 
facing the NHS, and many 
hospitals including our own, 
means that we will need to 
confront some difficult choices in 
the years ahead. Demand for our 
services remains very high and it 
is growing. At the same time, our 
income levels are reducing and 
are become more challenged than 
at any other time in the RD&E’s 
ten years as a Foundation Trust. 
The price we receive to treat 
patients has been reduced by 
4% each year for the past four 
years and will continue to do so 
for the next five years. Put simply, 
this means that to treat the same 
number of patients we treated last 
year we receive around £11million 
less income each year. We also 
lose approximately £7million due 
to the impact of receiving only 
30% of the agreed cost of treating 
emergency admissions above a 
threshold set in 2008/9.

As a result of these pressures we 
have carried forward a deficit of 
£3.1million into 2014/2015. While 
it is very disappointing not to 
achieve our financial plan this year 
and to end the year with a deficit, 
this has to be viewed against our 
need to balance the delivery of 
safe care for our patients with a 
sustainable financial position. We 
have had a very successful track 
record of doing this – since the 
£20 billion cost reduction efficiency 

programme was introduced into 
the NHS four years ago the RD&E 
has generated over £50m of 
recurrent savings. The Board is 
committed to finding a solution 
and we will continue to work hard 
to reduce our current deficit and 
return to making a surplus as in 
previous years. But this is going to 
be a major challenge if we have to 
continue making the same level of 
efficiency savings each year whilst 
managing increasing demand.

Efforts are continuing to identify 
ways of further reducing cost 
including working as efficiently 
as possible by minimising waste 
and sharing resources with 
other acute Trusts in the region. 
Identifying ways to fundamentally 
transform the way we integrate 
services for patients in partnership 
with other health and social care 
organisations locally is a key 
priority alongside identifying new 
ways to grow our core income and 
building ‘centres of excellence’ 
which will attract more patients 
and additional income from a 
wider area.

Although there is no doubt we 
will need to perform at our best in 
the difficult years ahead, you can 
be confident and reassured that 
we are committed to this and that 
your care will be at the heart of 
everything we do. 

Angela Pedder OBE 
Chief Executive
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The RD&E is a teaching 
hospital which provides 
specialist and acute hospital 
services to a core population 
of about 460,000 people in 
Exeter, and East and  
Mid Devon. 

We also provide services to 
patients from further afield because 
we have national and internationally 
recognised excellence in specialist 
fields, including the Princess 
Elizabeth Orthopaedic Centre, 
the Centre for Women’s Health 
(maternity, neonatology and 
gynaecology services), Cancer 
Services, Renal Services, Exeter 
Mobility Centre and Mardon neuro-
rehabilitation centre. 

Our main hospital sites are at 
Wonford and Heavitree in Exeter; 
but increasingly we are providing 
patient care closer to home, 
including managing the day case 
surgery activity in East Devon 
community hospital theatres, 
community midwifery services and 
renal dialysis units. The RD&E 
manages over 100,000 emergency 
department attendances, 300,000 
outpatient attendances and over 
115,000 day case or inpatient 
admissions each year. We have 
797 inpatient beds and 80 day case 
beds. During 2013/14 the Trust 
spent £388 million and employed 
around 7,000 staff (actual head 
count numbers). 

The Trust is the leading centre 
for high quality research and 
development in the south west 
peninsula, delivers undergraduate 
education for a full range of 
clinical professions and is the 
lead centre for Exeter Medical 

School. It provides acute tertiary 
and secondary care services 
and some community services to 
its catchment population in the 
eastern part of Devon as well as 
for some specialist tertiary services 
to a wider population across the 
wider south west region. The 
majority of the Trust’s services are 
delivered at the Wonford Hospital 
and Heavitree Hospital sites in 
Exeter, with additional services 
delivered in partnership with other 
NHS Providers at other locations in 
Exeter, Mid Devon, East Devon and 
North Devon and Torridge; some 
specialist services are delivered 
more widely across Devon, 
Cornwall and parts of Somerset. 

The RD&E has a high standing 
in the local community and we 
recognise the duty we have to 
uphold the highest standards to 
maintain the affection and respect 
with which we are regarded. In 
recent years, with the freedom 
which comes with our Foundation 
Trust status, we have become more 

engaged with local people about 
their needs and aspirations for 
their RD&E. This has been made 
possible by the involvement and 
contribution of the publicly-elected 
Council of Governors, supported 
by the Board of Directors, our staff, 
12,000-strong public membership 
and relations with local people and 
partner organisations.

The Trust has a strong track 
record of continuous improvement, 
innovation and redesign, with a 
care focus on safety & quality.  
The Trust also has a strong 
emphasis on research, and 
translating research into clinical 
practice together with a good 
relationship with the University of 
Exeter to support this agenda. The 
Trust commenced a Trust-wide 
programme of transformational 
change in order to establish 
improved standards of performance 
and to create a new way of working 
for the future.  

About The Royal Devon & Exeter 
NHS Foundation Trust (RD&E)
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Strategic Report
INTRODUCTION

At the end of 2013/14, the RD&E 
completed its ten years as a 
Foundation Trust

As one of ten first wave 
Foundation Trusts in 2004, its 
new acquired status as a public 
benefit corporation provided 
recognition that the Trust was one 
of the very best hospitals in the 
country. In the intervening years 
the Trust has used its status, 
including its new found freedoms, 
to continuously and relentlessly 
improve its performance in line 
with the expectations and needs 
of the communities it serves. 

Our decade as a Foundation Trust 
is something to celebrate. We 
have used the freedoms within the 
legislation to build an organisation 
that is much closer to the heart of 
the community it serves and one 
which values its role as a public 
benefit corporation. The Board of 
Directors is accountable via our 
elected Council of Governors to 
the membership and population 
we serve.

The RD&E can be justly proud 
of its successful track record 
of delivering safe and effective 
care to people in Devon and 
its surrounding area in a cost 
effective and sustainable manner. 
Continuation of this sustained 
excellent service to our population 
is at the heart of work of the 
Board supported by our Council of 
Governors. 

Nevertheless, as it embarks on its 
second decade as a Foundation 
Trust, the wider social, economic 
and political environment within 
which we operate and the 
significant reduction in the  
funding available for acute and 
specialist care makes this task 
increasingly difficult.

Measure    2013          2003

Babies born    4,140           2,760

Emergency dept attendances    96,604          56,965

Outpatient Attendances    341,256          242,853

Inpatients and day cases    157,324          100,500

Emergency admissions  34,534          25,448
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A decade of progress

The last decade 
has seen fantastic 
improvements in the 
services that we have 
been able to develop 
and offer to the 
communities we serve 
in Devon and beyond. 

The following selection pulls out 
some of the highlights from the 
last ten years. 

More details are available  
online at the RD&E website: 
www.rdehospital.nhs.uk

2003/4
In this year the Trust became 
one of the first wave of just ten 
hospitals granted FoundationTrust 
(FT) status. The new status offered 
new freedoms and local autonomy 
as well as developing a greater 
connection with local people. 
As now, the approach taken a 
decade ago underlines that the 
Trust was keen to modernise, to 
constantly improve its performance 
and tailor a service that met the 
needs of its patients. For example, 
it significantly reduced waiting times 
for scans after looking in detail at 
the factors that caused the delays 
and identifying innovative solutions 
that would make a real difference. 

During the year the Trust installed 
its second CT scanner reducing 
waiting times for CT scans from 32 
weeks in March 2003 to 12 weeks 
by December 2003. 

In this year, the new Medical 
School building was opened on the 
RD&E site underling the Trust’s 
credentials as a teaching hospital. 

Princess Anne opened the new 
Haematology Centre - the result 
of a partnership with the Exeter 
Leukaemia Fund (ELF).

2004/5
In this year, the Trust faced a busy 
and demanding time – reaching the 
national targets set for it but facing 
a financial challenge as a result 
of the new payments by results 
system that had been put in place. 
This resulted in a deficit at the end 
of the year of over £7m. 

The new Council of Governors and 
the Trust’s membership came on 
stream in this year as part of the 
Trust’s Foundation Trust status. 

This year again saw the Trust’s 
appetite for improvement come 
to the fore: it helped pilot a study 
with six other Trusts on better 
hand hygiene; it helped shape 
the development of a new two-
year postgraduate diploma for 
anaesthesia practitioners to help 
deal with a predicted shortfall of 
anaesthetists; and it put in a new 
plan to protect meal times for 
patients. 

The Trust also invested in a  
new modular operating theatre in 
this year.
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2005/6
This year saw continued excellent 
operational performance - including 
a 33% reduction in MRSA - and 
a return to a surplus. For the fifth 
consecutive year the Trust was 
awarded three stars in the NHS 
performance league that was in use 
at this point. 

The Trust’s new cardiac catheter 
laboratory opened as did its 
expanded Emergency Department. 
The upgrade included providing 
capacity and security and a more 
patient centred service. 

In recognition of the demographic 
profile of the communities served 
by the Trust, in this year a 
government grant helped the Trust 
employ two elderly care specialist 
nurses to ensure the delivery of 
excellent care for older patients.

In this year 98% of patients were 
admitted within the four hours target 
and no-one waited for more than 
nine months for inpatient treatment. 

This year also heralded the 
introduction of minimally invasive 
oesophagectomy for patients with 
cancer of the oesophagus. 

The Trust also introduced 
radiofrequency ablation of renal 
tumours – one of the only Trusts in 
the country offering this service. 

Finally, this year also saw the 
introduction of a smoke free policy 
for the whole site. 

2006/7
In this year the Trust achieved a 
Healthcare Commission rating 
of “fair” for quality of services 
and “excellent” for managing its 
resources. It also achieved a 
surplus of almost £3m. 

The Trust began to develop its 
corporate strategy during the year 
following on from the direction it set 
out at the time of its graduation to 
FT status. 

This year saw the continued 
focus on service redesign and 
improvement. For example the 
Trust moved from having waiting 
times for routine MRI and CT scans 
of up to 50 weeks to the current 
longest waiting time of 13 weeks. 

It continued to enhance hospital 
cleanliness and reduce infections 
in response to the priorities set by 
members and governors. 

It scored well in an independent 
assessment of its services for 
children and was awarded a centre 
of excellence for its first trimester 
screening clinic. 

In this year, the Trust introduced a 
new electronic system for medical 
images and put in place a new 
patient meals service. 

It also increased the capacity of 
the Intensive Treatment and High 
Dependency Units by 15 new beds.

2007/8
A significant milestone was achieved 
in this year in the opening of the 
Centre for Women’s Health (CWH). 

Waiting time was a significant focus 
with 90% of patients being seen 
within 18 weeks from referral. 

The Trust achieved a further 
reduction in MRSA cases dropping 
from 52 to 18 at year end. 

The Trust was able to achieve an 
£8.3 million surplus strengthening its 
ability to invest in patient priorities. 

As well as the new CWH, the RD&E 
updated its two linear accelerators 
(Linacs) with cutting-edge 
equipment designed to generate 
beams of very high-energy 
X-rays or electrons to deliver the
prescribed radiation dose to the
intended tumour site, sparing
healthy tissues.

The Trust invested in two more 
endoscopic suites expanding the 
capacity of the service as well as 
expanding its Intensive Care Unit 
from 10 to 15 beds.

Our nursery was rated as 
outstanding by Ofsted as well as 
putting in place round the clock 
angioplasty. 

We also continued to take hospital 
cleanliness very seriously investing in 
six hydrogen peroxide misting units. 

The Trust also renewed its 
corporate strategy during this year 
around three key themes: respond, 
deliver and enable. 
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2008/9
The RD&E achieved a double 
“excellent” from the Healthcare 
Commission for both quality and the 
management of finances. 

The RD&E invested in over 600 
electric powered beds for our 
patients. The Trust succeeded in 
reducing waiting times for treatment 
ahead of schedule; continued to 
reduce hospital-acquired infections 
(C. Diff by 17% and MRSA by 32%) 
and responded to record-breaking 
emergency attendances. 

The RD&E signed up to the national 
Patient Safety First campaign to 
reduce incidents that may harm or 
put the safety of patients at risk. 

This year also saw a significant focus 
on reducing the numbers of falls 
within hospital through a process 
called “intentional rounding”. 

A survey of patients through our 
Emergency Department placed the 
Trust in the top ten of all hospitals 
nationally. 

In addition, the Trust was the top 
hospital for patient participation in 
health research trials. 

2009/10
The Trust achieved a “good” rating 
for quality and an “excellent” for 
financial management by the 
Healthcare Commission in 2009/10. 

It continued to reduce the incidence 
of C. Diff and MRSA infections. 
It also achieved national cancer 
waiting times targets.

During the year £5 million was 
invested in new equipment 
and facilities to improve patient 
experience and to help our staff 
provide the quality of care they 
aspire to deliver for all patients. 
Investments included the 24-station 
renal dialysis unit at Heavitree 
Hospital, the refurbishment of two 
operating theatres for day surgery, 
and investment in a new linear 
accelerator (LINAC) to improve 
waiting times for cancer treatment. 

It also put in place a carbon 
reduction strategy for the first time. 

The bad weather over the winter 
resulted in much higher than 
anticipated emergency department 
attendances and the hospital coped 
well with a significant norovirus 
outbreak. 

Signage in the hospital was 
improved during this year following 
input from patients and user groups. 

In this year, operating theatres in 
a number of local hospitals were 
transferred to the RD&E and 
maternity services within some 
community hospitals came under 
the wing of the RD&E. 

2010/11
This year marked the first time that 
the hospital began to manage the 
fall out from the economic downturn. 
Although it continued to grow, the 
emphasis in this year fell on the need 
to constantly increase efficiency and 
do more for less. 

A new £2.2 million haemodialysis 
unit was officially opened at 
Heavitree Hospital. Up to 144 renal 
patients receive their life saving 
treatment each year in this unit which 
was designed and planned with the 
involvement of patients and staff. 

The RD&E and Peninsula College 
of Medicine & Dentistry announced 
a multi-million pound capital funding 
award to develop a world class 
Centre for Translational Medicine 
in Exeter. Patients stood to benefit 
from the focus of this centre on 
improving our understanding and 
treatment of diabetes and other 
endocrine diseases. 

A new mobile eye clinic was 
launched – taking the service out 
to Devon towns so that 1,500 
Glaucoma patients per year can 
have their follow-up care closer 
to home. Three eye unit nurses 
qualified for a HGV licence so they 
could drive the 12-tonne converted 
lorry themselves out to local 
communities. 

The Trust achieved an unconditional 
registration with the new regulator – 
the Care Quality Commission.

The NHS inpatient survey saw the 
Trust ranked in the top 20% nationally 
based on how patients rated the 
quality of services at the hospital.

Work began on expanding the Trust’s 
oncology centre during the year. The 
new centre included a CT simulator. 
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2011/12
This year the RD&E was 
recognised by Dr Foster, a health 
information organisation, as one of 
four “Trusts of the year” underlining 
the achievements made by the 
hospital on patient outcomes and 
experience. 

The Trust’s pain management and 
physiotherapy outpatient clinic was 
moved to upgraded facilities at 
Heavitree Hospital. 

Our stroke service was at the 
forefront of a research study 
reducing the time it takes for 
patients to receive vital clot-busting 
treatment.

The cleanliness and maintenance 
of our hospital was rated highly in 
the PEAT (Patient Environment 
Action Team) inspection. We  
scored ‘Good’ across all three 
categories – food, environment, 
privacy and dignity.

The positive global benefits for 
patients from diabetes research at 
the RD&E was recognised with the 
University of Exeter Outstanding 
International Impact Award 
underlining the Trusts’ focus on 
research and innovation. 

The winter was particularly 
challenging with a higher number of 
elderly patients with complex needs 
coming through the emergency 
department. 

2012/13
This year was marked by 
recognition that to manage the 
reductions in income, radical 
transformation was required in 
how healthcare was delivered 
both within the Trust and with the 
organisation’s partners.

The Trust worked with the 
University of Exeter to create a new 
Research, Innovation, Learning and 
Development (RILD) Centre that 
was constructed during the year. 

The Trust pioneered a new LINX® 
Reflux Management System - a 
small, flexible band of titanium 
beads with magnetic cores that 
is placed around the oesophagus 
- designed to restore the body’s
natural barrier to reflux.

The Exeter Centre for Women’s 
Health achieved international 
recognition with the prestigious 
UNICEF (United Nations Children’s 
Fund) Baby Friendly award.

As a result of the previous winters 
which had placed strain on the 
hospital, the Trust decided to invest 
in two modular wards increasing the 
hospital’s bed capacity by 48. We 
increased the numbers of nurses 
by 120 to staff the new wards and 
also invested in other changes to 
manage demand.

The Trust’s new Surgical Health 
Services Research Unit was 
opened, bringing together the 
resources, experience and 
knowledge to inform real advances 
in all stages of surgical treatment 
and improve patient care.  

The Trust took delivery of a £2.5 
million state-of-the-art surgical robot 
in December 2012, and is now one 
of only around 20 hospitals in the 
UK using robots in complex surgery 
to target prostate cancers.

The excellence of our stroke 
service was recognised once again 
with a place on the national shortlist 
for the stroke category in the Care 
Integration Awards hosted by The 
Health Service Journal and the 
Nursing Times. 
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The Decade in Figures
The figures below highlight some of the changes we have 
witnessed during the last ten years:

These highlights 
cannot convey the 
scale of the changes 
witnessed over the 
last decade. 

The challenges facing the 
NHS, and provider Trusts such 
as the RD&E, have become 
much more intense during this 
period – partly as a result of 
austerity but also because of 
the demand and expectations 
on the service. 

§ The number of inpatient
admissions for patients over
90 has increased by two thirds
(66.7%)

(1,195 inpatient admissions over
90 in 2003/04, 1992 inpatient
admissions over 90 in 2013/14).

§ Average acute length of stay for
stroke patients has dropped by
29%

(18.3 days in 2003/04, 13 days
in 2013/14).

§ Accident and Emergency
Attendances have increased
by 61%

(60,081 in 2003/04, 96,997 in
2013/14).

§ Day Cases have increased by
77%

(34,491 in 2003/04, 61,097 in
2013/14).

§ Outpatients appointments
have increased by almost 50%
(47.72%)

(333,647 attends in 2003/04,
492,858 in 2013/14).

§ Although the proportion of
outpatient appointments not
attending by patients has gone
down from 7.1% to 6.2%, the
volume has increased by 7105

(25,482 in 2003/04, 32,587 in
2013/14).

§ Emergency admissions have
increased by 37%

(25,939 in 2003/04, 35,534 in
2013/14).

§ Length of stay reduction of on
average 3 days (36.5%) for
patients undergoing to total hip
or knee replacement

(Mean LoS 8.86 days 2003/04,
Mean LoS 5.62 days 2013/14).

§ Income has increased from
2004 - £199,095,000 in
2003/04 to £384,723,000 in
2013/14 - an increase of 93.24%.
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During the last year the Trust has 
continued to perform well clinically 
and operationally. We have:

§ Invested £2.8 million in additional
nursing staff

§ Completed 873 days MRSA
bacteraemia free by the end of 
the financial year

§ Achieved a 40% reduction in C.
difficile infections

§ Achieved the lowest rate of
pressure ulcers in the South West

§ Achieved the lowest rate of falls
causing harm in the South West

§ Achieved status as the best
hospital in the South West for
harm free care

§ Enabled 92% of patients needing
an operation to be treated in 18
weeks or less

§ Enabled 96% of outpatients to be
seen in 18 weeks or less

§ Achieved the national target
to treat 95% of Emergency
Department attendees within four
hours despite a very challenging
context of rising admissions and 
an elderly population 

§ Launched the Acute Care of the
Elderly (ACE) initiative to enable 
multi-disciplinary teams to carry 
out more detailed assessments 
of elderly patients coming into 
the hospital via the Emergency 
Department helping to minimise 
unnecessary admissions

§ Opened the £25 million Research
Innovation and Learning
Development Centre (pictured
above) - a partnership with the
University of Exeter Medical
School which elevates the
profile of Exeter as a centre of
excellence for clinical research
and patient care

§ Trained the majority of staff  on
the ”Forget me not” dementia
training

§ Performed well in patient surveys
and other experience indicators

§ Achieved an excellent track- 
record in delivering safe care with 
good clinical outcomes

Yet, despite these achievements, 
financially, this has been one of the 
most challenging years for the Trust 
for a considerable time. At year end, 
the Trust had recorded a deficit 
position of £3.1m against a planned 
surplus of £100k. Over the last eight 
years, the Trust has had a strong 
financial performance, reinvesting 
the surpluses achieved during this 
time. Although the deficit amounts 
to less than one per cent of turnover 
and the Trust has cash reserves 
to meet the shortfall, the forward 
looking financial context suggests 
that without radical changes, it  
will take some time to return to a 
surplus position. 

Our Year
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The drivers of this 
situation include:
§ Demand for services at the RD&E

continue to rise, particularly
amongst patients of the older
age group, many of whom have
complex multiple needs that
require high levels of specialist
medical and nursing care.
Devon’s population is significantly
more older than other parts of
England.

§ Each year for the last four years
the individual price the RD&E
receives to treat patients has
been reduced by 4%. Put simply,
this means that to treat the same
number of patients we treated last
year we receive approximately
£11million less income each year.

§ For emergency patients admitted
to the RD&E, the Trust receives
a reduced price of 30% of the
agreed cost treating these
patients, for all emergency
patients above a threshold set in
2009. In the current financial year
the impact of this is approximately
£5.2 million.

§ In addition, the RD&E, along with
other Trusts in the South West
peninsula, is adversely affected
by the application of a national
Market Forces Factor (MFF)
which further deflates the level of
funding we receive for the patient
care we provide.  To illustrate this
point, if the RD&E were based
in Bristol we would be paid an
additional £17million per annum
to provide the same level of
service as we do in Exeter.

The RD&E is not alone in feeling 
the impact of the financial pressure. 
According to the most recent 
performance report produced by 
Monitor at Q3 2013/14, the Acute 
Foundation Trust sector is now in 
overall deficit, with 40% of Acute 
Foundation Trusts in deficit. Within 
this context however some 65% 
of FT’s, including the RD&E, are 
maintaining the highest continuity of 
service rating from Monitor.

Northern, Eastern and 
Western (NEW) Devon Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) has 
been identified along with 10 other 
health communities nationally as a 
Financially Challenged Community 
by NHS England, Monitor and 
the Trust Development Authority. 
A programme of support has 
been commissioned to assist the 
development of a community wide 
five year plan. The identification of 
Devon as a local health economy 
that has significant financial issues 
underlines the very real difficulties 
facing both the Commissioners 
and providers of healthcare in 
Devon in coping with the financial 
constraints facing the NHS. This 
underlines that the work on the 
NEW CCG-wide 5-year plan will be 
of critical importance to address the 
underlying financial problems faced 
in the NHS economy in Devon and 
at the RD&E.
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Beating The Bugs 
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Infection prevention and control 
remains a priority for the Trust. 
During 2013-14, our high standards 
of infection prevention control 
practice have been sustained 
and we have seen further 
improvements in patient outcomes. 
Thanks to the hard work of our 
Infection Control Team, and clinical 
and support staff throughout the 
Trust, there have been no hospital 
acquired MRSA blood stream 
infections (bacteraemias) at the 
RD&E since September 2011. 
There has also been a further 
reduction (40%) in episodes of 
C.difficile, with the Trust achieving
fewer cases than the target of 39.

In 2003, the Department of Health 
(DH) set out a clear direction for 
NHS organisations to reduce 
hospital associated infections 
such as these and to curb the 
proliferation of antibiotic-resistant 
organisms. Each acute hospital 
Trust has set targets to reduce 
hospital-acquired MRSA blood 
stream infections, which we 
achieved through a range of 
prevention strategies such as:

§ Improved hand hygiene

§ Aseptic technique

§ Skin disinfection prior to
insertion of drips

§ Prompt removal of drips and
catheters

§ Screening to identify people
carrying MRSA

§ Topical treatments to reduce
carriage of MRSA whilst in
hospital.

As a result of these and several 
other interventions, in 2011/12 we 
reported a 98% reduction of MRSA 
blood stream infections acquired in 
the RD&E since 2004/5. By 2013/14, 
the number of acquired MRSA blood 
stream infections has remained at 
zero for the last two years. 

The DH also set reduction targets 
for C.difficile infection. C. difficile 
is more common than MRSA 
blood stream infections and can 
spread easily in hospitals because 
the bug can survive indefinitely 
and is resistant to many cleaning 
products.

Large outbreaks of C. difficile were 
reported in hospitals in the UK, 
including this hospital in 2005/6, 
which resulted in provision of a 
C.difficile cohort ward, changes
to the antibiotic formulary and the
introduction of the annual deep

clean programme using hydrogen 
peroxide vapour. Interventions 
in the last year have included 
further changes to the antibiotic 
prescribing guidelines and 
improvements to antimicrobial 
stewardship generally.

The target for the RD&E in 
2013/14 was to have no more 
than 39 hospital attributable 
cases of C.difficile infection. The 
objective was achieved with 28 
cases reported, which is below the 
average regional and national rate 
according to Public Health England.  

Our success is due to the 
continued efforts of a wide range 
of health care staff, including 
clinical teams, domestic services, 
ward housekeepers, laboratory 
workers and administrative staff. 
All staff should be congratulated on 
this performance and continue to 
strive to further reduce the risk of 
infection for our patients.
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‘Space-age’ laser 
surgery for glaucoma 
first for South West

The RD&E became the first Trust in 
the South West to offer new ‘space-
age’ laser surgery for glaucoma 
patients. The West of England Eye 
Unit now has a state-of-the-art 
laser micro-endoscopy unit, which 
makes glaucoma surgery safer, 
faster and more convenient for 
patients. Glaucoma is a condition 
of the eye that if untreated can 
lead to blindness. It is treated by 
lowering the eye pressure, which is 
usually achieved with eye drops but 
could require surgery. Conventional 
glaucoma surgery is usually 
effective but takes time, can have 
side effects such as reduced vision 
or wound problems and requires 
numerous follow-up hospital visits.  
Surgeons also usually prefer 
to remove any cataract which 
is present prior to undertaking 
glaucoma surgery, meaning an 
additional operation. 

However, the RD&E is now one of 
only a dozen hospitals in the country 
approaching this surgery in a 
different way. The new laser surgery 
procedure only takes 10-15 minutes, 
and can be done at the same time 
as cataract surgery. Everything is 
done under local anaesthetic and 
fewer follow-up visits are needed. 
Not everyone is suitable for this kind 
of surgery, but in Exeter over fifty 
patients have already benefited from 
the procedure. The new technology 
costs £45,000 and was purchased 
using charitable funds donated by 
past and present patients of the 
West of England Eye Unit.

Highlights of the Year
SPRING 2013
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Let’s recognise 
excellence –  
Launch of 
Extraordinary People

These were the words of Chief 
Executive Angela Pedder on the eve 
of the launch of our Extraordinary 
People Awards back in Spring 2013. 
The new RD&E staff recognition 
scheme, which was designed in 
response to staff feedback at the 
end of 2012, recognises staff and 
volunteers at the Trust who are truly 
extraordinary. Staff were asked to 
nominate their colleagues in each 
of the five categories – Excellent 
Care, Exemplar Award, Extra Mile 
Individual, Extra Mile Team, and 
Exceed Award. Patients were also 
given the opportunity to have their 
say, and were able to nominate staff 
who they felt had gone above and 
beyond their expected role to care 
for them. Three award ceremonies 
were run throughout the year, which 
saw over 30 different members of 
staff and teams recognised for their 
excellence. 

The awards culminated in a grand 
‘Winner of Winners’ ceremony which 
celebrated all of the successful 
candidates throughout the year. It 
also gave staff the chance to select 
an exceptional candidate in the 
Excellent Care category by voting for 
the People’s Award. 

Angela Pedder OBE 
Chief Executive

The Extraordinary People’s awards 
have been an excellent way of 
celebrating the drive, commitment 
and passion of RD&E staff to provide 
top quality care for our patients. 

SPRING 2013

“   
 ”

Every day great things 
happen at the RD&E 
because of our staff 
– something to really
celebrate.
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Expanding our 
services into the 
community

In April 2013 the RD&E welcomed 
a new team of professionals to its 
staff. Some twenty-six  Speech 
and Language Therapists (SLT), 
who are responsible for providing 
adult Acute and Community 
services, transferred from NHS 
Devon to the RD&E following NHS 
structural changes. 

Speech and Language Therapists 
provide specialist assessment 
and diagnosis and therapeutic 
interventions for people with 
acquired communication and 
swallowing disorders. At the RD&E 
they treat both inpatients and 
outpatients, and in the community 
they run clinics in community 
hospitals, care homes and people’s 
own homes. 

Being a small team, they provide 
cross-cover for acute and 
community services. Typically, they 
help people who have had a stroke 
or other forms of brain injury, or 
patients recovering from head and 
neck cancers – or even people 
who have been struggling with a 
stammer since childhood.

The speech and language 
therapists are a very professional, 
close-knit team, who work in 
tandem with other therapy services. 
Their transfer to the Trust has 
enabled greater opportunities for 
integrated working with the wider 
therapy teams such as Dietetics, 
Physiotherapists and Occupational 
Therapists.

SPRING 2013
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RD&E takes action to 
reduce risk of acute 
kidney injury among 
patients

The RD&E introduced a range of 
preventative measures aimed at 
reducing the risk of Acute Kidney 
Injury (AKI) among patients admitted 
as an emergency. The improvements 
have included the recruitment of 
specialist team of AKI outreach 
nurses - the first of their kind in the 
South West Peninsula – who focus 
on early identification of AKI and 
education of medical and nursing 
staff across the Trust.

A multi-disciplinary AKI working 
group has also been established, 
involving medical, nursing and 
laboratory staff, to draw up 
guidelines aimed at reducing the 
incidence of AKI, particularly in those 
at high-risk.  

The measures were taken 
ahead of the publication of the 
National Institute for Health and 
Care Excellence guidelines on 
the management of AKI, which 
highlighted the importance of 

awareness and early recognition of 
this condition.

The work builds on an electronic 
alert system for AKI, which was 
implemented in 2012, to ensure 
early changes in kidney function are 
brought to the attention of clinical 
staff as early as possible. 

Dr Chris Mulgrew, Consultant 
Nephrologist at the Exeter Kidney 
Unit, explained:

“The RD&E had already listed AKI 
as one of the key elements of the 
Patient Safety strategy for the year, 
and work to improve recognition and 
management of AKI in the hospital 
has been underway for some time, 
led by staff from Exeter Kidney Unit.  

We are confident that these 
measures will continue to ensure 
that patients in our hospital receive 
the best possible care.’”

SUMMER 2013
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Successful 
recruitment drive 
brings dozens of 
nurses to the RD&E 

Last summer saw a big investment 
in the nursing staff at the RD&E. We 
recruited over 80 qualified nurses 
from across the UK and Europe to 
help meet the additional staffing 
requirements for our two new wards 
– Yealm and Ashburn. To recruit
the required volume of nurses to
provide sufficient staffing levels on
the wards, the RD&E implemented
an innovative recruitment strategy.
When visiting a jobs’ fair in Ireland,
the recruitment team didn’t just
provide people with the information
that they needed about the Trust, but
also made arrangements to interview
them there and were able to offer
jobs on the spot. It was incredibly
successful initiative and saw 40 new
nurses recruited.

We will be back to do it again this 
year. Mark Gill, Head of Recruitment 
and HR Systems Development, said: 

“To recruit the volume of nurses 
required was a challenge and 
difficult at times but the achievement 
has been very rewarding. The good 
news is that we are bringing new 
and diverse skills in to Exeter and it 
is great for our local economy.” 

The new nurses were welcomed 
to the city with arranged flights, 
temporary accommodation and a 
guided tour to help them settle in. 
Nurse Nicola Coady, one of the 
latest recruits from Kilkenny in south 
east Ireland, said that the RD&E had 
plenty of career opportunities and 
good training. She said: 

“It is a great place to work. Right 
from the welcome tour, I could see 
that this was somewhere with a real 
interest in its staff and a commitment 
to creating a high quality working 
environment.” 

SUMMER 2013
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Cancer patients rate 
RD&E care very 
highly for second 
year running

Cancer services at the RD&E were 
rated very highly by adult patients 
in a national survey for the second 
year running – with 93% of them 
describing their overall care as 
excellent or very good. The overall 
score is an improvement on last 
year’s rating of 89 per cent and 
higher than the national average 
score of 88 per cent.

The survey questions covered 
patient experience from the time 
they were referred by their GP to the 
RD&E for diagnostic tests, through 
their treatment, and aftercare. 
Aspects of their experience included 
how well they understood their 
results, pain control, side effect 
management, respect and dignity, 
communication with healthcare 
professionals and the quality of 
written information. 

The detailed annual survey for the 
Department of Health was sent 
to 1,416 eligible RD&E patients. 
Some 69 per cent of RD&E patients 
completed and returned their survey 
answers. 

RD&E Associate Medical Director Mr 
John Renninson said: 

“We are delighted that we have 
seen an improvement on last year’s 
results. We will take note of all the 
information contained within the 
survey and use the findings to make 
further improvements to the care of 
cancer patients. It is very important 
that we listen to our patients and 
develop services taking their points 
of view into account”.

SUMMER 2013
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The Four-Point Test 
to Predict Death Risk 
from C. difficile

In August 2013, a research 
team from the RD&E and the 
University of Exeter published a 
paper identifying a unique four-
point test that can accurately 
predict the death risk to patients 
from Clostridium difficile (C. diff) 
infection. C. diff affects the digestive 
system and is most common 
amongst those staying in hospital.

There were 17,414 reported cases 
in England in 2011 and C. diff 
related deaths accounted for 1.1 
per cent of all deaths in England 
and Wales between 2006 and 2010. 
Patients over the age of sixty-five 
have particular risk of dying from 
a C. diff infection. Of those, 20 per 
cent are likely to have a recurrence 
of infection once antibiotics are 
withdrawn, and there is growing 
concern regarding the increasing 
number of C. diff strains resistant to 
drug therapies.

The Exeter team, supported by 
the National Institute for Health 
Research Collaboration for 
Leadership in Applied Health 
Research and Care in the 
South West Peninsula (NIHR 
PenCLAHRC), identified a test 
to predict death risk using easily 
measurable clinical variables from 
tests that are commonly carried 
out in hospital. Accurate prediction 
means that those patients at risk 
can be managed accordingly by the 
clinical team.

Joint lead author of the study Dr 
Steve Michell, Senior Lecturer 
in Molecular Microbiology at the 
University of Exeter, said: 

“The results of our study strengthen 
the evidence for establishing the 
use of this rule in clinical settings: 
the benefits to patient well-being, 
the efficient management of 
infection in hospital and potential 
savings to the NHS, would be 
immense.”

Dr. Ray Sheridan, Consultant 
Physician at the RD&E, said: 

“This really simple and quick tool, 
which any junior doctor could use 
in the middle of the night quickly 
and easily, flags up those who 
need a speedy and intensive 
treatment regime or more senior 
help. The quicker we get on with 
the right treatment for the right 
patient the better their chances 
of recovery are. This is a tool that 
should be used in every hospital in 
the UK as soon as possible: if we 
did so we would save more lives.”

SUMMER 2013
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AUTUMN 2013

New research 
study looks at the 
emotional impact 
of body-changing 
preventive breast 
surgery 

A new research study was 
launched in October 2013 to 
investigate the psychological 
impact on women who opt to 
have both breasts removed to 
prevent cancer.  The study, the 
first of its kind, was carried out by 
psychologists who work alongside 
the specialist breast care team at 
the hospital and in collaboration 
with the University of Exeter.

The Exeter study involved 11 
women with rare BRCA 1/2 gene 
mutations, which means they 
carry a high risk of developing 
breast cancer. The women all had 
undergone a preventive double 
mastectomy (PBM) even though 
there was no cancer present.  

One of the main themes to emerge 
from the Exeter study was the 
importance of the relationship 
the women had with the medical 
team treating them. The medical 

professionals in the breast care unit 
were highly praised by the majority 
of the patients and the breast care 
nurses were valued for providing 
reassurance by answering what 
some patients described as “silly 
questions” in order to “put your mind 
at rest”. The study also highlighted 
the importance of talking to other 
women who have been affected 
through support groups. The impact 
of the surgery on the body was 
something that many patients took 
time to adjust to, but the surgery 
did reduce the worry for the women 
taking part in the study. Elaine 
Vickers, a clinical psychologist who 
works with the breast care team at 
the RD&E, commented: 

“The high level of satisfaction with 
social support that the majority of 
the participants experienced was 
helpful in having a positive view of 
the surgery and its impact.”

RD&E radiology 
department gets top 
recognition 

The RD&E has become one of 
a handful of hospitals across the 
country to have been awarded 
Exemplar status for our Radiology 
department. The prestigious status, 
conferred by the British Society 
of Interventional Radiology, has 
been given to only nine hospitals 
nationwide. These hospitals have 
all demonstrated a commitment 
to improving quality and access 
to Interventional Radiology. 
Exemplar sites have demonstrated 
a commitment to improving quality 
and access to Interventional 
Radiology services in four key 
areas: scope of services and 
availability, providing good quality 
care, patient focus and service 
improvement. RD&E Consultant 
Radiologist, Professor Anthony 
Watkinson, said that gaining 

Exemplar status was all down to the 
well-developed radiology team. 

“Everyone who makes up the 
team – interventional radiologists, 
radiographers, nurses and helpers 
– all contribute to ensure the
patients journey is streamlined
without compromising patient care.
We have worked towards offering
local patients all the treatments
that they need at the RD&E, such
that they don’t have to travel long
distances as an alternative.”

One of the team’s initiatives that 
caught the society’s attention 
was the department’s redesigned 
patient information leaflets, which 
the society believes should be 
highlighted as an example of best 
practice for other Trusts.
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Improving patient 
feedback and 
experience

The RD&E borrowed a top tip from 
a high street food shop to make it 
easier for patients to give their views 
about our Emergency Department 
(ED). To help us gather feedback 
for the national Friends and Family 
Test patients were given a coloured 
token when they checked in at 
reception. They were then asked to 
post the token in one of five slots 
to indicate how likely they would be 
to recommend the service to family 
and friends. They could choose from 
the options of: ‘extremely likely’, 
‘likely’, ‘neither likely nor unlikely’, 
‘unlikely’ and ‘extremely unlikely’. 
Tracey Reeves, Associate Director 
of Midwifery/ Acting Deputy Chief 
Nurse, explained that the ‘Tell Us with 
Your Token’ initiative was aimed at 
making it easier for patients attending 
ED to give their feedback on the care 
they received. She said: 

“Patients attending ED spend less 
time than they might on the wards, 
so it is sometimes more difficult to 
get their views before they go home 
or are admitted. The department 
can be very busy, so our staff don’t 
always have enough time to actively 
encourage patients to fill in forms. It 
is really important to get responses 
from as many people as possible. 
Patient feedback on their experience 
at the RD&E is absolutely vital to us 
both to ensure we are doing our very 
best for patients but also to make 
any improvements to our services.”

AUTUMN 2013
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WINTER 2013

University partnership 
with RD&E secures 
£1.1 million for 
energy saving 

The RD&E was awarded a £1.1 
million grant from the Department of 
Health to fund new energy efficiency 
projects. The funding from a national 
competition which allocated £50 
million to NHS Trusts and Foundation 
Trusts in 2013-14, came in part as 
a result of work undertaken by the 
Centre for Energy and Environment 
(CEE) at the University of Exeter.

The RD&E has been working with the 
University since through the South 
West Energy and Environment Group 
(SWEEG) on the projects. The CEE 
performed an energy audit across the 
Wonford site and using benchmark 
data identified areas where energy 
use was particularly intense. Five 
main buildings were found to be 
responsible for 90% of the energy 
use on the site, and were earmarked 
as the main targets for improvements 
and upgrades. 

Specific improvement measures 
include replacing oil boilers with high 
efficiency gas boilers, and improving 
heat recovery from the steam 
system. Options for low energy 
lighting and improved lighting control 
will be implemented. The efficiency of 
air handling will also be made better 
with the introduction of more efficient 
fans and filters.  

While the aim of the project is 
primarily to save energy, the 
improvements are also expected to 
deliver a better working environment 
for staff and provide wider community 
benefits. Savings are estimated to 
be in the order of £350,000 a year 
with a corresponding reduction in 
annual emissions of more than 1,600 
tonnes CO2. All of the cost savings 
generated will be put into improving 
frontline services.
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Survival boost for 
high-risk patients

Surgeons at the RD&E have saved 
five extra lives thanks to a project 
for people needing a particularly 
high-risk operation. Patients having 
emergency abdominal surgery 
(laparotomy) for illnesses such 
as a perforated or dead bowel 
face a high chance of death in the 
following month. At the RD&E, the 
survival rate before this eight-month 
‘care pathway’ project began was 
86%, but it is as low as 56% at 
some UK hospitals. For the ninety-
eight patients operated on during 
the project their survival rate was 
above 90%.

The pathway tried to improve all 
aspects of the patients’ care. The 
team of surgeons, anaesthetists 
and intensive care staff based 
their care around new Royal 
College of Surgeons standards, 
which included aiming to have 
emergency scans completed and 

reported within three hours, surgery 
beginning within six hours of a 
decision being made to operate, 
and admitting all patients to 
intensive care after their operation. 
The end result has been an 
improvement in patient survival. 
Consultant anaesthetist, and a 
project leader, Dr Bruce  
McCormick said:

“These patients are often 
extremely sick, and even with rapid 
antibiotics, surgery and direct care 
from consultants and intensive 
care staff we will never be able to 
achieve 100% survival.”

The team hope to build on the 
early success of this project with a 
modified version, and will present 
their findings nationally to help 
other hospitals which may suffer 
more deaths than here in Exeter.

WINTER 2013
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§ The Annual Plan 2013-14 and
the Annual Report & Accounts
2012-13 and its Annual Plans for
2014-15 and 2015/16

§ Performance in terms of the
cancer targets, particularly
periodic non achievement of the
sixty-two-day wait target.  The
Board was assured that clinicians
studied each case where there
was a breach and that no harm
was caused by the breach.  The
Board was also very clear in its
support for the clinicians’ view
that no clinically appropriate
patient referral should be refused
regardless of the impact on
compliance with targets. It also
discussed a detailed report on
the performance of the cancer
sixty-two day targets (urgent GP
referral to treatment) and the
associated action plan. The Board
confirmed it was assured by the
work undertaken, and by the fact
the Trust was on track to execute
the action plan. They also
reinforced their view that patient
choice and clinical need comes
ahead of the targets

§ Ward to Board reporting with a
particular focus on the learning
arising from the Francis 2 and
Berwick Reports

§ The Trust’s Transformation
Programme. This session enabled
the Directors to develop a clear
understanding of the programme
and to agree the approach for the
year ahead

§ The Trust’s new Communications
and Engagement Strategy

§ The second year of the Nursing,
Midwifery and Allied Health
Professionals Vision. This three
year plan was endorsed by the
Board in July 2012 and staff
involved informed the Board
on its development, shared
progress made in the first year
and its priorities for the second
year. The Board heard how the
first year of the Vision saw the
embedding of Comfort Rounding
onto wards and of real time ways
of capturing patient and staff
experience (“What went well…
Even better if…”).  In addition to
building upon these, the second
year priorities include supporting
the emotional resilience of staff
and ensuring compassionate
care is the Trust’s priority

§ The challenge of the Trust’s Cost
Improvement Programme both
in identifying and delivering new
ways of working and creating
efficiencies but also how quality
and safety can be properly
safeguarded

§ The tightening financial
environment and the need to
balance safety with finance; the
Board spent time discussing and
articulating a model Hierarchy
of Priorities within which it could
inform resource decisions

§ The Trust’s Capacity Plan and the
bed modelling work in preparation
for the forthcoming winter

§ The Trust’s mortality data and
its approach to End of Life care
to ensure there was sufficient
granularity in the analysis that
was undertaken

§ Its mandatory training on
Safeguarding

§ The Trust’s statement of
compliance with NHS England’s
core standards for emergency
preparedness, resilience and
response (EPRR). The Trust had
undertaken a self-assessment
against the one hundred and
twelve core standards and was
rated Green (compliant) for
one hundred and two with ten
assessed as Amber.  Remedial
actions were therefore put in
place for these

§ Human Factors. Human Factors
is a scientific approach to
understanding how humans
interact with other elements of
a system. In a Board seminar
the Board heard how the Trust
has established a working
group of staff to roll out Human
Factors training designed to
improve safety across the whole
organisation by preventing error
and reducing harm

§ The synergy between the Trust’s
strategy and that of the  NEW
Devon CCG.

§ The role the Trust is playing in
promoting research, development
an innovation and its support to
research initiatives

Board Focus 

Over the year the RD&E’s Board has led and governed the organisation successfully. Our focus has been on 
ensuring a sustainable and safe clinical and financial service. A clear governance and management system is 
in place (See Director’s Report). The Board reviews in detail the Trust’s safety, quality, financial and operational 
performance at every Board meeting. In particular over the last twelve months the Board has focused on the 
development of a revised Five Year Strategy and building relationships with NEW Devon CCG, Devon County 
Council and local provider organisations.

Some of the other issues the Board focused on during the year included discussions and debates on:
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Context

Devon is the third largest county 
in England, covering 2,534 square 
miles. With over 750,000 residents 
it is also one of the most sparsely 
populated counties, with few large 
settlements and a dispersed rural 
population.

Devon has an older population 
profile than nationally, particularly 
in those aged fifty-five years of age 
and above, reflecting significant 
in-migration in this age group, and 
those aged eighty-five years and 
over, reflecting an ageing population 
and longer life expectancy. The 
proportions of those aged twenty 
to thirty-nine and those under 
ten years are below the national 
average, particularly in those aged 
twenty-five to thirty-nine where 
there is significant out-migration 
from Devon. This overall pattern 
is even more marked in areas of 
East Devon and South Hams, 
whilst the population in Exeter is 
similar to the national average, 
but with an increased young adult 
population due to the university. 
This population structure impacts 
on the use of health and social care 
service as we know that older age 
groups are the highest users of 
these services. Between now and 
2021, the numbers and proportion 
of the total population in the over 
60s will increase. Devon is twenty 
years ahead of the rest of England 
with its older population profile, 
with a particular peak in those aged 
eighty-five years and over. Two 
local market towns, Seaton and 
Sidmouth, have today a population 
with the age profile that the rest 
of the country could expect to see 
in 2075.  From 2011 to 2031, the 

number of people aged eighty-five 
and older is projected to rise by 
77.6%. The number of people with 
life-limiting long-term conditions and 
those with dementia is predicted to 
increase rapidly. Furthermore, the 
catchment population for the Trust 
is more elderly than the population 
profile for Devon as a whole. The 
Trust is therefore likely to be ahead 
of the national curve in having to 
shape services to meet the needs of 
a more elderly population.

There is likely to be significant 
urban expansion within the Trust’s 
catchment, with a local new urban 
development, Cranbrook, due to 
reach 30,000 population by 2020 
and a number of other significant 

housing developments underway or 
planned.  During the two years of 
this plan this may increase overall 
catchment population, but less 
significantly in the older age groups 
that use more acute healthcare 
services.  It is more likely in 
maternity and paediatric services.

Devon’s ethnic make-up is very 
different from that of England. 
Overall in England, almost 80% 
of people are White British, with 
the next highest proportion of 
people being Asian or Asian British 
(including Chinese) at almost 8%. 
The Devon population consists 
of almost 95% White British with 
the next highest percentage being 
‘White Other including Gypsy 

Our Strategy
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and Traveller’ ethnic groups at 
2.2%. Although still less diverse 
than nationally, Exeter is the 
local authority with the greatest 
variation in ethnic origin across 
Devon. Exeter has 88.3% of 
people identifying as White British 
compared to 94.9% in Devon 
overall, 4.3% White other compared 
to 2.2% and 3.9% Asian/Asian 
British compared to 1.2%.  

The shape and makeup of the 
economy has a significant bearing 
on the heath profile of residents 
in Devon. Nationally there are 
many factors impacting on the 
economy. The state of the economy 
has particular implications for the 
economy in Devon. Structurally, 
Devon is dominated by small and 
micro enterprises that tend to rely 
on debt to grow, and therefore 
the banks’ reluctance to lend is 
challenging with regards to them 
growing. The county has an 
extensive geography with large 
rural areas which are long distances 
from main population centres. The 
mean high energy and particularly 
fuel prices are more problematic to 
an area such as Devon that in other 
less rural areas. As a result of these 
factors, the poor national economic 
performance is biting harder for 
Devon businesses and communities 
than in some areas. 

Within Devon there is only the 
one city of Exeter, which has a 
significant impact on the character 
of the Devon economy as a whole. 
When the hinterland of Exeter 
is included, Exeter is home to 
approaching 20% of the Devon’s 
resident population. To the North, 
South, East and West of Exeter, 
Devon is overwhelmingly rural. 
Exeter and the towns along the A38 
corridor and the route of the Great 
Western Railway are relatively 
well connected. However, there 
are significant areas of the county 
which are remote from major 
centres of population and economic 
activity. Rurality and access to key 
economic markets is an important 
issue from Devon’s economy. 

The rural nature of the area is what 
attracts many residents and tourists 
alike to Devon, however it makes 
planning and delivery of services to 
meet population needs a complex 
issue. Rurality can create problems 
of accessibility. This can affect all 
parts of the population, and is a 
particular problem for people who 
rely on public transport and with 
the increasing cost of fuel this 
is beginning to affect even more 
people. The distance that people 
have to travel to access services 
has a profound effect on whether 
people will actively choose to 
access services. This distance 
decay effect has an impact on 
people accessing health services 
from rural areas in comparison with 
urban areas.

The RD&E is one of 10 acute 
providers in the South West. It is 
4th in size based on turnover and 
staff numbers but, significantly, 
2nd in size based on inpatient 
admissions.  It works closely with its 
neighbouring acute Trusts providing 
specialist services in Northern 
Devon, Torbay, Taunton and Yeovil. 

In last year’s report we commented 
on the changes that took place 
in the architecture of the NHS 
and how this might impact on the 
Trust. One year on it is possible 
to say that the new structures and 
relationships between organisations 
within the local health economy 
have improved but, inevitably, it 
takes time to develop new ways of 
working and relationships and so it 
has proved. 

The last year has also seen a 
great deal of policy – and media 
– attention on the NHS resulting,
at least in part, from the legacy
of issues that have caused the
NHS problems. Most notably
the second Francis Report - the
result of a public inquiry into the
Mid Staffordshire acute Trust –
underlined in great detail some
of the structural fault lines and
approaches that have led to
appalling patient care.
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Vision and strategic objectives
Our vision is ‘To provide safe, high 
quality care, delivered with courtesy 
and respect.’  This is underpinned 
by three key strategic objectives:

§ Maintaining sound operational
delivery of existing clinical,
research and teaching
services;

We recognise that sustaining our 
current services requires:

□ New, innovative ways of
working developed by engaging
our staff in continuously
improving the delivery of
safe, high quality, financially
sustainable services to patients

□ A clear, unambiguous focus
on providing safe services
that results in improved health
outcomes delivered with
courtesy and respect

□ Driving forward our ambitions
to continue the delivery of high
quality research and becoming
a regional hub for academic
excellence.

§ Integrating core pathways from
the community coming through
to acute care within its acute
services catchment area and
out again into the community;

□ Already we are doing this in a
number of areas – in stroke
care, in our ‘Hospital at Home’
project and elsewhere. This
work is essential in delivering
improved health outcomes and
a better patient experience. In
many cases, it can be delivered
in a more financially sustainable
way than at present. Work we
are doing on the journey that
elderly patients make through
the health system – and finding
new, more efficient and patient
centred approaches to this
journey – will be critical to the
RD&E in the future.

§ Further development of the
Trust’s acute services across
a wider area by building upon
the clinical networks and
partnerships already in place.

□ Already we are investing in
new technologies to improve
services – such as robotic
surgery – and working in
partnership with others to
enhance the healthcare offer to
patients. We are also actively
developing new partnerships
with other organisations to
drive quality outcomes as well
as extend our service offer to
other communities. We have,
for example, continued to
take forward our partnership
working with Taunton &
Somerset Foundation Trust
during the year.

During the year, the Trust began a 
process of building additional detail 
into its corporate strategy based on 
the clear identification of what type 
of organisation the Trust wanted to 
be in five years’ time. By 2017/18 
the Trust wants to:

§ Serve a larger population over a
wider geographic area

§ Be the safest hospital in the
region

§ Ensure that patients treated by
the Trust feel cared for

§ Provide a comprehensive range
of core health services

§ Work ever closer with our
partners to enable the smooth
flow of patients through the NHS
system and to avoid admissions
where possible

§ Work in partnership to integrate
our services as far as possible
with more care being provided
closer to home

§ Build on our strong research base
and work in collaboration with the
South West Peninsula Academic

Health Sciences Network (AHSN) 
to develop our research and 
innovation agenda

§ Maintain a sound and sustainable
financial base

§ Build and extend our brand

§ Be the employer of choice in the
region and have an empowered
and skilled workforce and staff
who would recommend the Trust
as a place for their friends and
family to receive care

§ Ensure appropriate risk and
governance measures are in
place to meet service needs

The Board and the senior 
leadership team have worked 
hard at developing eight support 
strategies that together set out the 
way in which the Trust will strive 
to meet the five year ambitions it 
has set itself. The eight support 
strategies are:

§ Clinical support
§ Workforce
§ Information technology
§ Estates
§ Transformational change
§ Stakeholder engagement
§ Business development
§ Finance

In the development of the support 
strategies, particular focus was 
given to the clinical support strategy, 
as delivering high quality safe care 
is central to the Trust’s mission. 
This element of the strategy 
development has been led by the 
Chief Nurse/COO and Medical 
Director engaging front line clinical 
staff in its development. The Trust 
will bring the support strategies 
together into a coherent single 
document that will set out both what 
the RD&E intends to do and how 
it will go about achieving its plans 
during early 2014/15. 
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Setting out our direction of travel will 
underline the Board’s determination 
to take bold decisions and transform 
the way we work so that we can 
continue our excellent track record 
of providing the best possible 
healthcare to the population we 
serve. In doing so, the intention is 
to help frame a debate so that our 
stakeholders – be they patients, 
members or the wider public – are:

§ Aware of and sensitised to the
fact that the way health services
are provided in the future will
need to change and hard choices
and decisions will need to be
made.

§ Reassured that they can continue
to rely on the Trust providing
good, safe care in the short term
but that change is inevitable if the
Trust is going to remain solvent in
the future.

Our plan to meet the 
strategic objectives
The Trust’s Business Plan is set 
out in its Annual Plan submission to 
Monitor and is consistent with the 
Trust’s Corporate Strategy.

In considering its business plan, the 
Board have sought to identify both 
the key drivers and constraints of 
policy within a complex and highly 
challenged environment. In this 
context, the Board are clear that it 
is very mindful of its responsibilities 
for maintaining the sustainability 
of safe, effective care and finance 
delivered with courtesy and respect. 

Maintaining the right balance 
between quality, safety, clinical 
effectiveness/outcomes, financial 
sustainability and risk becomes ever 
more difficult in challenged times. 
In considering its future plans, the 
Board has concluded that its core 
purpose – to provide safe, high 
quality seamless services – cannot 

be achieved within the projected 
financial context. To manage these 
trade-offs, the Board developed a 
hierarchy of priorities to aid strategic 
decision making. The hierarchy of 
priorities sets out what and who the 
Board will take into account when 
determining future strategy (see the 
section Key Risks and Uncertainties 
on page 34).

Reconfiguration of specialist 
services across Devon and 
Somerset and for local acute 
and community health and social 
care services within Devon will 
be necessary to provide a sound 
platform upon which to build a new 
model of care which is increasingly 
locally based. Difficult decisions 
will need to be made that have the 
potential to impact negatively on 
the sustainability of safe care or 
finance. It is not possible to assess 
currently if major reconfiguration 
will totally address the significant 
challenges facing the local system, 
but what is clear is that without 
it current health and social care 
services are unsustainable.

The policy drivers outlined in 
NHS England’s Everyone Counts 
regarding emergency care and 
specialist services will require a 
larger population solution to provide 
improved economies of scale. 
Only through increased scale will 
further investments to meet higher 
standards be affordable. During 
2013/14 the Trust has been working 
with the Taunton & Somerset 
NHS Foundation Trust (T&SFT) 
to explore ways of improving the 
financial and clinical sustainability of 
a range of clinical services through 
closer integrated models. New 
ways of working across a range 
of service opportunities are being 
tested to reduce costs across the 
two catchments or provide critical 
mass to sustain services against 
higher commissioner standards. 
Opportunities for shared services 

for supporting functions, e.g. IM&T, 
finance, HR and procurement are 
also being explored. 

At this stage many of the clinical 
changes have been small scale to 
resolve specific sub-specialty issues 
such as the spinal service on call 
rota across the two counties. There 
is a growing acceptance that, in 
light of the challenges facing both 
organisations in the future, the scale 
and pace of these changes will need 
to increase. The potential options 
for reconfiguring services will be 
tested as part of the Acute Services 
Review being commissioned by 
Somerset CCG jointly with provider 
Trusts in Somerset; and a similar 
exercise that is to be undertaken in 
Devon to look at how organisations 
may look at achieving sustainability 
through new integrated models.

We plan to continue focusing on 
ensuring the service the Trust 
provides is safe and delivered 
with courtesy and respect; this is 
dependent on continuing to develop 
our workforce to deliver care today 
and to build the capability to work 
with the new models of care that will 
emerge in future. The new models 
of care for that will be right for the 
wider health and social care system 
in Devon are in the early stages 
of development, supported by the 
production of community service 
strategies by Northern, Eastern 
and Western (NEW) Devon CCG 
and Devon County Council. It is 
anticipated that while pilot testing 
of this initiative should commence 
during 2014/15 the major redesign 
and transformation of services will 
not occur until mid-2015/16.

The Trust, in conjunction with 
commissioners, has assessed 
the likely levels of patient activity 
over the next two years.  The 
only material difference in 
assumptions between the Trust 
and its commissioners is that 
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the commissioners anticipate 
Quality, Innovation, Productivity 
and Prevention (QIPP) demand-
management schemes to deliver 
greater levels of activity reduction 
than have been achieved in 
previous years.  Based on a 
comprehensive bed modelling 
exercise together with planning 
of theatre capacity, the Board has 
received assurance that there 
are sufficient facilities available to 
deliver the planned level of activity 
in year 1 of our plan but there are 
potentially some shortfalls in year 2.  
The Trust’s workforce plans support 
the delivery of the anticipated 
activity levels.    

In 2014, NEW Devon CCG is likely 
to commence the recommissioning 
of community services within the 
Trust’s acute catchment area.  
These services are currently 
provided by Northern Devon 
Healthcare NHS Trust.  This will 
offer an opportunity for the Trust to 
progress its strategy of providing 
services along whole acute-
community pathways.

The possible future rationalisation 
of specialised service providers 
by NHS England is a potential risk 
for all acute providers.  The Trust’s 
specialised services generally 
comply with the National Service 
Specifications. Those that do not 
comply have detailed derogation 
plans or the service specifications 
are accepted by commissioners as 
requiring further review.  Currently, 
there is no threat to the Trust’s 
services, but the Trust will continue 
to work closely with commissioners 
and other providers to ensure that 
future risks and opportunities are 
identified and addressed.

Key quality priorities for 2014/15 are:

§ Focus on improving
documentation

§ Implementation of “Hello, my
name is…” campaign

§ Focus on Safety & Quality,
ensuring that the Connecting 
Care programme is integrated 
with the Trust’s Patient Safety 
Programme

§ Year three of implementation of
the Vision for Nurses, Midwives
and Allied Health Professionals
(AHPs)

§ Human Factors training

§ Strengthening the Trust’s
Mortality Review Process

To gain safety and quality 
assurance and manage risk the 
Board has a robust Ward to Board 
governance system in place to 
monitor and triangulate quality, cost 
and delivery performance. This 
facilitates the early identification of 
concerns and the action being taken 
to address them, thereby providing 
assurance that effective systems 
are in place and confidence that 
our services are safe and effective. 
The Board oversees this work via 
its governance structure and the 
sources of assurance it considers 
include:

§ Governance performance system.

§ Performance management and
assurance framework.

§ Internal audit and external audit
reports

§ Reports to the Board of Directors
from the Audit Committee and
Governance Committee.

§ Board Integrated Performance
Report

§ Ward to Board and Safety
Thermometer reporting.

§ Never Events reporting

§ Care Quality Assessment Tool
(CQAT) outcome report

§ Engagement and Experience
(complaints) report.

§ Regulatory inspection reports

The quality, governance and 
assurance processes were 
externally reviewed by KPMG 
during 2013/14 and were found to 
be comprehensive and robust. 

Our quality plan is developed in 
partnership with our Governors and 
members as reflected in the Trust’s 
Quality Report. Good progress has 
been achieved in implementing the 
2013/14 plan and work is ongoing 
for the further development of this 
programme of work which will 
be fully presented in the 2013/14 
Quality Report. The report also 
reflects commissioned national 
priorities established in the NHS 
mandate, NHS Constitution and 
‘Everyone Counts – Planning for 
Patients’. These are supplemented 
by local CCG priorities. The local 
priorities centre on the redesign of 
care pathways to ensure the most 
effective care is delivered in a timely, 
cost effective manner which ensures 
we maximise the use of increasingly 
scarce resources. The CCG has 
indicated a desire to link QIPP and 
quality improvement schemes and 
the key areas identified are:

§ Right care – targeting resources
to best effect (treatments of
limited clinical value; use of
patient decision aids).

§ Targeted follow-up care –
targeting resources to best effect.

§ Focusing on conservative
management and evidence based
practice within orthopaedic care.



Annual Report and Accounts 2013/14 33

§ Transforming the urgent care
system with emphasis on services
for frail older people.

§ Ensuring care in the best settings
to improve outcomes and longer
term goals, particularly relevant
to the RD&E in respect of
avoiding inappropriate mental
health admissions which is a
highlighted risk associated with
the limitations in the current
services commissioned from
other providers.

§ Standardising the diagnostic
approach to diagnosis and
management planning.

NHS England 2014/15 
commissioning priorities for 
specialised services have not been 
published in sufficient detail to take 
stock, although compliance with 
published service specifications 
should ensure that key quality 
priorities are met.

The Trust adopts an integrated 
approach to safety and quality and a 
part of its transformation programme 
is seeking to reduce variation 
through improved standardisation to 
deliver improved safety, quality and 
performance outcomes. Connecting 
Care, our programme to deliver this, 
is in place in 50% of our wards and 
some clinical departments and will 
be rolled out to the remaining wards 
and departments in 2014/15.

Key markers of safety, quality, 
operational and financial 
performance are monitored 
holistically to ensure robust scrutiny, 
and if necessary mitigating action, 
via the Quality Cost and Delivery 
Group. An ambitious Patient Safety 
Programme is in place, which is 
monitored by the Safety and Risk 
Committee, a sub-group of the 
Board Governance Committee.

Key features of the 2014/15 and 
2015/16 work programme include 
the introduction of a strengthened 
Mortality Review process and 
expanding the Human Factors 
Training programme to cover all 
clinical staff.

Implementation of the vision for 
Nursing and AHPs continues to 
be a key feature of our quality 
work programme. In its third year, 
the values-based priorities that 
will progress during 2014/15 will 
include:

§ Developing new roles to support
our patients linked to our
workforce strategy

§ Increasing the provision of
development opportunities

§ Completing the roll out of our
leadership programme for
Matrons and Senior Nurses.
This will maximise the quality
gain we can achieve from the
decision to release 60% of our
Matrons’ time to focus on clinical
leadership at ward level to ensure
the delivery of safe, effective and
compassionate care

These priorities will build further on 
the excellent performance achieved 
to date against the National Safety 
Thermometer indicators of harm, 
compassion agenda and the 
continuing programme of work to 
provide dementia training for all staff.

The Board has completed 
a self-assessment exercise 
to map compliance with the 
recommendation from the Francis, 
Keogh, Berwick and Clwyd 
Reports. Overall there is a good 
level of compliance with the 
recommendations. Where there is 
identified partial or non-compliance, 
action plans are in place for 
delivery during 2014/15. This work 
programme is being led by the Chief 
Nurse/Chief Operating Officer and 
monitored on behalf of the Board by 
the Governance Committee.
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The Trust has a sound track record 
of delivering safe and effective care 
and this remains of paramount 
importance to the Trust Board. 
However, as resources tighten 
the Board recognises the need for 
increased scrutiny to ensure short 
term actions to address financial 
pressures do not negatively impact 
on the quality and safety of care we 
deliver to our patients.

The most significant risk to 
maintaining the safety and quality 
of care operationally is the impact 
of increased emergency admissions 
and delayed transfer of care, 
particularly amongst the frail older 
population we serve within the 
reducing resources available.  This 
is compounded further by the 
national approach to tariff setting 
particularly the 4% tariff efficiency 
factor and 30% marginal emergency 
tariff.  Together they present the 
biggest risk to safety and quality the 
Trust faces.

The Trust has a robust process in 
place to mitigate this risk wherever 
possible but these actions do not 
address the underlying problem and 
the solutions to these challenges 
are outside the control of the Trust 
Board. In acknowledgement of 
the risk to safety and quality these 
challenges create, the Board has 
developed a Hierarchy of Priorities 
to help shape its thinking; the 
approach it will take when making 
disinvestment and investment 
decisions that may affect the 
delivery of care to patients.

This Hierarchy of Priorities is based 
on ‘what is important’ and ‘who 
is important’. This is not a simple 
formula that the Board will use to 
make decisions but it does provide 

useful guidance and a constant 
reminder about what and who 
is important which has and will 
continue to inform decision making. 

The Trust has benchmarked 
the cost and effectiveness of its 
services to identify areas where 
it can achieve additional cost 
reductions. Against the national 
reference cost index, where the 
average Trust is expected to score 
a hundred, the RD&E underlying 
score is eighty-nine, eleven points 
below the average. When the 
Market Forces Factor is applied 
the figure is artificially increased 
to ninety-four but remains well 
below the average. An independent 
review of all cost improvement 
programmes completed, against 
a menu of good practice actions 
and service improvements to drive 
efficiency, has confirmed that the  
RD&E performance against peers 
was very strong and only £1.5m 
potential additional savings were 
identified. As the Trust is already 
efficient in comparison to other 
Trusts yet still faces a daunting 
challenge on its financial position, 
it is clear  there is a need to ensure 
that any further initiatives to reduce 
costs or improve efficiencies do not 
have a detrimental impact on safety 
or outcomes. When considering 
cost reductions as part of our Cost 
Improvement Programme, we 
ensure that any proposals include 
a quality/safety impact assessment 
overseen by the Chief Nurse/Chief 
Operating Officer and Medical 
Director. This ensures that cost 
reduction or efficiency savings do 
not impede on the effectiveness or 
safety of our service offer. 

As a result of the Trust not meeting 
its Cost Improvement Programme 
in 2013/14, the Trust is currently in 
deficit and is projected to remain 
in a deficit position for the next two 
years. Moreover, to achieve its plans 
it needs to continue to deliver a 
combined savings target of £25.7m 
for the next two financial years. The 
Board have taken the view that this 
is both realistic and achievable but it 
remains one of the most significant 
risks appearing in the Trust’s Board 
Assurance Framework. 

Against this backdrop the Trust 
is planning a deficit of £8.9m 
and £13.5 million in 2014/15 and 
2015/16. Despite these challenges, 
the Trust’s financial performance 
remains satisfactory as determined 
by Monitor – where the Trust has 
a Continuity of Risk rating of three. 
The Trust has built up reserves 
which it is able to use to manage the 
deficit it faces and this means that 
after making enquiries, the Directors 
have a reasonable expectation that 
the Trust has adequate resources 
to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future. For this 
reason, they continue to adopt the 
going concern basis in preparing the 
accounts. The accounts have been 
prepared under a direction issue by 
Monitor under the National Health 
Service Act 2006. 

Although some savings will need 
to be delivered in the traditional 
way through a number of smaller 
schemes and productivity savings, 
further reliance will need to be 
placed on delivering efficiencies 
through the Trust’s transformation 
programme that aims to challenge 
and redesign how and where 
services are delivered.  

Key Risks and Uncertainties
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The Trust’s prudent financial 
performance has enabled it to build 
cash reserves that will be used to 
offset the projected deficits that will 
accrue during the next two years. 
However, the Board recognises 
that this is a short term solution 
that can be applied whilst the wider 
system work that has started and 
will be supported by the Challenged 
Communities work develops a 
plan which delivers sustainability 
for all elements of Devon’s Health 
and Social Care services. Based 
on current guidance the level of 
cost reduction for the Trust over 
the next five years is around £80m 
for the RD&E alone. The size of 
the community wide challenge is 
immense. Taking forward the sorts 
of reforms required within a short 
timeframe to provide new forms and 
ways of delivering joined up care is 
a key risk for the Trust.

As mentioned above, the local 
health economy (NEW Devon 
CCG) has been identified as one 
of eleven financially-challenged 
health economies.  The CCG faces 
significant financial challenges 
across its commissioning portfolio 
with two other acute providers in 
its catchment in addition to the 
RD&E. The CCG is forecasting 
a deficit in 2013/14. NEW Devon 
CCG is planning on the basis of 2% 
growth in its allocation in 2014/15 
and 2015/16 and an assumed 
medium term reduction of 2% (due 
to changes in the allocation formula 
and the Better Care Fund).  The 
requirement to address the 2013/14 
deficit and deliver 1% surplus and 
2% headroom will be a challenge for 
the CCG.  While it has a devolved 
structure, with separate locality 
management arrangements around 
the catchment of each of its acute 

providers, the Eastern Locality 
(centred on the RD&E catchment) 
will have to share the financial 
pressures of the wider CCG.  This 
is likely to make commissioner 
affordability a key risk for the Trust 
over the next two years.

The CCG’s QIPP plans have not 
been delivered to planned levels 
in recent years.  While the Trust 
is closely engaged in the delivery 
of QIPP and is driving some of 
the Health Community QIPP 
schemes, it is unlikely that this will 
be sufficient to materially bridge 
the commissioner affordability 
gap. This has led the CCG to 
attempt to employ local pricing 
mechanisms and contract limiters 
to address its financial risks, but 
with the likely effect of transferring 
risk to providers – as set out in 
its published Commissioning 
Framework documents.  While the 
Trust will engage with the underlying 
efficiency and redesign challenges 
that such intentions represent 
(e.g. follow-up rates, outpatient 
procedure rates), it will be unable 
to accept a reduction in payment 
for clinical activities where these 
are not supported by real demand 
management or redesign.  The 
Trust is confident that the positive 
relationships within the local health 
economy will be maintained, but 
recognises the pressure that 
commissioner affordability and 
attempted contract payment limiters 
could bring to these relationships.

There are similar financial pressures 
across local social care budgets, 
with Devon County Council having 
a savings requirement (across all 
services) of £27.8m in 2014/15 and 
a further £49m in 2015/16.

Target performance within the Trust 
and across the health economy 
is good, with the Trust having 
delivered consistent Emergency 
Department performance throughout 
2013/14 and having recovered its 
position from previous challenges to 
Referral To Treatment performance.  
Similarly, the local health economy 
has high performing primary care 
and a significant community services 
infrastructure.  However, there 
are local challenges in relation 
to delayed transfers of care and 
difficulties with the local patient 
transport service that adversely 
affects patient flow.

The Trust has plans in place to 
deliver the operational capacity 
required to meet anticipated 
demand, although there are 
significant affordability pressures in 
being able to support this capacity 
within the financial framework of 
the 30% emergency tariff, efficiency 
requirements (which assume 
tariff leakage) and non-payment 
for readmissions.  To mitigate 
against the future outlook based on 
population and financial pressures, 
the Trust is working closely with its 
local NHS commissioners and local 
authority to identify and implement 
plans to integrate services.  It will be 
a challenge to ensure the pace of 
change is timely enough to respond 
to the changing environment.
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The Trust has declared risks to 
three targets in its Annual Plan for 
2014/15.  The reasons for this are 
as follows:

§ Clostridium difficile.  The Trust has
been very successful in recent
years in reducing Clostridium
difficile infections.  For the first
eleven months of 2013/14 there
were twenty-four cases against
a full-year objective of thirty-
nine.  The objective for 2014/15
for the Trust is thirty which is so
low that it must be regarded as
a risk, even if just due to normal
variation. Furthermore, the Risk
Assessment Framework measure
includes cases not attributable to
any lapse in care (in contrast to
the NHS England guidance on
contract penalties that excludes
such cases).

§ Cancer sixty-two day waits for
first treatment, from GP referral.
This target has proved difficult
to achieve sustainably, partly
due to the low number of cases
involved – so that a single breach
due to unusual circumstances can
lead to target failure.  The Trust’s
performance against this target
has generally improved during
2013/14 and the Cancer Action
Plan, which was produced with
the support of IMAS and has been
shared with Monitor, is being kept
as a live document, with additional
improvements implemented as
they are identified.

§ Cancer two week wait (breast
symptoms). This target has only
been failed for one quarter in the
last two years, but was failed for
three individual months during
2013/14. The risk to the target
is largely due to patient choice
cases being included in the
reportable breaches.  The Trust’s
performance against this target
has generally improved during
2013/14 and the Cancer Action
Plan which has been shared
with Monitor is being kept as a
live document, with additional
improvements implemented as
they are identified.
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As a public benefit corporation, 
the Trust takes its responsibilities 
towards the community it serves 
very seriously. We recognise the 
responsibility we have to:

§ Meet the acute health needs of
the population we serve as safely,
effectively and efficiently as
possible

§ Ensure that in designing and
delivering health services we
fully take into account and are
influenced by the views and
opinions of our patients and
patients to be. Our Members’
Say events are a good example
of where we listen and engage
with members – who broadly
correspond to the profile of the
wider community - on important
healthcare matters.

§ Take into account the impact
we have on the environment
because this will ultimately have
an effect on the communities
we serve. As we set out in the
sustainability report section of the
Annual Report, we are committed
to reducing our environmental
impact.

§ Take into account our status as
one of the largest – if not the
largest – employee in Exeter and
surrounding area. This means that
decisions we make may well have
an impact on the local economy
and the health and wellbeing not
only of our staff but their families
and communities as well.

§ Take into consideration our
responsibilities, as an ethical
organisation, to respect human
rights and to ensure that our
actions or decisions do not have
a deleterious impact on upholding
human rights.

§ Uphold the tenets of the NHS
Constitution which brings together
in one place details of what staff,
patients and the public can expect
from the National Health Service.

§ Uphold the legal framework that
exists to promote Equality and
Diversity (see page 47).

§ Take very seriously our
commitment to ensuring that staff
feel motivated, empowered and
are clear about the difference
they are making to patient care
and the pursuit of our strategic
objectives. The section on our
staff survey shows some of the
improvements we have managed
to make as measured through
the staff survey and the Quality
Report also outlines some of the
initiatives we are taking to engage
with and listen to staff as well as
being clear about our expectations
of them. The Connecting Care
programme (page 43) sets out
how we ensuring active learning,
sharing of good practice and
standardisation across all parts

of the Trust in the pursuit of ever 
better care. In addition, the Trust 
is in the process of engaging 
with staff to co-design a set of 
expectations on behaviours that 
evolve from the Trust’s stated 
values.

§ Ensuring that the Trust is a
positive place to work and that
staff are supported appropriately
(see page 40). The Trust has
a positive staff programme –
engaging working lives – that
brings together our approach to
equalities and diversity, support
for health and wellbeing, staff
benefits, staff engagement and
training and development.

A Pedder OBE 
Chief Executive

Environment, Employee matters, Social, 
Community & Human Rights issues
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Over the last year we have 
continued to take forward the 
second year of the “Vision” for 
Nurses, Midwives and Allied 
Health Professionals.

In the last year the following areas 
have been concentrated upon:

§ Compassionate Care
Developed with patients relatives,
carers and staff to describe what
this means to them. As a result we
will be launching a “Compassion
Code”, which will describe what
compassion mean to us all, and
ensure that we can promote these
important values.

§ Reflective care
Ensuring that we see the care
through the eyes of our patients
and their carers. By working with
the leadership team  a ‘Reflective
Tool’, is being developed for use
by all nursing staff.

§ Understanding Care
Working with patients their
families and carers to improve
the care provided, celebrate the
care that has met the needs of the
patient and their family and learn
from practice, so that we can do
better in the future.

More details of this work can be 
seen in the Quality Report.

The strong link between staffing 
levels and quality of care is 
well recognised. Last year the 
staffing numbers were reviewed 
using professional judgement, 
a dependency review and 
benchmarking. As a result we have 
a comprehensive understanding of 
our ward staffing levels. Not only 
are we able to be confident that we 
have the right staff in the right place 
with the skills to provide the right 

care, we have further developed 
our Matrons recognising their key 
leadership role. More details of this 
can be found in the Quality Report.

Over the last year we have worked 
on a number of Commissioning 
for Quality and Innovation 
(CQUIN) schemes whereby our 
commissioners recognise excellence 
and link a proportion of our income 
to the specific pieces of work. The 
main schemes that have a quality 
focus and have been implemented 
over the last year  include:

§ Friends and Family test. This
had to be rolled out across
inpatient areas,  the Emergency
Department and maternity asking
“How likely are you to recommend
this service to Friends and
Family”?  Staff  were also asked
a similar question as part of the
national survey

§ Dementia screening so that
we can find, assess and refer
patients, making sure that we are

identifying carers of those with 
dementia, using our What Went 
Well question .

§ Venous thrombosis (VTE),
providing all patients with
appropriate assessment and
where a patient develops a clot
reviewing their care to ensure that
we make sure any lessons are
learnt.

§ Patient Safety Thermometer,
looking at potential harm from
VTE, patient falls, pressure
ulcers, and catheter associated
infections.

§ Elderly frail, ensuring that we
carefully identify those with frailty
tem ensuring they have multi-
professional assessment and can
access their chosen plan for end
of life care.

For more detail on all of the CQUIN 
schemes please see pages 20 – 27 
contained within the Quality Report. 

Patient Care and Quality Improvements 
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Over the last year there has been 
sustained effort to ensure that we 
are able to learn from feedback from 
patients and their families. We have 
particularly focused on ensuring that 
our systems for real time feedback 
have been used to improve patient 
experience. The real-time feedback 
methods include “What Went 
Well, Even Better If…” whereby 
yellow cards with the question are 
completed by all patients who wish 
to participate , on a particular day. 
The cards are reviewed by the ward 
staff; details of any improvements 
that have been made are available 
at the entrance to each ward, so that 
patients and families are aware of 
these improvements.  

The Care Quality Assessment 
Tool (CQAT) continues and 
incorporates patient feedback 
alongside observation of care and 
documentation. The results from 
the CQAT form part of our reporting 
to the Board of Directors. This is 
used alongside other information for 
example pressure ulcer incidents, 
and falls to provide a health check on 
the quality of care provided on each 
ward. Enabling the senior nursing 
teams to provide additional support, 
help and guidance as required.

The “What Went Well, Even Better 
If…” method has proved to be 
successful, and as a result it has 
been extended to  Carers. Green 
cards have been used to differentiate 
carers from patients. On the whole 
the feedback from carers has been 
overwhelmingly positive. We plan to 
continue to use this as part of our 
ongoing work with carers. 

One of the main areas of work over 
the last year has been rolling out the 
Friends and Family test. This is a 
national scheme whereby all patients 
who have received care in a ward or 
in the Emergency Department have 
been asked the question “How likely 
are you to recommend this service 
to friends and family?”. The scheme, 
was extended in October 2013 to 
include maternity services with four 
questions covering antenatal, labour 
including home and birth centres 
and postnatal including community 
care. The initial aim was to get a 15% 
response rate across the inpatient 
and Emergency Department areas  
and this has been exceeded. There 
are plans to further extend the 
scheme in the forthcoming year.

Following the Mid Staffordshire report 
and the Governments, response 
Hard Truths (2013)  we have focused 
on ensuring that we can share how 
we have responded to feedback 
from patients and their families. This 
has been promoted through our 
revised performance management 
system where the clinical divisions 
provide examples of “Demonstrating 
Difference”.  These examples are 
informed by changes that have been 
made; either a large or small service 
change. Importantly the changes 
are in response to what our patients 
and their families have told us and 
the examples are used to provide 
assurance to the Board of Directors 
alongside the other work that has 
been described. 

Following the publication of the 
report by the Right Honourable 
Anne Clwyd MP and Professor 
Tricia Hart the Trust has completed 
a self-assessment against the 
recommendations from the Review of 
the NHS Hospitals “Putting Patients 
back in the Picture”. Reassuringly 
the Trust was able to demonstrate a 
high level of compliance. 

Complaints/Patient Experience Improvements 
and Key Issues 
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Our Staff

Statement of Approach
Here at the RD&E we believe 
that engaged staff have higher 
morale, are more productive and 
will deliver improved patient care.  
Throughout the last year the Trust 
has identified a priority to improve 
staff engagement as research 
evidence identifies this as a pivotal 
indicator to achieving to improving 
performance and to the successful 
delivery of the RD&E vision “Safe, 
high quality seamless services 
delivered with courtesy and respect” 
and underpinned by our values of 
Honesty, Fairness, Inclusion and 
Collaboration, Respect and Dignity.  
These values are brought to life 
by our behaviour charter recently 
developed and agreed with staff 
which articulates clearly the two-way 
expectations of ‘the deal’ between 
staff and the organisation.

Our commitment to staff is to “create 
a way of working which engages 
staff in continuously improving and 
sustaining the delivery of safe, high 

quality and financially sustainable 
efficient services to patients”.  
Our trust-wide Transformation 
Programme is one of the key ways 
in which we have continued to 
deliver this commitment to our staff.  
The following provides a description 
of some of the key elements of work 
completed:

§ Pathway improvement
We have set up the Eastern
Locality/RDE joint delivery
programme, in conjunction with
NEW Devon CCG partners, in
order to focus joint efforts on
delivering QIPP and CQUIN
improvements. A key success
has been setting up the new
‘Front Door’ Acute Care for the
Elderly (ACE) multidisciplinary
service for frail adult medical
patients attending the Emergency
Department. The service has
reduced the number of patients
who are admitted unnecessarily
and started diagnosis and
treatment for admitted patients at
an earlier stage

§ Organisation design
During 2013/14 we implemented
a new structure for clinical
services which has strengthened
clinical leadership, supported
patient pathway working and
established rigour and visibility
around performance. It has
also devolved decision-making
and accountability through all
levels of the organisation. A
new organisational structure for
‘back office’ functions will be
implemented in 2014/15.

§ Leadership Development
To ensure we create a single
cohesive leadership team, during
2013/14 we implemented a multi-
level approach to leadership
development to embed the NHS
Leadership Framework Standards.
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□ Our ‘front-line’ and middle
management leadership
capability has been enhanced
through our ‘Connecting
Care’ roll out programme to
enable them and their teams
to lead the implementation
of quality improvements to
patient care.  This work will be
further supported by a focused
development programme
for our middle management
leaders extending their
capability to lead and inspire
others to consistently deliver
safe, efficient and high quality
services to patients.

□ For our senior leadership
team, from the Board to
clinical divisional and support
function teams, our focus
over the last year has been
to use the production of the
five-year corporate strategy as
the vehicle for development.
As one team we have built a
shared and deep understanding
of the strategic context facing
the Trust and produced an
integrated strategic plan
outlining how we will continue to
deliver our vision and achieve
our strategic objectives.

□ The work completed so far
will support the creation of
a leadership team who will
consistently demonstrate
ownership and accountability,
who will engage and inspire
all staff to deliver continuous
improvement every day
and who will recognise and
celebrate success.  We
have a strong commitment
to a continued focus on
leadership development,
succession planning and career
development.

§ Connecting Care
In 2012/13, we stated we “will
continue to work on developing
standard management
systems that will be applied
throughout the Trust” and this
has progressed at pace. The
management system work was
named ‘Connecting Care’ by
staff and to better describe the
ethos behind the programme:
a way of working at the RD&E
which connects individuals and
teams to the strategic objectives
of the Trust.

After piloting some of the Connecting 
Care tools in sixteen areas of the 
Trust in 2013, the full programme 
was launched in January 2014 and 
throughout 2014/15, every area/
department will receive training 
and coaching to support the 
implementation of Connecting Care 
including creative problem solving 
to help them take greater ownership 
for solving problems at their own 
level (without the need to ask for 
permission) and to only escalate 
when they need support. 

‘Communication Cell’ boards 
will be introduced in all areas to 
support better team communication, 
performance monitoring, local 
decision making around problem 
solving and continuous improvement. 
In addition, ward areas will have 
new standardised Patient Flow 
Boards that identify delays in 
patient pathways earlier.  These 
are supported by an ‘Observe & 
Support’ mechanism which engages 
local teams and senior managers 
to working together to identify 
what support teams require and 
continuous improvement.
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As well as these local tools, a 
number of corporate Connecting 
Care tools are being introduced. 
These include: 

□ Basic Standards
Focusing on administrative
processes, discharge and
patient safety

□ Performance Assurance
Framework
A dashboard of indicators used
to monitor  performance of all
clinical areas

□ Patient Pathway Centre
Shows the daily performance
of the Trust in a more visual
way to support patient flow
across the organisation

□ Strategy Deployment Matrix
Translates the corporate
strategy into a ‘step change’
plan for the next 12 - 18
months and cascades this
direction throughout the
organisation to enable every
member of staff to have a clear
line of sight to the corporate
agenda and to understand
how they directly contribute
to the delivery of our strategic
objectives.

§ Stakeholder Engagement
and Communication
We know that engaging
with our stakeholders is an
integral component of our
transformation journey. Without
this, anything we seek to do to
change what we do and how
we do it has the potential to
fail.  Over the course of the
last year we have commenced
the implementation of a new
Stakeholder Engagement &
Communication Strategy that
is aligned to our corporate
strategy. The essence of what
we have set out to do is to:

§ Understand the need to make
a step change in the level,
intensity and consistency of our
engagement particularly with
our key partners and the wider
community served by the Trust
and that we need to listen and be
influenced by our stakeholders

§ be more strategic in both
our external and internal
communications and less reactive

§ focus on the role that effective
staff engagement and
communications can play in
developing a renewed culture
and delivering a high quality, safe
service

§ consider how we develop,
promote and leverage our core
brand in a way that makes
the RD&E a hospital/partner/
employee of choice

As part of the focus on taking a 
new approach in this area, the 
Trust’s Senior management Review 
resulted in a restructuring of the 
team to place more emphasis on 
this vital area of work.

Internal Stakeholders
During the course of the year we 
have stepped up our approach 
to developing effective staff 
communications and engagement. 
We have:

§ Run the Trust’s new Extraordinary
People awards scheme which has
generated over 200 nominations
over three rounds of awards
during the year. This new scheme
seeks to celebrate all that is best
about RD&E staff and over the
year the judging panel has had
the privilege of some uplifting
and moving stories of individuals
and teams that have gone out of
their way to make a difference.
The winners of the “seasonal
awards” were considered as
part of a “Winner of Winners”
event that celebrated the winning
nominations from each round.
The Winner of Winners event
included a new category – a
people’s Award – that was voted
for by members of staff at the
Trust.

§ Provided the communication
support and branding for the
Trust’s “Connecting Care”
programme – designed to
standardise processes and
enable staff to identify problems
and contribute to collective
problem solving. This programme
will enhance staff engagement
across the Board as it is rolled out
across the Trust.



Annual Report and Accounts 2013/14 43

§ Begun to revamp the Trust’s
intranet site so that it reads more
like a daily newspaper to ensure
that staff are kept in the loop.
This precedes the much bigger
change to the Trust’s intranet site
that is being planned for the next
financial year.

§ Sought to make a difference
in staff knowing about what is
happening at the centre of the
organisation by putting in place
a number of “staff road shows”
at which Executive Directors
brief staff on key corporate and
performance issues, holding
Executive “back to the floor”
visits, and developing a new Chief
Executive blog.

§ Running “staff say” conversations
to give staff the opportunity to
help develop a behaviour code
linked to the Trust’s values.

External Stakeholders
During the year, we have:

§ Continued to engage members
through our magazine, events
such as Medicine for Members
and our flagship engagement
event – Members’ Say.

§ Developed an initial relationship
with the Youth parliament in
Devon to begin to find ways of
ensuring that we are able to listen
to younger people.

§ Completed a perception audit
of our institutional stakeholders
which is helping to drive our
ongoing relationships. We have
also intensified our relationships
with key partners in Devon
particularly coming together to
discuss how best to develop a
more integrated health and social
care offer.

§ Supported the Chairman in his
meetings with key stakeholders in
the region and beyond

§ Identified and begun to use the
Trust’s core messages which
have been grouped into four
areas; care; change; expert;
partnership and taken a more
strategic and planned approach to
our communications’ activities.

Summary of Performance
In 2013, the RDE, as part of its staff 
engagement strategy, undertook a 
full census survey of its staff for the 
fifth year and is using this material 
to track trends across the Trust 
and within individual departments. 
The response rate was 47% for the 
sample which feeds into national 
CQC survey and key findings 
results. The Trust was in the top 
20% of Trusts nationally for six of 
the key findings, an increase of one 
from 2012. The Trust was in the 
bottom 20% for two key findings 
compared with six in 2012.

Best 20%

§ Staff agreeing their role makes a
difference

§ Staff saying hand washing
materials are always available

§ Staff experiencing physical
violence from staff in last 12
months

§ Staff experiencing harassment,
bullying from patients, relatives or
public in last 12 months.

§ Staff believing the Trust provides
equal opportunities for career
progression or promotion

§ Staff experiencing discrimination
at work in last 12 months

Worst 20%

§ Staff receiving job relevant
training, learning or development
in last 12 months

§ Staff reporting good
communication between senior
management and staff
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2012/13 2013/14 Trust Improvement /Deterioration
Response rate RDE Trust Acute Ave RDE Trust Acute Ave

49 50 47 49 decrease

Trust 5 Top Ranking Scores 2013 Trust
2012

Acute 
Trust Ave

2012

Trust
2013

Acute
Trust Ave 

2013
Increase/Decrease

KF 17 - % staff experiencing physical 
violence from staff in last 12 months

1 3 1 2 No change

KF12 - % staff saying hand washing 
materials are always available 

64 60 69 60 5% improvement

KF 18 - % staff experiencing 
harassment, bullying or abuse from 
patients in last 12 months

22 30 24 29 2% improvement

KF 27 - % staff believing the Trust 
provides equal opportunities for career 
progression or promotion

91 88 93 88 2% improvement

KF 2 - % staff agreeing that their role 
makes a difference to patients

87 89 92 91 5% improvement

Trust 5 Bottom Ranking Scores 2013 Trust
2012

Acute 
Trust Ave

2012
Trust
2013

Acute
Trust Ave 

2013
Increase/Decrease

KF6 - % staff receiving job relevant 
training, learning or development in last 
12 months

81 81 77 81 4% deterioration

KF 21 - % staff reporting good 
communication between senior 
management and staff

20 27 24 29 4% improvement

KF25 - % staff motivation at work 3.76 3.84 3.80 3.86 .04 improvement

KF14 - % staff reporting errors, near 
misses or incidents witnessed in last 
month

91 90 88 90 3% deterioration

KF8 - % of staff having well - structured 
appraisals in last 12 months

29 36 34 38 5% improvement

Summary of Performance (continued)
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Future Trust Priorities
The Trust has a number of ongoing 
priorities where performance is not 
as satisfactory as we would wish. 
We will continue to concentrate 
on these as part of our staff 
engagement strategy. For 2013, we 
intend to undertake further in depth 
work towards improvements in these 
areas. There is clear evidence of 
the link between high quality patient 
care and organisational culture as 
demonstrated in the Francis report. 
We continue to aligning priorities 
agreed from our Patient Satisfaction 
surveys with Staff satisfaction 
results at trust and departmental 
level. A programme of work is being 
developed to monitor improvements 
from actions plans within year.

KF1 % staff feeling satisfied with the quality of work and patient care they 
are able to deliver

KF2 % staff agreeing that their role makes a difference to patients

KF8 % staff having well structured appraisals in last 12 months

KF13 % staff witnessing potentially harmful errors, near misses or incidents 
witnessed in last month

KF21 % staff reporting good communication between senior management 
and staff

KF25 staff motivation at work

Health and Wellbeing 
We encourage staff to lead healthy 
lifestyles by promoting a range of 
national and local initiatives. Over 
the past year there have been a 
number of new and continuing 
initiatives locally. Our sickness 
absence rate continues to reduce 
and presently stands at 3.80%. 
Our staff survey demonstrates 
improvements in staff health. Work 
pressure felt by staff has improved 
and the percentage of staff working 
extra hours is aligned to the national 
average for acute trusts. Although 
staff suffering work related stress 
has increased slightly we are still 
in the best 20% nationally and our 
score of 30% is very close to the 
best of Acute Trusts 28%.

§ We are now reviewing our Trust
wide annual plan on Health and
Wellbeing to ensure that the most
effective approaches are taken to
support staff health and wellbeing
and prevent ill health

§ Our OH Department achieved
one of the first SEQOHS, (Safe
Effective Quality Occupational
Health Service) accreditation in
the South West

§ Our staff direct access
physiotherapy service continues
to deliver early intervention

§ The successful weight loss clinic
continues to support a range of
staff across the trust

§ The Virtual Gym service is
available free to all staff and their
families

§ A self care course designed
to support staff with long term
conditions has had a successful
pilot and is being expanded to
other staff.
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Sickness Absence Data
Over the last year, the RD&E has 
commenced the review and redesign 
of our core HR processes to ensure 
they are aligned to our corporate 
strategy and reinforce/drive the right 
behaviour of all staff.  Our sickness 
absence management process was 
redesigned in the first phase of work,  
and engaged both line managers and 
staff in the review work and in coming 
up with improvement ideas. 

As part of this work we have 
improved our understanding of 
the causes of sickness absence, 
redesigned the policy moving it to an 
Attendance Policy, clarified roles and 
responsibilities, established effective 
management information and 
monitoring and managed personal 
responsibility and accountability in a 
more robust way.

As a result of the relentless focus 
by the leadership and HR teams the 
implementation plan has enabled the 
Trust to achieve its lowest sickness 
absence rate of 3.68%  (April 2014) 
which is the lowest level achieved 
since July 2013.

Statistics produced by HSCIC from ESR 
Data Warehouse

Figures Converted by DH to Best Estimates 
of Required Data items

Quarterly 
Sickness Absence 
Publications

Monthly Workforce 
Publication

Average of 12 
Months (2013 
Calender Year)

Average FTE 2013 FTE-Days Available FTE-Days Lost to 
Sickness Absence

Average Sick Days 
per FTC

3.9% 5,329 1,199,054 47,067 8.8 

w
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Overall
§ Our seventeen  grades for the

Equality Delivery System are all at
“achieving”, or better, apart from
four.

§ The staff and patient profile
at our Trust broadly matches
the appropriate community
benchmarks.

Staff
§ Reported discrimination remains

much lower than the national
average and our rate of reporting
is approaching the best score,
nationally.

§ We are overall at national average
in the staff survey for acting fairly
as regards career progression
and promotion, with no results for
any protected characteristic being
notably below that benchmark.

§ Satisfaction with flexible working
arrangements is within expected
parameters for almost all protected
groups.

§ In addition to routine equality
training at induction, forty-nine
sessions have been delivered 
during 2013, reaching six hundred 
and seventy-four learners, covering 
a full range of equality themes. 

§ A high proportion of staff (90%+)
have received the standard
equality training.

§ Delivered personal support on
equality issues to thirty-five staff in
2013, most of which was disability-
related.

§ Started to implement disability
action plan, to raise awareness
of disability issues and secure
enhanced partnership working with
Occupational Health.

§ Continue to develop work
experience placements for
learners with disabilities, one
of whom has progressed into
employment with us.

§ Our proportion of ethnic minority
staff has increased in line with
the local community and they
report a positive experience of
working with us.

§ Early indicators from the pilot of an
innovative training course, to help
people with long-term health issues/
disabilities take control of their
conditions suggest this is having a
significant impact on participants,
with many reporting significant
reductions in sickness levels.

§ Our pay gaps, by protected
characteristic, remain small.

Patients
§ Produced Coming into Hospital,

our information leaflet for
inpatients, in Easy Read.

§ Secured a more “dementia
friendly” environment through
awareness training to all staff
and implementing the “Forget me
Not” flagging system so that all

staff are aware of when a patient 
has dementia or delirium, which 
produces temporary confusion.

§ Consulted with carers and
produced prioritised action plan
capturing issues raised.

§ Consult on transgender issues
for patients, in particular our
management of medical records
containing previous gender
history and set up process to
communicate outcomes to patients
who change gender.

§ Our major local patient survey
suggests very few equality issues.

§ Patients aged sixty-five+ are still
notably less likely than expected to
be emergency readmissions.

§ The Friends and Family test gives
good scores for patients who are
aged sixty-five+ and those with
disabilities.

§ Strengthened equality consultation
work, by refreshing membership
of Diversity Leads Forum and
embedding regular participative
activities within the Patient and
Carer Experience Group.

Equality and Diversity
ACHIEVEMENTS
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The Equality Delivery System 
(EDS) is a national NHS system 
to provide an overview of how well 
NHS organisations are meeting 
the requirements of the statutory 
public sector duty on equality and 
diversity, through grading against 
a maximum of eighteen outcomes. 
We have graded against seventeen 
outcomes, as one is not relevant for 
our core business.  

Our grades are as follows: 

Our priority is to address, as far 
as is practicable, the equality 
gaps triggering the “developing” 
grades, namely lower satisfaction 
at work among staff with disabilities 
and equality considerations not 
systematically embedded in Board 
business. 

a.Overall staff equality

This indicator shows the level of 
discrimination from patients, public, 
or colleagues, in the 2012 staff 
survey, reported in 2013.

Year in 
which staff 
survey was 

reported RDE

National 
(acute and 
specialist 

trusts)

2013 7% 11%

2012 9% 13%

2011 10% 13%

2010 6% 7%

Reported discrimination nationally 
has increased, from 7% in 2010 to 
11% in 2013, but our Trust has seen 
a smaller increase, from 6% to 7%. 
We are in the best 20% of acute 
trusts and only 1% short of the best 
score nationally (6%).

Equality Objectives

The two equality objectives are 
given below with their accompanying 
performance indicators:

1.To continuously improve the care
of our older patients

Measures:

Year-on-year improvement in the 
“equality gap” for patients aged 65+ 
as regards emergency readmissions 
and involvement in incidents.

We would expect that the proportion 
of patients aged 65+ who are 
emergency readmissions or involved 
in reported incidents would be 
the same as the proportion of all 
patients who are in that age group.

The 2013 Equality Data Report 
shows the following (please see 
Equality Objectives table below)

This represents an improvement 
since 2011 as regards the first 
indicator, with the equality gap 
having disappeared, so that patients 
aged 65+ are now less likely 
than expected to be emergency 
readmissions.

The second indicator, as regards 
involvement in incidents, has a 
slightly larger equality gap than was 
the case last year. Continuously 
improving our services to elderly 
patients remains a Trust priority. 

Key Performance Indicators 
OVERALL

  

Undeveloped Developing

0 4

Achieving Excelling

11 2

Equality Objectives table 2013 2012 2011

% patients from the 65+ age group who 
are "emergency readmissions” 37% 34% 53%

% patients who are 65+ age group in 
reported incidents 58% 59% 51%

% of all inpatients who are 65+ 
age group 39% 43% 43%
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2.To continuously improve our
support of staff who have disabilities

Measures:

i. Balance of notably negative and
notably positive findings for staff with
disabilities, in the 2012 staff survey
(reported in 2013).

Current situation:

Notably negative findings:   5
Notably positive findings:          0
SCORE: - 5

Goal: year-on-year improvement

This result of -5 overall has 
improved a little since last year, 
when the overall score was -7. This 
year, however, the score is based 
on 110 questions, rather than 37 
key findings. The improvement, 
therefore, is therefore greater than 
the headline score suggests, given 
we have moved from a score of -7 
from 37 indicators (19%) to -5 from 
110 indicators (0.5%).

ii. Discrimination reporting rate in
the staff survey on the theme of
disability.

Current situation:

0.9% in survey reported in 2013 

Goal: year-on-year improvement.

This indicator has worsened slightly, 
although hardly significantly, having 
been 0.7% last year. Such slight 
changes are to be expected given 
the small numbers involved (23 
out of 2690 respondents reporting 
discrimination on the theme of 
disability, one more than last year). 

iii. % in staff survey saying we
have implemented reasonable
adjustments:

Current situation:

79% (acute trust benchmark 71%)

Goal: to remain well above the 
national benchmark.

This indicator has improved, from 
71% in the previous year’s staff 
survey. 

Casework and data evidence 
both suggest that people with a 
disability are reluctant to be open 
about disability issues and ask for 
adjustments. 

Our disability action plan seeks to 
raise awareness on these issues, 
so staff are more likely to be open 
about areas of difficulty. 
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Sustainability has become 
increasingly important as the impact 
of people’s lifestyles and business 
choices are changing the world 
in which we live. In order to fulfil 
our responsibilities for the role we 
play, the RD&E has committed to 
increasing its focus on sustainability. 
This focus will bring benefits to the 
environment, patients and create 
cost savings. 

The most recent International Panel 
on Climate Change report does not 
deviate in the view that everyone 
needs to focus on reducing carbon 
emissions, at home and at work 
in order to avoid changing our 
climate irreparably.  Our Board 
approved plan addresses the 
potential need to adapt the delivery 
of the organisation’s activities and 
infrastructure to reduce emissions 
and mitigate against adverse 
weather events. The RD&E treats 
more patients each year; this means 
that the natural resources required 
to  deliver quality healthcare also 
increase. To respond to the extra 
demands that are being placed on it 
the RD&E is increasing the amount 
of time and money being invested 
in low carbon and sustainability 
initiatives. The goal is to provide a 
more efficient healthcare service 
that does not cause harm to the 
environment which we live in.

Energy and Carbon

The RD&E is working to reduce 
its building carbon emissions by 
10% of its 2007 baseline emissions 
before 2015. This is a challenging 
target, as patient numbers increase 
every year and with this increase 
in volume comes a corresponding 
increase in energy requirements. 
The graph below shows the RD&E’s 
carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions 
from energy used in buildings over 
the last seven years.

The RD&E has spent £3.9m on 
energy in 2013/14, which is a 6.1% 
increase on energy spending from 
last year. The graph below shows the 
different energy sources contribution 
to the RD&E’s carbon footprint:

 

 

Last year the RD&E invested a 
£1.1m grant from the Department 
of Health in projects to improve the 
energy and water efficiency of the 
Wonford Hospital. This will generate 
over £150k of cost savings and 
reduce the energy consumption of 
the buildings. The projects included: 
seven boilers being converted from 
oil to gas, LED lighting installed in 
areas across the main hospital and 
hundreds of metres of hot pipes 
were insulated. One of the biggest 
successes has been renovating the 
Combined Heat and Power plant; 
this should save up to £300k per 
year. Two solar panel arrays have 
been installed, with a combined total 
of 156 panels. 

With these measures in place the 
energy consumption of the RD&E 
should reduce considerably by 
next year. More hospital energy 
saving schemes are being planned 
for 2014-15. In addition to these 
internal projects the RD&E is 
working in partnership with Local 
Authorities and the University of 
Exeter to develop a district heating 
scheme. This has the potential to 
save around 16,000 tonnes of CO2 
across the city.

As well as the voluntary 10% 
reduction target, the RD&E 
subscribes to the Carbon Reduction 
Commitment (CRC) and the 
European Union Emissions Trading 
Scheme (EUETS). These are 
mandatory schemes. The total cost 
of the RD&E’s carbon allowances to 
cover its CRC emissions in 2013-
14 was: £144k. Due to meeting 
prescribed targets there were no 
costs for EUETS allowances.

Sustainability Report
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Since 2013 the RD&E has been 
purchasing renewable electricity for 
its sites. However, due to carbon 
accounting rules unless renewable 
electricity is generated on site it has 
to be reported in the RD&E’s  
carbon profile as “brown” carbon 
emitting electricity.

Using actual figures and an 
estimation technique specified by 
the NHS Sustainable Development 
Unit (SDU), the RD&E total carbon 
footprint can be assumed to be in 
the region of 84,197 tonnes of CO2. 
This is made up of the following key 
areas: 

The RD&E is working with suppliers 
to provide sustainable goods and 
services. There are a number of 
ways that this is done, for example 
during the initial procurement 
stage suppliers are reviewed to 
identify if they have environmental 
management systems in place 
and during the life of a contract the 
suppliers can be requested to

reduce the amount of packaging 
that is supplied. The SDU is 
researching how to reduce 
procurement emissions on a 
national level. Using SDU statistics 
the following carbon profile has 
been calculated for the RD&E.

Proportions of Carbon Footprint

Energy

Travel

Procurement

25%

73%

2%

Organisation Carbon Emissions Profile
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Waste 

Waste is almost an unavoidable 
output from healthcare. The aim 
is to reduce the amount we create 
and make the best use of what we 
do produce. The RD&E is engaging 
with suppliers to reduce the amount 
of packaging they use and at the 
same time reuse and recycling 
levels are increasing. 

Making use of waste: 

§ Obsolete IT and medical
equipment is sent out to be
reused or recycled; any data is
erased from equipment and if the
equipment is resalable then the
RD&E receives revenue for the
equipment.

§ The RD&E has an onsite laundry,
eight tonnes of damaged or
unrequired garments were sent
out to be reused as rags or
recycled into new materials.

§ Cardboard is baled and sold onto
mills; last year over a hundred and
twenty-five tonnes of card were
recycled

§ Fourteen tonnes of wood waste
were collected and sent out to be
processed into new raw materials.

A key objective for 2014-15 is to 
procure a new waste contract which 
will facilitate a trust wide change in 
the way landfill waste is managed. 
The graph opposite shows the 
components of the main RD&E 
waste streams 
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Water

Last year the RD&E invested in 
water efficiency measures and 
completed a programme of detecting 
and repairing underground leaks. 
One of the schemes was to install 
showers in the Wonford residences; 

this has improved the standard of 
the residences and saved water. 
These have combined to show a 
reduction in water consumption. 
Leak detection and further schemes 
will be continued in 2014-15.

Travel

A Green Travel Steering Group 
has been formed to implement the 
Green Travel Plan. This aims to 
improve access to and encourage 
sustainable travel methods and 
the RD&E is working closely with 
Devon County Council to achieve 
this. Pedestrian access around the 
site has been improved and a new 
secure bike store is scheduled to be 
installed in the next few months. An 
awareness campaign week was held 
earlier in the year. After the event 
there was an increase in the number 
of Cycle to Work applications and 
there was also an increase in sign-
ups to the Travel Devon Car Sharing 
scheme.

Future

The RD&E is continuing to develop 
a sustainable energy strategy. 
The energy requirements are 
complicated and diverse so 
a thorough planning stage is 
essential. The Centre for Energy 
and the Environment, an external 
consultancy who specialising in 
public sector work, is assisting the 
RD&E in producing a practical and 
achievable route to low carbon 
building energy supplies.

Water 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14

Mains
m3 256391 254084 235297

tCO2e 234 231 214

Water & Sewage Spend £903,279 £991,280 £968,359 
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Chief Executive’s Introduction 

Our report sets out an honest 
and open overview of:

§ the quality of our services over the
last year

§ some of the achievements we
have made during the year to build
quality services

§ the progress we have made
against the priorities set out in last
year’s Quality Report

§ Our priorities for the coming year

In addition, the report provides details 
on our quality performance during 
the year and includes external views 
on our quality from our Governors, 
our principal commissioners, Devon 
Health and Wellbeing Scrutiny 
Committee and Devon Healthwatch. 
The Quality Report is prepared in line 
with the requirements set out in the 
Quality Accounts legislation (part of 
the Health Act 2009) and Monitor’s 
annual reporting guidance.

Patient safety and quality are at the 
heart of everything we do as a Trust 
and all of the staff and volunteers at 
the RD&E have worked hard during 
the year to maintain and improve 
quality. I want to personally thank 
our staff and volunteers, on behalf 
of the Board, for their dedication and 

hard work during the year and their 
endeavours to ensure that quality 
and safety remain paramount. 

The full report sets out many 
amazing examples of what we have 
done over the last year but I wanted, 
in my introduction, to focus on three 
innovations that have really made a 
significant shift in our approach  
to quality.

Let me start by highlighting the 
introduction of our new initiative. 
Safety and quality are not optional 
extras in the service we provide, 
they are fundamental principles 
upon which we deliver care. To 
ensure we embed our approach to 
quality and any enhancements in our 
service in practice that is delivered 
consistently to all patients we need 
to be able to implement and monitor 
implementation and embed it in 
the practice of all our staff. During 
2013/14 we have introduced a new 
way of working called Connecting 
Care. This seeks to standardise best 
practice and to build on learning 
from experience into everything we 
do. It draws on good practice from 
industry, but it has been designed via 
widespread clinical engagement  
in a way that is RD&E specific and 
it gives staff either individually or as 
part of a team the tools and guidance 

to assist in our relentless focus 
on improving care. The approach 
provides a foundation for innovation 
and organisational improvement 
based on standardisation of our 
core work processes, and it is 
supported by the provision of up-
to-date information to monitor and 
support team performance. There is a 
strong emphasis on shared learning, 
problem solving and teams coming 
together on a regular basis to ensure 
that everyone is working together to 
further improve the clinical care we 
provide for our patients as effectively 
and efficiently as possible. Connecting 
Care was launched in January and is 
being rolled out to clinical areas in the 
Trust, before later in the year being 
taken up by non-clinical areas. At the 
very heart of this new approach is 
the concept of empowering teams to 
consider the issues they face and to 
work together to solve them or seek 
support from elsewhere to do so. As 
a new way of working it will clearly 
take time to embed but already I see 
teams taking up the baton with great 
enthusiasm because they can see the 
opportunities this approach provides 
them to drive up quality and safety.  

Hospitals and health organisations 
that have an engaged workforce who 
feel valued and receive recognition 
for the care they deliver, deliver 

Welcome to our annual Quality Report 2013/14
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safer care. You will see as you read 
through this report our staff strive 
to deliver great care on occasion in 
difficult high pressured situations. 
Whilst as part of normal working 
practice positive feedback to staff 
and thanks for the contribution they 
make is part of normal business 
we recognise as “going the extra 
mile”, that is the norm for many of 
our staff, and we have not given this 
very important aspect of our work a 
sufficiently high profile in the past. 
During 2013/14 we have sought to 
address this gap and introduced 
our Extraordinary People Awards 
Scheme. These new awards select 
winning entrants from nominations 
from patients’ carers and staff in 
five categories three times a year. 
The winners from these “seasonal 
rounds” then go forward to a “winner 
of winners” event at the end of 
the year. The connection between 
motivated and engaged staff and 
patient quality is well documented, 
and that is why we decided to invest 
in this new approach alongside a 
more comprehensive and joined up 
approach to fostering a new culture 
in which staff feel empowered, 
supported, able to take part in 
on-going learning, and where they 
are able to perform to the best of 
their abilities and understand that 
how what they do contributes to the 
bigger picture. 

Several hundred nominations for 
the awards were submitted. Each 
nomination – whether put forward by 
a colleague or a patient - represents 
the tip of a much bigger iceberg 
of our hardworking and dedicated 
staff who put the interests of caring 
for our patients first. Moreover, 
the citations for the award winners 
provide an insight into the real 

human stories that happen each 
day in our Trust and helps underline 
to me and the rest of the Board 
that, even within a difficult and 
demanding context, we are here 
to serve our patients and the wider 
community as best we can in a safe 
and sustainable way. 

Finally, we are all aware that this 
is a very challenging time for the 
NHS given the growing pressures 
on the service at the same time as 
delivering substantial cost savings. 
Balancing quality and finance - 
which are really two sides of the 
same coin - to deliver value for 
patients is more important than ever. 
Over the last year, at a Board level, 
we have grappled with this difficult 
issue and debated how to improve 
quality and safety sustainably while 
managing a smaller financial pot. 
Our conclusion is that quality and 
finance are inextricably linked and, 
to assist us in placing value on these 
concepts, the Board developed a 
hierarchy of priorities being clear 
both who and what is important 
to the RD&E to help navigate our 
way through these  difficult waters. 
The hierarchy is being used by the 
Board to help inform decisions and 
is a useful way of ensuring that the 
Board collectively places value on 
the issues and the stakeholders that 
really matter. Operationally, we have 
also made some changes to how 
we address these difficult and, what 
can often be perceived as conflicting 
issues. We have put in place a 
new approach to performance 
management through a framework 
that seeks to actively identify issues 
by holistically examining key data 
and trends on workforce, safety 
and quality, finance, performance, 
and efficiency. Through monthly 

meetings with operational Divisions, 
overall performance can be better 
managed and assessed so that our 
focus on the quality and safety of 
our services remains paramount and 
any issues that have the potential to 
be of concern are tackled up front. 

We recognise we do not always 
meet the high standards we aspire 
to and on occasions get things 
wrong. Our commitment is to 
learn from these events and take 
action to improve the experience 
of other patients. The new 
approaches I have described build 
on the approach we already have 
established and are some of the 
ways in which we have unrelentingly 
and continuously sought to drive up 
quality and safety. The full report 
provides many more examples of 
how the Trust strives every day 
to provide the best possible safe, 
quality care for patients delivered 
with courtesy and respect.

To the best of my knowledge and 
belief, the information contained in 
this document is accurate and, on 
behalf of the Board, I am confident 
to stand by its contents. Much of 
the format and structure of this 
document is prescribed by Monitor’s 
Annual Reporting Guidance, which 
incorporates the requirements of 
the Health Act 2009 and the NHS 
Quality Account Regulations 2010.

Angela Pedder OBE 
Chief Executive
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Never Events

Whilst the Governors have 
previously received reports on 
the numbers of Never Events, the 
Council of Governors requested 
further information, in order to aid 
their understanding, of any Never 
Events which happened at the Trust. 
Clinical detail of adverse incidents, 
learning gained from investigation 
and improvement actions taken have 
been shared with the Council of 
Governors via their meetings.

Re-admissions audit 

Nationally the level of readmission 
within twenty-eight days is 11.45%. 
The Royal Devon & Exeter 
Foundation Trust has a thirty day 
readmission rate of 10.01% (this is 
based on the recent sample audit 
undertaken jointly with New Devon 
CCG).  

The aim of the audit was to provide 
a greater understanding of the 
reasons for readmissions, and to 
agree the proportion of all eligible 
readmissions which are avoidable, 
setting a threshold for all avoidable 
readmissions, including those 
preventable by actions outside the 
acute provider.

Clinical records were requested 
where there had been a readmission 
to the Royal Devon & Exeter 
Foundation Trust within thirty days, 
where the readmission was in a 
selected week in May 2013. There 
were a total of one hundred and 
thirty-one readmissions recorded 
during this time. A total of fifty were 
fully analysed for this audit by an 
audit team including commissioners, 
provider (RD&E Clinical Staff), and 
Local Authority Public Health. 

The average age of audit cohort was 
62.3 years.

Results. Readmission by status

Unavoidable 

Common themes in this category 
were:

§ Progressive or deteriorating
condition.

§ Readmission was unrelated to first
admission.

§ Complications including side-
effects to treatments.

Avoidable

Common themes in this category 
were: 

§ Process – some patients appeared
to have open access to return to
some wards for review.

§ Several of the avoidable
readmissions were for reasonably
foreseeable complications.

§ Patient choice or reluctance to
engage in a planned discharge led
to two patients being readmitted.

Recommendations

§ Open Access - a clearer
explanation on discharge of
some of the likely outcomes and
appropriate action to take should
they occur may lead to a reduction
in readmissions. This would
include patients who currently
return to the ward under ‘open

access’. Rapid review or access 
to phone support may lead to a 
reduction in readmissions.

§ Frequent attendance (Alcohol/
Mental health) - within the audit
there were a small number
of patients who had multiple
admissions for drug/alcohol
and mental health. While each
admission was considered
unavoidable on the information
provided, there may be
opportunities to intervene at an
earlier admission and agree a
consistent approach for managing
each subsequent presentation,
which may lead to reduced
readmissions.

Both these recommendations will be 
addressed throughout this next year. 

The Trust has a developed 
programme of work focussed on 
continuous improvement of our 
discharge arrangements for patients 
and their family. 

Working in partnership with the 
Devon Partnership Trust, reviewing 
and enhancing the Mental Health 
pathways is a core piece of work 
underway.

Communication with patients

Last year we agreed with the 
Governors to include a further 
question to the existing feedback       
“What Went Well Even Better If”.  
The additional question “Is there 
anything we didn’t tell you that 
would have been helpful to know?” 
has been added from March 2014.  
The results have been reviewed as 
part of the on-going work through 
the Engagement and Experience 
Committee.

Progress on our 2013/14 priorities
GOVERNOR PRIORITIES

Unavoidable Avoidable No status 
determined

34 (68%) 13 (26%) 3
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Progress on our 2013/14 priorities

The Patient Journey 

We are continuing to develop new 
ways of working to improve the 
patient’s journey through the hospital 
and beyond.

Em Wilkinson-Brice, Chief Nurse/
Chief Operating Officer said:  
“For our patients and their carers, 
adopting a pathway approach to the 
services we offer is so important. 
People don’t want to see any gaps 
in the pathway because numerous 
providers are responsible for 
different parts. Quite rightly, our 
patients expect the journey to be 
simple, well communicated and 
seamless. We have had to learn 
more about other parts of the 
system, particularly social care so 
that collectively we can work with 
our patients and public to provide 
the very best pathways across 
health and social care”.

Some examples include: 

§ The Acute Care of the Elderly
(ACE) Team is a multi-agency
team whose role is to assess
and care for frail older people
presenting acutely in the hospital’s
Emergency Department. This
‘Front Door’ service helps to
prevent unnecessary acute
hospital admissions and
reduce unnecessary delays in
investigations and therapy.

§ Board rounds have been set up
where the ward multidisciplinary
teams meet daily. Each patient
is discussed in turn using the
‘5D’ approach – Diagnosis,
Diagnostics, Discharge Plan,
Delay and Dying.

§ A nurse Discharge Lead works
both in the hospital and in the
community, learning from patients
and training ward staff.  They also
develop effective relationships
with relevant professional partners
in the community.

§ We have a number of health
and social care collaborative
projects in partnership with GPs,
community teams and complex
care teams. Requirements of
a patient are assessed by the
individual teams to identify if care
can be provided either within a
patient’s own home or another
safe and appropriate environment.

§ Yealm Ward is a new ward which
supports older people who need
a short intensive rehabilitation
programme. This helps to reduce
their length of hospital stay and
better prepares them to go directly
home.

§ We have made some system
improvements to ensure
that ward staff have a clear
understanding of the referral
process and to ensure that all
relevant information is completed
on the transfer form via the ward
electronic whiteboard.

§ We have developed relationships
with our social care partners as
well as third sector, such as the
Housing Association, which have
begun to form a firm platform
from which we can progress our
integration work across health and
social care boundaries.

Patient Safety

Safety is the golden thread which 
runs throughout the Trust and we 
promote a zero tolerance approach 
to all avoidable harm. Starting from a 
position of low harm, but determined 
to continuously improve, the Patient 
Safety Programme has focussed 
on maintaining and improving our 
performance with regard to specific 
outcomes such as pressure ulcers, 
falls, and Cdiff, whilst aligning 
the safety outcomes with the 
compassion in practice work.

Our overall pressure ulcer incidence 
data for the year demonstrated a 
30% reduction in the number of 
pressure ulcers since 2012-13. 
This is continued progress, as 
year on year we have continued 
to reduce the number of pressure 
ulcers in the Trust. The Pressure 
Ulcer Collaborative a year-long 
improvement initiative, delivered 
a number of excellent projects 
with significantly lower numbers of 
pressure ulcers in the participating 
ward and departments. Several 
wards areas have also been 
involved in the Falls Collaborative 
and we have seen a 35% reduction 
in moderate/severe harm over the 
last year. 

We continue to undertake the 
monthly NHS Safety Thermometer, 
where since its introduction, the 
Trust benchmarks highly in relation 
to low levels of harm.  This year we 
have seen our position improve from 
97.57% to 98.07% for delivering 
Harm Free Care, which is the best in 
the South West area. This approach 
will continue through 2014/2015 
as well as focusing on reducing 

THE TRUST PRIORITIES
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the incidence of sepsis and acute 
kidney injury working collaboratively 
with our colleagues across the NHS 
QUEST Network. This year has 
focused on the establishment of the 
Acute Kidney Injury Nurse Specialist 
Team who are now operational and 
targeting the top ten areas in terms 
of intensive education. A bundle 
approach of interventions has  
been developed to reduce the 
incidence of Acute Kidney Injury 
which will be monitored for 
compliance and improvement 
through our existing monthly NHS 
Safety Thermometer days.

Human Factors training for all staff is 
an integral part of our Patient Safety 
Programme for next year. Human 
Factors refer to environmental, 
organisational and job factors, and 
human and individual characteristics 
which influence behaviour at work 
in a way which can affect health 
and safety. This year we have used 
Simulation training to test out new 
policies or procedures, when things 
have gone wrong to ensure that 
whatever we put in place as part of 
our learning and improvement has 
been thoroughly tested in a controlled 
environment.  An example of this is 
following a Never Event involving the 
wrong unit of blood being transfused 
to the wrong patient, the theatre 
team involved came together with 
the Simulation team and tested out 
the new procedure to ensure that 
what we thought would solve the 
problem, would indeed prevent a 
further incident. The procedure was 
tested across various scenarios to 
ensure that it was fit for purpose.  We 
will continue to use this innovative 
approach as part of our investigation 
process going forward to ensure that 
lessons are learnt. 

As well as safety outcomes described 
above, we have also reviewed our 
nurse staffing establishment – a 
key element of delivering safe care 
is ensuring we have the right staff, 
with the right skills, in the right 
place to meet the needs of our 
patients. The Trust has invested 
£2.8million in enhancing the baseline 
establishments on our in-patient 
wards. In addition, we have released 
the Ward Matrons to be supervisory 
to shift for some of their time, in 
order for them to lead and manage 
the increasingly complex ward 
environments. 

Efficient Use of Resources 

Tracey Cottam, Director of 
Transformation & Organisational 
Development said: “Our staff deliver 
fantastic care and services to 
patients, carers and relatives every 
day. A strong theme for the last year 
across all of our work has been to 
engage our staff in improving how 
we do this better.  We know there is 
a direct relationship between how 
engaged staff feel and the standard 
of service they deliver.  Our focus 
over the last year has been to 
listen to our staff, involve them in 
adapting the way we work to create 
an environment where our staff have 
the skills and support from leaders 
they need and are motivated to 
take action to improve the care and 
services they deliver”.  

Efficiency continues to be a 
significant focus for the Trust to 
ensure we deliver patient care 
and services which are safe, of 
high quality and that are financially 
sustainable. During the year we 
established the Quality, Cost, 
Delivery Programme Board which 
monitors the successful delivery of 

the in-year improvement and savings 
plan. Across the end to end patient 
pathway, spanning all services, 
projects are identified and are risk-
assessed prior to commencement for 
their impact on safety and quality to 
ensure they do not  adversely affect 
patient safety and clinical efficiency.

This approach has enabled us to 
make informed decisions around 
how we prioritise use of resources 
in line with our delivery plans, and 
aligned to our corporate strategy and 
objectives. Here are two examples  
of the work undertaken over the 
last year:

§ Theatre productivity - an external
review of theatre productivity was
commissioned and this has led
to the development of a plan to
change the theatre schedules
to ensure resource is directed
appropriately. The Trust has started
the process of procuring a new
electronic patient administration
system which includes a more
efficient theatre scheduling tool.

§ Procurement efficiency – we
have continued to deliver a
reduction in the cost of supplies
and actively managed contracts
and tendering to reduce non-pay
expenditure.

A Trust-wide Transformation 
Programme commenced in 
September 2012 and its overall 
purpose is -

“To create a way of working 
at Royal Devon & Exeter NHS 
Foundation Trust which engages 
staff in continuously improving and 
sustaining the delivery of safe, high 
quality and financially sustainable 
efficient services to patients.”
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During the year our focus has been 
to strengthen and establish solid 
foundations for the future.  The 
programme identified a suite of 
integrated projects in line with the 
overall purpose above and the 
following provides an overview of 
the key areas of work completed 
during 2013/14:

§ Pathway improvement - we
have set up the Eastern Locality/
RD&E joint delivery programme,
in conjunction with NEW Devon
CCG partners, in order to
focus joint efforts on delivering
improvements. A key success
has been setting up the new
‘Front Door’ Acute Care for the
Elderly (ACE) multidisciplinary
service for frail adult medical
patients attending the Emergency
Department. The service has
reduced the number of patients
who are admitted unnecessarily
and started diagnosis and
treatment for admitted patients at
an earlier stage.

§ Organisation design - during
2013/14 we implemented a new
structure for clinical services
which has strengthened
clinical leadership, supported
patient pathway working and
established rigour and visibility
around performance. It has
also devolved decision-making
and accountability through all
levels of the organisation. A
new organisational structure for
the ‘support functions’, such as
Human Resources and Finance
will be implemented in 2014/15.

Leadership Development

§ To ensure we create a single
cohesive leadership team, during
2013/14 we implemented a multi-
level approach to leadership
development to embed the NHS
Leadership Framework Standards.

§ Our ‘front-line’ and middle
management leadership
capability has been enhanced
through our ‘Connecting Care’
roll-out programme to enable
them and their teams to lead
the implementation of quality
improvements to patient care.
This work will be further supported
by a focused development
programme for our middle
management leaders extending
their capability to lead and to
inspire others to consistently
deliver safe, efficient and high
quality services to patients.

§ For our senior leadership
team, from the Board to clinical
divisional and support function
teams, our focus over the last year
has been to use the production of
the five-year corporate strategy
as the vehicle for development.
As one team we have built a
shared and deep understanding
of the strategic context facing the
Trust and produced an integrated
strategic plan outlining how we will
continue to deliver our vision and
achieve our strategic objectives.

§ The work completed so far
will support the creation of
a leadership team which will
consistently demonstrate
ownership and accountability,
which will engage and inspire
all staff to deliver continuous
improvement every day and which
will recognise and celebrate.

success.  We have a strong 
commitment to a continued focus 
on leadership development, 
succession planning and career 
development.

§ Connecting Care - In 2012/13,
we stated we “will continue to
work on developing standard
management systems that will be
applied throughout the Trust” and
this has progressed at pace.

The management system work 
was named ‘Connecting Care’ 
by staff and better describes the 
ethos behind the programme: a 
way of working at the RD&E which 
connects individuals and teams to 
the strategic objectives of the Trust. 

After piloting some of the 
Connecting Care tools in 16 areas of 
the Trust in 2013, the full programme 
was launched in January 2014. 
Throughout 2014 and early 2015, 
every area/department will receive 
training and coaching to support the 
implementation of Connecting Care, 
including creative problem-solving 
to help them take greater ownership 
for solving problems at their own 
level (without the need to ask for 
permission) and to escalate only 
when they need support. 

‘Communication Cell’ boards 
will be introduced in all areas to 
support better team communication, 
performance monitoring, 
local decision making around 
problem-solving and continuous 
improvement. In addition, ward 
areas will have new standardised 
Patient Flow Boards that identify 
delays in patient pathways earlier.
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These are supported by an 
‘Observe & Support’ mechanism 
which engages local teams and 
senior managers to working 
together to identify what support 
teams require in their quest for 
continuous improvement.

As well as these local tools, a 
number of corporate Connecting 
Care tools are being introduced. 
These include: 

§ Basic standards – focusing
on administrative processes,
discharge and patient safety.

§ Performance Assurance
Framework – a dashboard
of indicators used to monitor
performance of all clinical areas.

§ Patient Pathway Centre – shows
the daily performance of the
Trust in a more visual way to
support patient flow across the
organisation.

§ Strategy Deployment Matrix –
translates the corporate strategy
into a ‘step change’ plan for the
next 12-18 months and cascades
this direction throughout the
organisation to enable every
member of staff to have a clear
line of sight to the corporate
agenda and to understand
how they directly contribute
to the delivery of our strategic
objectives.

Stakeholder Engagement 
and Communication

We know that engaging with 
our stakeholders is an integral 
component of our transformation 
journey. Without this, anything 
we seek to change in terms of 
what we do and how we do it 
has the potential to fail.  Over the 
course of the last year we have 
commenced the implementation of 
a new Stakeholder Engagement 
& Communication Strategy that is 
aligned to our corporate strategy.  
The essence of what we have set 
out to do is to:

§ understand the need to make
a step change in the level,
intensity and consistency of our
engagement particularly with
our key partners and the wider
community served by the Trust
and that we need to listen and be
influenced by our stakeholders.

§ be more strategic in both
our external and internal
communications and less
reactive.

§ focus on the role that effective staff
engagement and communications
can play in developing a renewed
culture and delivering a high
quality, safe service.

§ consider how we develop,
promote and leverage our core
brand in a way that makes
the RD&E a hospital/partner/
employee of choice.

As part of the focus on taking a 
new approach in this area, the 
Trust’s Senior Management Review 
resulted in a restructuring of the 
team to place more emphasis on 
this vital area of work.

Internal stakeholders

During the course of the year we 
have stepped up our approach 
to developing effective staff 
communications and engagement. 
We have:

§ Run the Trust’s new
Extraordinary People Awards
scheme which has generated
over two hundred nominations
over three rounds of Awards
during the year. This new
scheme seeks to celebrate all
that is best about RD&E staff and
over the year the judging panel
has had the privilege of some
uplifting and moving stories
of individuals and teams that
have gone out of their way to
make a difference. The winners
of the “seasonal awards” were
considered as part of a “Winner
of Winners” event that celebrated
the winning nominations from
each round. The winner of
winners event included a new
category – a People’s Award –
that was voted for by members of
staff at the Trust.

§ Provided the communication
support and branding for the
Trust’s “Connecting Care”
programme – designed to
standardise processes and
enable staff to identify problems
and contribute to collective
problem solving. This programme
will enhance staff engagement
across the Board as it is rolled out
across the Trust.
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§ Begun to revamp the Trust’s
intranet site so that it reads more
like a daily newspaper to ensure
that staff are kept in the loop.
This precedes the much bigger
change to the Trust’s intranet site
that is being planned for the next
financial year.

§ Sought to make a difference
in staff knowing about what is
happening at the centre of the
organisation by putting in place
a number of “staff road shows”
at which Executive Directors
brief staff on key corporate and
performance issues, holding
Executive “back to the floor”
visits, and developing a new Chief
Executive blog.

§ Running “Staff Say” conversations
to give staff the opportunity to
help develop a behaviour code
linked to the Trust’s values.

External stakeholders

During the year, we have:

§ Continued to engage members
through our magazine, events
such as Medicine for Members
and our flagship engagement
event – Members’ Say.

§ Developed an initial relationship
with the Youth Parliament in
Devon to begin to find ways of
ensuring that we are able to listen
to younger people.

§ Completed a perception audit
of our institutional stakeholders
which is helping to drive our
on-going relationships. We have
also intensified our relationships
with key partners in Devon in
particular in coming together to
discuss how best to develop a
more integrated health and social
care offer.

§ Supported the Chairman in his
meetings with key stakeholders in
the region and beyond.

§ Identified and begun to use the
Trust’s core messages which
have been grouped into four
areas; care; change; expert;
partnership and taken a more
strategic and planned approach to
our commutations’ activities.
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The Nursing Midwifery and Allied Health 
Professionals Vision Year 2 

Following the Mid Staffordshire 
report and the Government’s 
response Hard Truths (2013), the 
Trust enhanced the work it was 
taking forward with its nursing, 
midwifery and therapy leaders as 
part of the ‘Vision’.

In October 2013 we began working 
on the values and behaviours 
that we expect from our staff 
and produced a Values and 
Behaviour Charter. This will be 
used to describe acceptable and 
unacceptable behaviour, and to 
recruit and develop our staff. It 
aims to ensure that acceptable 
behaviours are part of everyday life 
at the RD&E. 

“Working with the nursing, midwifery 
and therapy leaders in delivering 
Year 2 of the Vision has been an 
absolute pleasure and privilege – 
the compassion work particularly 
has been completely embraced 
by staff. I think it strikes at the very 
heart of staff as for most, it is the 
thing which inspired them to want a 
career in healthcare” 

Tracey Reeves 
Deputy Chief Nurse/Midwife

The Charter also promotes a culture 
of openness and a climate where 
‘the truth can be heard’.  As part of 
implementing the Duty of Candour, 
we make patients aware of any 
issues with their care and provide 
them with an opportunity to  
contribute to the review so that 
lessons can be learnt. 

As the values and behaviours have 
been developed they have been 
reviewed and commented upon 
through our Care Matters Forum.

This forum brings together the 
nursing, midwifery and allied health 
professional leaders to take forward 
the ‘Vision’. 

We have completed the following 
work over the past year:

§ Compassionate Care -
we have worked with patients
relatives, carers and staff to
describe what this means to them.
After speaking to members of
the public in our Members Say
events and surveying staff, we are
launching a ‘Compassion Code’
which will describe to staff and
patients what compassion means
to us all and will promote these
important values.

§ Reflective Care – an important
aspect of our Vision is to critique 
the care we provide, improve care 
where possible and celebrate 
excellent care. Most importantly 
this involves seeing the care 
through the eyes of our patients 
and their carers. The leadership 
team are developing a ‘Reflective 
Toolkit’, the aim of which is to 
produce a standardised resource 
for the Trust for nursing teams 
to use as best fits their areas of 
practice. 

§ Understanding Care –
we are working with patients
and their families and carers to
further enhance the culture of
openness to ensure they are
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completely informed of the care 
that is planned and provided. This 
also allows us to celebrate care 
that has met the needs of the 
patient and their family and learn 
from practice so we can make 
improvements.

§ Leadership - in addition to
the Leadership Academy
programmes, in April 2013
we began a local leadership
programme with the University
of Plymouth for ward-based
Matrons. The Matrons have
formed a ‘Matrons Forum’ where
they continue to support each
other and problem-solve. Further
programmes are planned during
2014.

Focus on cancer services

By 2030, four million people in the 
UK are expected to be living with 
or beyond cancer. To ensure we 
maintain the current level of service 
and build on existing services the 
Trust’s Cancer Services team are 
overseeing many initiatives to 
support individualised cancer care.

These include:

§ Centre of Excellence -
designated specialist multi-
disciplinary teams (MDTS) for
gynae-oncology, head and neck,
sarcoma, skin and urological
cancers as well as services for
breast, colorectal, complex pelvic
malignancies, haematology, lung,
upper gastro-intestinal and thyroid
cancers.

§ Technical radiotherapy - the
RD&E was successful in a bid for
£375,000 from the Government’s
Cancer Radiotherapy Innovation

Fund, which aims to speed up 
the introduction of advanced 
radiotherapy techniques. Its prime 
focus is on Intensity Modulated 
Radiation Therapy (IMRT). 
This method delivers a dose of 
radiotherapy that treats the cancer 
and the possible areas of spread 
without overdosing other essential 
organs. An aim of the innovation 
fund is to achieve a recommended 
level of 24% of ‘inverse planned’ 
IMRT. The Trust achieved 
compliance with the IMRT target 
in June 2013 and this has been 
maintained, with the department 
reporting 31% compliance in 
February 2014.

§ Cancer National Survey - 93%
of cancer patients treated at the
RD&E stated that their care was
‘very good’ or ‘excellent’. To build
on this positive feedback, we are
working with the local users group
and MDTs to share good practice
and target areas for improvement.

§ Survivorship Agenda – cancer
survivors are likely to require
integrated care and support from
a wide range of services/methods,
some/many outside the acute
setting. Focusing on four pilot
sites - urology, breast, colorectal
and skin - the survivorship
working group consists of health
professionals, managers and
patient representatives to ensure
we design future services that
meet the patient’s requirements.
The group is looking at areas
such as mapping care pathways;
access to tailored care, support,
reliable information and expert
advice; involvement in decision-
making; and supporting patients
to manage their condition
themselves as far as possible.

Cancer waiting times   

§ Data/Audit - the quantity and
complexity of data requirements
and subsequent reporting
continues to increase and to
meet this challenge, the Cancer
Services team has reviewed
systems and processes to ensure
that current and future demands
for data collection and reporting
can be met.

Cancer Research 

§ Oncology - Currently we
have thirty-eight trials open –
commercial, Randomised Control
Trials and observational. One
commercial study is the UK’s top
recruiter and has drawn patients
from across the Peninsula.

§ Haematology - we are currently
recruiting to fifteen trials and
we have made a successful
application to join the Myeloma
UK Clinical Trial Network
comprising 15-20 UK hospitals.
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Improvements to Quality and Safety 2013/14

We continue to work with NHS 
QUEST, a clinical network of fourteen 
high performing Foundation Trusts 
from across the country to improve 
quality and safety.

Members of QUEST have chosen 
five ‘clinical communities’. These 
present complex challenges and 
have been chosen as key areas for 
improvement:

§ Pressure ulcers – a number of
our members (including the RD&E)
have delivered improvement
programmes to reduce pressure
ulcers and this clinical community
has come together to share key
learning and change packages.
The NHS Safety Thermometer
provides a measurement tool with
shared operational definitions
to enable measurement of
improvement over time.

§ Nutrition and hydration – this
community is currently working
together to measure weight loss
and explore innovative ways to
deliver improvements in
nutritional care.

§ Medications safety – this
community aims to reduce
medication errors and the teams
are reviewing the benefits of
using the Medication Safety
Thermometer.

§ Falls – this clinical community has
carried out benchmarking using
agreed operational definitions and
shared best practice. It has also
commissioned a programme of
work to explore the challenges
in falls prevention and develop
innovative solutions. Em Wilkinson-
Brice, Chief Nurse/Chief Operating
Officer and Bernadette George,

Lead Nurse, Patient Safety and 
Risk, at the RD&E, are leading 
this work on behalf of all QUEST 
members.

§ Safe handover – this  newly-
formed clinical community came
together in March 2014 to set
their aims and objectives for the
forthcoming year.

Infection Control

Infection prevention and control 
remains a priority for the Trust with 
the aim of eliminating all avoidable 
healthcare associated infections.   
In 2011, a national prevalence 
survey of healthcare associated 
infection demonstrated that the rate 
of infection at the RD&E was 3.6% 
whilst the rate for all participating 
hospitals nationally was 6.4%.  

During 2013/14, previously achieved 
infection prevention control practice 
standards have been sustained 
with further improvements in patient 
outcomes achieved, as detailed in 
the dashboards on page 42. This 
shows an excellent performance and 
in particular, the Trust is pleased 
to report that there have been no 
hospital acquired MRSA blood 
stream infections (bacteraemias) 
since September 2011 and there has 
been a further reduction (40%) in 
episodes of C.difficile, with the latest 
data from Public Health England 
showing that the rate of C.difficile 
infection is now below the average 
regional and national rate. A detailed 
annual infection prevention and 
control report for 2013-14 will be 
published on the Trust website  
www.rdehospital.nhs.uk in  
July 2014.

Robotic Surgery

Thanks to the RD&E’s partnership 
with the University of Exeter, we are 
pioneering research into complex 
robotic surgery to target prostate 
cancer, the most common cancer in 
men in the UK. 

The RD&E is one of only twenty 
hospitals in the country able to offer 
state-of-the-art surgery through the 
£2.5 million ‘da Vinci’ robot.  During 
this surgery the surgeon sits at a 
remote computer console controlling 
four robotic arms that carry out the 
guided surgery. The benefits for 
patients include faster recovery and 
reduced blood loss. It has also been 
suggested that surgeons could be 
trained quicker and feel less stressed 
during difficult procedures thanks to 
the robot’s precision, 3-D vision and 
magnified views. 

A prestigious grant from Intuitive 
Surgical in California, manufacturers 
of the da Vinci surgical robot, has 
funded the provision of a second 
robot for nine months. This has 
enabled consultant urological 
surgeon Mr John McGrath and 
his research team to run studies 
into the differences in the mental 
workload, stress and learning curves 
of novice and expert surgeons. The 
findings will help inform the wider 
NHS about the potential benefits of 
robotic surgery in training the next 
generation of surgeons.

QUEST 
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Hospital at Home –  
a ward with a difference

The Hospital at Home project has 
seen over five hundred health and 
social care patients treated in their 
own homes to date. The project, 
which was launched two years 
ago, sees nurses, physiotherapists, 
occupational therapists and social 
care workers visit people in their 
own homes. 

It means patients can stay at 
home during their treatment and 
remain independent, while still 
receiving all the care they would 
on a conventional ward. This can 
also mean patients can leave a 
conventional hospital sooner or even 
avoid hospital admission altogether, 
freeing up hospital beds for other 
patients. 

The scheme was commissioned by 
the Northern, Eastern and Western 
Devon Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG) and Devon County 
Council and is provided by integrated 
health and social care teams from 
the Northern Devon Healthcare NHS 
Trust and the county council, with 
close input from RD&E. 

Nutrition and Hydration Week

The Trust held a range of activities 
as part of the national Nutrition and 
Hydration Week in March 2014, 
organised by Patient Safety First, 
the National Association of Care 
Catering and the Hospital Caterers 
Association. 

Throughout the week, everyone from 
catering staff to the Chief Executive 
were involved in promoting to 
patients the benefits of eating a 
high calorie diet and drinking well 
during times of illness to speed 
up recovery. Activities included 
kitchen tours; executives and 
senior managers delivering meals 

and drinks rounds to patients; and 
information stands in Oasis manned 
by the Trust’s dieticians to raise 
awareness of the difference a good 
diet can make. All inpatients also 
enjoyed a Devon-style cream tea.

Paediatric Assessment Unit 

Staffed by children’s nurses, the 
Paediatric Assessment Unit (PAU) 
opened in 2013 and has improved 
children’s urgent care at the RD&E. 
It provides a calm child-friendly 
environment adjacent to the 
Emergency Department (ED) and 
assesses unwell children referred 
to the paediatric and surgical teams 
by GPs and ED. It is open until 
10.30pm every day, with paediatric 
consultants and staff grades 
providing extra cover during evening 
peak times.

Patient and parent feedback has 
been glowing, and the extra space 
and nursing and medical staff have 
allowed more intensive observation 
and treatment. As a result we 
have safely reduced non-planned 
children’s overnight admissions by 
20% and helped to release vital 
capacity in ED.

Clinical School 

The Clinical School was launched 
in 2014. It will help translate 
clinical issues into projects that will 
benefit patients and support the 
Nursing, Midwifery and Allied Health 
Professionals Vision.

It is an innovative collaboration 
between the RD&E and Plymouth 
University and it will enable nurses 
and midwives to build research 
capacity, as well as enabling the 
Trust to encourage  
staff to develop and value an 
enquiring culture. 

The Clinical School will provide 
access to research leadership as 
well as national and international 
expertise and networks. As part of 
the launch we have introduced a 
Clinical School Nursing Award for 
the most innovative response to the 
Francis Report. The winning project 
will require a change in practice and 
clearly demonstrate the benefits for 
patients.

Research (also see Clinical 
Research section on page 19) 

Over the past year the established 
nursing team has supported and will 
continue to support a large number 
of clinical trials. The seventy strong, 
predominantly nursing workforce, 
covers the majority of specialties 
within the Trust. In the forthcoming 
year we plan to work with the 
Nursing directorate of the Peninsular 
Medical School to promote and 
develop research in clinical care. 

Achievements from 2013/14 include:

§ The team supported more than two
thousand, five hundred patients to
be recruited to clinical trials in the
RD&E as well as continuing to care
for the thousands of participants in
follow up.

§ The RD&E was the top recruiting
site for several international studies
– Vertex, Samsung, Interstroke
and Topp.

§ Over fifty research active clinicians
are engaging as Principal
Investigators (PIs) with several
nursing and therapy PIs taking on
their first clinical trial.

§ Our patient engagement survey
highlighted 80% of participants
would like to take part in another
study, 91% felt valued as a
participant and 92% felt research
should be a normal part of
healthcare.
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Our Priorities for 2014/15

The Council of Governors 
discussed a list of priorities 
during their Development Day 
on 10th March 2014, finally 
agreeing the two priorities 
below at the Council of 
Governors Meeting on the 7th 
April 2014. 

Hydration 

§ How are patients assessed for
their fluid needs?

§ How are we assured that patients’
needs are met?

§ What safeguards are in place to
ensure patients receive appropriate
hydration?

§ How are the team who provide
care educated in hydration?

§ How do we identify patients who
require help and assistance with
hydration and ensure they
receive it?

§ Progress with this priority will be
monitored by the Nutrition Steering
Group with regular updates to the
Council of Governors.

Outpatient Experience 

§ What is being done to review the
process?

§ How are we monitoring patient
waiting times (excluding
appropriate waits) once they
have arrived for their outpatient
appointment and how are patients
kept informed of delays?

§ What are we doing to promote a
positive patient experience?

§ Physical environment – how
are we assured that access
and patients comfort is being
considered/delivered (to include
patients with disabilities)?

Progress with this priority will be 
monitored by the Transformation 
Programme Board with regular 
updates to the Council of Governors.

Integrated Care Exeter [ICE]

Building on the work started last 
year with our partners from health, 
social care and third sector, we 
look forward to developing the ICE 
Project throughout 2014/15. Starting 
with the city of Exeter, we will 
collectively engage with the Public 
to co-design integrated services 
that will enable communities to be 
resilient through self care supported 
by wrap around services which can 
be readily accessed and which are 
responsive.

This project will be managed by an 
ICE Board, chaired by the Chief 
Executive of Devon County Council. 

Improving documentation 

Following feedback from the 
Care Quality Commission and 
our own review processes, like 
many other hospitals we recognise 
that quality of documentation is 
an on-going challenge. Our staff 
accept, understand and recognise 
the importance of excellent 
documentation.

Improved documentation can be 
directly linked to the quality of care 
for our patients. Our work around 
‘Understanding Care’ will have a 
focus on care planning, which is how 
we document the care our patients 
should receive and how this enables 
improved communication between 
professionals and with the patient 
and family. 

We will use our Care Quality 
Assessment Tool. There are four 
elements. We will alter the way 
that we score each section to 
give greater importance to the 
documentation element. 

GOVERNOR PRIORITIES

TRUST PRIORITIES 
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TRUST PRIORITIES CONTINUED

Therefore, for the ward areas to 
achieve and maintain the higher 
scores of silver and gold, they will 
have to achieve a high standard of 
documentation. An example of how 
we will monitor this is the approach 
that we will be using with pressure 
ulcers. We will scrutinise compliance 
with pressure ulcer prevention, 
intervention and care plans; this will 
benefit patients at risk of pressure 
ulcers, ensure appropriate care 
for those with them, also, ensure 
that the care provided has been 
documented well. In addition as part 
of our safety programme we will 
monitor that we have provided the 
care required and detailed this on 
the patients “Discharge Checklist”. 
This will also improve the overall 
experience of going home.  

#HelloMyNameIs 

This national campaign has been 
developed by a medical registrar 
and cancer patient Dr Kate Granger, 
who noticed that the fundamental 
element of good communication, the 
introduction, seemed to have failed. 

In her experience as a patient in 
the NHS she observed that the 
members of the healthcare team 
know so much about the patients 
in their care, but this can push the 
balance of power in favour of the 
healthcare worker. Appreciating that 
people receiving care and treatment 
are often feeling vulnerable, this 
imbalance is unfortunate and 
unhelpful. 

To help address this imbalance 
the RD&E will be adopting the 
“#HelloMyNameIs” campaign 
across the Trust to ensure that all 
our staff introduce themselves. The 
Trust fully endorses this excellent 
initiative and has chosen to select 
this as a priority due to the national 
recognition this piece of work has 
had. The impact of this initiative 
will be measured through “Observe 
and Support” which is part of our 
Connecting Care Programme 
(please see page 7).

Nursing, Midwifery and Allied 
Health Professionals Vision – 
Year 3, 2014/15 

The work streams below represent 
the final year of our three year vision 
for the professions.

Leadership

Leadership has already been 
identified as a key area of work. 
Following on from the successful 
programme run throughout 2013, 
one of our senior nurses has worked 
with the Learning and Development 
Service to develop a leadership 
programme which has been 
informed by staff. The programme 
will be available to all Matrons and 
therapy leaders who work in the 
Trust and members of the senior 
nursing, midwifery and therapy team 
will contribute to it. The programme 
was run last year predominantly 
for ward based Matrons and based 
on their evaluation and feedback 
it has been adapted and extended 
to all Matrons. The programme will 
continue to be evaluated by the 
Chief Nurse.

Staffing - the right people, in 
the right place, at the right 
time 

Following the Mid Staffordshire 
report and the Government’s 
response Hard Truths (2013), we 
have enhanced our ward staffing 
numbers and we plan to further 
review our night duty cover. 

We are developing measures and 
more detailed analysis that will be 
reported to the Trust Board each 
month. We have already begun 
this work by describing our planned 
staffing levels in ward areas, what 
skills those staff will need and 
how we will ensure they have 
these required skills. This work will 
continue over the next year and 
in addition we will ensure that our 
patients and families know who their 
named nurse and consultant are. 

Compassion Code and 
Connecting Care

We plan to build on the Year 2 
work (described on page 10) by 
developing a Compassion Code 
and incorporating how to recognise 
when behaviour does not follow 
this Code. We plan to integrate this 
into the new Connecting Care way 
of working (detailed on page 7) 
where the senior teams will, on a 
regular basis observe the care that 
is being provided on both a planned 
and an unplanned basis. This will 
enable us to celebrate good practice 
and address areas that may need 
improvement. The direct impact 
of this work will be seen through 
our various methods of patient 
feedback, ie What Went Well, Even 
Better If which is reported through 
the Experience and Engagement 
Committee.   
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Mortality 

The Francis and Keogh reviews 
place heavy emphasis on the 
systematic review of mortality within 
NHS organisations. In response 
to the reviews’ recommendations, 
the Trust’s Board of Directors 
commissioned a review of current 
mortality analysis within the Trust. 

While this identified good practice in 
relation to the review of mortality, it 
has been agreed that all unexpected 
deaths will be reviewed within the 
Trust. This work will be co-ordinated 
through the Safety & Risk Team and 
will be done in ‘real time’. The key 
themes and learning will be fed back 
to the Patient Safety Group, which 
in turn reports to the Safety and Risk 
Committee and thereby to the Board 
of Directors via the Governance 
Committee. 

Human Factors Training 

The Francis, Keogh and Berwick 
reports also place heavy emphasis 
on patient safety and the importance 
of developing the workforce to 
recognise the effects of teamwork, 
tasks, equipment, workspace, 
culture and organisation on human 
behaviour/abilities and the transfer of 
that knowledge into clinical practice, 
i.e Human Factors (see below).

Over the past few years the Trust has 
delivered Human Error training on 
an ad hoc basis. We have identified 
that a more comprehensive approach 
is required going forward as we 
strive to improve our safety culture 
and deliver the ambition to provide 
safe, high quality services reliably 
delivered with dignity and respect by 
a safe and capable workforce. 

The Trust  Board has approved a 
proposal that in the year 2014/2015, 
a minimum of one thousand RD&E 
staff will be trained in Human Factors 
through targeting the weekly induction 
programme for all new starters and 
hosting group sessions for current 
RD&E staff groups. During this year 
we have used Human Factors and the 
Simulation Suite in our investigation 
process.  We will build on this over the 
next year.

Patient Safety Programme 

The schematic below describes 
the comprehensive Patient Safety 
Programme via a driver diagram.  
Monitoring of delivery against 
key outcomes within the safety 
programme will be monitored by 
the Safety and Risk Committee and 
thereby reported to the Board of 
Directors.

TRUST PRIORITIES CONTINUED

SAFETY CULTURE - where safety is a priority

Red flags

Critical language

Graded assertiveness Management involvement

Recycling the learning

Briefing and debriefing
Portable team skills

Team working

SAFETY 
CULTURE

Compliance

Reporting
Speaking 

up/ 
Challenge

Risk 
avoidance

Simulation
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Review of Services

During 2013/14 the Royal Devon 
& Exeter NHS Foundation Trust 
provided and/or sub-contracted 54 
relevant health services.

The Royal Devon & Exeter NHS 
Foundation Trust has reviewed 
all the data available to them on 
the quality of care in 54 of these 
relevant services.

The income generated by the 
relevant health services reviewed in 
2013/14 represents 100 per cent of 
the total income generated from the 
provision of relevant health services 
by the Royal Devon & Exeter NHS 
Foundation Trust for 2013/14.

During 2013/14 38 national clinical 
audits and four national confidential 
enquiries covered relevant health 
services that the Royal Devon 
& Exeter NHS Foundation Trust 
provides.

During that period the Royal Devon 
& Exeter NHS Foundation Trust 
participated in 100% national 
confidential enquiries of the national 
clinical audits and 100% national 
confidential enquiries which it was 
eligible to participate in. 

The national clinical audits and 
national confidential enquiries that 
the Royal Devon & Exeter NHS 
Foundation Trust was eligible to 
participate in during 2013/14 are 
listed in Annex F.

The national clinical audits and 
national confidential enquiries that 
the Royal Devon & Exeter NHS 
Foundation Trust participated during 
2013/14 are listed in Annex F.

The national clinical audit and 
national confidential enquires that 
the Royal Devon & Exeter NHS 
Foundation Trust participated in, 
and for which data collection was 
completed during 2013/14 are listed 
alongside the number of cases 
submitted to each audit or enquiry 
as a percentage of the number of 
registered  cases by the terms of 
that audit or enquiry in Annex F.

The reports of eight national 
clinical audits were reviewed by the 
provider in 2013/14 and the Royal 
Devon & Exeter NHS Foundation 

Trust intends to take the following 
actions to improve the quality of 
healthcare provided as detailed in 
Annex F.

The reports of 26 local clinical 
audits were reviewed by the 
provider in 2013/14 and the Royal 
Devon & Exeter NHS Foundation 
Trust intends to take the following 
action to improve the quality of 
healthcare provided as detailed in 
Annex F.

Participation in Clinical Audits
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Participation in Clinical Research

The number of patients receiving 
relevant health services provided 
or sub-contracted by Royal Devon 
& Exeter NHS Foundation Trust in 
2013/14 that were recruited during 
that period to participate in  
research approved by a research 
ethic committee was four thousand, 
three hundred.

Participation in clinical research 
demonstrates the Trust’s 
commitment to improving the quality 
of care we offer and to making 
our contribution to wider health 
improvement. Our clinical staff 
stay abreast of the latest possible 
treatment possibilities and active 
participation in research leads to 
successful patient outcomes.

The high quality of the research at 
the Trust is demonstrated by the 
level of external grant funding which 
in 2013/14 exceeded £5 million.

In 2013 there were one hundred 
and fifty-four publications in peer 
reviewed journals, which shows our 
commitment to transparency and 
desire to improve patient outcomes 
and experience across the NHS.

The Trust is one of the highest 
recruiting NHS organisations to 
clinical trials in the South West 
Peninsula and was involved in 
conducting 483 clinical research 
studies in a wide range of specialties 
during 2013/14. Over 98% of studies 
were approved within thirty days of 
receiving valid application.

The Trust collaborates with the 
University of Exeter Medical School, 
hosting the NIHR Clinical Research 
Facility for experimental medicine.  
A total of two thousand, six hundred 
and seventy-one participants were 
recruited into research studies 
during 2013/14 at this facility.  
Research focuses on understanding 
mechanisms of disease (mainly 
in diabetes and cardiovascular 
patients) and introducing 
improvements into patient care.

A proportion of the Royal Devon 
& Exeter NHS Foundation Trust 
income in 2013/14 was conditional 
on achieving quality improvement 
and innovation goals between 
the Royal Devon & Exeter NHS 
Foundation Trust and any person or 
body they entered into a contract, 
agreement or arrangement 

with for the provision of relevant 
health services, through the 
Commissioning for Quality and 
Innovation payment framework.

Further details of the agreed goals 
for 2013/14 and for the following 
12 month period are available 
electronically at  
www.rdehospital.nhs.uk 

The 2013/14 NHS Planning 
Guidance continued the potential 
for Trusts to earn additional income, 
conditional upon achieving quality 
improvement and innovation 
goals. The Trust agreed a suite 
of schemes for which the Trust 
could earn an additional £5.65m of 
income in 2013/14. In 2012/13 the 
Trust received payment to the value 
of £6.4million.

Participation in Clinical Audits
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2013/14 Quality Schemes

A summary of these CQUINs is set 
out below.  

1. Patient Experience

The Friends & Family Test is a 
nationally designed tool that is 
designed to measure patients’ 
experiences in using health care 
services. It asks patients “How likely 
are you to recommend our ward 
/ A&E department to friends and 
family if they needed similar care or 
treatment?”

a. Phased Expansion

In 2012/13 the Trust was asked 
to ensure that patients attending 
our Emergency Department for 
emergency treatment, and those 
who were admitted to a ward for 
treatment were invited to respond 
to the question as to whether they 
would recommend the Trust to their 
friends and family. From October 
2013 the Trust was asked to ensure 
that users of the Trust’s Maternity 
Services were asked whether they 
would recommend each of the 
following aspects of the Trust’s 
Maternity Services: 

§ Antenatal services

§ Labour Ward / Birthing Unit /
Home Birthing Service

§ Postnatal Ward

§ Postnatal Community Services

2013/14 Target: 
From October 2013 to ensure 
that users of the Trust’s Maternity 
Services were invited to respond to 
the Maternity Friends & Family Test, 
at each of the four key stages of 
their maternity pathway.  

2013/14 Achievement: 
Friends & Family Test successfully 
delivered to users of the Maternity 
Service.  

b. Increased Response Rate

This indicator measures the 
proportion of patients attending  
our Emergency Department, or  
who were admitted to a ward,  
who responded to the Friends & 
Family Test. 

2013/14 Target: 
To achieve a response rate in Q4 
that represents both an improvement 
upon the response rate in Q1, and 
places the Trust in the top 50% of 
Trusts nationwide. 

2013/14 Achievement: 
In Q1 the Trust’s response rates 
were 7.2% for the Inpatient (April 
8.6%, May 7.1%, June 5.9%) and 
1.01% for the ED (April 0.3%, 
May 1.3%, June 1.5%) Friends 
and Family Tests respectively.  In 
Q4 the response rates had risen 
markedly to 24.71% (Inpatient) and 
33.29% (ED) Tests respectively. The 
Trust’s combined response rate in 
Q4 across both inpatient and ED 
Friends & Family Tests was 29.38%. 
This placed the Trust in the top 50% 
of Trusts nationwide (median value 
for non-independent sector Trusts of 
23.60%).

c. Improved Performance on the
Staff Friends & Family Test

This indicator is drawn from the 
responses to staff members who 
were asked “if a friend or relative 
needed treatment, I would be happy 
with the standard of care provided 
by the organisation”, within the 2013 
National Staff Survey. It measures 
the proportion of staff members 
responding to either agree or 
strongly agree that in this event they 
would be happy with the standard of 
care provided by the Trust.  

2013/14 Target: 
That at least 68.6% of all staff would 
respond positively to the question.  

2013/14 Achievement: 
Of the 380 staff members (within the 
nationally selected sample of staff 
who were invited) who responded, 
56% agreed that they would be 
happy and a further 22% strongly 
agreed that they would be happy. 
This is an improvement upon the 
responses given in 2012/13 (when 
74% responded positively), and 
places the Trust in the top 25% 
of all non-specialist acute Trusts 
nationally.  
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2. Patient Safety
Thermometer

a. Data Collection

The Safety Thermometer is a 
nationally designed tool which 
monitors four types of potential 
harm: 

§ Thromboembolism (blood clot)

§ Patient falls

§ Pressure ulcers

§ Catheter Associated Urinary
Tract Infections

Harm free-care is defined as the 
absence of all four of these harms 
across the patient pathway and 
“New Harm” is the absence of all 
four of these harms newly occurring 
during the period of time when the 
Trust was caring for the patient. The 
requirement during 2013/14 was 
to ensure that data were collected 
each and every month throughout 
the year, covering all appropriate 
patients in all appropriate settings 
for all relevant measures, and 
submitted to the Health & Social 
Care Information Centre.  

2013/14 Target: 
Data submitted in all months of the 
quarter, for each quarter of the year. 

2013/14 Achievement: 
Data submitted in all months of the 
quarter, for each quarter of the year.

b. Improvement in Harm
Free Care

The requirement in 2013/14 was 
to reduce the incidence of “new 
harm” as defined by the Safety 
Thermometer tool.  

2013/14 Target: 
Q1: that 97.77% of patients would 
experience “no new harm” 

Q2: that 97.87% of patients would 
experience “no new harm” 

Q3: that 97.97% of patients would 
experience “no new harm”  

Q4: that 98.07% of patients would 
experience “no new harm”  

2013/14 Achievement: 
Q1: 97.57%
Q2: 98.14%
Q3: 97.67%
Q4: 98.18% 

3. Dementia

a. Dementia Screening

This indicator represents the 
Trust’s progress in meeting new 
national guidelines in relation to the 
early recognition of undiagnosed 
dementia. This indicator requires 
that that Trust identifies patients 
who may be exhibiting symptoms of 
dementia, assesses them and refers 
them on to appropriate care.

i. Dementia Case Finding

2013/14 Target: that at least 90% 
of all patients aged 75 and above 
who are admitted as an emergency 
inpatient, are asked the dementia 
case finding question within 72 
hours of admission, or already 
have a clinical diagnosis of delirium 
on initial assessment or a known 
diagnosis of dementia 

2013/14 Achievement: In January 
2014, the Trust recorded that it had 
asked the case finding question of 
33.04% of eligible patients admitted 
during the month. In February it was 
recorded that 34.44% of eligible 
patients had been asked, and in 
March 2014, 37.19% of eligible 
patients.  

In Spring 2014, further analysis 
was undertaken following a 
clinically led review of the pathway 
for patients with Dementia and 
Delirium, including the processes 
for documenting, recording 
and analysing whether patients 
had been asked the case 
finding question. This analysis 
demonstrated enhanced rates of 
compliance for each of January 
(64.89%), February (67.28%), and 
March (69.20%). This work will 
continue to be taken forward in 
2014-15.  
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ii. Dementia Diagnostic Assessment
and Investigation

2013/14 Target: that at least 90% 
of all patients aged 75 and above 
admitted as emergency inpatients 
who have scored positively on the 
case finding question, or who have 
a clinical diagnosis of delirium, are 
reported as having had a dementia 
diagnostic assessment including 
investigations conducted during 
their inpatient admission. 

2013/14 Achievement: In January 
2014, it was recorded that of those 
patients who having been asked the 
case finding question had scored 
positively, or had a clinical diagnosis 
of delirium, 37.17% had a dementia 
diagnostic assessment undertaken 
during their inpatient admission.  In 
February this rose to 40.91%, and in 
March 38.86%.  

In Spring 2014, further analysis 
was undertaken.This included 
examination of the processes 
for documenting, recording and 
analysing whether for patients 
who had scored positively on the 
case finding question patients or 
who had a diagnosis of delirium, 
had had a dementia diagnostic 
assessment undertaken during 
their inpatient admission.  This 
analysis demonstrated enhanced 
rates of compliance for each of 
January (100%), February (100%), 
and March (100%).  This work will 
continue to be taken forward in 
2014-15.

iii. Dementia: Referral for
Specialist Diagnosis

2013/14 Target: that at least 90% 
of all patients aged 75 and above 
who are admitted as emergency 
inpatients who have had a diagnostic 
assessment (in whom the outcome is 
either “positive” or “inconclusive”) are 
referred for further diagnostic advice 
or follow up.

2013/14 Achievement: In January 
2014, 98.77% of on patients who 
were admitted as emergency 
inpatient and who had a diagnostic 
assessment (in which the outcome 
was either positive or inconclusive) 
were referred for further diagnostic 
advice or follow up.  In February 
this rose to 100%, and in March to 
96.34%.  

In Spring 2014, further analysis was 
undertaken. This analysis included 
examination of the processes 
for documenting, recording and 
analysing whether for patients who 
received a diagnostic assessment 
in which the outcome was either 
positive or inconclusive, there was 
a referral for further diagnostic 
advice or follow up.  This analysis 
demonstrated enhanced rates of 
compliance for each of January 
(100%), February (100%), and 
March (100%). This work will 
continue to be taken forward in 
2014-15.

b. Dementia Training

This indicator reflects the 
leadership, design and delivery of 
a training programme regarding 
the specific care needs of those 
with dementia and delirium.  
This has been targeted towards 

clinical members of staff within 
our Emergency Department and 
wards in which more than 40% of 
discharged patients are 75 years of 
age or older.  

2013/14 Target: the leadership, 
design and delivery of a training 
programme. 

2013/14 Achievement: During 
2013-14, the Trust designed, led 
and delivered a training programme 
for staff regarding the specific care 
needs of those with dementia and 
delirium. This will continue to be 
taken forward in 2014-15.  

c. Audit of Carers of People with
Dementia

This indicator involves a monthly 
audit of carers of people with 
dementia to test whether they feel 
supported. 

2013/14 Target: 
To conduct a monthly audit of carers 
of people with dementia, and to 
share the results of these audits 
within the organisation.  

2013/14 Achievement: 
Q1 & Q2: Development of the “What 
Went Well Even Better If” for carers 
and wider mechanisms for carer 
feedback.

Q3 & Q4: Continuing 
implementation of “What Went Well 
Even Better If”, and results shared 
within organisation. 
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4. Venous Thromboembolism
(VTE)

a. VTE Risk Assessment

The percentage of eligible 
patients who were assessed 
for risk of developing a venous 
thromboembolism (blood clot). 

2013/14 Target: 
Q1: 93%, 
Q2: 94%, 
Q3 and Q4: 95%

2013/14 Achievement: 
Q1: 95.64%
Q2: 95.79%
Q3: 95.53%
Q4: 95.28%

b. VTE Root Cause Analyses

To undertake root cause analyses 
on cases of hospital associated 
thrombosis.

2013/14 Target: Root cause 
analyses undertaken in every 
quarter of the financial year. 

2013/14 Achievement: 
Q1, Q2, Q3 & Q4 Root cause 
analyses undertaken, and 
opportunities for learning identified 
and shared. 

5. Discharge Summaries &
Clinic Letters

a. Timeliness of Discharge
Summaries

This indicator measures the 
timeliness in which discharge 
summaries are prepared and sent to 
GPs following a patient’s discharge. 

2013/14 Target: 
Q1: 74% 

Q2: 78%

Q3: 82%

Q4: 85%

2013/14 Achievement: 
Q1: 74.83%

Q2: July - 89.54%, August - 91.86%, 
September - 90.70% 

Q3: October – 91.1%, November – 
90.27%, December – 89.05% 

Q4: January 2014 - 91.03%, 
February 2014 - 91.83%, March 
2014 - 90.18%

b. Quality of Discharge
Summaries

This indicator measures whether the 
discharge summaries sent to GPs 
contains the agreed minimum data 
set of information. 

2013/14 Target: 
Q1: Undertake a baseline audit and 
agree target for improvement for 
remainder of financial year. 

Q2 – Q4: Achievement of quarterly 
improvement trajectory. 

2013/14 Achievement:
Q1: Audit approach outlined. 

Q2: CCG representatives invited to 
join discharge summary steering 
group. 

Q3 & Q4: Audit undertaken, targets 
that at least 80% of discharge 
summaries would state follow up 
requirements met (81%), and target 
that at least 70% of discharge 
summaries would state the list 
of drugs on discharge met (72% 
- a further 26% included partial
information).

c. Removal of Duplicate
Discharge Summaries

To undertake root cause analysis 
and implement an improvement 
programme to understand and 
address the causes of duplicate 
summaries. 

2013/14 Target: 
Q1: Undertake a root cause 
analysis to understand the causes 
of duplication.

Q2: Introduce an improvement 
programme to address the cases of 
duplication and set trajectory.

Q3 & Q4: Achievement of quarterly 
improvement trajectory.



24

2013/14 Achievement: 
Q1: & Q2: Works undertaken 
to implement the necessary 
improvement programme to address 
the causes of variation, including 
understanding the pattern of GP 
practices able to receive discharge 
summaries in the agreed format. 
It was agreed at this time that the 
provision of duplicate discharge 
summaries was not a systemic 
issue and therefore that it would 
not be appropriate to continue with 
the original intention of this CQUIN 
scheme to set an improvement 
trajectory due to the low volumes 
involved. It was agreed that the 
remaining monies associated with 
this scheme would be reallocated to 
a pre-existing CQUIN scheme.  

d. Clinic Letters

2013/14 Target: 
Q1: Create a system for monitoring 
the process of clinic letter production 

Q2: Pilot in three specialties (one 
high volume, one low volume and 
one other) 

Q3: Roll out and identify baseline 
value.  Propose and agree target.  

Q4: Achieve agreed improvement on 
baseline.  

2013/14 Achievement: 
Q1 & Q2: Achieved 

Q3 & Q4:  Baseline audit 
undertaken.  97% of clinic letters are 
printed within 10 days of the clinic, 
or where the clinic date was not 
provided, within 10 days of the  
date dictated (the latter related  
to three letters).  

This includes 95% for clinic letters 
audited relating to paediatric, 
gynaecology and obstetrics, and 
94% for medical specialties.  

e. Clinic Letters

This indicator measures the 
proportion of clinic letters that 
contain an agreed minimum data set 
of information. 

2013/14 Target: 
Q1: Undertake baseline audit and 
agree target 
Q2: Achieve quarterly improvement 
trajectory 
Q3: Achieve quarterly improvement 
trajectory 
Q4: Achieve quarterly improvement 
trajectory 

2013/14 Achievement: 
Q1 & Q2: There were collective 
delays to the agreement of the 
dataset.  It was agreed that these 
would be resolved and that the 
audit and the trajectory would be 
undertaken in Q3.  

Q3 & Q4: Minimum dataset agreed 
and baseline audit undertaken.  
Audit demonstrated compliance with 
the following standards. 

§ Diagnostic conclusions (90%)

§ Findings from investigations (74%)

§ Management Plans and follow up
(95%)

Opportunities for further 
improvements to the standardisation 
of content of the clinic letters have 
been identified and will be taken 
forward within the Trust in 2014-15.

6. Care of Frail Elderly People

a. Assessment using a Frailty
Index

The scheme supports the 
introduction of a new pathway of 
care for older people with additional 
needs as a result of frailty and / or 
cognitive impairment.  

This indicator measures the 
proportion of patients aged sixty-five 
years or older who attend A&E (as a 
heralded or unheralded attendance) 
who were assessed using the frailty 
index within 15 minutes of arrival.  

2013/14 Target: 
Q2: 50% 

Q3: 80%

Q4: 80% 

2013/14 Achievement: 
Q2: All patients aged sixty-five 
years or older are tested for frailty 
as part of the triage process in 
the Emergency Department.  On 
the implementation of Front Door 
Services this is being extended 
to include the Medical Triage Unit 
and is used to identify appropriate 
patients for the ACE team.  

Q3: 92%
Q4: 93.53%
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b. Comprehensive Geriatric
Assessment

This indicator measures the 
proportion of medical patients 
attending A&E who are identified 
as frail who are assessed by 
a specialist multi-professional 
team capable is providing a 
comprehensive geriatric assessment 
within a maximum of four hours 
following triage (between the hours 
of 8am and 6pm or by 12pm the 
next day for those attending outside 
these hours) and are cared for in 
an environment appropriate for their 
needs.  

2013/14 Target: 
Q4: 75%

2013/14 Achievement: 
Q4: 93.16% 

c. Accessing End of Life Plans

This indicator measures the 
proportion of patients presenting to 
the RD&E that have been identified 
as frail with a Treatment Escalation 
Plan (TEP) for whom the TEP has 
been accessed and reviewed by a 
clinician.

2013/14 Target: 
Q1: Undertake a baseline exercise, 
implement systems and agree an 
improvement trajectory 

Q2: Achieve agreed improvement 
trajectory 

Q3: Achieve agreed improvement 
trajectory 

Q4: Achieve agreed improvement 
trajectory (75%)

2013/14 Achievement: 
Q1: It was agreed to delay the 
undertaking of a baseline audit until 
Q2 in order to enable the launch 
of the frailty index described under 
Scheme 6 (a) above.  

Q2: Baseline audit undertaken, and 
improvement trajectory agreed.  

Q3: Due to the unanticipated 
unavailability of the Adastra system 
in November, access to the requisite 
system only recommenced in 
December. Compliance in December 
and January was 62%

Q4: 99.11%

d. Multi-Disciplinary investigation

This indicator requires the design 
and delivery of a defined and on-
going implementation plan for a 
programme of multi-disciplinary 
education and learning across 
all wards (medical and surgical) 
that increases the capability and 
competence of teams to identify 
and meet the specialist needs of 
older frail people, with cognitive 
impairment. 

2013/14 Target: 
Q1: Provision of a defined and 
on-going implementation plan for 
a programme of multi-disciplinary 
education and learning across 
all wards (medical and surgical) 
that increases the capability and 
competence of teams to identify 
and meet the specialist needs of 
older frail people with cognitive 
impairment. 

Q2: Evidence of the on-going 
implementation of education and 
learning. 

Q3 & Q4: Continued evidence of 
the on-going implementation of 
education and learning. 

2013/14 Achievement: 
Q1: Implementation plan agreed 

Q2: Evidence provided 

Q3 & Q4: Evidence provided 

7. Medicines Management
(Medicines Reconciliation)

The indicator measures the 
proportion of patients that have 
their medicines reconciled after 
admission to the Acute Medical Unit.  
Through a regular programme of 
audit activity and sharing the results 
within the clinical team it is intended 
to continue the improvement 
achieved in 2011/12 in achieving 
better documentation of medication 
on admission. 

2013/14 Target: 
Q1: To undertake a baseline audit 

Q3: Carry out repeat audit and share 
results 

Q4: Undertake a repeat audit and 
achieve the agreed improvement 
trajectories regarding: 

Use of proformas (95%) 

Allergy recording (95%) 

Doctor recording of source of 
drug history (70%)

Audit accuracy of the initial drug 
history taken and share results 
with Foundation Doctors to 
promote learning throughout the 
first year.
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2013/14 Achievement: 
Q1: Baseline audit conducted and 
improvement trajectories agreed 

Q3: Audit conducted and results 
shared 

Q4: Repeat audit undertaken and 
improvement trajectories achieved

User of proformas (93%)

Allergy recording (100%)

Doctor recording of source of 
drug history (81%)

Audit undertaken and results 
shared with Foundation Doctors.  

8. Stroke – Multidisciplinary
Assessment

For patients who have had a 
stroke, being able to swiftly access 
a thorough clinical assessment 
following the onset of their first 
symptoms is considered to be 
a key hallmark of high quality 
services. The provision of timely 
and comprehensive assessments 
is considered to be a key element 
in the identification and subsequent 
delivery of appropriate support and 
interventions.  Both the assessment 
and the provision of subsequent 
clinical support are widely regarded 
as fundamental to supporting 
enhanced opportunities for recovery 
and better outcomes for patients 
following a stroke. 

This indicator, developed from 
the Quality Standard for Stroke 
Services published by the National 
Institute for Health & Care 
Excellence (NICE), measures 
the proportion of patients with a 
discharge diagnosis of stroke who 
have been assessed by a stroke 
trained registered nurse within 
twenty-four hours of admission and 
by all relevant therapies within 72 
hours of hospital admission.   

2013/14 Target: 
Q1: 45%

Q2: 55%

Q3: 65%

Q4: 70%

2013/14 Achievement: 
Q1: 56.58%

Q2: 84.78%

Q3: 83.45%

Q4: 87.59%

9. Improved Communications

This CQUIN rewards the specialty 
that is considered by primary care 
GPs to have most improved their 
communications with primary care 
during the course of 2013/14.  

Q4: Survey of General Practitioners 
to determine which specialty is 
considered to have most improved 
communications with primary care 
during the course of the 2013/14 
financial year.  

2013/14 Achievement: 
Q4: Survey of General Practitioners 
coordinated by colleagues within 
NEW Devon CCG. Results 
indicated that Rheumatology, 
Microbiology and Diabetes were 
considered to have most improved 
communications with primary care 
during the course of 2013/14.

10. Planned Care
Sustainability

(a) Rapid Referral Review

This indicator incorporates the 
implementation of a two working 
day consultant review process 
of routine referrals to determine 
the appropriateness of referral for 
outpatient appointment, and the 
provision of written diagnostic or 
further management advice for 
primary care within seven days of 
the consultant review.  

2013/14 Target: 
Q1 & Q2: Roll out of rapid referral 
review in nominated specialties 

Q3: Provision of a “lessons learned” 
report, drawing upon the learning 
from the tests of change  
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Q4: Agreement of an 
implementation plan for remaining 
specialities 

2013/14 Achievement: 
Q1 – Q4: Significant work has been 
undertaken in conjunction with 
colleagues within NEW Devon CCG 
to support the introduction of the 
rapid referral review process in five 
specialities

(b) Access to Consultant Opinion

The indicator involves the 
development of provision of 
access to consultant opinion within 
two working days for primary 
care clinicians, within specified 
specialties. 

2013/14 Target: 
Q1 & Q2: to scope and agree tests 
of change and operational protocols 
for at least three specialties 

Q3: Implement agreed tests of 
change within first six weeks of Q3

Q4: Identification of learning from 
tests of change and agreement of 
implementation plan trust wide.  

2013/14 Achievement: 
Q1 – Q4: Work continues to be 
undertaken to clarify how GPs may 
access senior clinical opinion for 
non-urgent cases.  

(c) GP Education

This indicator involves the 
development of a GP education 
training package for a number of 
clinical specialties 

2013/14 Target: 
Q2: For each specialty the 
Secondary Care Lead Clinicians 
and the Primary Care Lead to have 
agreed the content and method of 
delivery for a package of primary 
care education. 

Q4: Delivery of education by every 
specialty by the end of Q4 2013/14 

2013/14 Achievement: 
Q1 – Q4: work has been undertaken 
with colleagues within primary 
care to agree the process by 
which education packages might 
be delivered, and the linkage of 
the content of the rapid referral 
review process to the education 
training packages. This programme 
of education continues to be 
taken forward collaboratively with 
colleagues from NEW Devon CCG 
in 2014-15.  

(d) Targeted Follow Up

This indicator involves the 
development of non face-to-face 
follow up and targeted follow-up 
protocols for strategic application 
across the hospital. 

2013/14 Target: 
Q1: Review by Clinician to Clinician 
groups of scope and applicability of 
non face-to-face follow ups, targeted 
follow ups and follow ups delivering 
education.  Implementation plan to 
be agreed. 

Q2: Progress delivery of agreed 
implementation plan.  Roll out 
service changes already in pipeline.  

Q3: Progress delivery of agreed 
implementation plan.  

Q4: Completed delivery of agreed 
implementation plan.  

2013/14 Achievement: 
Q1 – Q4: Work continues to 
be undertaken to progress the 
identification of opportunities to 
reduce follow up activity through the 
use of targeting, non-face-to-face 
appointments and alternatives to 
consultant follow up.  

(e) Review of Pre-Operative
Assessment

This indicator involves a review 
of the approaches taken to 
undertaking pre-operative 
assessments, with a particular focus 
upon the targeting of pre-operative 
assessments at high risk patients 
and, whether low risk patients can 
be pre-operatively assessed on a 
non face-to-face basis.  

2013/14 Target: 
Q1 & Q2: Review pre-operative 
assessment and approach to risk 
stratification of patients.  Identify 
recommendations on the feasibility 
of targeting face-to-face pre-
operative assessments for high risk 
patients, and the appropriateness 
of non face-to-face methods for low 
risks patients.  

2013/14 Achievement: 
Q1 & Q2: Review undertaken. 
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The Royal Devon & Exeter NHS 
Foundation Trust is required to 
register with the Care Quality 
Commission and its current 
registration status is registered in full 
without conditions. 

The Care Quality Commission has 
not taken enforcement action against 
the Royal Devon & Exeter NHS 
Foundation Trust during 2013/14.

The Royal Devon & Exeter NHS 
Foundation Trust has participated 
in special reviews or investigations 
by the Care Quality Commission 
relating to the following areas during 
2013/14:

§ 12th and 13th August and
3rd September 2013 Royal
Devon & Exeter Hospital – This
unannounced inspection was a
follow up to the, unannounced
inspection in November 2012
to check that actions had been
completed for the three standards.
The inspection found that
appropriate actions had been
taken and the Trust was found to
be meeting the essential standards
of quality and safety.

§ 4th March 2014 Tiverton Hospital
– This was a routine unannounced
inspection to check the essential
standards of quality and safety
were being met in relation to the

Trust’s Theatre activity at Tiverton 
District Hospital.  The inspection 
found that the Trust was meeting 
the essential standards of quality 
and safety.  

§ 5th, 6th and 10th March 2014
Royal Devon & Exeter Hospital –
This was a planned inspection of
the Trust’s Discharge processes.
The inspection found that the
Trust was meeting the essential
standards of quality and safety.

Care Quality Commission

NHS number and general medical practice 
code validity

The Royal Devon & Exeter NHS 
Foundation Trust submitted records 
during 2013/14 (April 2013 – 
February 2014) to the Secondary 
Users Service for inclusion in the 
Hospital Episodes Statistics  
which are included in the latest 
published data.  

The percentage of records in the 
published data:

§ Which included the patient’s valid
NHS number was:

□ 99.8% for admitted patient care

□ 99.7% for outpatient care

□ 97.2% for accident and
emergency care

§ Which included patient’s valid
General Medical Practice Code
was:

□ 99.9% for admitted patient care

□ 99.9% for outpatient care

□ 99.2% for accident and
emergency care
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The Royal Devon & Exeter NHS 
Foundation Trust Information 
Governance Assessment Report 
overall score for 2013/14 was 71% 
and was graded Green. This shows 
an improvement on last year’s score 
of 68%.  

This score indicates the Trust has 
satisfied the essential standards for 
management and use of information, 
including the handling of patient 
information.

Information Governance

Clinical Coding

The Royal Devon & Exeter NHS 
Foundation Trust was not subject 
to the Payment by Results clinical 
coding audit during the reporting 
period by the Audit Commission.  
However, the results of an internal 
audit for the Trust’s Information 
Toolkit submission was:

Primary diagnosis     95.5%

Secondary diagnosis     93.0%

Primary procedures      95.58%

Secondary procedures      96.0%

The results should not be 
extrapolated further than the actual 
sample size audited (200 cases).  
Services reviewed within the sample 
were Ophthalmology and deceased 
patients.

The Royal Devon & Exeter NHS 
Foundation Trust will be taking the 
following actions to improve data 
quality:  working with the Patient 
Safety Group to improve the clinical 
coding of deceased patients and 
working with the Ophthalmology 
Clinicians to improve the coding of 
co-morbidities and specific day case 
procedures.

Last year the Trust advised that 
it was taking action to improve 
the information recorded on the 
maternity system (STORK) to 
provide better quality information 
for clinical coding. Terminology 
was agreed with the service to 
be used in source documents to 
ensure a standard approach. This 
has been implemented and tested 
with a random sampling of source 
documents and there is evidence 
that data quality has improved as  
a result of this action.
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Core Indicators

Indicator Description Data

The Royal Devon and 
Exeter NHS Foundation 
Trust considers that 
this data/percentage 
is as described for the 
following reasons

The Royal Devon and 
Exeter NHS Foundation 
Trust intends to take/
has taken the following 
actions to improve the 
indicator (percentage/ 
proportion), and so the 
quality of its services

12. The data made available
to the National Health
Service trust or NHS
foundation trust by the
Health and Social Care
Information Centre with
regard to—

(a)the value and banding
of the summary hospital-
level mortality indicator
(“SHMI”) for the trust for
the reporting period; and
(b) the percentage of
patient deaths with
palliative care coded
at either diagnosis or
specialty level for the trust
for the reporting period.

October 2012 - September 
2013:  
SHMI - 0.8949 (lower than 
expected) 
(8 trusts higher than 
expected, 116 as expected 
and 17 lower than expected) 
Palliative Coding 8.6% 
(National 20.9%) 

July 2012 - June 2013:  
SHMI - 0.8883 (lower than 
expected) 
(9 trusts higher than 
expected, 115 as expected 
and 17 lower than expected) 
Palliative Coding 4.2% 
(National 20.3%) 

April 2012 - March 2013:  
SHMI - 0.8919 (as expected) 
(7 trusts higher than 
expected, 118 as expected 
and 17 lower than expected) 
Palliative Coding 2.1% 
(National 19.9%) 

January 2012 - December 
2012:  
SHMI - 0.9114 (as expected) 
(11 trusts higher than 
expected, 116 as expected 
and 15 lower than expected) 
Palliative Coding 0.9% 
(National 19.1%) 

October 2011 - September 
2012:  
SHMI - 0.9001 (as expected) 
(10 trusts higher than 
expected, 114 as expected 
and 18 lower than expected) 
Palliative Coding 0.3% 
(National 18.9%)

1. There is a nine month
cross over between each
reporting period.

2. As the Trust does not have
palliative care consultants
this number is higher than
Trusts that do.

3. The number is increasing
very slightly, however with
the significant cross over in
time periods this makes it
difficult to draw any useful
conclusion.

The Trust will continue to 
monitor this data quarterly.
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Indicator Description Data

The Royal Devon and 
Exeter NHS Foundation 
Trust considers that 
this data/percentage 
is as described for the 
following reasons

The Royal Devon and 
Exeter NHS Foundation 
Trust intends to take/
has taken the following 
actions to improve the 
indicator (percentage/ 
proportion), and so the 
quality of its services

18. The data made
available to the National
Health Service trust or
NHS Foundation Trust
by the Health and Social
Care Information Centre
with regard to the trust’s
patient reported outcome
measures scores for—

(i)groin hernia surgery,
(ii)varicose vein surgery,
(iii)hip replacement
surgery, and
(iv)knee replacement
surgery,
during the reporting period.

“Adjusted average health 
gain” from the “EQ-5D 
index casemix adjusted 
health gain” 
(i)groin hernia surgery:
Apr-13 to Dec-13 - 0.112
(National 0.086, Lowest
0.013, Highest 0.158)
Apr-12 to Mar-13 - 0.075
(National 0.085, Lowest
0.013, Highest 0.153)
Apr-11 to Mar-12 - 0.11
(National 0.087, Lowest
-0.002, Highest 0.143)
(ii)varicose vein surgery:
Apr-13 to Dec-13 - N/A
(National 0.101, Lowest
0.020, Highest 0.158)
Apr-12 to Mar-13 - N/A
(National 0.093, Lowest
0.015, Highest 0.176)
Apr-11 to Mar-12 - N/A
(National 0.095, Lowest
0.049, Highest 0.167)
(iii)hip replacement
surgery:
Apr-13 to Dec-13 - 0.447
(National 0.439, Lowest
0.301, Highest 0.527)
Apr-12 to Mar-13 - 0.443
(National 0.438, Lowest
0.319, Highest 0.539)
Apr-11 to Mar-12 - 0.456
(National 0.416, Lowest
0.306, Highest 0.499)
(iv)knee replacement
surgery:
Apr-13 to Dec-13 - 0.342
(National 0.330, Lowest
0.193, Highest 0.416)
Apr-12 to Mar-13 - 0.336
(National 0.318, Lowest
0.209, Highest 0.416)
Apr-11 to Mar-12 - 0.326
(National 0.302, Lowest 0.18,
Highest 0.385)

Results for varicose vein 
surgery are not published 
due to the small number 
of procedures undertaken 
within the Trust and the 
need to maintain patient 
confidentiality. It is not 
possible to correlate the 
figures for groin hernia 
surgery and hip replacement 
surgery during Apr-13  
to Dec-13 against the 
previous two year period due 
to the fact that it is for a nine 
month period only.

The Engagement and 
Experience Committee on 
behalf of the Governance 
Committee will continue to 
monitor the performance.
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Indicator Description Data

The Royal Devon and 
Exeter NHS Foundation 
Trust considers that 
this data/percentage 
is as described for the 
following reasons

The Royal Devon and 
Exeter NHS Foundation 
Trust intends to take/
has taken the following 
actions to improve the 
indicator (percentage/ 
proportion), and so the 
quality of its services

19. The data made available
to the National Health
Service trust or NHS
Foundation Trust by the
Health and Social Care
Information Centre with
regard to the percentage of
patients aged—
(i) 0 to 15; and
(ii) 16 or over,
readmitted to a hospital
which forms part of the
trust within 28 days of
being discharged from a
hospital which forms part
of the trust during the
reporting period.

(i)0 to 15:
2011/12 - 7.88% (National
10.01%)
2010/11 - 7.33% (National
10.01%)
2009/10 - 7.59% (National
10.01%)
(ii)16 or over:
2011/12 - 10.01% (National
11.45%)
2010/11 - 10.09% (National
11.43%)
2009/10 - 9.73% (National
11.18%)

See indicator on page 41 
for data calculated using the 
Trust’s internal data systems

1. Numbers (better than)
national performance.

2. Increase broadly in line
with national trend.

An equivalent indicator 
(30 day readmission) will 
be managed through the 
patient pathway improvement 
programme which reports 
to the Transformation 
Programme Board.

20. The data made
available to the National
Health Service trust or
NHS Foundation Trust
by the Health and Social
Care Information Centre
with regard to the Trust’s
responsiveness to the
personal needs of its
patients during the
reporting period.
• Were you involved as
much as you wanted to be
in decisions about your
care and treatment?
• Did you find someone on
the hospital staff to talk
to about your worries and
fears?
• Were you given enough
privacy when discussing
your condition or
treatment?
• Did a member of staff tell
you about medication side
effects to watch for when
you went home?
• Did hospital staff tell
you who to contact if you
were worried about your
condition or treatment after
you left hospital?

Average weighted score 
of 5 questions relating to 
responsiveness to inpatients’ 
personal needs (Score out 
of 100) 
2013/14 – 72.7 (National 
68.7, Lowest 54.4, Highest 
84.2)

2012/13 - 73.5 (National 
68.1, Lowest 57.4, Highest 
84.4) 
2011/12 - 70.8 (National 67.4, 
Lowest 56.5, Highest 85) 
2010/11 - 71.3 (National 67.3, 
Lowest 56.7, Highest 82.6)

The Trust continues to ask 
these questions as part of the  
care quality assessment tool 
(a real time audit).

The Engagement and 
Experience Committee on 
behalf of the Governance 
Committee will continue to 
monitor the performance and 
take appropriate actions.  
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Indicator Description Data

The Royal Devon and 
Exeter NHS Foundation 
Trust considers that 
this data/percentage 
is as described for the 
following reasons

The Royal Devon and 
Exeter NHS Foundation 
Trust intends to take/
has taken the following 
actions to improve the 
indicator (percentage/ 
proportion), and so the 
quality of its services

21.The data made available
to the National Health
Service trust or NHS
Foundation Trust by the
Health and Social Care
Information Centre with
regard to the percentage
of staff employed by, or
under contract to, the trust
during the reporting period
who would recommend the
Trust as a provider of care
to their family or friends.

2013 - 77.89% (4th Quartile 
- top performer), Median
66.212% (acute & acute
specialist trusts), Lowest
39.574%, Highest 93.924%.
2012 - 74.12% (4th Quartile
- top performer), Median
63.256% (acute & acute
specialist trusts), Lowest
35.337%, Highest 93.924%.

In the last twelve months the 
Trust has taken actions to 
make it easier for patients 
to provide their feedback, 
for example introduction 
of a token system in the 
Emergency Department, 
in addition to the feedback 
cards.

The Trust will continue 
to monitor this indicator 
through our Performance 
Framework and take action 
as appropriate.

23. The data made available
to the National Health
Service trust or NHS
foundation trust by the
Health and Social Care
Information Centre with
regard to the percentage of
patients who were admitted
to hospital and who were
risk assessed for venous
thromboembolism during
the reporting period.

Jan-14 to Feb-14: 95.3%

(National 96.1%, Highest 
100%, Lowest 76.4%)

Q3 2013/14: 95.5% (National 
95.8%, Highest 100%, 
Lowest 74.1%) 
Q2 2013/14: 95.8% (National 
95.7%, Highest 100%, 
Lowest 44.4%) 
Q1 2013/14: 95.6% (National 
95.4%, Highest 100%, 
Lowest 0%) 
Q4 2012/13: 92.8% (National 
94.3%, Highest 100%, 
Lowest 81.3%) 
Q3 2012/13: 92.1% (National 
94.1%, Highest 100%, 
Lowest 84.6%) 
Q2 2012/13: 88.3% (National 
93.8%, Highest 100%, 
Lowest 80.9%) 
Q1 2012/13: 83.5% (National 
93.4%, Highest 100%, 
Lowest 80.8%)

The focus has been on 
sustained improvement 
against this target. There has 
been a steady improvement 
in performance over 2013 
compared to 2012. This 
has been achieved through 
a relentless focus by ward 
clinical teams to ensure that 
all eligible patients are risk 
assessed in a timely manner 
and current performance 
exceeds the quoted National 
average.

On-going work with clinical 
teams to strive for 100% 
risk assessment. Further 
identification of ineligible 
cohorts of patients. Improved 
VTE event audits to ensure 
that the Trust derives 
maximum learning from 
adverse events related to 
missed opportunities for VTE 
prophylaxis. This work will 
be monitored by the Infection 
Control and Decontamination 
Group.
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Indicator Description Data

The Royal Devon and 
Exeter NHS Foundation 
Trust considers that 
this data/percentage 
is as described for the 
following reasons

The Royal Devon and 
Exeter NHS Foundation 
Trust intends to take/
has taken the following 
actions to improve the 
indicator (percentage/ 
proportion), and so the 
quality of its services

24. The data made
available to the National
Health Service trust or
NHS Foundation Trust
by the Health and Social
Care Information Centre
with regard to the rate per
100,000 bed days of cases
of C.difficile infection
reported within the Trust
amongst patients aged 2 or
over during the reporting
period.

2012/13: 19.6 (National 17.3, 
Lowest 0.0, Highest 30.8) 
2011/12: 37.0 (National 22.2, 
Lowest 0.0, Highest 58.2) 
2010/11: 39.7 (National 29.7, 
Lowest 0.0, Highest 71.2)

A significant reduction in the 
rate of C.difficile infection 
was achieved in 2012/13 for 
two reasons:

The ‘Start Smart and 
then focus’ antimicrobial 
stewardship programme 
was implemented, part of 
which included significant 
changes to the local 
antimicrobial prescribing 
formulary in September 2012 
promoting the use of lower 
risk antimicrobial agents for 
empirical treatment.

Revised diagnosis and 
reporting guidelines were 
published by the DH 
(Gateway 17215) in March 
2012 which clarified that 
only EIA GDH and toxin +ve 
cases should be reported 
whereas in 2011/12  EIA 
GDH +ve, toxin –ve PCR +ve 
cases were also reported by 
this organisation.

Control measures as 
described in DH/PHE 
guideline Clostridium difficile: 
How to deal with the problem 
continue to be applied within 
the organisation.  Emphasis 
on antimicrobial stewardship 
continues with review of 
surgical prophylaxis and 
treatment formulary.  An 
external expert review 
of control measures and 
performance was sought in 
July 2013 which concluded 
that the organisation had 
‘impressive systems in place 
and clear commitment from 
the staff’. A small number of 
minor recommendations were 
made that have already been 
incorporated into the infection 
control work plan.
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Monitor Dashboard
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Monitor Indicators and CQUIN

The indicators have remained unchanged from those indicators which were reported in the Quality Report 2012/13.

Indicator Group Indicator Description Data

Monitor Indicators - Safety Clostridium (C.) difficile – meeting the C. 
difficile objective

Definitions: infections relate to patient aged 2yrs old or 
more; a positive laboratory test result for C.Diff recognises 
a case according to the Trusts diagnostic: positive results 
on the same patient more than 28 days apart are required 
as separate episodes, irrespective of the number of 
specimens taken in the intervening period, or where they 
were taken: and the Trust is deemed responsible. This is 
defined as a case where the sample was taken on the 4th 
day or later of an admission to the Trust (where the day of 
admission is day 1).

2013/14 - 28 (target 39) 
2012/13 - 46 (target 67) 
2011/12 - 85 (target 74)

Monitor Indicators - Safety Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus 
aureus (MRSA) bacteraemia – meeting the 
MRSA objective

2013/14 - 0 (target 0) 
2012/13 - 0 (target 2) 
2011/12 - 1 (target 3)

Monitor Indicators - Quality All cancers: 31-day wait for second 
or subsequent treatment comprising: 
surgery

2013/14 - 96.8% (Q1-Q3) 
2012/13 - 92.4% 
2011/12 - 97.9%

Monitor Indicators - Quality All cancers: 31-day wait for second or 
subsequent treatment comprising: anti-
cancer drug treatments

2013/14 - 99.9% (Q1-Q3) 
2012/13 - 99.8% 
2011/12 - 99.8%

Monitor Indicators - Quality All cancers: 31-day wait for second 
or subsequent treatment comprising: 
radiotherapy

2013/14 - 98.8% (Q1-Q3) 
2012/13 - 98.7%  
2011/12 - 99.0%

Monitor Indicators - Quality All cancers: 62-day wait for first treatment 
from: urgent GP referral for suspected 
cancer

2013/14 - 83.9% (Q1-Q3) 
2012/13 - 83.6% 
2011/12 - 85.7%

Monitor Indicators - Quality All cancers: 62-day wait for first treatment 
from: NHS Cancer Screening Service 
referral

2013/14 - 97.8% (Q1-Q3) 
2012/13 - 96.9% 
2011/12 - 93.8%

Monitor Indicators - Patient 
Experience

Maximum time of 18 weeks from point 
of referral to treatment in aggregate – 
admitted

2013/14 - 93.5% 
2012/13 - 88.6% 
2011/12 - 93.6%

Monitor Indicators - Patient 
Experience

Maximum time of 18 weeks from point of 
referral to treatment in aggregate – non-
admitted

2013/14 - 98.2% 
2012/13 - 98.1% 
2011/12 - 97.8%

Monitor Indicators - Patient 
Experience

Maximum time of 18 weeks from point 
of referral to treatment in aggregate – 
patients on an incomplete pathway

2013/14 - 94.6% 
2012/13 - 91.9% 
2011/12 - 84.4% (no target)
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Indicator Group Indicator Description Data

Monitor Indicators - Quality All cancers: 31-day wait from diagnosis to 
first treatment

2013/14 - 97.4% (Q1-Q3) 
2012/13 - 96.3% 
2011/12 - 98.1%

Monitor Indicators - Quality Cancer: two week wait from referral to 
date first seen comprising: all urgent 
referrals (cancer suspected)

2013/14 - 94.9% (Q1-Q3) 
2012/13 - 95.5% 
2011/12 - 95.3%

Monitor Indicators - Quality Cancer: two week wait from referral 
to date first seen comprising: for 
symptomatic breast patients (cancer not 
initially suspected)

2013/14 - 93.0% (Q1-Q3) 
2012/13 - 96.5%  
2011/12 - 99.1%

Monitor Indicators - Quality A&E: maximum waiting time of four 
hours from arrival to admission/transfer/
discharge

2013/14 - 96.7% 
2012/13 - 96.2% 
2011/12 - 95.6%

Monitor Indicators - Patient 
Experience

Certification against compliance with 
requirements regarding access to 
healthcare for people with a learning 
disability

2013/14 - Compliant 
2012/13 - Compliant 
2011/12 - Compliant

Additional Indicators as 
chosen by Trust

Patient Safety - The NHS Safety 
Thermometer - Harm Free Care

2013/14 (Apr13-Mar14) - 95.33% 
2012/13 (May12-Mar13) - 94.20%

Additional Indicators as 
chosen by Trust

Patient Safety - Incidence of Pressure 
Ulcers

2013/14 - 0.24% (target 0.80%) 
2012/13 - 0.34% (target 0.80%) 
2011/12 - 0.58% (target 0.80%)

CQUIN Indicator 1b. Patient Experience (Improved 
Response Rate) 

Q1 - N/A (Target N/A) 
Q2 - N/A (Target N/A) 
Q3 - N/A (Target N/A) 
Q4 - In Q1 The Trust’s response 
rates were 7.2% for the Inpatient 
and 1.01% for the ED Friends & 
Family Tests respectively.  In Q4 
the response rate had risen to 
24.71% (inpatient) and 33.29% 
(ED) tests respectively. The 
Trust’s combined response rate 
in Q4 across both inpatient and 
ED Friends and Family Tests is 
29.38%. This placed the Trust in 
the top 50% of Trust nationwide.  
(Target To achieve a response 
rate in Q4 that represents both an 
improvement upon the response 
rate in Q1 and places the Trust in 
the top 50% of Trusts nationwide)
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Indicator Group Indicator Description Data

CQUIN Indicator 1c. Patient Experience (Improved 
Performance on the Staff Friends & Family 
Test)

Q1 - N/A (Target N/A) 
Q2 - N/A (Target N/A) 
Q3 - N/A (Target N/A) 
Q4 - 78%  (Target 68.6%)

CQUIN Indicator 2b. Safety Thermometer (Improvement in 
Harm Free Care)

Q1 -97.57% (Target 97.77%) 
Q2 - 98.14%(Target 97.87%) 
Q3 - 97.67% (Target 97.97%) 
Q4 - 98.18% (Target 98.07%)

CQUIN Indicator 3a. Dementia (Screening) Q1 - N/A (Target N/A) 
Q2 - N/A (Target N/A) 
Q3 - N/A (Target N/A) 
Q4 -  
Case Finding: Jan 2014 - 33.04%, 
Feb 2014 - 34.44%, Mar 2014 - 
37.19%  
Assess & Investigate: Jan 2014 - 
37.17%, Feb 2014 - 40.91%, Mar 
2014 - 38.86% 
Refer: Jan 2014 - 98.77%, Feb 
2014 - 100%, Mar 2014 - 96.34% 
(Target: 90% for each of the three 
measures for three consecutive 
months) 

CQUIN Indicator 4a. Venous Thromboembolism (VTE) (Risk 
Assessment)

Q1 - 95.64% (Target 93%) 
Q2 - 95.79%  (Target 94%) 
Q3 -  95.53% (Target 95%) 
Q4 - 95.28%  (Target 95%)

CQUIN Indicator 5a. Discharge Summaries and Clinic 
Letters (Timeliness of Discharge 
Summaries) 

Q1 - 74.83% (Target 74%) 
Q2 - July 89.54%, August 
91.86%, September 90.70% 
(Target 78%) 
Q3 - October 91.1%, November 
90.27%, December 89.05%  
(Target 82%) 
Q4 - January 91.03%, February  
91.83%, March 90.18% (Target 
85%)
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Indicator Group Indicator Description Data

CQUIN Indicator 5b. Discharge Summaries and Clinic 
Letters (Quality of Discharge Summaries)

Q1 - Baseline audit undertaken 
(Target Undertake a baseline 
audit and agree target for 
improvement for remainder of 
financial year ) 
Q2 - N/A (Target N/A) 
Q3 - N/A (Target N/A) 
Q4 - Follow up (81%), list of drugs 
(72%) (Target that at least 80% of 
discharge summaries document 
follow up in primary or secondary 
care, and that medication 
information including drugs 
started, stopped, changed or a 
statement that there has been no 
change is documented in at least 
70% of discharge summaries)

CQUIN Indicator 6a. Care of Frail Elderly People 
(Assessment using a Frailty Index) 

Q1 - N/A (Target N/A) 
Q2 - All patients aged 65 years 
or older are tested for frailty as 
part of the triage process in the 
Emergency Department.  On the 
implementation of Front Door 
Services this is being extended 
to include the Medical Triage 
Unit and is used to identify 
appropriate patients for the ACE 
team.  (Target 50%) 
Q3 - 92% (Target 80%) 
Q4 - 93.53% (Target 80%)

CQUIN Indicator 6b. Care of Frail Elderly People 
(Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment) 

Q1 - N/A (Target N/A) 
Q2 - N/A (Target N/A) 
Q3 - N/A (Target N/A) 
Q4 - 93.16% (Target 75%)
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Indicator Group Indicator Description Data

CQUIN Indicator 7. Medicines Management Q1 - (Baseline audit undertaken 
and improvement trajectories 
agreed (Target - undertake a 
baseline audit) 
Q2 - N/A (Target N/A)  
Q3 - Audit conducted and results 
shared (Target - carry out a 
repeat audit and share results)  
Q4  - Maintain use of proformas - 
(93%), Maintain allergy recording 
(100%), Increase doctor recording 
of source of drug history (81%), 
and audit undertaken  (Target 
- Achievement of agreed
improvement trajectories
regarding use of proformas,
allergy recording, recording of
source of drug history, and audit
accuracy of the initial drug history

CQUIN Indicator 8. Stroke (Multidisciplinary Assessment) The proportion of patients with 
a discharge diagnosis of stroke 
who have been assessed by a 
stroke trained registered nurse 
within 24 hours of admission and 
by all relevant therapies within 72 
hours of hospital admission  
Q1 - 56.58% (Target 45%) 
Q2 - 84.78% (Target 55%) 
Q3 - 83.45% (Target 65%) 
Q4 - 87.59%  (Target 70%)

Additional Indicators as 
chosen by the Trust

Patient Safety:  Care Quality Assessment 
Tool - “Have you felt safe throughout your 
stay”

2013/14 – 99%

2012/13 – 99%

2011/12 – 99%

Additional Indicators as 
chosen by the Trust

Patient Safety: Care Quality Assessment 
Tool - “Have you felt cared for throughout 
your stay”

2013/14 – 98%

2012/13 – 99%

2011/12 – 99%
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Indicator Group Indicator Description Data

Indicator Mandated in 
Monitors Quality Report 
Guidance

Emergency re-admissions within 28 days 
of discharge from hospital

Indicator construction  
Percentage of emergency admissions to a hospital that 
forms part of the trust occurring within 28 days of the last, 
previous discharge from a hospital that forms part of the 
trust.  

Numerator  
The number of finished and unfinished continuous 
inpatient spells that are emergency admissions within 
0 to 27 days (inclusive) of the last, previous discharge 
from hospital (see denominator), including those where 
the patient dies, but excluding the following: those with a 
main speciality upon re-admission coded under obstetric; 
and those where the re-admitting spell has a diagnosis of 
cancer (other than benign or in situ) or chemotherapy for 
cancer coded anywhere in the spell.  

Denominator  
The number of finished continuous inpatient spells 
within selected medical and surgical specialities, with 
a discharge date up to March 31 within the year of 
analysis. Day cases, spells with a discharge coded as 
death, maternity spells (based on specialty, episode 
type, diagnosis), and those with mention of a diagnosis 
of cancer or chemotherapy for cancer anywhere in the 
spell are excluded. Patients with mention of a diagnosis of 
cancer or chemotherapy for cancer anywhere in the 365 
days prior to admission are excluded. 

(i)0 to 15:
2013/14 - 8.61%
2012/13 - 8.61%
(ii)16 or over:
2013/14 - 9.60%

2012/13 - 9.01% 

(This data is calculated using 
the Trust’s internal data systems 
in order to provide a more up to 
date view of re-admissions. Core 
indicator 19 is calculated by the 
HSCIC using SUS data )
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Infection Control Performance Dashboard
TO END OF Q4 2013/14
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Statement from the Council of Governors  
ANNEX A

The Council of Governors welcomes 
this opportunity not only to comment 
on the Trust’s Quality Report, but 
also to inform our members and the 
wider public about how governors 
are involved in the Trust’s quality 
activities. 

The ongoing financial pressures and 
increasing demands on services 
make it extremely difficult for the 
Trust to continue to maintain high 
quality patient care; so it is very 
reassuring to see in this year’s 
report, the emphasis being given 
to acknowledging the vital role 
played by all members of staff. 
This is reflected by the number 
and range of submissions for the 
‘Extraordinary People’ Awards, 
where the nominations describe 
the dedication and willingness of so 
many RD&E staff to ‘go the extra 
mile’ for patients. 

Other initiatives described in the 
report such as ‘Connecting Care’ 
demonstrate the Trust’s focus on 
informing and empowering staff and 
helping to spread good practice 
consistently across all areas. 

The Trust was early to recognise 
the potential impact of the steep 
increase in frail elderly people in 
our area who require acute and 
often complex care. The governors 
were pleased that the existence of 
the two new wards built last year, 
together with closer working with 
partners in the community resulted 
in the avoidance of any major bed 
crises last winter. For some elderly 
patients, although they may need 
initial assessment in the acute unit, 
their care needs can be better met 
in their home or community setting; 

the introduction of the ‘ACE’ team 
in the Emergency Department has 
been a key factor in improving 
the management of care for this 
vulnerable group of people. 

Being in the situation of requiring 
emergency care is frightening for 
anyone, but especially worrying 
for children. The new Paediatric 
Assessment Unit in the Emergency 
Department provides a less 
stressful area which will be of 
benefit to both patients and the 
clinical staff treating them. 

One of the recurrent themes at 
‘Members Say’ events is the need 
to keep the avoidance of hospital-
acquired infections as a key priority. 
This report provides good evidence 
that the Trust is continuing to reduce 
the risk of infection and other risk 
factors such as pressure damage. 
Governors receive regular reports 
on the Trust’s performance against 
national and/or local targets for 
reducing the incidence of risk to 
patients’ well-being. 

Governor quality priorities for 
2013-14

Last year the governors identified 
three quality priorities: ‘never’ 
events; 28-day readmissions; and 
patient information. Governors 
have been given comprehensive 
details about the work undertaken 
to investigate ‘never events’ and 
the measures taken to prevent a 
reoccurrence.

The work to look at 28-day re-
admissions is being carried out in 
conjunction with the Commissioners 
and the details of this work are 
described earlier in this report. 

The topic of patient information is 
a large subject and is receiving 
focused attention in the current work 
to improve out-patient services. 
However, we welcome the major 
improvements that have already 
been made in the standardisation 
and quality of patient letters. 

Priorities for 2014-15

Governors have agreed two 
priorities for this year, hydration and 
the out-patient experience. Both 
these topics capture a wide range of 
key elements affecting patient care. 

Hydration will not only cover the 
basic essentials of ensuring that 
every patient has enough to drink 
throughout the day, but also look at 
the clinical assessment of hydration 
and provision of correct fluid 
regimes. 

The out-patient  priority will 
range from waiting times and 
communication to all aspects of the 
out-patient experience itself. 
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How have governors been 
involved in improving the 
quality of patient care?

The Patient Safety and Quality 
group ( a sub-group of the Council 
of Governors) has provided a useful 
forum for Governors to raise and 
discuss quality issues. The group 
has particularly benefited from 
the presence of one of the staff 
governors, who can help to clarify 
processes or aspects of clinical care. 

Three Governors are members of 
the Engagement and Experience 
Committee where they work 
alongside Non-Executive Directors, 
Senior Managers and clinicians. 
As well as reviewing many reports 
relating to patient care, this group 
can also request information such as 
the key issues underlying complaints 
and what actions have been taken 
to identify and address any themes 
that emerge. Membership of this 
committee enables governors to 
inform the Trust of any quality issues 
that are brought to their attention by 
members and the wider public. 

New last year was the invitation 
for individual Governors 
(commencing with the governors in 
the Engagement and Experience 
Committee) to accompany one of 
the Senior Executive Team on visits 
to different areas of the hospital. 
One visit was to Yealm ward, which 
provides rehabilitation for patients 
prior to their discharge, where the 
Governor was able to observe and 
talk to patients and staff about the 
work being done on that ward. On 
another visit, the Governor attended 

a bed-management meeting, 
followed by visits to the Emergency 
Dept and the Acute Medical Unit. 

Last September the Trust was 
visited by a team from the Royal 
College of Nursing looking at the 
care of patients with dementia. Two 
Governors who are involved in the 
‘Frail Older People’ project, were 
invited to participate in a meeting 
between the RCN team, carers of 
patients with dementia and members 
of the Board.  

The Trust has introduced a 
programme to help all staff to 
be aware of and understand the 
particular needs of patients with 
dementia and several Governors 
were able to attend these training 
sessions which they found extremely 
valuable. 

Governors, especially those without 
previous NHS knowledge are offered 
the opportunity to visit some areas 
of the hospital accompanied by one 
of the Senior Matrons, to help them 
understand more about the patient 
pathways of care as well as the 
general geography of the hospital 
and the range of services it provides. 

It is really encouraging that there is 
an increasing trend for Governors to 
be invited to participate in a range 
of quality projects - some Governors 
can bring their own experiences 
of being a patient or carer, whilst 
others can offer views from outside 
the NHS, but as potential users of 
the service. 

More Governors will be participating 
in this year’s PLACE ( patient-
led assessments of the care 
environment) inspections.

New this year are Governors being 
trained to help with ward-based 
CQAT assessments of carers 
experiences; this will initially focus 
on the wards where more than 40% 
of patients are aged 75 years and 
over. Other Governors are involved 
with the review of outpatient 
services, starting with the  work to 
improve the production of patient 
information leaflets. 

The Council of Governors  believes 
that this year’s quality report 
provides an accurate account of the 
many aspects of quality-focused 
patient care at the RDEFT. They 
commend and support the Trust for 
its determination, in the challenging 
financial environment, to pursue 
every means that it can to maintain 
and improve the standards in every 
service that it provides.   

Jill Gladstone BA MSc 
Governor for East Devon, Dorset 
and Somerset; Chair of the Patient 
Safety and Quality Group; Member 
of the Engagement and Experience 
Committee

6th May 2014
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Northern, Eastern and Western 
Devon Clinical Commissioning 
Group (NEW Devon CCG) welcome 
the opportunity to respond to the 
Royal Devon and Exeter NHS 
Foundation Trust’s (RD&EFT) 
Quality Account 2013/14.

We would like to congratulate 
RD&EFT for such a transparent and 
comprehensive document with goals 
and achievements clearly set out. 

We were very interested to 
read about the Awards scheme 
‘Extraordinary People’ and note the 
success of this new initiative with 
the ‘several hundred nominations’ 
received. This illustrates a culture of 
appreciation for the value of all staff 
contributions within the Trust whilst 
embracing innovation and creativity.

NEW Devon CCG are pleased to 
note that there are further plans 
for both internal and external 
engagement, with particular interest 
in developing a relationship with 
the Youth Parliament in Devon.  
Engaging stakeholders at an early 
age will in turn help to encourage a 
generation of engaged young people 
who understand the importance of 
having their voices heard within the 
healthcare system. This leads to a 
further understanding of the needs 
of the healthcare community. 

It is heartening to read that there is 
mention of a ‘Compassion Code’.  
Compassion and dignity is the 
cornerstone of high quality care for 
patients receiving the services we 
commission and as such would very 
much support this work. 

The continued improvement to 
patient care in the reduction of 
incidents of pressure ulcers and 
falls, the emphasis on nutrition and 
hydration and medicines safety 
as well as the high standards 
of hygiene and infection control 
is welcomed and should be 
commended. 

The Trust should be proud of the 
success of the new Paediatric 
Assessment Unit and the reduction 
of overnight paediatric admissions 
by 20%. NEW Devon CCG is 
sure that this will help to alleviate 
anxiety for the children and provide 
assurance to the parents or carers 
during a very anxious time for all 
involved.

The priorities of the Trust for the 
following year should lead to 
continued improvements in quality 
and safety and effectiveness of care 
for patients and we look forward to 
seeing the progress of these over 
the forthcoming year. 

NEW Devon CCG values the 
positive working relationship with 
RD&EFT and looks forward to 
continuing and building on this 
further in 2014/15 in order to support 
the provision of person centred, 
high quality and outcomes focussed 
care for the patients, carers and the 
families of Devon.

8th May 2014

ANNEX B

Statement from the NEW Devon CCG
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Healthwatch Devon welcomes the 
opportunity to provide a statement 
in response to the Quality Account 
produced by the RD&E this year. 
Our response is based on our 
involvement with and knowledge of 
the RD&E and its work, as well as 
on the feedback we have received 
during the last year about the quality 
of the services they provide to all 
that come into contact with them. 

Healthwatch Devon particularly 
commends the work undertaken to 
improve the patient journey through 
the hospital, from admission through 
to discharge. The majority of the 
experiences that we receive are 
positive, in particular in relation 
to the quality of care received on 
the wards, however feedback that 
we have received from Carers, 
particularly of older people and 
people with Dementia, suggests 
that more information could be 
made available to them in terms 
of what support is available in the 
community and where to go if the 
person they care for requires on-
going care. 

Healthwatch Devon is due to feed 
in to a Special Inquiry being led by 
Healthwatch England, focussing 
on unsafe discharge, which has a 
specific consumer focus on older 
people, people with mental health 
conditions and homeless people, 
therefore Healthwatch Devon 
hopes that experiences captured 
through this work will help to inform 
RD&E’s work to improve the quality 
of services for people, particularly 
those who are vulnerable, when 
they are discharged from hospital. 
In particular, we would like to 
ensure that this links in to the ‘Safe 
handover’ work stream, which 
RD&E (and NHS QUEST) has 
identified as one of the key areas for 
improvement.

Healthwatch Devon particularly 
commends the collaborative 
approach taken to implement the 
‘Hospital at Home’ project which 
focusses on a patients’ treatment 
being given at home rather than on 
the ward and also the introduction of 
the “Hello, My Name Is...” campaign 
to all staff. Communication between 
staff and patients is an area that 
we support any improvement 
work around, particularly in 
communicating with people with 
Dementia, or those experiencing 
a mental health crisis and also 
ensuring that those who identify as 
Carers are involved in the patients 
journey at all times.  

Healthwatch Devon notes the 
Governor priorities for the coming 
year; Hydration and Outpatient 
Experience and therefore we will 
be mindful of these priority areas 
when engaging with people about 
their experiences at the hospital 
and we will share experiences and 
suggestions that we do receive 
through our formal route, so that 
any information that we contribute, 
can help to inform this work over the 
coming year. 

Healthwatch shares information 
directly with the Patient Experience 
Team and during the coming year 
we will continue to develop this 
dialogue, as well as developing 
strategic relationship with the Trust 
and its Board of Governors, so that 
we can demonstrate to people who 
share their experiences with us, 
where feedback has been heard and 
where experiences have influenced 
service improvement. 

14th May 2014

Statement from Healthwatch Devon
ANNEX C
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Statement from the Devon County Council

Devon County Council’s Health 
and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee 
has been invited to comment on 
the Royal Devon and Exeter NHS 
Foundation Trust Draft Quality 
Report 2013/14 which includes the 
priorities for 2014/15. All references 
in this commentary relate to the 
reporting period 1st April 2013 
to 31st March 2014 and refer 
specifically to the Trust’s relationship 
with the Scrutiny Committee and its 
members.

The Scrutiny Committee believes 
that the Quality Report 2013-14 
is a fair reflection and gives a 
comprehensive coverage of the 
services provided by the Trust, 
based on the Scrutiny Committee’s 
knowledge. 

The committee would like to 
commend the hospital Trust on 
progress achieved against improving 
the patient journey as well as patient 
safety, in particular the 30% reduction 
in pressure ulcers, and 35% 
reduction associated with the Falls 
Collaborative over the past year. 
The committee would like to relieve 
further updates on the NHS Safety 
Thermometer, but does note the 
improvement in performance to over 
98% in delivering harm free care. 

The Chief Executive of the 
Foundation Trust has maintained a 
good relationship with scrutiny and 
has had specific contact with the 
Scrutiny Committee Chair, provided 
briefings as issues have arisen. 

The Francis review provoked a 
significant challenge to public 
organisations involved in providing, 
commissioning, evaluating and 
improving health care throughout the 
country. Local Authority scrutiny was 
specifically criticised for a lack of 
oversight and rigor in holding NHS 
organisations to account. The Health 
and Wellbeing Scrutiny committee 
undertook a spotlight review earlier 
this year to further consider how to 
hear the voice of vulnerable people 
and maintain an active challenge. 
In order to ensure that the work of 
scrutiny is as effective as it possibly 
can be. The review demonstrated 
that it is only by working with other 
agencies and sharing information 
that scrutiny can identify and work 
in partnership to improve areas that 
are underperforming. 

The challenge is laid at the door 
of the County Council the NHS 
and other partners to work with the 
mechanisms of democracy to help 
develop services from a person 
centred perspective. The committee 
would like to further explore with the 
RD&E how this may be possible, 
including regular sight of NHS Safety 
thermometer info and mortality rates 
for example. 

The Committee fully supports 
the Trust’s guiding principles 
for delivering quality healthcare 
and looks forward to continued 
partnership working.

7th May 2014 

ANNEX D
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The Directors are required under the 
Health Act 2009 and the National 
Health Service Quality Accounts 
Regulations to prepare quality 
accounts for each financial year.

Monitor has issued guidance to NHS 
Foundation Trust Boards on the 
form and content of annual quality 
reports (which incorporate the above 
legal requirements) and on the 
arrangements that NHS Foundation 
Trust Boards should put in place 
to support data quality for the 
preparation of the quality report.

In preparing the Quality Report, 
directors are required to take steps 
to satisfy themselves that:

§ the content of the Quality Report
meets the requirements set out in
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual
Reporting Manual 2013/14;

§ the content of the Quality
Report is not inconsistent with
internal and external sources of
information including:

□ Board minutes and papers for
the period April 2013 to June
2014

□ papers relating to Quality
reported to the Board over the
period April 2013 to June 2014

□ feedback from commissioners
dated 08/05/14

□ feedback from Governors dated
06/05/14

□ feedback from local
Healthwatch organisations
dated 14/05/14

□ the Trust’s complaints report
published under regulation 18
of the Local Authority Social
Services and NHS Complaints
Regulations 2009, dated Q1
and Q2 November 2013, Q3
and Q4 May 2014

□ the 2013 national patient
survey

□ the 2013 national staff survey

□ the head of internal audit’s
annual opinion over the trust’s
control environment dated 13th
May 2014

□ CQC quality and risk profiles
dated 04/04/13, 07/06/13,
04/07/13, 07/08/13, (re-named
Intelligent Monitoring) 21/10/13,
14/02/14, 11/03/14

§ the Quality Report presents a
balanced picture of the NHS
Foundation Trust’s performance
over the period covered;

§ the performance information in
the Quality Report is reliable and
accurate;

§ there are proper internal controls
over the collection and reporting
of the measures of performance
included in the quality report,
and these controls are subject to
review to confirm that they are
working effectively in practice;

§ the data underpinning the
measures of performance in 
the Quality Report is robust and 
reliable, conforms to specified 
data quality standards and 
prescribed definitions, is subject to 
appropriate scrutiny and review; 
and

§ the Quality Report has been
prepared in accordance with
Monitor’s annual reporting
guidance (which incorporates the
Quality Accounts Regulations) as
well as the standards to support
data quality for the preparation of
the Quality Report.

The Directors confirm to the best 
of their knowledge and belief they 
have complied with the above 
requirements in preparing the quality 
report.

By order of the Board.

James Brent 
Chairman

28th May 2014

Angela Pedder OBE 
Chief Executive

28th May 2014

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities 
for the Quality Report
ANNEX E
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During 2013-14, 38 national clinical 
audits and 4 national confidential 
enquires covered relevant health 
services that the Royal Devon 
and Exeter NHS Foundation Trust 
provides.

During that period, the Royal Devon 
and Exeter NHS Foundation Trust 
participated in 100% national 
clinical audits and 100% national 
confidential enquiries for which it 
was eligible to participate in.

The national clinical audits and 
national confidential enquiries that 
the Royal Devon and Exeter NHS 
Foundation Trust participated in 
and for which data collection was 
completed during 2013/14 are 
listed below, alongside the number 
of cases submitted to each audit 
or enquiry as a percentage of the 
number of registered cases required 
by the terms of that audit or enquiry.

Clinical Audit
ANNEX F

National Clinical Audit /Confidential Enquiry Title Eligible? Participated 2013/14 % Participation Rate

Case Mix Programme (ICNARC) Yes Yes 100%

Emergency use of oxygen (British Thoracic Society) Yes Yes 100%

NCEPOD: Lower Limb Amputation Yes Yes 100%

NCEPOD:  Tracheostomy Care Yes Yes 100%

NCEPOD: Subarachnoid Haemorrhage Yes Yes 100%

NCEPOD: Alcohol Related Liver Disease Yes Yes 100%

National Audit of Seizures in Hospitals (NASH) Yes Yes 100%

National emergency laparotomy audit (NELA) Yes Yes On-going data 
submission to 30 
November 2014

National Joint Registry (NJR) Yes Yes 1728 cases submitted 
(denominator not 
available)

Paracetamol overdose - Care provided in emergency 
departments (College of Emergency Medicine)

Yes Yes 100%

Severe sepsis & septic shock (College of Emergency 
Medicine)

Yes Yes 100%

Severe trauma (Trauma Audit & Research Network, TARN) Yes Yes 100%

National Comparative Audit of Blood Transfusion: Use of 
Anti-D

Yes Yes 100%
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National Clinical Audit /Confidential Enquiry Title Eligible? Participated 2013/14 % Participation Rate

National Comparative Audit of Blood Transfusion: Medical 
Use of Blood

Yes Yes 100%

National Comparative Audit of Blood Transfusion: Patient 
Information & Consent

Yes Yes 42%

Bowel cancer (NBOCAP) Yes Yes 100%

Head and neck oncology (DAHNO) Yes Yes 100%

Lung cancer (NLCA) Yes Yes 100%

Oesophago-gastric cancer (NAOGC) Yes Yes 100%

Acute coronary syndrome or Acute myocardial infarction 
(MINAP)

Yes Yes 40.43%

Cardiac Rhythm Management (CRM) Yes Yes 100%

Congenital heart disease (Paediatric cardiac surgery) (CHD) No No N/A

Coronary angioplasty Yes Yes 100%

National Adult Cardiac Surgery Audit No No N/A

National Cardiac Arrest Audit (NCAA) Yes Yes 100%

National Heart Failure Audit Yes Yes 60%

National Vascular Registry Yes Yes 255 cases submitted 
(denominator not 
available)

Pulmonary hypertension (National Pulmonary 
Hypertension Audit)

No No N/A

Diabetes (National Adult Diabetes Audit) Yes Yes 752 cases submitted 
(denominator not 
available)

National Diabetes Inpatient Audit (NaDIA) Yes Yes 109 cases submitted 
(denominator not 
available)

Diabetes (Paediatric) (NPDA) Yes Yes 100%

Inflammatory bowel disease (UK IBD) Yes Yes 100%

National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) 
Audit Programme

Yes Yes On-going data 
submission to 30 April 
2014
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National Clinical Audit /Confidential Enquiry Title Eligible? Participated 2013/14 % Participation Rate

Paediatric bronchiectasis (British Thoracic Society) Yes Yes 100%

Renal Replacement Therapy (Renal Registry) Yes Yes 100%

Renal Transplantation (NHSBT UK Transplant Registry) Yes Yes 99%

Rheumatoid and early inflammatory arthritis Yes Yes On-going data 
submission

Mental health clinical outcome review programme: National 
Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Homicide for  people 
with Mental Illness (NCISH)

No No N/A

Psychological Therapies No No N/A

National audit of schizophrenia (NAS) No No N/A

Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health (POMH) No No N/A

National Hip Fracture Database (FFFAP) Yes Yes 100%

Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP) Yes Yes 99%

Elective surgery (National PROMs Programme) Hernia

Hip

Knee

Vein

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

28%

93%

94%

32%

Epilepsy 12 audit (Childhood Epilepsy) Yes Yes On-going data 
submission to 12 May 
2014

Maternal, Newborn and Infant Clinical Outcome Review 
Programme (MBRRACE-UK)

Yes Yes 100%

Moderate or severe asthma in children - Care provided in 
emergency departments (College of Emergency Medicine)

Yes Yes 66%

Neonatal intensive and special care (NNAP) Yes Yes 100%

Paediatric asthma (British Thoracic Society) Yes Yes 100%

Paediatric intensive care (PICANet) No No N/A
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The reports of eight national clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2013/14 and the Royal Devon and Exeter 
NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided:

National Clinical Audit /Confidential Enquiry Title Actions

National Head and Neck Cancer Audit The report demonstrates good levels of data completeness for 
pre-treatment staging (93.6%) and for performance status (≥71% 
across six tumour sites) with the following actions taking place:

• Review data completeness across key areas: case ascertainment,
pre-treatment staging, performance status, co-morbidity status,
post surgical staging

• Identify strategy to improve (in particular, co morbidity status)

• Review existing pathway and available resource to consider move
towards Clinical Nurse Specialist presence at diagnosis

• Liaison with pathology to review reporting turnaround times

• Liaison with Radiology to review appropriateness of existing
pathway

National Oesophago-Gastric Cancer Audit Levels of case ascertainment and data completeness as reported 
at organisational level are largely above 80% and the following 
actions have been agreed:

• Improve data collection for planned treatment modality

• Review routes to referral for patients

• Review use of treatment modalities

National Hip Fracture Database Outcomes have improved and compare very favourably to national 
figures, but the following actions have been identified to improve 
patient care:

• Need for more dedicated trauma theatre time

• Need for orthogeriatric middle grade or junior cover at weekends
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National Clinical Audit /Confidential Enquiry Title Actions

National Head and Neck Cancer Audit The report demonstrates good levels of data completeness for 
pre-treatment staging (93.6%) and for performance status (≥71% 
across six tumour sites) with the following actions taking place:

• Review data completeness across key areas: case ascertainment, 
pre-treatment staging, performance status, co-morbidity status, 
post surgical staging

• Identify strategy to improve (in particular, co morbidity status)

• Review existing pathway and available resource to consider move 
towards Clinical Nurse Specialist presence at diagnosis

• Liaison with pathology to review reporting turnaround times

• Liaison with Radiology to review appropriateness of existing 
pathway

National Oesophago-Gastric Cancer Audit Levels of case ascertainment and data completeness as reported 
at organisational level are largely above 80% and the following 
actions have been agreed:

• Improve data collection for planned treatment modality

• Review routes to referral for patients

• Review use of treatment modalities

National Hip Fracture Database Outcomes have improved and compare very favourably to national 
figures, but the following actions have been identified to improve 
patient care:

• Need for more dedicated trauma theatre time

• Need for orthogeriatric middle grade or junior cover at weekends

National Clinical Audit /Confidential Enquiry Title Actions

National Bowel Cancer Audit The report demonstrates improving mortality rates and average 
length of hospital stay following major surgery. Both are below 
the national average and reported rates for procedures attempted 
laparoscopically are in line with national figures. The following 
actions have been identified:

• Review current processes for collection and validation of
NBOCAP items

• Review plans for replacement/ upgrade of cancer database

• Review existing dataset and identify potential additional fields

• Review pathway and ways to improve outcomes for acute
presentations (e.g. pre-op resuscitation, theatre access, post-op
critical care, early colorectal team involvement etc)

• To review and agree process for clinical sign-off for audit data

• Review patient information to ensure inclusion of statistics re non
closure rates, delays and risk of death

• Review audit results for local and national performance to identify
key areas for further investigation

National Audit of Dementia (Round 2) The audit report found that information collected about the patient 
is much better than national average together with low use of 
antipsychotics. 100% of patients had an assessment of carer needs 
and the following actions have been identified to further improve 
patient care:

• Agree a standardised assessment of function and incorporate this
into admission paperwork

• Review of current Care Pathways

• Implementation of a recently developed appropriate pain scale

• Introduction of new ACE team and front door services in geriatrics

• Comprehensive geriatric assessment is provided for all
patients presenting a fractured neck of femur and on request to
orthogeriatricians

• Junior doctors being taught how to complete the discharge
summary with respect to delirium and dementia on induction

• Dementia training to be part of corporate induction with a rolling
programme of staff training for existing staff
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National Clinical Audit /Confidential Enquiry Title Actions

National Lung Cancer Audit Survival figures are above the national averages for three, twelve 
month and median survival and the following changes are to be 
implemented to improve future audit reporting:

• Processes are to be reviewed to improve recording and collection
of data for this audit

• Database to be amended to facilitate collection of additional data
items (2nd line therapy)

• Data completeness to be reviewed prior to final submission

National Diabetes Inpatient Audit 2012 The main areas for improvement were listed as maintaining blood 
glucose levels in target, medication errors, occurrence of severe 
hypoglycaemia, meal timing and choice, and patient autonomy. In 
order to improve patient care the following actions are planned:

• Enhanced staff education - Encourage staff from all disciplines to
attend training

• Monthly diabetes audit - Make this mandatory for all wards

• Appoint an inpatient podiatrist

• To recognise diabetes as a subspecialty of inpatient diabetes

National Heart Failure Audit (2012-2013) The report demonstrated that the Trust achieved 100% in 
prescribing medication which was shown to improve prognosis 
and morbidity. There was also a relative reduction of in-hospital 
mortality by 15.3% in comparison to the figures from 2011-2012. 
The following actions have also been identified:

• Further investment required in the audit team to ensure all
patients with a primary discharge diagnosis of heart failure are
included in the data collection

• Clinical coding to be improved

• Greater investment required to increase the echo assessment
provision of heart failure patients
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The reports of 26 local clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2013/14 and the Royal Devon and Exeter NHS 
Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided:

Local Clinical Audit Title & Aim Actions

Hyponatraemia Audit

Aim: to improve the investigation and management of 
patients with hyponatraemia admitted through the AMU/
MTU. To identify weak areas in investigating/managing 
hyponatraemia, aim to introduce a protocol to assist 
in investigation/management of hyponatraemia and 
review the length of stay and reaudit when the protocol 
is in place

This audit demonstrated that following the introduction of an 
inpatient specialist nurse and doctor, plus a protocol to highlight 
appropriate investigation of hyponatraemia, more patients improved 
at the 24 hour mark and sodium levels were normal more often at 
discharge. Routine investigations were more regularly ordered and 
there was better documentation of hyponatraemia in the patient 
notes. The introduction of a specialist nurse meant investigations 
were completed more quickly and nursing staff were more engaged 
in fluid balance monitoring and ensuring management plans 
were carried out. In order to improve patient care, the following 
recommendation was made:

• To produce a Trust protocol for investigation and management of
hyponatraemia

Management of Diabetic Ketoacidosis (Re-audit)

Aim: to assess the impact of introducing a trust-wide 
protocol for the management of diabetic ketoacidosis 
based on the national guidance

This audit demonstrated significant clinical improvement in the 
management of patients with diabetic ketoacidosis aided by the 
introduction of new clinical documentation based on national 
guidelines. The following recommendations were made to further 
improve patient care:

• More explicit guidance on monitoring of patients with diabetic
ketoacidosis

• Clearer information regarding stopping of IV insulin and switch to
subcutaneous insulin

• Education of medical staff with regard to continuing basal
analogue insulin

• Diabetes physicians to implement 7 day rota

• Further audit to monitor progress

Referrals by ED to First Fit Clinic (Re-audit)

Aim: to improve our documentation and level of care of 
patients who present with presumed first fits to the ED

Following the introduction of a new proforma following the previous 
audit, the results showed an improvement in the documentation 
of minor clinical data for all patients who attended the ED with a 
presumed first fit.

Paediatric Sedative Premedication Audit

Aim: to reduce anxiety related to induction of 
anaesthesia in the paediatric population

This audit found that very few children at the RD&E receive 
sedative premedication. The action to arise from this audit was:

• To increase awareness among staff of the children who might
benefit from sedation
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Local Clinical Audit Title & Aim Actions

Perioperative Hypothermia

Aim: to identify current practice surrounding 
perioperative temperature management and assess 
adherence to Trust policy

The audit highlighted several areas for improvement. A local 
protocol was developed which helps in identifying high risk patients 
and offers guidance for when to use forced air warmers. In addition, 
all fluids administered in theatre are now either pre-warmed using 
a warming cabinet or administered via a fluid warmer. Actions from 
this audit to improve patient care include:

• Increase awareness of requirement amongst anaesthetists, ODPs
and theatre staff that all patients should have their temperature
recorded prior to induction

• Review current temperature management protocol to ensure
appropriate intraoperative warming for all patients

• Increase awareness of requirement amongst anaesthetists,
ODPs and theatre staff of the need to monitor the temperature
intraoperatively in all cases longer than 30 minutes

Is the Paediatric early warning tool used in the 
emergency department?

Aim: to establish whether Paediatric Early Warning 
chart is being used appropriately in the Emergency 
department

The audit highlighted that the Paediatric Early Warning (PEW) tool 
was only used effectively in 9% of cases. Additionally a further 
68% of patients did not have observations carried out and so it was 
not clear whether these patients triggered on PEW or not.  There 
were clear problems at all levels of the PEW process including 
documentation of the trigger, documentation of informing a doctor 
and difficulties in the doctor documenting that they had seen the 
patient. Consequent actions to improve compliance were:

• Within the triage rooms a laminated copy of which children should
have observations carried out and which children should be flagged
as needing repeat observations to be displayed

• Changes to the chart to ensure that nurses have to document
in a larger box the action they have taken following the patient
triggering on PEW

• Age specific charts with areas highlighted showing abnormal
observations

• Improved nursing and doctor education

• Patients should be looked after in a child specific area which
provides a better environment and is in line with RCPCH national
guidance

• Recommend the development of an area to review children that is
child specific
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Local Clinical Audit Title & Aim Actions

Gaining consent for child protection medical 
examinations

Aim: to assess whether we are following national 
guidelines of obtaining and documenting informed 
consent for child protection medicals

The audit highlighted that informed consent was not always 
documented, child protection medical reports were not always 
distributed within three working days of assessment and that these 
reports were not always distributed to social worker. Consequently, 
the following actions were planned:

• Implementation of a child protection medical proforma

• Teaching sessions to all staff involved

• Adding an address area to child protection medical report
proforma

Monitoring Compliance with Maternity Records 
Audit

Aim: to assess compliance with CNST Maternity 
Standards ‘Standard 1, Criterion 7: Maternity Records 
and the clinical guideline ‘Maternity records guideline’ 
and identify any shortfalls. To put an action plan in 
place, agreed by the Maternity Governance Forum, to 
make necessary changes to improve compliance

This audit demonstrated that overall the RD&E exceeded the 
minimum compliance target of 75%. However, compliance with 
CTG storage/filing and antenatal screening/ultrasound filing results 
was low. At CNST assessment the loose documentation could 
result in an instant fail for the criterion. Actions planned to address 
these issues are: 

• Reminder to be sent to all midwives, ward clerks and health
records staff via email and/or the Quality and Improvement
Newsletter to use treasury tags

• Revised, simplified filing order to be written and disseminated
to all relevant staff. Importance of correct filing order to aid
location of relevant documentation to be reinforced. Information
to be disseminated via email and / or Quality and Improvement
Newsletter

• Staff reminded (via the Quality and Improvement Newsletter) that
if the documentation does not originate from maternity, any loose
notes must be securely filed in the correct section of the health
record

UNICEF Baby Friendly Audit

Aim: to comply with the Baby Friendly Accreditation and 
to ensure that published Baby Friendly Standards are 
being adhered to

This audit demonstrated that information being given to mothers 
is of good quality and reflects best practice. Three elements fell 
below expected standards and, as such, the following actions were 
planned to improve these areas:

• Discussion and training to ensure staff are aware of the
importance of the first breast feed and accurate documentation

• Discussion with post-natal matron and community matrons
together with dissemination of information to all midwives to enable
women to recognise effective milk transfer

• Discussion with post-natal matron and dissemination of
information to the maternity support worker team to demonstrate
preparation of infant formula

• Discussion with the neo-natal matron regarding the frequency of
expression
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Local Clinical Audit Title & Aim Actions

VTE Prophylaxis Audit

Aim: to ensure that all patients in Trauma and 
Orthopaedics are appropriately risk assessed and 
given venous thrombo-embolism (VTE) prophylaxis as 
required during and immediately after admissions

This audit indicated that the following actions were required to 
improve patient care:

• New electronic discharge form has a box for completion for VTE
prophylaxis on discharge

• For patients at risk of VTE, according to the NICE risk
assessment tool, lower limb intermittent pneumatic compression
devices should be prescribed on the drug chart

• Limitations of IPC devices were noted (contra-indications,
mobilisation of patients) it was suggested that at drug rounds the
nurse could sign to say that the IPC devices were applied

• Written prescription for mechanical VTE prophylaxis should be
done at the time of the WHO checklist

• Pneumatic devices to be printed on the drug chart for ticking and
signature

• New paediatric drug chart has an area for VTE risk assessment

• Current policy for day cases to be clarified

• High-risk arthroplasty list to be defined in VTE policy

• Information leaflet to be drafted for patients on VTE risk

• To discuss the optimum treatment for fractured Neck of Femur
patients on discharge in first six weeks following surgery

• To discuss the requirement for VTE prophylaxis in upper limb
trauma patients who meet one or more of the NICE risk criteria

• To discuss policy with regards to VTE prophylaxis in lower limb
plaster casts
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Local Clinical Audit Title & Aim Actions

Managing Dental Trauma Audit

Aim: to examine the service provision at the RD&E for 
managing dental trauma and to confirm that there is a 
standardised approach to care

This audit showed that 66% of patients treated met the standard 
(followed guidelines). Complex reasons guidelines were not 
adhered to regarding gag reflex, late splint removal, radiographs, 
transfer to neurology and consequently the following actions were 
agreed: 

• Standardised history, examination, radiographs and treatment
plan

• Improved documentation

• Review all splints in outpatient department

• Revise induction training manual and tutorials

• Guidelines for ED liaison on how to briefly examine dental trauma

• Patient advice leaflet created

Microbiology Swab Audit

Aim: to assess if routine use of microbiology swabs 
has a significant therapeutic value in patient care of 
Maxillofacial patients

The audit indicated that there is no therapeutic value in the routine 
taking of microbiology swabs. The results were published after the 
patient had been discharged in 100% of cases and this was without 
complication. It was recommended that routine use is avoided, 
however the decision on whether or not to collect a microbiology 
sample lies with the clinician and should be made on an individual 
patient basis. Avoiding routine use of microbiology swabs would 
have an economical benefit on NHS Trusts without compromising 
on patient care, and this approach was therefore recommended in 
the Maxillofacial department.

Maternity Early Warning Scores Audit

Aim: to assess compliance against the CNST Maternity 
Standards ‘Standard 2, Criterion 8: ‘Severely ill women’ 
and the clinical guideline ‘Maternity Early Warning 
Scores’

Overall compliance was 69% compared to 32% in the last audit. 
Results improved for every non-compliant standard, with the 
exception of ‘escalation’ which was non-applicable in the most 
recent audit cycle. The reminders via posters in the ward areas 
appeared to have made a positive impact. Completion of MEWS 
Charts still needed to improve hence a further reminder poster to 
be displayed in the ward area with new compliance rate.

Fetal Blood Sampling in Labour and Paired Cord 
Sampling Audit

Aim: to assess compliance against the CNST Maternity 
Standards ‘Standard 2, Criterion 4: Fetal Blood 
Sampling (FBS)’, and the clinical guideline ‘Fetal Blood 
Sampling in Labour and Cord pH’

The overall compliance rate for this audit rate is above the 
minimum target of 75% however plans following initial FBS 
results are not being consistently documented. Actions to improve 
compliance were:

• Staff to be reminded, via the Quality and Improvement Newsletter,
of all standards listed above which failed to meet complete
compliance

• Learning will be cascaded to obstetric medical staff via email from
the Lead Consultant for Labour Ward
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Local Clinical Audit Title & Aim Actions

Antenatal Screening Audit

Aim: to assess compliance against the CNST Maternity 
Standards ‘Standard 4, Criterion 5: Antenatal Screening 
and the clinical guidelines regarding screening for 
infectious diseases, Down’s Syndrome Screening, 
Sickle Cell and Thalassemia Screening and Anomaly 
Ultrasound Guidelines

The overall compliance rate for this audit rate was 71%, which fell 
below the minimum standard. The action to improve compliance 
was:

• Reminder to document result reviews in relevant section of the
antenatal handheld notes to be cascaded to staff via the Quality
and Improvement Newsletter

Mental Health Audit

Aim: to assess compliance against the CNST Maternity 
‘Standard 4 Criterion 6 Mental Health’ and the clinical 
guideline Management of women who present with 
mental health concerns in the perinatal period

This audit demonstrated that the use of the mental health prediction 
and detection tool was 88% which was above the minimum 
standard of 75%. However, the referral compliance rate was only 
50%. Consequently, the action to improve compliance was:

• Reminder to be cascaded to integrated and community staff via
the Quality & Improvement Newsletter

Mental Health – Individual Management Plan Audit

Aim: to assess compliance against the CNST Maternity 
‘Standard 4 Criterion 6 Mental Health’ and that all 
women requiring an Individual Management Plan (IMP) 
have one documented in the health record

This audit indicated that an individual management plan was 
present in each set of notes audited, therefore, compliance was 
100%. In three cases however a prediction and detection form 
could not be found. Consequently, a reminder for community and 
integrated midwives that mental health prediction and detection 
forms must be completed and filed in the health record to be 
distributed.

Antenatal  Clinical Risk Assessment Audit

Aim: to assess compliance against the CNST Maternity 
Standards ‘Standard 4, Criterion 3, Clinical Risk 
Assessment Antenatal’ and the clinical guideline 
‘Antenatal care for pregnant women and referral to 
consultant care’

This audit demonstrated that compliance was poor at 30.7% 
overall. The guideline stated the need to record risk assessments 
at four different gestations, though there was only dedicated 
columns for three assessments within the antenatal handheld 
notes. It was believed that currently risk assessments were being 
carried out as part of antenatal visits, but the documentation did 
not always support this. Consequently, the guideline was to be 
amended to reflect the actual number and timings indicated for 
antenatal risk assessments. A reminder and further information 
on importance of antenatal risk assessments and where to record 
them to be added to the Quality and Improvement Newsletter.

Non-Obstetric Emergency Care Audit

(Pregnant women seen in the emergency 
department with a non-obstetric problem)

Aim: to assess compliance against the CNST 
Maternity Standards ‘Standard 4, Criterion 10: Non-
obstetric emergency care’ and the clinical guideline 
‘Care of pregnant women who attend the emergency 
department or require admission to a general ward’

This audit indicated that some of the patients identified using 
clinical coding did not appear to be pregnant on admission or 
were not seen in ED (these were later excluded from the audit). 
There was also a lack of documentation regarding admission in the 
antenatal handheld notes. The following actions were formulated to 
improve compliance:

• Guideline to be amended to be more specific about which
admissions obstetric and gynaecology should be informed of and in
which circumstances they should be involved in plans of care

• Guideline to be amended to reinforce the need for clear
communication between ED and maternity (where applicable)



Quality Report 2013/14 61

Local Clinical Audit Title & Aim Actions

Shoulder Dystocia and Brachial Plexus Audit

Aim: to assess compliance against the CNST Maternity 
Standards ‘Standard 3, Criterion 6: Shoulder Dystocia’ 
and the clinical guideline ‘Management of Shoulder 
Dystocia’

This audit demonstrated a failure to meet the 75% minimum 
compliance standard. Action plans to address this issue were as 
follows:

• Reminder to be disseminated to all midwifery and obstetric staff
about the importance of completing shoulder dystocia proformas.
This will be done via the Quality and Improvement Newsletter

• Reminder to be added to Midwives’ communication books on
Antenatal/Postnatal Ward and Labour Ward

• Discussion to take place to decide whether shoulder dystocia
proformas should be adopted for use at homebirths

Consent for interventional procedures

Aim: to ensure the consent process is being safely 
followed in the radiology department

This audit demonstrated that written consent availability in the 
notes was below acceptable levels. Reviewable forms were 
completed to a high standard but minor points were missed. 
Documentation of the two stage consent process needed to be 
improved and it was found that little written information is provided 
for patients. The following actions were agreed to improve 
compliance:

• Consent to be electronically scanned on to the Radiology IT
system at the time of procedure

• Patient information leaflets to be produced for each procedure
and sent to patients pre-procedure

• The two stage consent process to be documented in the consent
form where this is existing practise. The patient information leaflets
will also provide an initial assumed consent before the formal
consent process is undertaken

Obstetrics and Gynaecology Consent Audit

Aim: to ensure that valid consent is being taken 
appropriately within the Gynaecology and Maternity 
services, in line with the Trust Consent Policy

This audit demonstrated that the compliance with the measures 
assessed was good overall, with the average being 95% compliant 
with the Consent Policy.  The poorest compliance was around the 
recording of the evidence that patients had been given written 
information on their procedure or treatment. The following action 
was agreed to improve compliance:

• Email all Obstetricians, Gynaecologists and Clinical Nurse
Specialists to cascade findings and detailed guidance for
adherence to the RD&E Consent Policy
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Local Clinical Audit Title & Aim Actions

Renal biopsy complications and diagnostic yield

Aim: to evaluate the risk of complications post renal 
biopsy 

This audit demonstrated that complication rates fell within those 
quoted on the patient information leaflet. Based on this audit it was 
decided that the patient information leaflet was accurate and did 
not need modification. The following action was agreed to improve 
patient safety:

• Following a meeting with radiologists and histopathologists it was
agreed that smaller 18 gauge needles were adequate for diagnosis
and were less likely to lead to complications such as macroscopic
haematuria

Thyroid Fine Needle Aspiration Audit

Aim: to correlate cytological diagnoses with subsequent 
histological outcomes in order to determine the 
specificity and sensitivity of fine needle aspiration within 
the histopathology department

This audit demonstrated that, overall, the accuracy of thyroid 
fine needle aspiration and histology is good, with sensitivity 
and specificity being 90% and 92% respectively with diagnostic 
accuracy 91%. The following actions have been agreed:

• Consider whether it is feasible to reduce the number of reporting
pathologists (with the aim of concentrating workload and
experience and thereby developing expertise) without adversely
affecting service delivery

• Encourage the inclusion of Thy category in the report to facilitate
management decisions and the correlation of cytology with any
subsequent histology outcome

• Re-audit to monitor outcomes

• Extend the scope of future audits to include Thy categorisation of
the total annual thyroid aspirates

• Review cytology and histology of all malignant cases

• Review unexpected findings

• Design a ‘data collection tool’ to improve quality of clinical history
and radiological findings provided by the aspirator
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Local Clinical Audit Title & Aim Actions

Audit of HSA1 Forms - Termination of Pregnancy

Aim: to assess the use of the HSA1 certificates which 
are the forms used to certify the grounds under which a 
termination of pregnancy may lawfully take place

This audit demonstrated that 99.97% of all possible individual data 
entries were completed correctly, providing an overall compliance 
rate of 95.71%. A review of completed data collection tools in 
previous cycles identified inconsistencies in the data collection 
process and a degree of misinterpretation. As a consequence the 
following actions have been implemented:

• The same small number of personnel consistently carry out the
data collection

• Completed data collection sheets are checked for accuracy by a
Clinical Nurse Specialist

• If any discrepancies are identified these are discussed with the
Matron overseeing data collection

• If any concerns are raised these are immediately discussed with
the Acting Assistant Director of Nursing who ensures that any
necessary actions are immediately undertaken

A method for identifying glaucoma patients with 
visual field loss outside of the DVLA’s acceptable 
limit: What is the success rate?

Aim: to ensure the stamp system at West of England 
Eye Unit records and identifies patients with visual 
fields below the legal requirement to drive

This audit demonstrated that there was a poor success rate in the 
stamp system to fully record a patient’s driving status. Although 
the stamp itself has been designed to collect the necessary 
information, the issue lies amongst WEEU staff in ensuring 
its completion. As a consequence the following actions will be 
implemented:

• Ensure that 100% of notes that pass through glaucoma clinic are
stamped by liaising with administrative members of the glaucoma
team

• Liaise with responsible glaucoma clinicians

• Visual field recorded next to stamp by VF technician

• Glaucoma practitioners reminded of their responsibility to
complete stamp

• Create a Standard Operating Protocol as necessary
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We have been engaged by the 
Council of Governors of Royal 
Devon and Exeter NHS Foundation 
Trust to perform an independent 
assurance engagement in respect 
of Royal Devon and Exeter NHS 
Foundation Trust’s Quality Report 
for the year ended 31 March 2014 
(the ‘Quality Report’) and specified 
performance indicators contained 
therein.

Scope and subject matter 

The indicators for the year ended 
31 March 2014 in the Quality 
Report that have been subject to 
limited assurance  (the “specified 
indicators”) consist of the following 
national priority indicators as 
mandated by Monitor: 

Respective responsibilities of 
the Directors and auditors 

The Directors are responsible for 
the content and the preparation of 
the Quality Report in accordance 
with the specified indicators 
criteria referred to on pages of 
the Quality Report as listed above 
(the “Criteria”).  The Directors 
are also responsible for the 
conformity of their Criteria with 
the assessment criteria set out in 
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual (“FT ARM”) and 
the “Detailed requirements for 
quality reports 2013/14”  issued by 
the Independent Regulator of NHS 
Foundation Trusts (“Monitor”). 

Our responsibility is to form a 
conclusion, based on limited 
assurance procedures, on whether 
anything has come to our attention 
that causes us to believe that:

§ The Quality Report does not
incorporate the matters required
to be reported on as specified
in Annex 2 to Chapter 7 of
the FT ARM and the “Detailed
requirements for quality reports
2013/14”;

§ The Quality Report is not
consistent in all material respects
with the sources specified below;
and

§ The specified indicators have
not been prepared in all material
respects in accordance with the
Criteria and the six dimensions of
data quality set out in the “2013/14
Detailed guidance for external
assurance on quality reports”.

We read the Quality Report and 
consider whether it addresses the 
content requirements of the FT 
ARM, and consider the implications 
for our report if we become aware of 
any material omissions. 

We read the other information 
contained in the Quality Report and 
consider whether it is materially 
inconsistent with the following 
documents:  

§ Board minutes for the period
April 2013 to the date of signing
this limited assurance report (the
period);

§ Papers relating to Quality reported
to the Board over the period April
2013 to the date of signing this
limited assurance report;

§ Feedback from the Northern,
Eastern and Western Devon CCG
dated 08/05/14;

§ Feedback from Governors dated
06/05/14;

§ Feedback from local Healthwatch
organisations (Healthwatch 
Devon) dated 14/05/2014; 

§ The Trust’s complaints report
published under regulation 18 of
the Local Authority Social Services
and NHS Complaints Regulations
2009, Q1 and Q2 November 2013,
Q3 and Q4 May 2014;

§ The 2013 national patient survey;

§ The 2013 national staff survey;

§ Care Quality Commission quality
and risk profiles dated 04/04/13,
07/06/13, 04/07/13, 07/08/13;

Independent Auditors’ Limited Assurance Report to the Council of Governors of Royal Devon 
and Exeter NHS Foundation Trust on the Annual Quality Report

Specified 
Indicators

Specified 
indicators 
criteria 

C. Difficile See Page 36  
of the Quality 
Report

Emergency 
re-admissions 
within 28 days of 
discharge from 
hospital

See Page  41 
of the Quality 
Report
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§ Intelligent Monitoring Reports
dated 21/10/13, 14/02/14,
11/03/14;

§ Health and Wellbeing Scrutiny
Committee; and

§ The Head of Internal Audit’s
2013/14 annual opinion over the
Trust’s control environment.

We consider the implications for 
our report if we become aware 
of any apparent misstatements 
or material inconsistencies with 
those documents (collectively, the 
“documents”). Our responsibilities 
do not extend to any other 
information. 

We are in compliance with the 
applicable independence and 
competency requirements of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants 
in England and Wales (“ICAEW”) 
Code of Ethics. Our team comprised 
assurance practitioners and relevant 
subject matter experts. 

This report, including the 
conclusion, has been prepared 
solely for the Council of Governors 
of Royal Devon and Exeter NHS 
Foundation Trust as a body, to 
assist the Council of Governors in 
reporting Royal Devon and Exeter 
NHS Foundation Trust’s quality 
agenda, performance and activities. 
We permit the disclosure of this 
report within the Annual Report for 
the year ended 31 March 2014, to 
enable the Council of Governors to 
demonstrate they have discharged 
their governance responsibilities 
by commissioning an independent 
assurance report in connection with 
the indicators. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept 
or assume responsibility to anyone 

other than the Council of Governors 
as a body and Royal Devon and 
Exeter NHS Foundation Trust for 
our work or this report save where 
terms are expressly agreed and with 
our prior consent in writing. 

Assurance work performed 

We conducted this limited 
assurance engagement in 
accordance with International 
Standard on Assurance 
Engagements 3000 ‘Assurance 
Engagements other than 
Audits or Reviews of Historical 
Financial Information’ issued by 
the International Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board (‘ISAE 
3000’). Our limited assurance 
procedures included: 

§ reviewing the content of the
Quality Report against the
requirements of the FT ARM and
“Detailed requirements for quality
reports 2013/14”;

§ reviewing the Quality Report
for consistency against the
documents specified above;

§ obtaining an understanding of
the design and operation of
the controls in place in relation
to the collation and reporting
of the specified indicators,
including controls over third
party information (if applicable)
and performing walkthroughs to
confirm our understanding;

§ based on our understanding,
assessing the risks that the
performance against the specified
indicators may be materially
misstated and determining the
nature, timing and extent of
further procedures;

§ making enquiries of relevant
management, personnel and,
where relevant, third parties;

§ considering significant
judgements made by the NHS
Foundation Trust in preparation of
the specified indicators;

§ performing limited testing, on
a selective basis of evidence
supporting the reported
performance indicators, and
assessing the related disclosures;
and

§ reading documents.

A limited assurance engagement 
is less in scope than a reasonable 
assurance engagement. The nature, 
timing and extent of procedures 
for gathering sufficient appropriate 
evidence are deliberately limited 
relative to a reasonable assurance 
engagement. 

Limitations 

Non-financial performance 
information is subject to more 
inherent limitations than 
financial information, given the 
characteristics of the subject 
matter and the methods used for 
determining such information. 

The absence of a significant body 
of established practice on which 
to draw allows for the selection 
of different but acceptable 
measurement techniques which 
can result in materially different 
measurements and can impact 
comparability. The precision of 
different measurement techniques 
may also vary. Furthermore, the 
nature and methods used to 
determine such information, as well 
as the measurement criteria and 
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the precision thereof, may change 
over time. It is important to read the 
Quality Report in the context of the 
assessment criteria set out in the 
FT ARM and the Criteria referred to 
above. 

The nature, form and content 
required of Quality Reports are 
determined by Monitor. This may 
result in the omission of information 
relevant to other users, for example 
for the purpose of comparing the 
results of different NHS Foundation 
Trusts. 

In addition, the scope of our 
assurance work has not included 
governance over quality or 
non-mandated indicators in the 
Quality Report, which have been 
determined locally by Royal Devon 
and Exeter NHS Foundation Trust.

Conclusion 

Based on the results of our 
procedures, nothing has come 
to our attention that causes us to 
believe that for the year ended 31 
March 2014, 

§ The Quality Report does not
incorporate the matters required
to be reported on as specified
in Annex 2 to Chapter 7  of
the FT ARM and the “Detailed
requirements for quality reports
2013/14”;

§ The Quality Report is not
consistent in all material respects 
with the documents specified 
above; and

§ the specified indicators have not
been prepared in all material
respects in accordance with the
Criteria and the six dimensions
of data quality set out in the
“2013/14 Detailed guidance for
external assurance on quality
reports”.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Plymouth

28th May 2014

The maintenance and integrity of 
the Royal Devon and Exeter NHS 
Foundation Trust’s website is the 
responsibility of the Directors; the work 
carried out by the assurance providers 
does not involve consideration of these 
matters and, accordingly, the assurance 
providers accept no responsibility for 
any changes that may have occurred 
to the reported performance indicators 
or criteria since they were initially 
presented on the website.
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The role of the Board of 
Directors

The RD&E is a NHS Foundation 
Trust that is constituted as a public 
benefit corporation. Its governance 
structure is founded on a constitution 
that is approved by the regulator, 
Monitor. The constitution sets out 
how the organisation will operate 
from a governance perspective and 
what arrangements it has in place, 
including its committee structures 
and procedures, to enable the Trust 
to be governed effectively and within 
the legislative framework.  The 
Trust’s constitution incorporates the 
legal and statutory requirements 
necessary to govern the Trust.  In 
addition, Monitor has developed 
a Code of Governance which all 
Foundation Trusts must comply 
with (or explain if they choose 
not to comply).  This details the 
necessary governance structures 
and processed that Foundation Trust 
should have in place.

Essentially, there are three 
basic components to the Trust’s 
governance structure:

§ The Membership

§ The Council of Governors

§ The Board of Directors

Members of the RD&E consist of 
members of the general public who 
choose to apply for membership 
and Trust staff (unless they opt out).  
Members are located in a defined 
number of constituencies.  Members 
elect Governors and can also stand 
for election themselves.

The Council of Governors consists 
of elected public Governors, staff 
Governors and appointed individuals 
from key stakeholder organisations 
(as defined in the constitution).  
Governors help bind the Trust to its 
patients, service users, staff and 
stakeholders. Governors are unpaid 
and volunteer part-time on behalf of 
the Trust. They are not Directors and 
therefore do not act in a directional 
capacity as their role is very different.  
The Trust Chairman is chair of both 
the Council of Governors and the 
Board of Directors.

Governors are the direct 
representatives of local communities.  
They collectively challenge the 
Board of Directors and hold them to 
account for the Trust’s performance, 
as well as presenting the interests 
of Foundation Trust Members and 
the public and providing them 
with information on the Trust’s 
performance and forward plan.  
Governors have a range of statutory 
powers as well as significant 
influence over the Trust.

The Board of Directors of the 
RD&E is ultimately and collectively 
responsible for all aspects of the 
performance of the Trust.  The Board 
of Directors’ role is to:

§ Provide effective and proactive
leadership of the Trust within a
framework of processes.

§ Develop procedures and controls
which enable risk to be assessed
and managed.

§ Take responsibility for making sure
the Trust complies with its terms
of authorisation, its constitution,
mandatory guidance issued
by Monitor, relevant statutory
requirements and contractual
obligations.

§ Set the Trust’s strategic aims
at least annually, taking into
consideration the views of the
Council of Governors.

§ Be responsible for ensuring the
quality and safety of healthcare
services, education, training and
research delivered by the Trust.

Our Governance
DIRECTOR’S REPORT
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§ Ensure that the Trust exercises its
functions effectively, efficiently and
economically.

§ Set the Trust’s vision, values and
standards of conduct and ensure
the Trust meets its obligations to
its members, patients and other
stakeholders and communicates
them to these people clearly.

§ Take decisions objectively in the
interests of the Trust.

§ Take joint responsibility for every
decision of the Board, regardless
of their individual skills or status.

§ Share accountability as a unitary
Board.

§ Constructively challenge the
decisions of the Board and help
develop proposals on priorities,
risk, mitigation, values, standards
and strategy.

The Board of Directors has both 
Executive and Non-Executive 
Directors (NEDs) with a majority 
of independent Non-Executive 
Directors.  It is a unitary Board which 
means that both Executive and Non-
Executive Directors share the same 
liabilities and joint responsibility for 
every decision of the Board.  The 
Chief Executive is the nominated 
Accounting Officer and is responsible 
for the overall organisation, 
management and staffing of the NHS 
Foundation Trust, for its procedures 
in financial and other matters, and 
for offering appropriate advice to 
the Board on all matters of financial 
propriety and regularity.

In carrying out their role, Directors 
need to be able to deliver focused 
strategic leadership and effective 
scrutiny of the Trust’s operations, and 
make decision objectively and in the 
interests of the Trust.  The Board of 
Directors will act in strict accordance 
with the accepted standards of 
behaviour in public life, which 
include the principles of selflessness, 
openness, honesty and leadership 
(The Nolan Principles).

The Board of Directors is legally 
accountable for services provided 
by the Trust and is responsible for 
setting the strategic direction, having 
taken account of the views of the 
Council of Governors, and for the 
overall management of the RD&E.

The Board is led by the Non-
Executive Chairman.  There are 
six Non-Executive Directors who, 
together with the Chairman, form 
a majority on the Board.  The six 
Executive Directors manage the 
day-to-day operational and financial 
performance of the Trust.

The Board of Directors works on 
a unitary basis, being collectively 
responsible for the performance 
of the NHS Foundation Trust and 
exercising all the powers of the Trust.  
In so doing, Board Members bear full 
legal liability for the operational and 
financial performance of the Trust.

The Board normally meets to conduct 
its core business at least ten times 
a year.  At these meetings it takes 
strategic decisions and monitors the 
operational performance of the Trust, 
holding the Executive Directors to 
account for the Trust’s achievements.

Board Meetings

The papers for the monthly Part 1 
Board meeting and the approved 
minutes of the previous meeting are 
published on the Trust’s website in 
advance of the Board meeting.  In 
advance of the legislation compelling 
NHS Foundation Trusts to hold their 
Board meetings in public, the RD&E 
decided in June 2012 to move to 
open Board meetings that were 
accessible to the public.  These are 
meetings that take place in the public 
arena rather than public meetings, 
although members of the public have 
the opportunity to ask questions at 
the end of the public section of the 
meeting.  Items of a confidential 
nature are discussed by the Board in 
private in a monthly “Part 2” meeting.  
The issues discussed in the closed 
sessions tend to be commercial in 
confidence issues that may impede 
the conduct of the Trust’s business if 
they were to be aired publicly.  The 
1960 Act on admission to public 
meetings is used by the Board to 
help determine which topics are 
discussed privately and, over the 
course of the year, the Board has 
sought to discuss the majority of its 
business in the open session.

In addition to its ten formal Board 
meetings, the Board also hold a 
number of development and strategy 
sessions as well as briefing meetings 
and seminars.
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The framework within which 
decisions affecting the work of the 
Trust are made are set out in the 
Trust’s published Standing Orders, 
Standing Financial Instructions and 
Scheme of Delegation, copies of 
which may be viewed on the Trust’s 
website (www.rdehospital.nhs.uk) 
or on request from the Foundation 
Trust Secretary.

The composition of the Board is 
in accordance with the Trust’s 
Constitution and the Policy for 
the Composition of NEDS on the 
Board.  The Board considers it is 
appropriately composed in order to 
fulfil its statutory and constitutional 
function and remain within 
Monitor’s Terms of Authorisation.  
In consultation with Governors, 
it has, through its recruitment of 
NEDs, been able to maintain a good 
quality and effective Board that is 
appropriately balanced and complete.

There is a clear division of 
responsibility between the 
Chairman and the Chief Executive. 
The Chairman heads the Board, 
providing leadership and ensuring 
its effectiveness in all aspects of its 
role, and sets the Board agenda.  
The Chairman ensures the Board 
receives appropriate information to 
ensure that Board Members can 
exercise their responsibilities and 
make well-grounded decisions. The 
Chief Executive is responsible for 
running all operational aspects of 
the Trust’s business, assisted by the 
team of Executive Directors.

The Chairman and all Non-Executive 
Directors meet the independence 
criteria laid down in Monitor’s Code 
of Governance (Provision A.3.1).  
The Board is satisfied that no direct 
conflicts of interest exist for any 
member of the Board.  There is a full 
disclosure of all Directors’ interests 
in the Register of Directors’ Interest 
which is available upon request from 
the Foundation Trust Secretary.  
Directors and Governors may 
appoint advisors to provide additional 
expertise on particular subjects if 
required.

The Board of Directors is 
accountable to the membership 
via the Council of Governors.  The 
Chairman informs the Council of 
Governors about the work and 
effectiveness of the Board at each 
Council Meeting.

The business of the Trust is 
conducted in an open manner and 
annual schedules of meetings for 
the Board of Directors and Council 
of Governors are published twelve 
months in advance.

Outside Interests

The Board regularly updates it 
register of interests to ensure that 
each member discloses details of 
company directorships or other 
material interests in companies which 
may conflict with their management 
responsibilities.  Board Members also 
have an opportunity at the start of 
each meeting to declare any interests 
which might impede their ability to 
take part in discussions and Directors 
are aware that such a declaration 
would be permissible at any time 
during a meeting, dependent on 
the issue being discussed and the 
potential for any conflict of interest 
to arise. The Directors’ Register of 
Interests is available for inspection 
from the Foundation Trust Secretary 
(01392 403933) or on the Trust 
website www.rdehospital.nhs.
uk/trust/ft/documents.html and 
Directors can be contacted via email 
at rde-tr.foundationtrust@nhs.net.
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Summary of the requirements of Schedule 7 to the Regulations

Disclosure Requirement Page 

Any political donations should be disclosed.  However, it is doubtful 
whether any such donation would be lawful for an NHS Foundation Trust

N/A

Any important events since the end of the financial year affecting the NHS 
Foundation Trust

Contained within Strategy 
Section of this report

An indication of likely future developments at the NHS Foundation Trust Contained within Strategy 
Section of this report

An indication of any significant activities in the field of research and 
development

Contained within the Quality 
Report, Research Section and 
information regarding the Robot

An indication of the existence of branches outside the UK N/A

Policies applied during the financial year for giving full and fair 
consideration to applications for employment made by disabled persons, 
having regard to their particular aptitudes and abilities

Contained within the equality 
and diversity section of this 
report

Policies applied during the financial year for the training, career 
development and promotion of disabled employees

Contained within the equality 
and diversity section and this 
report

Actions taken in the financial year to provide employees systematically with 
information on matters of concern to them as employees

Contained within the 
Quality Report, Stakeholder 
and Engagement and 
Communication

Contained within this report– 
Our Staff

Actions taken in the financial year to consult employees or their 
representatives on a regular basis so that the views of employees can 
be taken into account in making decisions which are likely to affect their 
interests

Contained within the 
Quality Report, Stakeholder 
and Engagement and 
Communication section

Actions taken in the financial year to encourage the involvement of 
employees in the NHS Foundation Trust’s performance

Contained within the Quality 
Report Connecting Care

Actions taken in the financial year to achieve a common awareness on the 
part of all employees of the financial and economic factors affecting the 
performance of the NHS Foundation Trust

Contained within the 
Quality Report Stakeholder 
and Engagement and 
Communication Section

In relation to the use of financial instruments, an indication of the financial 
risk management objectives and policies of the NHS Foundation Trust and 
the exposure of the entity to price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and cash 
flow risk, unless such information is not material for the assessment of the 
assets, liabilities, financial position and results of the entity.

Contained within Our Finances 
Annual Report Our Finances
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The Board continued to develop 
its effectiveness during the year 
primarily through its programme of 
“development days”. Development 
days are seminar sessions that allow 
the whole Board to explore a range 
of issues and topics and develop 
and discuss ideas outside the formal 
setting of the Board. In addition 
to these whole day sessions, the 
Board use the mornings of Board 
days - prior to the formal sessions 
in the afternoon – for a similar 
purpose. These sessions are 
vital to continuously improve the 
performance of the Board and to 
ensure that the Directors are able 
to discuss and debate key issues 
confronting the Trust in real depth. 
These sessions are also used to 
enhance Directors’ understanding 
and learning on key issues. 

Over the course of the year, the 
Board used its development 
days to refine and take forward 
the Trust’s corporate strategy. In 
developing the strategy, the Board 
agreed a set of core key messages 
that underpinned the Trust’s 
communications and engagement 
work as well as setting a five 
year vision for where the Trust 
would ideally be positioned in the 
future. It also received feedback 
on a project designed to capture 
institutional stakeholder feedback 
on the perceptions and views of the 
Trust and how this fed into a new 
communications and engagement 
plan for the Trust.

As part of its approach to continue 
to develop its effectiveness, the 
Board spent time reviewing the 
performance data and narrative 
it receives through the Integrated 
Performance Report. Following 
discussion and trialling a new 
approach, the Board agreed a new 
way of presenting key performance 
data. In the spirit of continuous 
improvement, the revised Integrated 
Performance Report remains under 
review and will be subject to further 
change going forward. 

The Board also examined a range 
of operational issues during its 
development days and pre-Board 
seminars. In these sessions the 
Board looked at a number of issues 
including:

§ Progress against meeting some of
the key cancer targets

§ Modelling for bed capacity in
advance of expected winter
pressures so that it could
understand some of the
underlying trends and issues

§ Exploring the Trust’s
transformation programme and
what the Trust is doing to save
money, ensure patient safety
and quality and find new ways of
working both within the hospital
but also with its partners. This
session also involved a “go and
see” visit by the Board to parts of
the hospital that were piloting the
new approach set out on page 41
- Connecting Care.

§ An in-depth look at the Trust’s
Cost Improvement Programme
during its seminar sessions prior
to the Board.

§ Examining in detail the current
nursing establishment as a
prelude to considering the need
for additional investment in
nursing

The Board took part in helping 
to define and then became part 
of a new Senior Leadership 
Development Programme that was 
introduced during the year. This 
new approach to enhancing the 
skills and capacities for a cohort of 
leaders from the organisation also 
included Board members who were 
able to help shape and input into the 
development of the Trust’s clinical 
services strategy. 

The Board took part in a seminar 
on human factors. A human 
factors approach to patient safety 
encompasses all those factors 
that can influence people and 
their behaviour. In a work context, 
they are the environmental, 
organisational and job factors, and 
individual characteristics which 
influence behaviour at work. The 
Board were led through the seminar 
which underlined that in healthcare 
there is always an underlying 
chance that the consequences 
of intervention or care could be 
catastrophic. Being aware of this 
and the factors that can inhibit 
optimal performance help to 
heighten attention and vigilance in 
those areas. The Board also took 
part in mandatory training on Child 
Protection.

Board Effectiveness and Evaluation
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During the year KPMG reviewed 
some specific aspects of the Trust’s 
quality governance arrangements 
including governance structures 
and processes, compliance with 
regulatory requirements and delivery 
of quality at the front-line. This was 
a routine review put in place by 
Monitor. The review found that the 
Trust had an exemplary track record 
in its approach to quality governance 
and there were no significant follow- 
up actions.

The Chairman undertook appraisals 
of all those Non-Executive Directors 
(NEDs) that had been in post for a 
year or more. The process used a 
system that was co-designed and 
agreed by the Appraisals Working 
Group – a group made up of the 
Chairman, the Senior Independent 
Director and the Governors who sit 
on the Nominations Committee. The 
process involved a questionnaire 
aimed at the specific role of NEDs 
that was used as part of a 360 
degree feedback by fellow NEDs, 
Executive Directors and Governors. 

Feedback on the performance of 
the NEDs was considered by the 
Chairman and fed back to the NEDs 
in appraisal meetings. Feedback 
on the performance appraisals was 
provided in written form and verbally 
to the Nominations Committee 
and an overview of the appraisals 
was discussed with the Council 
of Governors. All the appraisals 
undertaken were favourable with 
all NEDs reviewed performing at or 
above the expected level. 

A similar process was undertaken 
for the Chairman. In this case there 
was a longer questionnaire linked to 
the specific role of the Chairman and 
the process was led by the Senior 
Independent Director. Feedback on 
the performance of the Chairman 
was provided to the Nominations 
Committee and a summary was 
provided to the full Council of 
Governors. This was also a very 
positive appraisal.

The Chief Executive undertook the 
appraisals of Executive Directors 
who were in post for a year or 
more using a similar process 
including feedback from Non-
Executive Directors. Feedback on 
the appraisals was provided by the 
Chief Executive to the Executive 
Director Remuneration Committee 
(EDRC). The Chairman undertook 
an appraisal of the Chief Executive 
and the results of this were fed back 
to the EDRC. The appraisals of the 
Chief Executive, Director of Finance 
and Business Development, and the 
Chief Nurse/Chief Operating Officer 
were also positive.
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JAMES BRENT 
Chairman

James was an investment 
banker for twenty-five years and 
established Akkeron Group which 
has key business activities in 
hotels, urban regeneration, retail 
and leisure (including Plymouth 
Argyle Football Club). He has 
combined his commercial ventures 
with a desire to contribute in a 
range of public sector settings 
as well, for example previously 
as Chairman of Plymouth City 
Development Company and now 
as an independent governor of 
Plymouth University.

BRIAN AIRD 
Vice Chairman

Brian joined the Trust in April 2008. 
He has considerable previous NHS 
experience as a Chief Executive 
of an NHS Trust and a Health 
Authority. He was previously a 
Non-Executive Director of Trent 
Strategic Health Authority, and 
more recently has run his own 
company offering organisational 
development and executive 
coaching services. He is also a 
trustee of United Response, a 
national charity providing services 
to people with learning difficulties 
and mental health needs. 
Appointed Vice-Chairman in May 
2010, Brian also chairs the Trust’s 
Organ Donation Committee and 
the Engagement and Experience 
Committee.

PETER DILLON 
Non Executive Director

Peter joined the Trust in July 
2013. After more than ten years 
with  Deloitte, he now runs his own 
company advising businesses that 
require turnaround, stabilisation, 
cash management, budgeting, 
cost reduction or interim finance.  
In addition to the time he gives to 
the RD&E, Peter is also a non-
executive director in the Devon & 
Cornwall Housing Group, a social 
and affordable housing provider. 
Peter is a member of the Audit 
Committee.  

DAVID ROBERTSON 
Non Executive Director

David joined the Trust in October 
2010 and is a Fellow of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants 
in England and Wales and a 
graduate in Business Studies.  He 
was Finance Director of Viridor 
Limited, the waste management 
subsidiary of Exeter based Pennon 
Group plc, until March 2011.  He 
was with the Pennon Group for 
twenty years, prior to which was 
with KPMG for fourteen years.  He 
is also a trustee of South West 
Lakes Trust.  David is Chair of the 
Audit Committee.

MICHELE ROMAINE 
Non Executive Director

Michele joined the RD&E Board 
in September 2012. She has held 
a number of senior roles in public 
sector organisations, including the 
BBC as its Director of Production.  
Ten years ago Michele helped 
steer the course for the BBC in a 
time of significant change setting 
the vision for the technology, 
people and the process change 
necessary to modernise the BBC’s 
production capabilities. Michele 
has more recently served for three 
years as a Non-Executive Director 
on the Board of Salisbury NHS 
Foundation Trust. She continues 
to travel internationally through her 
consultancy business.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors
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ANDREW WILLIS 
Non Executive Director

Andy joined the Board in February 
2011.  Previous Board experience 
includes service on two NHS acute 
provider Boards and in the housing 
sector.  A corporate lawyer by 
profession, he has worked for City 
and regional law firms and now 
specialises in legal training.  He is 
also a Leadership Associate of the 
King’s Fund, focusing on corporate 
governance and NHS Board/Director 
development.  Andy is Chair of the 
Governance Committee.

DAVID WRIGHT 
Non Executive Director,  
Senior Independent Director

David joined the Trust in April 2008 
and is now retired but spent the 
majority of his career with Save 
the Children UK, where he was a 
Country Programme Director for 
various areas both in the UK and 
abroad.  He was also Chairman of 
Swindon PCT and a Non-Executive 
Director with Wiltshire NHS 
Community Trust.  David became 
the Senior Independent Director in 
February 2011.
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ANGELA PEDDER OBE 
Chief Executive

Angela joined the NHS in 1975.  
She was Chief Executive of St 
Alban’s & Hemel Hempstead NHS 
Trust before taking up her post 
as Chief Executive at the RD&E 
in 1996. Angela was awarded the 
OBE in the New Year Honours List 
2007 for services to the NHS.

MARTIN COOPER 
Medical Director

Martin was appointed to the 
RD&E in 1988 as a Consultant 
General Surgeon with an interest 
in Upper GI and Breast disease. 
He had previously worked as a 
Lecturer and Senior Lecturer in 
Bristol and spent 18 months at the 
University of Chicago. In addition 
to his clinical role, Martin has a 
major interest in the management 
of cancer, acting as the Clinical 
Director of Cancer Services from 
1995 until 2009. Regionally, he 
was the Medical Director of the 
Peninsula Cancer Network from 
2000 to 2007.  Martin was then 
Joint Medical Director from 2009 
until May 2013, he was then re-
appointed as the full time Medical 
Director in September 2013.

TRACY COTTAM 
Executive Director of 
Transformation &  
Organisational Design

Tracey has worked across 
multiple sectors in a range of 
senior leadership and consulting 
roles. For the last ten years she 
has worked with a broad range 
of NHS clients to improve the 
way in which they deliver care to 
patients. At the RD&E, Tracey is 
responsible for leading the Trust-
wide Transformation Programme 
which is one of the core ways 
through which our corporate 
strategy will be delivered. Tracey 
will work alongside her teams from 
HR, Programme Management 
Office, Service Development and 
Communication & Engagement 
to engage with divisions to agree 
the transformational service they 
require to achieve their plans.

SUZANNE TRACEY 
Executive Director of Finance and 
Business Development

Suzanne was first appointed as 
a Finance Director in 2002 to 
Eastern Birmingham PCT. She 
joined the Trust in August 2008 
from Yeovil District Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust, where she held 
the post of Director of Finance/
Deputy Chief Executive. Suzanne 
is a Trustee for the Healthcare 
Financial Management Association 
and was President in 2011.

EM WILKINSON-BRICE 
Chief Nurse/Chief Operating 
Officer

Em joined the RD&E in July 
2010 after qualifying as a 
nurse in 1992 in Exeter. She 
subsequently worked In Oxford 
specialising in Cardiology and high 
dependency care. Em undertook 
a secondment to the Department 
of Health leading a project which 
introduced ward housekeepers 
to the NHS. A firm interest in 
facilities management alongside 
nursing resulted in Em taking the 
post of Director of Nursing and 
Facilities at Derby Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust prior to coming to 
Exeter. Em’s role has expanded to 
cover the Chief Operating Officer 
portfolio.

Exec Directors not in post at year 
end (please see remuneration 
report on page 64)

§ Vaughan Lewis
Joint Medical Director

§ Lynn Lane
Director of Human Resources

§ Colin Berry
Medical Director

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors
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NAME Apr 
2013 May Jun Jul Sep Oct Nov Jan 

2014 Feb Mar

J Brent P P P P P P P P P P

B Aird P P P P P A P P A P

C Berry P P P

M Cooper P P P P P P P

T Cottam A P P P P P P P P

P Dillon P P P P P P

V Lewis P

A Pedder P P P P P P P P P P

D Robertson P P P P P P P P P P

M Romaine A A P P P P P P P P

S Tracey P P P P P P A P P P

E Wilkinson-Brice P P P P P P P P P P

A Willis P P P P P P P A P P

D Wright P P P A P P P P A P

BOARD ATTENDANCE FOR 2013/14 WAS AS FOLLOWS:

Non-Executive and Executives of the Board 2013/14

§ P – Present
§ A – Apologies

Non-Executive Director Appointments
The Chairman and Non-Executive 
Directors are appointed by the 
Council of Governors (COG) acting 
on the recommendation of the 
Nominations Committee, which is a 
committee of the COG.

The Chairman chairs the Committee 
when appointing Non-Executive 
Directors. Membership of the 
committee can be found in the 
Governors section on page 88.

The Chairman and Non-Executive 
Directors are initially appointed for 
three year terms, as approved by 
the COG. Re-appointment for a 
further three year term can be made, 
subject to satisfactory appraisal 
and the approval of the Governors.  
Consideration of extension beyond 
six years is subject to rigorous 
review, in line with the agreed 
processes.

One new Non-Executive Director was 
appointed during the year:

Mr Peter Dillon (1 August 2013)
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The membership of the Executive 
Director Remuneration Committee 
(EDRC) includes the Chairman and 
all the Non-Executive Directors.  
During the year, the Committee 
was chaired by David Wright as the 
Senior Independent Director. The 
Chief Executive and, as necessary, 
other Executive Directors were 
invited to attend the meetings in an 
advisory role but are excluded on 
issues directly relevant to them by 
the Chairman of the Committee.  
The Committee is supported 
by Deputy Director of Human 
Resources in conjunction with the 
Trust Secretary.

The Committee’s main purpose is 
to set rates of remuneration, terms 
and conditions of service for the 
Chief Executive, Executive Directors 
and Directors i.e. those persons in 
senior positions having authority 
or responsibility for directing or 
controlling the major activities of the 
Trust.  During the year the role of the 
Committee has extended to include 
direct reports to the Executive 
Directors who moved to “spot” 
salaries outside national terms 
and conditions within the review 
of the Trust’s senior management 
arrangements. 

Non-Executive Director and 
Chairman Remuneration is dealt 
with by Non-Executive Director 
Remuneration Committee (NEDRC) 
the arrangements are set out on 
page 72.

Application of the new 
remuneration framework

As reported in last year’s 
remuneration report, the previous 
policy that had been agreed by the 
Committee in relation to executive 
remuneration was only partially 
implemented. Over the last four 
years, the Committee took the view 
that it should not implement the 
outcomes of the policy framework 
they had agreed particularly in 
relation to making any significant 
adjustments to the remuneration 
of Executive Directors whilst a 
national pay freeze was in place. 
It recognised this disadvantaged 
those Executive Directors in cases 
in which data drawn from the 
agreed list of comparator Trusts 
would suggest that they were not 
compensated in line with post 
holders undertaking similar roles in 
other equivalent Trusts. 

In the course of discussions over 
the year, the Committee reached 
the view that, given that it has not 
been possible to implement the 
policy for the previous four years, 
the policy needed to be set aside 
and a new set of principles to help 
guide its decision making in the 
future be developed. The Committee 
also resolved to widen the scope of 
the policy to include staff reporting 
directly to Executive Directors. The 
new principles would retain the use 
of a comparator group of similarly 
sized Trusts outside the South East 
as this was felt to be an important 
barometer against which to compare 
remuneration rates and also include 
similar sized acute Trusts in the 
South West. The new principles 
draw from the previous policy, 
but sets out a broader framework 

against which decisions will be 
taken. The principles guiding its 
decision making processes were 
agreed as follows:

Key principles 

1. The Committee’s approach to
remuneration will seek to position
the Trust in a way that it is able
to attract, retain and motivate
Executive Directors and their
direct reports of sufficient calibre
to maintain high quality, patient-
centred healthcare and effective
management of the Trust’s
resources.

2. The Committee understands
that senior level positions in the
Trust operate in a regional/national
context and that remuneration
for these positions is primarily
determined by the market. In order
to remain competitive and attract
and retain high calibre staff, the
salaries of senior staff must be
regularly reviewed to ensure that
they remain broadly competitive
and that the salaries offered to
incumbents do not denude over
time so that they are out of line with
comparable Trusts. Nevertheless,
the Committee will avoid paying
more than is necessary to recruit,
retain and motivate Executive
Directors and their direct reports
and will take positions that are
publicly defensible. Moreover, the
Committee understands that its
approach must strike an appropriate
balance with the Committee’s duty
to ensure the effective stewardship
of public resources.

3. The Committee will be rigorous
in ensuring that potential conflicts of
interest are recognised and avoided.

Remuneration Report 2013/14
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Executive Directors and their 
direct reports will not be involved 
in deciding their own remuneration 
package.

4. On an annual basis, the
Committee will consider the
remuneration packages of all
Executive Directors and their
direct reports bearing in mind the
performance of the Executive
Directors and their direct reports in
fulfilling their duties and in regard to
the overall performance of the Trust.

5. The Committee will use external
comparison data on the pay and
conditions of Executive Directors in
comparator Foundation Trusts no
less frequently than every two years.
This work will be undertaken on
behalf of the EDRC by a competent
and suitably qualified external
organisation or senior Human
Resources adviser. The EDRC
will identify a suitable comparator
subset of Foundation Trusts and
Trusts from which it wishes to derive
data. The Committee will make
judgements on where it wants to
position its relative remuneration
package for Executive Directors
and their direct reports in any one
year in relation to comparison data
from other Foundation Trusts. The
EDRC will treat comparator data
with caution not least so as to avoid
undue pay inflation.

6. The Committee will seek to apply
the principles fairly and transparently
and on the basis of data and advice
from competent external bodies/
consultants or senior Human
Resource adviser as necessary.
The Committee understands
that it will use the data it gathers
and the framework set out in this

policy to exercise the necessary 
judgment on pay and reward issues. 
The Committee will ensure that 
remuneration reflects the extent 
of the role and responsibilities of 
individual posts and their contribution 
to the organisation and will be based 
on judgements relating to:

§ Market rates for comparable roles
in comparable organisations

§ Interpretation of the data from an
agreed comparator group;

§ The size and scope of the role in
question;

§ Advice from the Chairman of
the Trust in relation to the Chief
Executive;

§ Advice from the Chief Executive in
relation to the Executive Directors;

§ Affordability;

§ Other NHS pay settlements;

§ Any other factors deemed
appropriate.

The Committee will ensure that 
it takes into account the wider 
implications that may arise from 
setting the remuneration packages 
of Executive Directors and their 
direct reports in relation to pay levels 
determined through Agenda for 
Change (AfC).

7. The Committee will seek to
achieve broadly standardised terms
and conditions for example on notice
periods for all posts which fall within
the scope of the principles. EDRC
has resolved to move towards a
situation in which there is a higher
degree of conformity (a notice period
of six months).

8. The Trust recognises that
the EDRC has the authorised
responsibility to apply its
independent judgement on matters
within its remit within the wording
and the spirit of the agreed
principles. However, there may be
times when a different approach is
required which steps outside the
scope of the principles and in these
cases, particular care must be taken
and clear justification must be given
and recorded. Some circumstances
which may require flexibility include
temporary promotions; atypical
employment conditions; specific
issues related to individuals etc.
The Committee will reserve the right
to recruit an Executive Director or
a direct report on a salary below
the market value in cases where a
development plan would enable the
employee to reach the minimum
standards to undertake the role at
a satisfactory level. The Committee
also reserves the right to pay
additional payments to Executive
Directors and their direct reports
when deemed necessary because
of exceptional circumstances. The
occasions when additional payments
are required will be limited. When
considering using additional
payments, the EDRC will need to
be able to fully justify and explain
why it has opted to take this course
of action. It would only normally
consider such action on the basis of
a clear business case. Special care
must be taken to ensure that the use
of additional payments is completely
transparent and that consideration
has been given to the impact on pay
inflation among Executive Directors
and their direct reports as well as to
guard against accusations of bias or
arbitrary practice.



66

Scope

1. The principles will apply to
the pay, awards and terms of
employment of the Trust’s Chief
Executive and Executive Directors
and their direct reports and   will
include the following components:

§ The core salary

§ Any supplementary payments
to the Director over and above
the core salary in recognition
of extraordinary factors such
as matching market forces
in recruitment; exceptional
endeavour etc;

§ Additional non-pay benefits
over and above the core salary
including pensions, vehicle/lease
car issues, mobile phones and
other such benefits;

§ The terms and conditions in
regards to issues (such as notice
periods, conditions attached at
recruitment stage for professional
development for example) etc;

§ Arrangements for termination of
employment and other contractual
terms.

2. On an annual basis the
Committee will consider whether any
issues have emerged which require
consideration of any adjustments
to existing remuneration packages
such as:

§ At the beginning of a process to
recruit a replacement Executive
Director or direct report;

§ When issues concerning
inflationary uplifts need to be
considered – on an annual basis;

§ When changes are made to the
size and scope of Executive
Director or direct report portfolios

In-year remuneration 
decisions

Over the last few years the gap 
between the remuneration of the 
Chief Executive, the Chief Nurse/
Chief Operating Officer, and the 
Director of Finance & Business 
Development and the median of 
those occupying similar posts in 
comparator organisations had 
grown, leading to the position 
in which the salaries of the two 
Executive Directors that had been 
in post for several years and that 
of the Chief Executive had simply 
not kept pace with the comparator 
roles from similar sized Trusts. At 
the same time, as part of the senior 
management review introduced in 
2012/13, the number of Executive 
Directors reduced from a total of 
six to five with the commensurate 
knock on impact on workloads and 
responsibilities.

In reviewing salary levels, and taking 
into consideration the prevailing 
external policy environment and 
using the evidence gained from the 
updated comparator information, 
the Committee took the view that 
the continued failure to recompense 
those Executive Directors that were 
out of line with the market rates for 
similar roles in other Trusts was 
unfair and carried it with it a level 
of risk that was unacceptable. The 
loss of continuity and experience 
if Directors chose to move to an 
equivalent role elsewhere that was 
remunerated at the market rate at 
a time when the external context 
was extremely challenging was 
significant.  The Committee took 
the view that this could impact 
on the continuity and stability of 
leadership that had been one of the 
key characteristics of the success 
of the Trust over the last decade. 

In the light of the comparative data 
available, the Committee considered 
a scenario in which if a Director 
left, a successor would need to be 
recruited at the market rate. It also 
took into account that there was a 
risk that a multiple of up to three 
Executive Directors could make this 
decision with the resultant loss of 
expertise and experience. On this 
basis, it was felt that a failure to take 
into account the current market rate 
and to continue the practice followed 
over the past four years effectively 
discriminated against the incumbent 
post holders and exposed the Trust 
to an unacceptable level of risk.

The Committee recognised the 
external context in which decisions 
about executive remuneration had 
not significantly changed from 
previous years and the need for 
pay restraint, but the Committee 
came to the view that restraint had 
been exercised for a period of four 
years and it was no longer a tenable 
position not to match salaries to the 
median/average level of comparator 
roles.  The Committee did not make 
this decision lightly recognising 
the delay in matching salaries to 
the comparators group contributed 
to size of the increase that was 
now required. The Committee 
unanimously agreed to adjust the 
salaries to the median point and that 
this was fair and appropriate on the 
basis that: 

§ It had chosen not to address
the discrepancies between
the median salaries within the
comparator group and the salaries
offered to the two Executive
Directors in scope over a number
of years

§ There was a significant risk that it
may well store up bigger problems
in the future as the gap between
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the current salaries and the median 
salaries of the comparator groups 
increased over time which would 
make addressing the gap much 
more problematic in the future

§ There were potential corporate
risks of uncertainty and potential
instability at a time of significant
external challenge and the
prospect of succession issues

§ It would be prepared to pay
market rates for replacing any of
the Executive Director posts were
the post holders  to leave

§ It wanted to ensure that it
positioned the Trust as an
organisation that compensates its
senior staff fairly

§ The portfolios of the five Executive
Directors had increased as a 
result of the reduction in overall 
numbers of Directors by one.

The changes to the compensation 
are reflected in the tables on page 
69. The uplift incorporates the 1%
which has been applied to all staff
employed by the Trust on national
terms and conditions of service
from 1st April 2013. The Executive
Directors revised salaries were paid
from 1st June 2013. The combined
impact of benchmarking of salaries
and restructuring has reduced the
number of Executive Directors from
six to five people and the annual
cost of the Executive Directors as
group.

It should be noted that the offer 
of an increase in salary (shown 
in brackets in the table) made to 
the Chief Executive has not been 
accepted by the post holder at the 
current time.

During the course of the year, as a 
result of the Senior Management 
Review (SMR), the Committee 
took on a wider responsibility for 
overseeing the remuneration of 
those senior members of staff 
reporting directly to executive 
directors who had taken on new 
roles within the revised structure 
and had come out of the Agenda for 
Change regime. 

The Committee took forward 
the implications of the reshaped 
portfolios of the Executive team 
during the year.   A new Executive 
Director of Transformation and 
Organisational Development role 
to drive the new ways of working 
both within the Trust and beyond 
its four walls - was established in 
April 2013. As well as including the 
transformation agenda, this role 
also held corporate responsibility 
for Human Resources and 
Communications & Engagement. 
Consequently the Executive Director 
of Human Resources post became 
redundant. 

A full time Medical Director, Dr Colin 
Berry, took up post in April 2013 but 
for personal reasons stood down 
from the position in July 2013. The 
former Medical Director, Mr Martin 
Cooper, returned to the role and Mr 
Adrian Harris has been appointed 
and takes up the position of Medical 
Director in April 2015, following 
completion of the NHS Leadership 
Academy’s Fast Track programme 
between June 2014 and March 2015. 

Pension issues

NHS Pension Scheme provisions 
apply to all Executive Director 
posts, with the level of employer 
contribution determined nationally. 
The Chief Executive left the 
scheme in April 2013 and therefore 
employer pension contributions are 
no longer paid and no alternative 
compensatory payments are 
made. Executive Directors are on 
permanent pensionable contracts, 
subject to standard NHS terms 
and conditions of service and their 
current notice periods are:

Chief Executive    12 months

Chief Nurse/Chief 
Operating Officer      6 months

Director of Finance and 
Business Development      6 months

Director of Transformation 
and Organisational  
Developments       6 months

Medical Director      3 months

The EDRC has determined that, 
over time on recruitment, it will 
move all Executive Directors onto a 
uniform notice period. 
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Salary, Pension and Other 
Information

A full declaration of salary, benefits 
in kind, real increase in pension 
and related lump sum at age 60, 
total accrued pension and cash 
equivalent transfer values are stated 
in full on page 68. The accounting 
policy for pensions is set out in a 
note 7 found on page 22 of the 
Annual Accounts.  

The total of salaries, allowances and 
non-cash benefits in kind paid to 
Non-Executives Directors and senior 
managers for this and the previous 
year are:

2012/13  2013/14

£1,358,000 £1,158,000

AM Pedder OBE 
Chief Executive

Date

NAME July/Sept 
2013+

Nov 2013 Jan 2014 March 
2014

J Brent * * * *
B Aird * * * *
P Dillon – * * *
D Robertson * * * *
M Romaine * * * A

A Willis * * * *
D Wright * * * *

* present
– not applicable
A   absent

+ This was a single meeting that took place
on two occasions. Mr Dillon was present
for the September 2013 meeting only

Attendance at EDRC meetings 2013/14
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Remuneration

Name and Title Salary and 
Fees

Taxable 
Benefits

Pension 
related 

Benefits

Other
Remuneration

Golden hello /
compensation

for loss of 
office

Total

(bands of 
£5000)

(Rounded to 
the nearest 

£100)

(bands of 
£2500)

(bands of 
£5000)

(bands of 
£5000)

(bands of 
£5000)

£000 £ £000 £000 £000 £000

2013/14

J Brent Chairman 40 - 45 - - - - 40 - 45

B Aird Non-Executive Director (resigned 31 March 2014) 10 - 15 - - - - 10 - 15

P Dillon Non-Executive Director (appointed 29 July 2013) 5 - 10 300 - - - 5 - 10

D Robertson Non-Executive Director 10 - 15 100 - - - 10 - 15

M Romaine Non-Executive Director 10 - 15 400 - - - 10 - 15

A Willis Non-Executive Director 15 - 20 300 - - - 15 - 20

D Wright Non-Executive Director (resigned 31 March 2014) 10 - 15 200 - - - 15 - 20

A Pedder Chief Executive * 180 - 185 - - - - 180 - 185

C Berry Medical Director (appointed 7 May 2013, 
resigned 24 September 2013) 45 - 50 - 85.0 - 87.5 0 - 5 - 135 - 140

M Cooper
Joint Medical Director (resigned 6 May 2013, 
acting role 8 August 2013, reappointed Medical 
Director 25 September 2013 )

90 - 95 - - - - 105 - 110

T Cottam Director of Transformation & Organisational 
Development (appointed 29 April 2013) 95 - 100 - 32.5 . 35.0 10. 15 - 130 - 135

L Lane Director of Human Resources  
(redundant 8 April 2013) 50 - 55 300 30.0. 32.5 - 90. 95 180 - 185

V Lewis Joint Medical Director (resigned 6 May 2013) 5 - 10 - 15.0 - 17.5 5 - 10 - 25 - 30

S Tracey Director of Finance & Business Development 140 - 145 100 60.0 -  62.5 - - 200 - 205

E Wilkinson - 
Brice Chief Nurse / Chief Operating Officer 140 - 145 - 155.0 -  157.5 - - 295 - 300

Directors’ Remuneration
SALARY AND PENSION ENTITLEMENTS OF SENIOR MANAGERS

Other Remuneration shows the salary that is attributable to clinical duties.

The post of Director of Human Resources has declared redundant as part of tile Senior Management Review.

*In 2012/13 A Pedder received a car taxable benefit of £8,500 as separately disclosed within the taxable benefits column on page 70. This benefit is now included 
within the above £180k to £185k salary range. Excluding this benefit the salary range in 2013/14 would be tile same salary value as 2012/13 with a range of 
between £170k and £175k.

The benefits in kind relate to the mileage allowance paid over and above the HM Revenue Customs and Excise allowance.

Ratio between highest paid director and median remuneration received by employees of the Trust 2013/14 2012/13

Band of highest paid Director - as above 180 - 185 175 - 180

Median remuneration received by employees within the Trust 26.4 26.8

Ratio 6.9 6.7



70

Remuneration

Name and Title Salary and 
Fees

Taxable 
Benefits

Pension 
related 

Benefits

Other
Remuneration

Golden hello /
compensation

for loss of 
office

Total

(bands of 
£5000)

(Rounded to 
the nearest 

£100)

(bands of 
£2500)

(bands of 
£5000)

(bands of 
£5000)

(bands of 
£5000)

£000 £ £000 £000 £000 £000

2012/13

J Brent Chairman (appointed 1 May 2012) 40 - 45 - - - - 40 - 45

A Ballatti Chairman (resigned 30 April 2012) 0 - 15 - - - - 0 - 15

B Aird Non-Executive Director 10 - 15 300 - - - 10 - 15

P Knott Non-Executive Director (appointed 16 July 2012 
and resigned 31 March 2013) 5 - 10 - - - - 5 - 10

J Rackstraw Non-Executive Director (resigned 31 July 2012} 0 - 5 600 - - - 0 - 5

D Robertson Non-Executive Director 10 - 15 100 - - - 10 - 15

M Romaine Non-Executive Director 
(appointed 1 September 2012) 5 - 10 - - - - 5 - 10

A Willis Non-Executive Director 15 - 20 2,800 - - - 15 - 20

D Wright Non-Executive Director 10 - 15 700 - - - 15 - 20

A Pedder Chief Executive 170 - 175 8,500* (42.5 - 45.0) - - 135 - 140

M Cooper Joint Medical Director 70 - 75 - - 90 - 95 - 165 - 170

E Hobson Chief Operating Officer (redundant 30 September 
2012) 125 - 130 - 102.5 - 105.0 - 245 - 250 475 - 480

L Lane Director of Human Resources  85 - 90 700 25.0 - 27.5 - - 110 - 115

V Lewis Joint Medical Director 65 - 70 - 45.0 - 47.5 90 - 95 - 205 - 210

S Tracey Director of Finance & Business Development 125 - 130 100 12.5 - 15.0 - - 140 - 145

E Wilkinson - 
Brice Chief Nurse / Chief Operating Officer 125 - 130 - 30.0 - 32.5 - - 160 - 165

*A Pedder’s salary for 2012/13 includes a pension vuation reduction of £42.5k to £45k. This figure reflects a change in reporting in respect of a pension valuation 
reduction and is not a real reflection of the salary paid. Omitting this reduction the total salary range would be between 180k and £185k.

Directors’ Remuneration
SALARY AND PENSION ENTITLEMENTS OF SENIOR MANAGERS
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Pension Benefits

As Non-Executive members do not 
receive pensionable remuneration, 
there will be no entries in respect 
of pensions for Non-Executive 
members.

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value 
(CETV) is the actuarially assessed 
capital value of the pension scheme 
benefits accrued by a member 
at a particular point in time.  The 
benefits valued are the member’s 
accrued benefits and any contingent 
spouse’s pension payable from the 
scheme.  A CETV is a payment 
made by a pension scheme, or 
arrangement to secure pension 
benefits in another pension scheme 
or arrangement when the member 
leaves a scheme and chooses to 
transfer the benefits accrued in 
their former scheme.  The pension 
figures shown relate to the benefits 
that the individual has accrued 

as a consequence of their total 
membership of the pension scheme, 
not just their service in a senior 
capacity to which the disclosure 
applies.  The CETV figures, and 
the other pension details, include 
the value of any pension benefits 
in another scheme or arrangement 
which the individual has transferred 
to the NHS pension scheme.  They 
also include any additional pension 
benefit accrued to the member as a 
result of their purchasing additional 
years of pension service in the 
scheme at their own cost.  CETVs 
are calculated within the guidelines 
and framework prescribed by the 
Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.

Real increase in CETV - This 
reflects the increase in CETV 
effectively funded by the employer.  
It takes account of the increase in 
accrued pension due to inflation, 

contributions paid by the employee 
(including the value of any benefits 
transferred from another pension 
scheme or arrangement) and uses 
common market valuation factors for 
the start and end of the period.

Cast Equivalent Transfer Values 
(CETV) are not available for 
members that have reached the 
normal retirement age of 60, or 
who have commenced drawing 
their pension, or who have opted 
out of the pension scheme.  No 
CETV is therefore available, as at 
31 March 2013 and 31 March 2014 
for M Cooper, or 31 March 2014 
for A Pedder who opted out of the 
pension scheme in 2013/14.

No lump sum is payable to members 
of the NHS Scheme (Amended 
1 April 2008) and therefore no 
information is provided for T Cottam.

Name and Title

Real increase 
in pension 
age 60 
(bands 
£2,500)

Real increase 
in pension 
related 
sum at age 
60 (bands 
£2,500)

Total accrued 
pension at 
age 60 at 31 
March 2014  
(bands of 
£5,000)

Total accrued 
related lump 
sum at age 60 
at 31 March 
2014  (bands 
of £5,000)

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 31 
March 2014

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 31 
March 2013

Real increase 
in cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 31 
March 2014

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

A Pedder Chief Executive 0.0 - 2.5 0.0- 2.5 80.0 - 85.0 245.0 - 250.0 - 1,681 -

C Berry Medical Director 0.0 - 2.5 2.5 - 5.0 30.0 - 35.0 100.0 - 105.0 684 580 35

M Cooper Medical Director 0.0 - 2.5 0.0- 2.5 65.0 - 70.0 195.0 - 200.0 - - -

T Cottam

Director of 
Transformation 
& Organisational 
Development

0.0 - 2.5 0.0 - 2.5 0.0 - 5.0 0.0 - 5.0 21 - 21

L Lane Director of Human 
Resources  0.0 - 2.5 0.0- 2.5 10.0- 15.0 35.0 - 40.0 249 211 1

V Lewis Joint Medical 
Director 0.0 - 2.5 0.0- 2.5 25.0- 30.0 85.0 - 90.0 452 419 2

S Tracey
Director of Finance 
& Business 
Development

2.5 - 5.0 7.0-7.5 20.0- 25.0 70.0 - 75.0 377 318 51

E Wilkinson 
- Brice

Chief Nurse / Chief 
Operating Officer 5.0 - 7.5 20.0 - 22.5 40.0 - 45.0 125.0 - 130.0 791 513 267
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Non-Executive Director 
Remuneration Committee 
(NEDRC)

The Non-Executive Director 
Remuneration Committee (NEDRC) 
comprises five elected Governors 
and is chaired by the Lead Governor, 
Council of Governors. The Committee 
is supported by the Human Resource 
Director and the Trust Secretary. 
Recommendations for any changes 
to remuneration for the Chairman and 
other Non-Executive Directors are 
made by the NEDRC for consideration 
by the Council of Governors at a 
general meeting. The Committee 
did not meet during the year as it did 
not need to on the basis of decisions 
reached in the previous financial 
year. The previous decisions set out 
that the NEDs would not receive any 
increase in remuneration over and 
above any changes made in uplifting 
salaries in line with that agreed for 
staff generally as part of the nationally 
agreed Agenda for Change. 

Membership and attendance 
at the NEDRC

Richard May
(Lead Governor and Chairman 
of the NEDRC)

Vacancy
(Staff Governor)

Geoff Barr
(Exeter & South Devon)

Cynthia Thornton
(Mid, North, West Devon & Cornwall)

Linda Vijeh
(East Devon, Dorset & Somerset)

Director Expenses
See page 68

Governor Expenses
See table below

Non-Executive Director Remuneration Committee

2013/14 2012/13

Number of Governors receiving 
expenses during the reporting 
period (number of Governors in 
office during the reporting period)

12
(30)

16
(25)

Expenses Paid to Governors £3.3k £4.3k
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The Audit Committee is a formal, 
statutory committee of the Board 
of Directors, chaired by Mr David 
Robertson (a Non-Executive Director 
with a financial background).

The primary role of the Audit 
Committee is to conclude upon the 
adequacy and effective operation 
of the organisation’s overall internal 
control system. In particular it is 
responsible for providing assurance 
to the Board in relation to the 
financial systems and controls of  
the Trust. 

Four Non-Executive Directors 
constitute the membership of the 
Committee. 

The Committee is also attended 
by representatives of the External 
Auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers 
LLP (PWC), Internal Audit and the 
Counter Fraud Service.

Revaluation of property 
and land
Land and buildings are revalued 
at least every five years, in line 
with Monitor’s guidance, or more 
frequently when there has been a 
material change in fair value. 

A full revaluation of the Trust’s land 
and buildings was undertaken as 
at 31 March 2013.  The Trust was 
advised by the District Valuation 
Office that the building cost indices 
were likely to increase be 10% 
in 2013/14.  A 10% increase was 
considered a material change in 
value and a full revaluation was 
therefore undertaken as at 31  
March 2014. 

The Trust also carried out a review 
of the assumptions underpinning the 
modern equivalent asset valuation to 
ensure that they were still appropriate 
and it was agreed that the area of 
hypothetical land required should be 
reduced in size.  

The valuations of the Trust’s 
property and land are undertaken 
by professionally qualified valuers in 
accordance with the Royal Institute 
of Chartered Surveyors valuation 
manual.  

The Audit Committee were satisfied 
with the basis of the revaluation and 
that the potential risk of misstatement 
was low due to the valuation being 
undertaken by expert external 
valuers. The Audit Committee were 
also given reassurance from the 
external audit work undertaken 
by the Trust’s external auditors 
who undertook detailed work 
to understand and evaluate the 
adjustments, including consulting 
with their own internal valuers to 
determine whether the valuation 
methodology and assumption were 
appropriate.  

Consolidation of Charity 
Accounts
In 2013/14, the accounting standard 
IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements is applicable for 
the first time to NHS organisations in 
respect of NHS Charities. This means 
that the Royal Devon and Exeter 
NHS General Charity may have been 
required to be consolidated within 
the Trust’s accounts. The Charity 
was considered immaterial in relation 
to the Trust’s accounts and the 
Board of Directors therefore agreed 
not to consolidate the Charity’s 
accounts. The Audit Committee are in 
agreement with this decision.  

The Audit Committee assessed 
the effectiveness of the external 
auditors. In particular the timeliness 
of reporting, the quality of work 
and whether audit fees provided 
value for money were considered.  
The Audit Committee provided the 
Council of Governors (CoG) with 
positive feedback and provided 
assurance to the CoG that the 
external auditors provided a quality, 
timely and cost effective external 
audit service and recommended that 
the current auditors should remain in 
appointment until their contract ends.

The Trust undertakes a market-
testing exercise at least once every 
five years for the appointment of 
an auditor, as recommended  as 
best practice within Monitor’s Audit 
Code for NHS Foundation Trusts.  
The tender for the provision of the 
external audit service is currently in 
progress, with the new contract due 
to be awarded in November 2014.

The external auditors did not provide 
any non-audit services within 
2013/14.

The Audit Committee met 4 times 
during 2013/14. The names of 
members and their attendance at 
2013/14 meetings, are as follows:

Audit Committee

NAME Apr 
2013 May Nov Jan 

2014
P Dillon* P P

D Robertson P P P P

M Romaine A P P P

D Wright P P P P

*Mr Dillon joined the Trust as a Non-
Executive Director on 1 August 2013

P – Present 
A – Apologies 
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Governance, risk 
management and internal 
control

1.1  The Audit Committee shall 
review the establishment and 
maintenance of an effective system 
of integrated governance across 
the whole of the Trust’s activities 
(both financial and non-financial), 
that supports the achievement of 
the Trust’s objectives.

1.2  In particular, the Audit 
Committee will review:

§ all risk and control related
disclosure statements together
with any accompanying Head of
Internal Audit statement, external
audit opinion or other appropriate
independent assurances, prior to
endorsement by the board

§ the assurance processes that
underpin the achievement 
of the Trust’s objectives, the 
effectiveness of the management 
of principal risks and the 
appropriateness of the above 
disclosure statements

§ the policies and procedures for
all work related to fraud and
corruption as set out in Secretary
of State Directions and as
required by NHS Protect.

1.3  In carrying out this work the 
Audit Committee will primarily 
utilise the work of internal audit, 
local counter fraud specialists, 
external audit and other assurance 
functions, but will not be limited to 
these functions. It will also seek 
reports and assurances from the 
Governance Committee, Directors 
and Managers as appropriate, 
concentrating on the overarching 

systems of integrated governance, 
risk management and internal 
control, together with indicators of 
their effectiveness. 

Internal Audit

1.4  The Audit Committee shall 
ensure that there is an effective 
internal audit function, including 
the Counter Fraud function, 
established by management that 
meets mandatory NHS internal 
audit standards and provides 
appropriate independent assurance 
to the Audit Committee, Chief 
Executive and Board. This will be 
achieved by:

§ consideration of the provision
of the internal audit service,
the cost of the audit and any
questions of resignation and
dismissal

§ review and approval of the
annual internal audit plan,
ensuring that this is consistent
with the audit needs of the Trust
as identified in the assurance
framework

§ consideration of the major
findings of internal audit work
(and management’s response),
and ensuring co-ordination
between the internal and external
auditors to optimise audit
resources

§ consideration of the annual Head
of Internal Audit’s Opinion

§ follow-up by the Governance
Committee, or one of its sub-
committees, where internal
audit’s work is an area covered
by that committee, as set out in
internal audit’s plan

§ ensuring that the internal audit
function is adequately resourced
and has appropriate standing
within the Trust, and

§ an annual review of the
effectiveness of internal audit.

External Audit

7.5  The Audit Committee shall:

§ review and monitor the external
auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness
of the audit process, taking
into consideration relevant UK
professional and regulatory
requirements

§ keep under review the level of
non-audit services provided by
the external auditor, taking into
account relevant guidance

§ make recommendations to
the Council of Governors in 
relation to the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the 
external auditor and 

§ approve the remuneration and
terms of engagement of the
external auditor.

7.6  Further, the Audit Committee 
shall review the work and findings 
of the external auditor and 
consider the implications of and 
management’s responses to their 
work. This will be achieved by:

§ discussion and agreement with
the external auditor, before the
audit commences, of the nature
and scope of the audit as set out
in their annual plan

Duties and Responsibilities of the Audit Committee
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§ discussion with the external
auditors of their evaluation of audit
risks and associated impact on
the audit fee, and

§ reviewing all external audit
reports, including their report on
the Quality Report and agreement
of the annual audit letter, before
submission to the board, together
with the appropriateness of
management responses.

Other Functions

7.7 The Audit Committee will 
consider the work of other 
committees within the Trust, 
the work of which can provide 
relevant assurance to the Audit 
Committee’s own scope of work.  
This will particularly include the 
Governance Committee because 
of its management of the Trust’s 
Corporate Risk Register and the 
Clinical Audit function.  

7.8  The Audit Committee will also:

§ review material changes to
standing orders and standing
financial instructions and schemes
of delegation and

§ receive a report from management
on the review of data quality
included in the Quality Report.

Financial Reporting

7.9  The Audit Committee shall 
review and, if thought appropriate, 
recommend to the Board adoption 
of the annual report and financial 
statements, focusing particularly on:

§ specific enquiry into the question
of whether the Trust keeps proper
books of account

§ the integrity of the financial
statements

§ the wording in the Annual
Governance Statement and other
disclosures relevant to the terms
of reference of the Committee

§ changes in, and compliance with,
accounting policies and practices

§ unadjusted mis-statements in the
financial statements

§ major judgemental areas, and

§ significant adjustments resulting
from the audit

Board of Directors Reporting 
Arrangements 

7.10  The Chair of Audit Committee 
will provide a report highlighting 
the key issues arising from the 
Audit Committee to the meeting of 
the Board that directly follows the 
Audit Committee.  The minutes of 
the Audit Committee will also be 
available to the Board. 

7.11  The Annual Governance 
Statement, which is included in 
the Annual Report, reviews in 
considerable detail the effectiveness 
of the system of internal control.  By 
concurring with this statement and 
recommending its adoption to the 
Board, the Audit Committee also 
gives the Board its assurance on 
the effectiveness of the overarching 
systems of integrated governance, 
risk management and internal 
control.  

It is the responsibility of the Trust’s 
Directors to produce the Annual 
Accounts included in this report.  
The external auditors provide an 
independent opinion on the Trust’s 
accounts and also audit the overall 
position of the Trust’s management 
and performance including an 
opinion on the quality of the system 
of internal control. The outcome 
of this work is reported in the 
Audit Opinion which is included 
the accounts in this report and the 
Annual Management letter to the 
Board.
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The NHS Foundation Trust Code 
of Governance was published by 
Monitor in January 2014.

The Code contains main and 
supporting principles, which are 
subject to “comply” or “explain” 

reporting procedures. Any provisions 
which with the Trust does not comply 
must be disclosed in the Annual 
Report. The Board has declared 
that it is fully compliant with all the 
provisions set out in the Code of 
Governance. 

Supporting information, even in the 
case that the NHS Foundation Trust 
is compliant is also required for the 
following, for ease of reference the 
page number has been inserted to 
demonstrate where the information 
can be located.

Compliance with the NHS Foundation Trust Code 
of Governance

Provision Requirement Page

A.1.1 This statement should also describe how any disagreements between the council of governors and 
the board of directors will be resolved. The annual report should include this schedule of matters or 
a summary statement of how the board of directors and the council of governors operate, including 
a summary of the types of decisions to be taken by each of the boards and which are delegated to 
the executive management of the board of directors.

54

A.1.2 The annual report should identify the chairperson, the deputy chairperson, the chief executive, 
the senior independent director and the chairperson and members of the nominations, audit and 
remuneration committees. It should also set out the number of meetings of the board and those 
committees and individual attendance by directors.

55,60,62

A.5.3 The annual report should identify the members of the council of governors, including a description 
of the constituency or organisation that they represent, whether they were elected or appointed, 
and the duration of their appointments. The annual report should also identify the nominated lead 
governor.

96 - 99

B.1.1 The board of directors should identify in the annual report each non-executive director it considers 
to be independent, with reasons where necessary.

60 - 62

B.1.4 The board of directors should include in its annual report a description of each directors’ skills, 
expertise and experience. Alongside this, in the annual report, the board should make a clear 
statement about its own balance, completeness and appropriateness to the requirements of the 
NHS  foundation trust.

60 - 62

B.2.10 A separate section of the annual report should describe the work of the nominations committee(s) 
including the process it has used in relation to board appointments.

91

B.3.1 A chairperson’s other significant commitments should be disclosed to the council of governors 
before appointment and included in the annual report.  Changes to such commitments should be 
reported to the council of governors as they arise and included in the next annual report.

60

B.5.6 Governors should canvass the opinion of the trust’s members and the public, and for appointed 
governors the body they represent, on the NHS foundation trust’s forward plan, including its 
objectives, priorities and strategy, and their views should be communicated to the board of 
directors. The annual report should contain a statement as to how this requirement has been 
undertaken and satisfied.

88

B.6.1 The board of directors should state in the annual report how performance evaluation of the board, 
its committees and its directors, including the chair person has been conducted.

58
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Provision Requirement Page

B.6.2 Where an external facilitator is used for reviews of governance, they should be identified and a 
statement made as to whether they have any other connection with the trust.

N/A 

C.1.1 The directors should explain in the annual report their responsibility for preparing the annual 
report and accounts, and state that they consider the annual report and accounts, taken as a 
whole, are fair, balanced and understandable and provide the information necessary for patients, 
regulators and other stakeholders to assess the NHS foundation trust’s performance, business 
model and strategy. There should be a statement by the external auditor about their responding 
responsibilities. Directors should also explain their approach to quality governance in the Annual 
Governance Statement.

77

C.2.1 The annual report should contain a statement that the board has conducted a review of the 
effectiveness of its system of internal controls.

58

C.2.2 A trust should disclose in the annual report:

a) If it has an internal audit function, how the function is structured and what role it performs; or

b) If it does not have an internal audit function, that fact and the processes it employs for evaluating
and continually improving the effectiveness of its risk management and internal control processes.

74

C.3.5 If the council of governors does not accept the audit committee’s recommendation on the 
appointment, reappointment or removal of an external auditor, the board of directors should include 
in the annual report a statement from the audit committee explaining the recommendation and 
should set out reasons why the council of governors has taken a different position.

N/A

C.3.9 A separate section of the annual report should describe the work of the committee in discharging 
its responsibilities. The report should include:

The significant issues that the committee considered in relation to financial statements, operations 
and compliance and how these issues were addressed

An explanation of how it has assessed the effectiveness of the external audit process and the 
approach taken to the appointment or re-appointment of the external auditor, the value of external 
audit services and information on the length of tenure of the current audit firm and when a tender 
was last conducted; and

If the external auditor provides non-audit services, the value of the non-audit services provided and 
an explanation of how auditor objectivity and independence are safeguarded.

72,74

D.1.3 Where an NHS foundation trust released an executive director for example to serve as a non-
executive director elsewhere, the remuneration disclosures of the annual report should include a 
statement of whether or not the director will retain such earnings.

NA

E.1.5 The board of directors should state in the annual report the steps they have taken to ensure that 
members of the board, in and in particular the non-executive directors, develop an understanding 
of the views of governors and members about the NHS foundation trust, for example through 
attendance at meetings of the council of governors, direct face to face contact, surveys of 
members’ opinions and consultations.

86

E.1.6 The board of directors should monitor how representative the NHS foundation trust’s membership 
is and the level and effectiveness of member engagement and report on this in the annual report.

86
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Annual Governance Statement

1 Scope of Responsibility 

1.1  As Accounting Officer, I have 
responsibility for maintaining a 
sound system of internal control that 
supports the achievement of the 
NHS foundation trust’s policies, aims 
and objectives, whilst safeguarding 
the public funds and departmental 
assets for which I am personally 
responsible, in accordance with the 
responsibilities assigned to me. I am 
also responsible for ensuring that the 
NHS foundation trust is administered 
prudently and economically and that 
resources are applied efficiently and 
effectively. I also acknowledge my 
responsibilities as set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Accounting Officer 
Memorandum. 

2 The Purpose of the System 
of Internal Control 

2.1 The system of internal control 
is designed to manage risk to a 
reasonable level rather than to 
eliminate all risk of failure to achieve 
policies, aims and objectives; it can 
therefore only provide reasonable 
and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness. The system of 
internal control is based on an 
on-going process designed to 
identify and prioritise the risks to the 
achievement of the policies, aims 
and objectives of NHS Foundation 
Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of 
those risks being realised and the 
impact should they be realised, and 
to manage them efficiently, effectively 
and economically. The system of 
internal control has been in place 
in The Royal Devon & Exeter NHS 
Foundation Trust for the year ended 
31 March 2014 and up to the date 
of approval of the annual report and 
accounts.

3 Capacity To Handle Risk 

3.1 The Trust has a comprehensive 
governance system in place which 
has been developed and enhanced 
over a number of years and 
continues to be subject to regular 
review to ensure its continued 
fitness for purpose. The current 
governance architecture was 
established in October 2011. An 
Internal Audit interim and full review 
was undertaken in July 2012 and 
September 2013 and provided 
assurance that “the governance 
structure has been strengthened 
greatly”.  In October 2013 an external 
review of governance was completed 
by KPMG, the findings of which were 
very positive.

3.2  The Audit Committee monitors 
and oversees both internal control 
issues and the process for risk 
management. Audit Southwest 
(internal audit) and PWC (external 
auditors) attend all Audit Committee 
meetings. The Audit Committee 
receives all reports of the Internal 
and External Auditors and reports 
regularly to the Board.

3.3  Risk issues are reported through 
the Governance Committee via the 
Safety and Risk Committee and 
the Trust’s management structure.  
Management and ownership of 
risk is delegated to the appropriate 
level from director through to local 
management through the divisional 
management teams. There are 
established Governance Managers 
in post to support the Divisions 
in implementing robust risk and 
governance processes. Each Division 
has a Divisional Governance Group 
which meet regularly to manage risk 
and report and escalate concerns via 

the five Governance sub committees.  
Performance management of any 
governance/risk action plans are 
managed via the Trust’s Performance 
Assessment Framework (PAF) led 
by the Operations Director.  Strategic 
risks are managed via the board-
owned Board Assurance Framework.  
This document focuses on risks 
that could prevent the Trust from 
achieving its strategic objectives.

3.4  The Board has appointed a 
Senior Independent Director to be 
available to Governors and Members 
if they have concerns which contact 
through the normal channels of 
Chairman, Chief Executive or 
Director of Finance has failed to 
resolve or for which such contact is 
inappropriate. In addition, the Trust 
has a Whistleblowing Policy to guide 
and protect staff who raise issues of 
concern. 

3.5  All staff joining the Trust are 
required to attend Corporate 
Induction which covers key elements 
of risk management. This is further 
enhanced at departmental induction.  
Training courses are run on a 
regular basis and provide staff with 
the skills needed to undertake risk 
management duties. Staff are trained 
and equipped to manage risk in a 
way appropriate to their authority and 
duties. Risk management is included 
in the Trust’s mandatory training 
programme and follow-up refresher 
training; the Trust’s risk management 
policies and procedures are available 
on the Trust’s intranet IaN.
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3.6  Datix web, an electronic 
Governance System, which has 
the ability to record and monitor 
incidents, complaints and risks, 
has been operational since June 
2011. The system facilitates the 
reporting and management of 
incidents and has improved levels of 
reporting and monitoring. It has been 
extended to include the complaints 
and risk register module and most 
recently the legal claims module to 
provide comprehensive reporting 
to support greater triangulation of 
incidents. During 2013/14 additional 
functionality within Datix to identify 
hotspots which automatically pick up 
new trends in incident data has been 
established.

3.7  An established cohort of trained 
senior clinical staff and Governance 
Managers trained to conduct Serious 
Incidents Requiring Investigation 
(SIRI) is in place and additional 
staff are trained each year to add 
to the pool available.  The Risk 
Management Team co-ordinates 
SIRI’s and adverse incidents which 
are reported and managed through 
the Incident Review Group (a 
sub group of the Safety and Risk 
Committee).  Lessons Learned 
briefings highlighting learning points 
are made available to all staff via 
the local intranet in addition to direct 
feedback to relevant clinical teams. 
All SIRI’s and action plans are shared 
with the Trust’s lead commissioner, 
NEW Devon CCG.

4 The Risk and Control 
Framework 

4.1  The Board of Directors is 
responsible for the strategic direction 
of the Trust.  The Board of Directors 
has reviewed and approved a revised 
Risk Strategy and updated, amended 
and approved the Board Assurance 
Framework accordingly.   The Board 
Assurance Framework identifies the 
key risks and mitigations related to 
the Trusts strategic objectives and 
key priorities. The Board Assurance 
Framework is reviewed by the 
Board of Directors on a quarterly 
basis. The Corporate Risk Register 
is reviewed by the Governance 
Committee each time it meets.  The 
Governance Committee reports to 
the Board of Directors quarterly.  
The Audit Committee considers the 
Board Assurance Framework and the 
Corporate Risk Register when setting 
Internal Audit’s annual work plan. 

4.2  The Board of Directors as part 
of the Annual Plan reporting cycle 
is responsible for the completion of 
the Annual Governance Statement. 
The Board has adopted a process 
by which assurance is identified for 
each element of the statement to 
support a decision of compliance or 
gap in compliance (ie risk).  Where 
risk is identified this would be risk 
assessed, added to the appropriate 
risk register and mitigating actions 
put in place.

4.3  Any material gaps in controls 
of assurance are highlighted and 
reported to the Board of Directors.  
When identified, risks to the Trust’s 
strategic objectives that cannot be 
immediately eliminated are placed 
on the corporate register and action 
plans put in place to address any 

gaps.  The Board of Directors’ 
risk and control framework is 
supported by the Audit Committee 
and Governance Committee which 
provide assurance to the Board 
of Directors on risk and control 
management issues. 

4.4  The chairs of the Audit 
Committee and the Governance 
Committee meet no less than twice 
a year to ensure that the agendas 
of the two committees are aligned 
and there are no gaps in assurance. 
The Head of Governance attends the 
Audit Committee and Governance 
Committee to provide continuity and 
oversight of agenda preparation and 
completion of follow- up actions. 

4.5 The Governance Committee 
is chaired by a Non-Executive 
Director and provides leadership to 
the risk management process.  The 
Committee takes a comprehensive 
oversight of the quality and safety 
of care provided by the Trust and 
provides assurance to the Board 
of Directors. The work of the 
Governance Committee is supported 
by five key sub committees; 

§ Integrated Safeguarding
Committee

§ Clinical Effectiveness Committee

§ Workforce and Diversity
Committee

§ Safety and Risk Committee

§ Engagement and Experience
Committee

§ These five committees are
responsible for monitoring and
managing specific types of risk.
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4.6  The Patient Safety Group 
is chaired by the Lead Nurse for 
Safety and Risk and is accountable 
for delivering of the Trust’s patient 
safety programme, review of 
adverse incidents and Mortality 
and Morbidity Reviews. During 
2013/14 the Board has reviewed its 
approach to mortality reviews and 
an enhanced approach has been 
introduced. The Incident Review 
Group is chaired by the Lead Nurse 
for Safety & Risk and reviews 
all Serious Incidents Requiring 
Investigation (SIRI) and action plans.  
The Group reports to the Safety and 
Risk Committee chaired by the Chief 
Executive. 

Other specialist Groups led by a 
Director or senior clinician include: 

§ Clinical Audit and Guidelines
Group

§ Medicines Management Group

§ Medical Gases Group

§ Radiation Safety Group

§ Infection Control and
Decontamination Group

5 Risk Identification and 
Evaluation

5.1  The Trust has a risk 
management strategy which has 
been approved by the Board of 
Directors and clearly sets out 
the process for identifying and 
managing risk and the Trusts 
risk appetite. It incorporates a 
standard methodology in which 
risk is evaluated using a likelihood-
consequence matrix.  The roles 
and responsibilities of staff in 
managing risk are defined and key 
posts highlighted. The strategy also 
includes the governance reporting 
structure and the terms of reference 
of the Governance Committee and 
all the committees reporting to the 
Governance Committee. 

5.2  The Trust maintains a 
comprehensive Corporate Risk 
Register covering both clinical and 
organisational risk. There are 39 
current risks on the Corporate Risk 
Register all identified risks have 
clear mitigation plans in place.  
Of the Trust’s highest scoring 
risks, two relate to mental health 
pathways (external factors), two 
relate to diagnostic test ordering, 
one relates to the Patient Transport 
Contract (external factor), one 
relates to environmental issues 
within the CIVAS section of the 
Pharmacy Department, one 
relates to transfusion of blood, one 
relates to capacity management 
(external factors) and one relates to 
antimicrobial stewardship. Robust 
action plans are in place and these 
risks are assigned to an appropriate 
executive lead and manager who 
are responsible for ensuring that the 
risk is either eliminated or managed 
appropriately. A robust system is in 

place to monitor progress of action 
plans, which is undertaken by both 
the Head of Governance and the 
Divisional Governance Groups to 
ensure that risks are proactively 
managed down to their end target 
score.  A detailed report is produced 
by the Head of Governance to the 
Safety and Risk and Governance 
Committee each time they meet.

5.3 The Trust has Divisional level 
risk registers which feed into 
the Corporate Risk Register.  At 
Divisional level, the risk registers 
contain lower level localised risks 
which can be managed by the 
relevant Division. The Corporate 
Risk Register contains the higher 
level risks and Trust wide risks. 
This ensures that risks are 
identified, managed and escalated 
appropriately at all levels of the 
organisation.  Risk assessments, 
including Health and Safety and 
Infection Control are undertaken 
throughout the Trust. All areas 
of the hospital have trained Risk 
Management Officers and the Risk 
Management Department and 
Head of Governance facilitate Risk 
Surgeries to provide support and 
training and to ensure consistency in 
approach.
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5.4  Other methods to identify risks 
include: 

§ Complaints, Care Quality
Commission and Health Service
Ombudsman reports and
recommendations

§ Inquest findings and reports from
HM Coroner

§ Health and Safety Executive
and regulatory body compliance
inspections

§ Medico-legal claims and litigation
reports

§ Health Scrutiny Committee reports

§ Incident reports and trend analysis
(via Datix software, identification
of hot spots)

§ Internal and external audit reports

§ Performance Assurance
Framework

§ Feedback from Governors and
Members

§ Ward to Board Framework, Care
Quality Assessment Tool (CQAT)

§ Safety Thermometer

5.5  Risk to the achievement of 
the Trust’s corporate strategy 
is considered, assessed and 
managed via the Board Assurance 
framework (BAF) which is discussed 
by the Board on a quarterly 
basis. The Board has identified 
non achievement of the Cost 
Improvement Programme (CIP) 
as the most significant risk to the 
achievement of the corporate 
strategy.

5.6  Information Governance and 
data security is managed by the 
Information   Governance Steering 
Group lead by the Director of 
Finance and Business Development, 
the Trust’s nominated Senior 
Information Risk Owner.  Information 
Asset Owners for critical systems 
have been identified; system risk 
assessments and Information Risk 
Management training is undertaken 
annually.

5.7  An Information Security Forum, 
chaired by the Medical Director 
as Caldicott Guardian, deals 
with all aspects of information 
security and data confidentiality.  
Risks to information security are 
reported directly to the Information 
Security Forum (a sub group 
of the Information Governance 
Steering Group) and recorded on 
the Corporate Risk Register.  The 
Trust has completed the Information 
Governance Tool Kit assessment 
and Safety and Risk Committee and 
the Board of Directors has received 
a report regarding its system for 
control of Information Governance.

5.8  The Trust is green rated  on 
the Information Governance Toolkit, 
achieving an overall score of 71%. 

5.9  Control measures are in place 
to ensure that all the organisation’s 
obligations under equality, diversity 
and human rights legislation are 
complied with.   As a public sector 
organisation, the Trust has legal 
obligations as regards equality and 
diversity through both the Equality 
Act and the Public Sector Duty. 

5.10  The Board of Directors receive 
assurance that we are meeting 
our legal obligations with regard to 
equality and diversity, through an 
annual report received, on behalf 
of the Board of Directors, by the 
Governance Committee. 

5.11  Full evidence of legal 
compliance is also published on the 
Trust’s external website. The Trust 
uses an NHS-designed tool, the 
Equality Delivery System (EDS), 
to ensure compliance with legal 
obligations and enable continuous 
improvement.  

5.12  As an employer with staff 
entitled to membership of the NHS 
Pension Scheme, control measures 
are in place to ensure all employer 
obligations contained within the 
Scheme regulations are complied 
with.  This includes ensuring that 
deductions from salary, employer’s 
contributions and payments into the 
Scheme are in accordance with the 
Scheme rules, and that Member 
Pension Scheme records are 
accurately updated in accordance 
with the timescales detailed in the 
Regulations. 

5.13  The Trust has undertaken 
risk assessment and Carbon 
Reduction Delivery Plans are in 
place in accordance with emergency 
preparedness and civil contingency 
requirements, as based on UKCIP 
2009 weather projects, to ensure 
that this organisation’s obligations 
under the Climate Change Act 
and the Adaptation Reporting 
requirements are complied with.
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6 Quality Report 

6.1  The Trust is fully registered 
with the Care Quality Commission 
and remains compliant with the 
requirements of registration. 

6.2  The Directors are required 
under the Health Act 2009 and the 
National Health Service (Quality 
Accounts) Regulations 2010 to 
prepare Quality Accounts for each 
financial year.  Monitor has issued 
guidance to NHS Foundation 
Trust Boards on the form and 
content of annual Quality Reports 
which incorporate the above legal 
requirements in the NHS Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual. 

6.3  The Content of the Trust’s 
Quality Account for 2013/14 builds 
on the 2012/13 report.  It has been 
agreed by the Board of Directors 
and incorporates the views and 
priorities of Governors and the views 
of Trust Members in setting priorities 
for improvement in 2013/14.  The 
development of the report is led by 
the Chief Nurse/Chief Operating 
Officer. The views of NEW Devon, 
as lead commissioner, Healthwatch 
Devon and Devon County Council 
Health Scrutiny Committee have 
been sought.

6.4  The Trust uses the same 
systems and processes to collate, 
validate, analyse and report on data 
for the annual Quality Account as 
it does for other clinical quality and 
performance information.  The data 
is subject to regular review and 
challenge at speciality, Divisional 
and Trust levels.  In line with the 
Trust’s commitment to openness 
and transparency, the data 
included is not just limited to good 

performance and is publicly reported 
at least on a quarterly basis.  The 
Audit Committee undertake a review 
of the data assurance underpinning 
the Quality Account and through this 
process and other review of data, 
the Board of Directors are assured 
that the Quality Account represents 
a balanced view.

6.5  During 2011/12, as part of the 
three year audit cycle, a programme 
to assess quality systems and 
data (similar to that in place for our 
financial systems), was agreed with 
our internal auditors and built into 
the Internal Audit plans for future 
years. This will be an ongoing 
process and the Board of Directors 
will use the recommendations 
from this work to further improve 
the robustness of the process 
underpinning the Quality Accounts. 

7 Review of Economy, 
Effectiveness and Use of 
Resources

7.1  The Trust’s Annual Plan, 
including financial, performance, 
quality and governance targets was 
approved by the Board of Directors 
in May 2013.  Overall performance 
is monitored via an integrated 
performance report at the monthly 
meetings of the Board of Directors.  
Operational management and the 
coordination of Trust services are 
delivered by the Executive Directors. 
Performance of individual clinical 
Divisions is monitored formally 
on a monthly basis through the 
newly implemented Performance 
Assurance Framework which is led 
by the Operations Director.

7.2  The Trust’s External Audit 
Management Letter includes 
commentary on the economical, 
effective and efficient use of 
resources. The Internal Audit 
Plan includes reviews which 
consider the economy efficiency 
and effectiveness of the use of 
resources. The findings of internal 
and external audit are reported to 
the Board via the Audit Committee.

7.3  I can confirm that the Trust 
complies with the cost allocation of 
and charging requirements set out 
in HM Treasury and Office of Public 
Sector Information guidance.

7.4  Internal Audit has conducted 
reviews against the Care Quality 
Commission regulations, records 
management, data quality, and 
information governance.  Reviews 
are conducted using a risk-based 
approach.  In addition they have 
annual reviews of the Trust’s risk 
management and governance 
arrangements.

8 Review of Effectiveness 

8.1  As Accounting Officer, I have 
responsibility for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of 
internal control.  My review of the 
effectiveness of the system of 
internal control is informed by the 
work of the internal auditors and 
the Executive Managers within the 
NHS Foundation Trust who have 
responsibility for the development 
and maintenance of the internal 
control framework.  I have drawn 
on the content of the quality report 
attached to this Annual report and 
other performance information 
available to me.  My review is also 
informed by comments made by the 
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external auditors in their external 
audit management letter and other 
reports.  I have been advised on 
the implications of the results of my 
review of the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control by the 
Board, the Audit Committee, Internal 
Audit, the Head of Governance 
and External Audit.  The system of 
internal control is regularly reviewed 
and plans to address any identified 
weaknesses and ensure continuous 
improvement are put in place.

8.2  The processes applied in 
maintaining and reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of 
control includes: 

§ The maintenance of a view of
the overall position with regard
to internal control by the Board
of Directors through its routine
reporting processes and its work
on corporate risk.

§ Review of the Board Assurance
Framework and receipt of Internal
and External Audit reports to the
Audit Committee;

§ Personal input into the controls
and risk management processes 
from all Executive Directors, 
Senior Managers and clinicians.

§ The review of the Trust’s risk
and internal control framework is
supported by the Annual Head
of Internal Audit opinion which
states that significant assurance
can be given, that there is a sound
system of internal control and
that controls are generally being
applied.

§ Evidence gathering for core Care
Quality Commission regulations
and registration.

§ The quarterly Intelligent
Monitoring Reports produced by
the Care Quality Commission.

§ Self-assessment against the Care
Quality Commission’s Essential
Standards for Quality and Safety
(reviewed by internal audit).

§ Self-assessment against Monitor’s
Code of Compliance and Monitors
Governance Framework.

§ CNST level 2 accreditation for its
maternity services.

§ NHSLA level 1 accreditation for all
other services

§ Performance monitoring by
the Board of Directors of the
Trust’s strategy and operational
milestones to achieve internal and
external targets.

§ Results of the national patient
and staff survey results and
development of targeted action
plans.

§ Delivery of the health and safety
action plan.

§ The Trust’s compliance with the
Hygiene Code.

§ The Trust’s unconditional
registration with the CQC.

8.3  My review of the effectiveness 
of the system of internal control has 
been presented and approved by 
the Board of Directors. The Board 
of Directors and the Audit and 
Governance Committees have been 
kept informed of progress against 
action plans throughout the year. 

9 Conclusion 

9.1  There is no significant internal 
control issues (i.e. issues where 
the risk could not be effectively 
controlled) I wish to report in respect 
of 2013/14. I am satisfied all internal 
control issues raised have been, or 
are being, addressed by the Trust 
through appropriate action plans and 
that implementation of these plans is 
monitored. 

Angela Pedder OBE 
Chief Executive

28th May 2014
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The Board Assurance Framework 
(BAF) is a Board-owned document 
whose primary role is to inform the 
Board about the totality of risks or 
obstacles that may impede it from 
achieving its strategic objectives 
as outlined in the Trust’s long-term 
Strategy document.  The BAF also 
provides assurances that adequate 
controls are operating to reduce 

these risks to acceptable levels.  
Over the past two years the BAF 
has been on an evolutionary journey, 
in parallel with the redevelopment of 
the wider governance arrangements 
within the Trust.  A view of the 
BAF by Internal Audit, undertaken 
in March 2013, declared “overall 
we are of the opinion that the 
redesigned BAF is fit for purpose”.  

Since that opinion, some further 
work has been undertaken to 
enhance the working of the BAF 
and to ensure it remains a living 
document which informs the Board 
agenda. A further review of the BAF 
by Internal Audit is scheduled for 
May 2014.

We have put in place a rigorous 
approach to governing the quality 
of our services. More details about 
these arrangements are included 
in our Quality Report as well as in 
the Annual Governance Statement 
(pages 78 - 84).

There are no material 
inconsistencies between the Annual 
Governance Statement, Board 
statements required by the Risk 
Assessment Framework, the Quality 
Report and the Annual Report.

The Board, through its sub-
committees, regularly reviews the 
effectiveness of the Trust’s system 
of internal controls.

Quality Governance Reporting

Board Assurance Framework
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Monitor assesses the performance 
of the Trust using Key performance 
indicators, designated as Regulatory 
Ratings. There are two ratings:

§ Financial Risk Rating assessed on
a scale from 1 (high risk) to 5 (low
risk)

§ Governance assessed on a scale
of green/amber/green/amber red.

Deriving the financial risk rating

The financial risk rating is weighted 
average of financial criteria scores, 
which are:

§ Achievement of plan

§ Underlying performance

§ Financial efficiency

§ Liquidity

Deriving the governance risk 
rating

Monitor includes the following 
elements within the governance risk 
rating:

§ Service performance

§ Third party reports

§ Failures to comply with board
statements

§ Annual plan

ANALYSIS

Quarter 1

Two of the Monitor targets were not 
met for Quarter 1 resulting in Monitor 
giving an amber-red governance 
rating.  

§ The cumulative year to date
position was 11 Clostridium
Difficile infections, compared to a
target of 10.

§ Non-achievement of the Cancer
62 Day Waits for first treatment
(urgent GP referral for suspected
cancer) was reported.  The Trust’s
position against the target of 85%
was 79.4% for the quarter.

Quarter 2

One of Monitor targets was not met 
for Quarter 2 resulting in Monitor 
giving a green governance rating.

§ Non-achievement of the Cancer
14 Day wait from referral to date
first seen for a symptomatic breast
patient was reported. The Trust’s
position against the target of 85%
was 79.4% for quarter.

Quarter 3

All of the Monitor targets were met 
for Quarter 3 resulting in Monitor 
giving a green governance rating.

Quarter 4

One of the Monitor indicators 
assessed on a quarterly basis was 
not met for Quarter 4.  

All cancers: 62-day wait for first 
treatment from urgent GP referral to 
treatment. The position for the quarter 
was 83.9% against a target of 85%.

Regulatory Ratings/CQC Reports And Response

Annual 
Plan
2012/13

Q1
2012/13

Q2
2012/13

Q3
2012/13

Q4
2012/13

Under the Compliance Framework

Financial risk rating 3 3 3 3 3

Governance risk rating Amber-red Amber-red Amber-red Amber-red Amber-red

Annual 
Plan 
2013/14

Q1
2013/14

Q2
2013/14

Q3
2013/14

Q4
2013/14

Under the Compliance Framework

Financial risk rating 3 3 4

Governance risk rating Amber-red Amber-red Green

Under the Risk assessment framework

Continuity of service rating 4 4

Governance rating Green Green
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So far as each Director is aware, 
there is no relevant audit information 
of which the RD&Es External Auditor 
is unaware. Each Director has taken 
all the steps that they ought to have 
taken as a Director in order to make 
themselves aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish that 
the RD&E’s external auditor is aware 
of that information.

After making enquiries, the Directors 
have a reasonable expectation that 
the RD&E has adequate resources 
to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future. For this 
reason, they continue to adopt the 
going concern basis in preparing the 
accounts.

The Trust has reported four serious 
incidents involving data loss/
confidentiality to the Information 
Governance Commissioner during 
2013/14. The incidents involved 
patient identifiable information being 
left unattended in a public area within 
the hospital.  Management action 
has been taken to mitigate further 
incidents.

If management wishes to use 
the services of the Trust’s 
external auditor for any non-audit 
purposes, we demonstrate why 
this is appropriate. The Director of 
Finance and Business Development 
will provide professional advice 
on the appropriateness of such 
an arrangement and the Audit 
Committee keep under review the 
level of non audit services provided 
by the External Auditor taking into 
account relevant guidance. The 
safeguard is in place to ensure 
independence. 

The Counter Fraud Service for 
the Royal Devon and Exeter NHS 
Foundation Trust is provided by Audit 
South West (ASW) via the services 
of a Local Counter Fraud Specialist 
(LCFS).

The LCFS’s time during 2013/14 was 
predominantly spent on:

§ Promoting an Anti-Fraud Culture

§ Intelligence gathering

§ Raising awareness of current fraud
scams

§ Giving advice in respect of
fraud risks, attempted scams,
procedures and policies

§ Dealing with case referrals and

§ Conducting local proactive
exercises

Last year the Trust reported that 
it was participating in the National 
Commission’s National Fraud 
Initiative data matching exercise 
using Payroll data.  This work has 
now completed, the outcomes were:

§ Recovering of £5,842 from
duplicate creditor payments

§ The correction of two employees’
National Insurance numbers on the
Trust payroll.

Income Disclosures

The Trust has complied with Section 
43(2A) of the NHS Act 2006 (as 
amended by the Health and Social 
Care Act 2012). The Trust’s income 
from the provision of goods and 
services for the purposes of the 
health service in England is greater 
than its income from the provision 
of goods and services for any other 
purposes.

Income generated from the provision 
of goods and services for any other 
purposes is used by the Trust to 
provide healthcare services.

Disclosure to Auditors and Further Disclosures
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Council of Governors

The Council of Governors (CoG) 
is an important part of the Trust’s 
governance structure and both 
individual Governors and the 
Council as a whole have continued 
to add value to the Trust during the 
course of the year. 

Over the last year Governors have 
continued to play a vital role in 
both holding the Board of Directors 
accountable and representing the 
views of members and the wider 
public to the Trust. As reported last 
year, the Council has continued to 
mature as a collective body and is 
much more engaged and involved in 
managing its own affairs. 

The clarification of the role of 
Governors and the development 
of new statutory roles as a result 
of the Health & Social Care Act 
2012 has helped focus Governors 
contribution. Having spent time 
debating the role of Governors over 
the last few years, Governors have 
now been able to move on from a 
focus on role definition to putting 
their role into action.  Based on 
the joint agreement reached with 
the Directors last year, the Council 
has made a number of strides 
particularly in relation to holding 
the Board accountable. In addition, 
Governors have begun to develop 
a more innovative and progressive 
approach to reflecting the views 
of members and the wider public 
though it is recognised that much 
remains to be done in this area. 

Over the year the relationship with 
the Board has strengthened. Non-
executive Directors regularly attend 
CoG meetings for informal face 

to face meetings as well as more 
formally representing some of the 
work they are responsible for. The 
Board and the Council met on two 
occasions. The two bodies met 
as part of a joint development day 
to develop a joined up approach 
to member engagement and to 
take part on a seminar on best 
practice from mutual societies. A 
new meeting was also established 
which emerged from the agreement 
secured between the Board and 
the Council in the previous year in 
taking stock of the 2012 Act and the 
new powers afforded to Governors. 
In this meeting the Board of 
Directors formally provided feedback 
to the Council of Governors on 
the previous year as part of their 
established Annual Review.  As 
well as providing an overview of the 
year, Directors and Governors were 
able to discuss strategic issues that 
emerged from the feedback. 

The infrastructure put in place to 
take forward its key functions has 
continued this year with the focus 
for Governor activity taking place 
through three key task groups:

a. CoG effectiveness

b. Patient safety and quality

c. Member and public engagement.

These groups are responsible for 
identified elements of the agreed 
consolidated CoG business plan and 
to provide a Governor perspective 
on key issues within the groups’ 
remit (i.e. they do not undertake 
executive functions that are the 
remit of the Trust). 

The groups have a convenor 
and a core group but are open to 
any member of CoG that wishes 
to participate. The task groups’ 
convenors are the three Governors 
who currently represent the CoG 
on the Engagement & Experience 
Committee providing an essential 
link between the Trust’s governance 
structure and the Governors. The 
Project Groups are accountable 
directly to the Council of Governors 
and the chairs report on progress 
and outcomes to every CoG meeting.

The Governor’s Coordinating 
Group, which is comprised of the 
Chairman, the Lead Governor 
(and Deputy), the convenors of the 
three task groups, a staff Governor 
representative and FT secretariat 
staff, meets every two months and 
focuses on coordinating the work of 
the CoG and ensuring that progress 
is being made against the plan and 
facilitating cooperation between the 
CoG and the Board of Directors. The 
work programmes of each of the 
task groups is amalgamated into a 
single CoG business plan which is 
overseen by the Coordinating Group 
to ensure that Governor priorities 
and plans are kept on track.

During the last year, these groups 
have been busy implementing 
programmes of work linked to 
Governors key roles and stated 
priorities. 

It should be noted that there is 
an existing “Engagement Policy” 
agreed between the Council 
of Governors and the Board of 
Directors to help manage situations 
in which the Council’ s concerns 
about the performance of the Board 
of Directors or the welfare of the 

Our Governors and Members
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NHS Foundation Trust, have not 
been resolved through the normal 
channels.

The following section sets out some 
of the key highlights for each of these 
groups over the year:

Enhancing the Effectiveness of 
CoG working group

CoG Effectiveness Review

This group led the self-assessment 
process undertaken in 2013/14 for 
Governors individually and for CoG 
as a whole. Inspired by the use 
of the Trust’s approach to patient 
engagement, the Group decided 
to use the same formula - “What 
works well, even better if...” to gather 
views on good practice and ideas for 
improvements. The self-assessment 
outcomes and the actions taken to 
focus on improvements are due to be 
discussed in the next financial year. 

Training Needs Assessment

The Group agreed that a Personal 
Development Programme form will 
be used with the Induction Checklist 
previously approved for new 
Governor induction after the coming 
year’s elections, and a revised Roles 
and Responsibilities document 
prepared for CoG approval.

Governors Reference File and 
Other Documents

The group reviewed and made 
necessary changes to update a wide 
range of documents and policies 
throughout the year. This was a 
major undertaking and a significant 
achievement based on a lot of hard 

work, to undertake this review and 
update the Governor Reference File. 
The documents reviewed in the year 
included: 

§ Governors’ Roles and
Responsibilities

§ Annual Members Meeting Rules of
Procedure

§ Governors Code of Conduct

§ CoG Rules of Procedure

§ Engagement Policy

§ CoG Coordinating Group Terms
of Reference

§ CoG Project Groups Terms of
Reference

§ How to Find FT Information on the
Web

§ Web List of useful Documents

§ NED Remuneration Committee
terms of reference

The group intends to finalise this 
work by agreeing a small number of 
additional policies during meeting 
scheduled for 2014. 

The Group also developed a new 
CoG feedback form for Governors 
attending meetings outside CoG  
to record useful information that  
can be circulated in the monthly 
updates email. 

Format and Content of CoG 
Meetings

The group considered the format and 
content of CoG meetings including 
the CoG Integrated Performance 
Reports. It was felt that the format 
of the meetings works well and that 
the performance report remains fit 
for purpose but may need to evolve 
over time given the changes made 
to the Board’s own performance 
report.  Some specific changes were 
made during the year including the 
additional of indicators for Patient 
Safety and Quality such as Hospital 
Standardised Mortality Ratios and 
other key information that could 
trigger Monitor or CQC intervention.

Staff Governors

The Group met with several staff 
Governors near the start of the 
financial year to discuss a variety 
of issues such as the role of staff 
Governors, the challenges of filling 
staff Governor vacancies; the 
benefit from trying to ensure all staff 
Governor posts are filled and even 
contested; encouraging staff interest 
in becoming Governors; and enabling 
staff to contribute more fully in 
Governor activities. 

Member and Public Engagement 
working group 

This group exists to develop and 
implement the trust’s membership 
strategy and to contribute to the 
Trust’s work on wider stakeholder 
and public engagement. The Group 
agreed three core objectives for the 
year: 
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§ To maintain and increase
membership targeting the hard
to reach groups identified by the
report on membership

§ To engage members of the public
with the activities of the Trust

§ To educate and involve the
public in the development and
implementation of the Trust
strategy.

This task group has sought 
to focus on stepping up the 
Governor’s capacity to develop 
improved member recruitment and 
engagement as well as considering 
how the Governors might best reflect 
the views of the wider public which 
the Governors are obliged to reflect. 

The Group tracked membership 
numbers over the year as well 
as receiving and analysing a 
report on the Trust’s membership 
which detailed the demographics, 
geography and other relevant 
indicators. There has been a slight 
decline in membership numbers 
over the last year – a net decline 
of around 500 or so. In part this is 
because Governors have not been 
able to so proactively use their 
existing recruitment methods – in  
particular recruiting members in 
the hospital restaurant - to identify 
new members. The task group have 
considered and begin to explore 
what can be done to address this 
decline. The Group discussed 
various recruitment methods 
from GP surgeries to Governor’s 
recruiting in Oasis. As recruitment at 
the GP surgeries had not involved 
manned stalls and this had not 
garnered many new members.  It 
was felt that Governors attending 
local community meetings and 

discussing membership was more 
useful. Among actions taken are the 
development of a new membership 
leaflet and the development of 
a recruitment campaign drive 
later in the calendar year. The 
Group also considered the need 
to recruit more members from the 
younger age group and those from 
different economic backgrounds to 
ensure that the membership base 
remained representative of the wider 
community served by the Trust. 

The Members’ Say meets remains 
a core part of the engagement 
agenda – see membership section. 
In addition, the Group proposed that 
there should be three Medicine for 
Members meetings in 2014 to follow-
up the two arranged in the previous 
financial year.

Youth membership has not yet 
progressed as previously planned 
through schools because this was 
seen as too high maintenance. 
The idea of a youth panel was also 
discounted for similar reasons. 
Instead the Communications 
& Engagement team began to 
explore linkages with Devon’s Youth 
Parliament. This liaison offers the 
prospect of genuine engagement on 
heath related matters with a group 
of self-organised, motivated and 
engaged individuals who will provide 
perspectives on some of the issues 
of relevance to the Trust.  

During the year, Janice Cackett 
retired from the Council of Governors 
and a new Chair, Linda Vijeh took up 
the role. 

Patient Quality and Safety 
working group

The Group exists to act as a focal 
point for Governors on issues 
concerning patient safety and quality. 
Over the year the Group:

Quality Report

Took the lead, on behalf of the 
Council, for pulling together the 
Governors’ commentary on the 
Trust’s 2012/13 Quality Report 
and have also been working on 
setting Governor priorities and key 
measurables for this year’s Quality 
Report (Quality Report page 14). 

Two of the issues considered 
by Governors for inclusion as 
key indicators were set aside as 
there were other means by which 
assurance on these issues could 
be calibrated. The two topics - staff 
morale and compassion – would be 
addressed as follows:

§ staff wellbeing will be a topic for
a presentation at a future COG or
development day

§ the results from the staff section of
the ‘Friends and Family test’ will be
included in reports to COG

§ Actions taken to address any
issues arising from the RDE results
in the national staff survey will be
reported to COG.

Compassion and kindness - the 
Engagement and Experience 
Committee would be asked to 
consider this in the context of 
evidence emerging from the detailed 
analysis of complaints.  
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As well as setting the priorities, the 
Group sought to monitor compliance 
against them during the year. 
Some frustration was expressed 
by the Group earlier in the year in 
monitoring the  Governor quality 
priorities 2013-14, when it was 
felt that there was some delay 
in obtaining the right information 
on ‘never events’ and ’28 day 
readmissions’ in a timely way 
because of the way the performance 
report is constructed. However, the 
Governors received a useful session 
on these issues in a CoG seminar. 

Patient-led assessments of the 
care environment (PLACE)

Some Governors participated in the 
PLACE inspections and received 
training to enable them to do this.

“Walk arounds” 

A number of Governors took part 
in informative “walk arounds” with 
Senior Nurse and Governor, Alison 
Wootton.  

Governance structures

There was considerable discussion 
in the Group  on this issue and, 
in particular, the knowledge that 
the Governors had about how 
the various groups charged with 
assurance and governance worked 
together to provide a comprehensive 
overview and how they managed 
identified risks or quality issues. 
There remained general concern 
about how Governors can be 
assured that potential risks and 
quality issues would be identified 
early. As a result, the Group helped 
to organise an informative session at 

the January COG on the governance 
structures and processes within the 
Trust, led by Non-Executive Andy 
Willis who chairs the Governance 
Committee.

Constitution Review

The Health and Social Care 
Act 2012 (the Act) introduced a 
new governance model for NHS 
Foundation Trusts meaning that 
the Trust needed to consider 
the implications and amend 
its  Constitution to ensure that it 
complied with the law and reflected 
the new governance arrangements. 
The changes also needed to reflect 
the transformation of Monitor’s 
role to that of economic regulator, 
charged with protecting and 
promoting the interests of people 
who use healthcare services by the 
promotion of competition, where 
appropriate and regulation where 
necessary.

The Act received Royal Assent in 
2012 and some elements came 
into force in October of that year. 
The Constitution was revised  in 
line with the model offered by 
Monitor and this was subsequently 
approved. Those elements of the 
Act that were not implemented 
in October 2012 came into force 
from the 1 April 2013. The Trust 
therefore set up a review process 
to ensure that the necessary 
changes were incorporated into the 
Trust’s Constitution (and associated 
documents) to ensure that it was 
properly complaint with the legal 
underpinning. 

Most of the changes that needed 
to be made were mandatory 
and simply updated the existing 
Constitution while others were 
discretionary and required debate 
with a Constitution Working Group to 
develop proposals that then required 
agreement by both the Board and 
Council of Governors. The main 
discretionary issues focused on a 
definition of  significant transactions 
and the definition of stakeholder 
Governors. 

Significant Transactions: 

Monitor no longer reviews 
significant or material transactions. 
If a foundation trust chooses to 
undertake a transaction - such as 
a merger or acquisition - then it 
will need the consent of more than 
half of the Council of Governors 
to proceed with the transaction.  
This means that, in practice, 
responsibility for signing off any 
merger or acquisition moves to 
the directors and Governors. After 
discussions within the group the 
decision was made to stick with 
the definition as originally set 
out in the Monitor Compliance 
Framework as divestments or other 
transactions comprising > 25% of 
the assets, income or capital of the 
NHS Foundation Trust or >12.5% 
if non-healthcare related and/
or international; or if a Trust is in 
significant breach, any investment/
divestment comprising >10% of  
the assets, income or capital of  
the Trust. 
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Appointed Governors/
Stakeholder representation 
on the CoG

As there was no longer a 
requirement to have Commissioner 
representation on the Council of 
Governors,  the Trust and the NEW 
CCG mutually agreed that there 
would no longer be commissioner 
representation on the Council.

In addition to these changes a 
number of other changes were made 
to aid clarity and local relevance. 
Among changes made were on 
defining staff Governor groups, on 
succession planning and terms of 
office for Governors (the terms of 
office were increased from six to 
nine years), the need to include an 
“all-England” element to one of the 
constituency areas.

The amendments were agreed by 
the Council of Governors and the 
Board of Directors in July 2013 and 
came into force with immediate 
effect. 

Nominations Committee

Following the departure of a Non-
Executive Director (NED) at the end 
of the previous financial year, the 
Nominations Committee undertook 
a process to identify a candidate 
to recommend to the full Council 
during the first quarter. Assisted by 
the recruitment consultancy Harvey 
Nash – who had successfully 
assisted with the recruitment of 
the Chairman - a rigorous process 
was put in place to attract and 
recruit a new NED who had a 
relevant financial qualification as 
well as other experience and skills 

to bring to the table. As a result of 
this process - which included an 
open hustings meeting to which 
all Governors were invited to meet 
the shortlisted candidates - the 
Committee recommended Peter 
Dillon to the Council of Governors 
who duly approved the appointment. 
Peter took up his duties in July 
2013. 

At the end of the financial year, two 
long serving Directors – Brian Aird 
and David Wright - left the Trust as 
their terms of office had expired. 
To prepare for this, the Committee 
undertook a beauty parade of 
recruitment consultants who had 
responded to a tender process 
to assist with the recruitment of 
two new NEDs. After a rigorous 
process which, once again, included 
a hustings meeting for Directors 
and Governors to hear all of the 
candidates and put questions to 
them, the Committee chose to 
work with Gatenby Sanderson 
as the recruitment consultants to 
assist with the process. After an 
exhaustive process, the Committee 
recommended two new NEDs to 
the Council of Governors in January 
2014 which were agreed. The new 
NEDs take up their role in April 
2014. 

Governor Training and 
Development

The role of Governor in a 
Foundation Trust is pivotal in 
representing the patient, public and 
staff viewpoints to FTs and holding 
the Boards of FTs accountable.

To perform this role effectively, 
Governors as a whole need to 
be equipped to adequately carry 

out their duties to the best of their 
abilities. This is a Trust responsibility 
as set out in the NHS Act 2012 
which clarifies that FTs must take 
steps to ensure that Governors 
have the skills and knowledge they 
require to undertake their role.

The RD&E already provides a range 
of training and development for 
Governors including:

§ Induction/mentoring

§ Development days

§ Pre CoG information sessions

§ Sessions at the CoG

§ Focus on the role of Governors

§ Working Groups

§ Engagement with the Board

§ Liaison with other Governors/
FTGA etc

§ Open Board meetings

§ Specific skills training (such as
recruitment etc)

While all of this is currently 
offered, it is clear that some 
areas require improvement and 
a more structured approach. For 
example, the Governors have 
themselves produced a checklist 
for all inductions for new Governors 
to ensure that all Governors have 
access to the same opportunities 
at the outset to understand the role 
and begin to piece together how 
they might enact it. 
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Challenges of providing 
training and capacity building

An effective CoG that has the 
capacity and abilities to carry out 
its collective roles successfully is 
critically important to the functioning 
of the Foundation Trust model. 
However, providing effective training 
to Governors is not straightforward 
and any package of training needs 
to take into account the following 
issues: 

§ Governors bring different
experiences to the table. Some
Governors have extensive
experience of the NHS for
example, while others have none.

§ Governors are democratically
elected and this means that
there is no basic competency
test or hurdle for Governors
to surmount before they put
themselves up for election. The
result of this is positive because
it means that Governors have
a clear democratic mandate;
the challenge is that Governors
cover a broad spectrum of skills,
competencies and abilities.

§ The Governor role is at the
complex end in comparison to
many other voluntary roles. The
combination of understanding
a complex area like healthcare
and making contributions at both
a strategic level and at a level
of feeding back experiential
information is incredibly
challenging for many. We have
found in our experience that it
takes some time for Governors to
begin to get to grips with the role
however effective their training,
induction and capacity building.

§ Along similar lines, the conceptual
role of the Governor is open to
interpretation and it remains easy
to think the role is something other
than what it is. This can lead to
Governors replicating the work of
the Board or pursuing a particular
agenda or issue.

§ Some of the specific roles that
Governors have to perform are
fairly specialised – such as taking
a view about the effectiveness
of the auditors or on potential
transactions with other NHS
providers. In the past the fairly
rapid turnover of Governors
was problematic as Governors
left after six years. This has
been addressed to a degree by
extending Governor terms of office
but there remains  ongoing issue
about ensuring there is a core
group of Governors who have
experience and have the time to
ensure that their knowledge and
experience is handed over to a
more recently elected cohort.

§ Governors’ core role is to
represent the views of members
and the wider public and to
ensure that these views are
transmitted to the Board. In
building the capacity of Governors
and encouraging more training,
there is a need to guard against
the overt professionalisation of
Governors and that they continue
to represent a fundamentally lay
perspective.

§ The Trust has sought to ensure
that Governors have good
information to enable them to
carry out their roles effectively.
However, it is apparent that rather
less emphasis has been placed
on skills development in the past
and that is an area that we may
now need to address.

Life cycle of Governors

In order to ascertain the collective 
training and capacity needs of 
Governors, we used a simple 
concept of the Governor life-cycle 
to identify the differing needs that 
Governors as a whole have at 
certain key points in their Governor 
career. In considering the training 
needs of Governors, it is important 
to ascertain the desired minimum 
level of knowledge and skills that 
all Governors would ideally have 
at certain stages. However, as 
the Council of Governors act as 
a collective entity, the aim of any 
approach in this area would be 
to offer the opportunities for all 
Governors to meet these minimum 
standards but acknowledge that 
not all Governors have the desire, 
competencies or ability to meet the 
minimal level. In the discussions with 
Governors at a recent development 
day, Governors sought to identify 
the minimum level of skills and 
knowledge required at each of these 
key stages.
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Over the next few months Governors 
will be asked to gauge how well 
they currently meet the minimum 
training and development needs 
as well as setting out their current 
skills and experiences. This will flag 
key collective priorities for focused 
work i.e. induction, development of 
core materials, identified skills gaps, 
identified knowledge gaps. Once we 
have clarity about the priorities we 
need to consider how best to plan 
to meet these priorities and skills/
knowledge gaps and who is best 
placed to deliver them (the Trust/
Governors’ external providers) 
through:

§ Existing approaches (such as
development days; pre-CoG
meetings; better use of Governor
mentors etc.)

§ New approaches including:

□ Development of new training
materials using existing 
resources

□ Representatives going to
Governwell meetings and
feeding back/holding a
workshop/sharing materials

□ Bespoke training delivered in-
house

□ Planned approach to
handovers and continuity

□ Process to undertake more
specialised training

□ Breakfast meetings with the
Chairman

In addition, the Governors have 
identified the key issues that need 
to be covered in the induction and 
this will be used to frame a new style 
and more comprehensive induction 
process for new Governors. 

Meeting the minimum requirements 
for training and development 
however is only part of the process. 
In developing the effectiveness of 
Governors, there are other issues 
that require further consideration 
over the coming year including:

§ The provision of specialist training
for Governors on issues such as
mergers and acquisitions or on
interviewing for NEDs and the
balance between providing this to
individuals versus the collective
responsibilities of the Council as
a whole

§ The development of an approach
to Governor team effectiveness 
and cohesion

§ External changes in guidance,
legislation or the external
environment may impact on the
future provision of Governor
training and development

§ Better understanding of individual
Governors existing skills, 
experiences and knowledge is 
required to ensure that they can 
be deployed appropriately

§ There is a need to give further
thought to continuity of expertise
and handover to Governors.

Specialist training and capacity 
building on team effectiveness will 
need to be considered in due course 
once the first phase of training 
and capacity building has been 
implemented. The knowledge of 
individual skills and experiences can 
be captured through a skills audit.

This agenda should form part of an 
ongoing overview of training and 
capacity building for Governors. 
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Meet Dr Rachel McInnes Amongst the new intake of RD&E 
Foundation Trust Governors is Dr 
Rachel McInnes, a climate scientist 
with the Met Office, who was inspired 
to sign-up after being treated at the 
hospital.

The 29-year-old only joined the Trust 
in August and immediately put her 
name forward for election to the 
Council of Governors in September.

Her aim is to increase the breadth of 
involvement in the Council and Trust 
membership, and to make it more 
representative of the hospital users.

“We need to get more young people 
involved whose experiences may be 
different to those of older people. We 
need to hear their views.”

After growing up in Aberdeenshire, 
Dr McInnes gained her doctorate 
in astrophysics at the University of 
Edinburgh and moved to Exeter 
nearly five years ago.

Since becoming a governor she has 
been selected for the Nominations 
Committee and was soon helping 
recruit two non-executive directors, 
getting involved in the long-listing 
and interviews. Council meetings and 
seminars to familiarise herself with 
the workings of the Trust have also 
followed.

“I joined the Trust because I had 
been a patient and user of the 
hospital for a number of years,” 
said Dr McInnes. “The hospital had 
helped me when I was ill and during 
that time I thought to myself that 
when I was better enough I wanted 
to give something back. 

“I found out about the Trust, being 
a Member and being a Governor, at 
the same time and decided I wanted 
to be a Governor. As a patient and 
regular user I’d seen things that 
worked well and things that didn’t 
work so well, and I thought I would be 
a good person to speak up for those 
people who don’t have a voice.”

Governor Profiles

Dr Rachel McInnes
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The following Governors were 
elected at the annual elections 
in September 2013. 

Public Governors

East Devon, Dorset & Somerset

Celia Powell, Barbara Roberts 
and Lynne Wright were all elected 
unopposed for terms of three years. 
one vacancy remains. 

Exeter & South Devon

Geoff Barr, Kate Caldwell and 
Rachel McInnes were all elected 
unopposed for terms of three years. 
one vacancy remains.

Mid, North, West Devon & 
Cornwall

David Giles and Dianah Pritchett-
Farrell were elected for terms of 
three years. The turnout 33.2%. 

Staff Governors

Allied Health Professionals

Ros Wade was elected for a term of 
one year. The turnout was 27.6%. 

Non-clinical staff

Hazel Hedicker was elected for a 
three year term. The turnout was 
23.8%.

No nominations were received for 
the Medical & Dental constituency.

The Board confirms that all elections 
to the Council of Governors are held 
in accordance with the election rules 
as stated in the Constitution. 

Governors can be contacted via 
email at rde-tr.foundationtrust@
nhs.net

The Governors’ Register of Interests 
is available for inspection from the 
Trust Secretary (01392 404551) or 
on the Trust website.   

Election Results
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Our Governors 2013/14
EXETER AND SOUTH DEVON GOVERNORS

Keith Broderick
(2011-2014)

Keith is an accountant who took early retirement from the public sector in 2005. He 
lives in Exeter and was re-elected in 2011. Keith is chairman of the CoG Effectiveness 
and Audit Working Groups and a member of the Engagement & Experience and CoG 
Coordinating Committees.

Geoff Barr
(2013-2016)

Geoff taught politics and other social studies at Exeter College for many years; however, 
he has now moved on to teach at the Open University and Exeter University Medical 
School. He is an active member of the St Leonard’s Practice Patient Participation Group 
and the practice research team. Alongside this Geoff is an active member of Keep Our 
NHS Public and 38 degrees.  He is a member of Left Unity.

Kate Caldwell OBE
(2013-2016)

Kate was Director of Midwifery and Deputy Director of Nursing at the RD&E until 2002.  
Kate was a Non-Executive Director of Exeter PCT until 2006, she is also a trustee of 
Exeter Municipal Charities.  

Kate was first elected in 2007, and re-elected in 2010 and again in 2013. Kate sits on the 
Nominations Committee and is the Treasurer of the League of Friends at the RD&E.

Rachel Jackson
(2011-2014)

Rachel lives in Exeter and was an NHS Clinical Physiotherapist for 42 years. She has 
an MSc in healthcare and before retirement she ran a large countywide physiotherapy 
service.  Prior to this Rachel gained valuable multicultural experience, working in the 
Health Care Services in the Far East.

Previously a Governor for six years, Rachel was re-elected again in 2011 after a year’s 
break.  Rachel sits on the Member and Public Engagement, as well as the Patient Safety 
and Quality Groups.  She is a Committee member for the Royal Devon and Exeter 
League of Friends and a Parish Councillor for Stoke Canon Parish.

Richard May
(2012-2015)

Richard, who lives in Exeter, is a chartered civil engineer, and latterly ran a waste 
management company providing a range of waste management services within Exeter 
and the surrounding areas. Richard was re-elected in September 2012 and was re-
elected by the Council as Lead Governor in July 2013. He sits on the CoG Co-Ordinating 
Committee as well as the Nominations Committee and Non-Executive Director 
Remuneration Committee.

Rachel McInnes
(2013-2016)

Rachel is a scientist who works in climate research at the Met Office. Originally from 
Scotland, she has lived in Exeter since 2009. Rachel was elected for a term of three 
years in September 2013, and sits on the Nominations Committee.
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MID, NORTH, WEST DEVON AND CORNWALL GOVERNORS

David Giles
(2013-2016)

Previously a GP for thirty years in North Cornwall, David was first elected in 
September 2010 and re-elected in September 2013.

Penny Lobb
(2012-2015)

Penny was elected for a term of three years in September 2012. 

Penny regards it as a pleasure and privilege to be involved with the governance of 
the Trust going forward. She has experience overseas in a multi-cultural, religiously 
diverse military environment, sitting on military boards of enquiry and medical 
committees.

In the UK private sector Penny has experience of working with hospitals towards 
accreditation and production of guidance manuals.

Dianah Pritch-
ett-Farrell
(2013-2016)

Dianah is a retired University Lecturer, Examiner, Quality Standards Assessor and 
Senior Probation Officer. She is an International Assessor for the General Social 
Care Council for Social Work, and a Parish Councillor.

Dianah lives near Crediton and was re-elected in 2013. She was elected Chair of 
the national Foundation Trust Governors Association in August 2011. Dianah is a 
member of the CoG Co-Ordinating Committee and Deputy Lead Governor. 

Dianah is also a member of the COG Effectiveness Committee and the Nominations 
Committee.

Anne Stobart
(2012-2015)

Anne was elected as a Governor in September 2012 and will serve until August 
2015. She has lived in Mid-Devon since 1990. Anne has taught in adult education, 
colleges and universities for over thirty years. 

Anne has clinical, research and management experience in complementary health 
sciences, most recently in the School of Health and Social Sciences at Middlesex 
University and she retired from there in August 2010.

Cynthia Thornton
(2011-2014)

Cynthia lives in Willand. She has had wide nursing experience, including ten years 
as a district nursing sister. She has also held University teaching and research 
posts in London and Reading.  Cynthia is a member of the Non-Executive Director 
Remuneration Committee and the Member and Public Engagement Group.

Cynthia was elected in September 2008, re-elected in 2011 and is a member of the 
Non-Executive Director Remuneration Committee. 
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EAST DEVON, DORSET AND SOMERSET GOVERNORS

Vivian Dibling
(2011-2014)

Vivian lives in Axminster.  A former Registered Nurse and Medical Secretary, Vivian was 
elected for a three year term in 2011.

Jill Gladstone
(2011-2014)

Jill lives in Otterton. Her varied nursing career included acute and emergency medicine, 
clinical audit and nursing adviser to the Health Service Ombudsman.

Jill was first elected in 2008 and re-elected for a further three year term in 2011. She 
leads the Patient Safety & Quality working group and is a member of the Engagement 
& Experience Committee, the Nominations Committee and the CoG Co-ordinating 
Committee.

Celia Powell
(2013-2016)

Celia lives in Seaton and is retired, having spent her entire career in the NHS in a range 
of clinical and managerial positions.  Celia was elected for a term of three years in 
September 2013.

Linda Vijeh
(2012-2015)

Linda has wide-ranging experience in the public, charitable and private sectors as a 
professional standards consultant and journalist.  

In addition to being a school governor, a district and county councillor, and deputy Mayor 
of Ilminster, Linda is a keen Rotarian, a member of Taunton & Somerset Samaritans 
Committee, and trustee of Chard Museum.  She is also active with the Somerset in Care 
Council and Somerset Rural Youth Project, where she is a board member.

Living in Somerset for over twenty-five years, Linda was first elected in 2009 and 
re-elected in 2012. She is a member of the Nominations Committee, the NED 
Remuneration Committee and the Engagement and Experience Committee, in addition 
to currently chairing the Member Engagement Committee. 

Barbara Roberts
(2013-2016)

Barbara is a retired State Registered Nurse, and State Certified Midwife. Following 
training in Guildford, and practice in England, she worked in Canada.  On her return to 
England, Barbara trained as a Registered District Nurse, and then pursued management 
as a District Nursing Officer before retiring after thirty years nursing. Barbara, who lives 
in Sidmouth, was elected for a term of three years in September 2013.

Lynne Wright
(2013-2016)

Lynne’s background is in business management and public relations, she has a 
teachers’ certificate in art pottery, and before moving to Devon served on the committees 
of two local charities and has also been secretary to the League of Friends of a cottage 
hospital.

She is a member of the ‘Member and Public Engagement Group’, is involved in the 
‘Frail and Older People Project’ which looks at the needs of this group of patients 
including those with dementia and their carers.  She also takes part in the ‘Patient Led 
Assessment of the Care Environment’ - annual inspection of the hospital.

First elected in September 2010 Lynne was re-elected in 2013.
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Hazel Hedicker
(2013-2016)

Hazel is a Project Manager within the Transformation Team, having held several roles 
at the RD&E and within the NHS.  

 Hazel was elected for a term of three years in 2013. 

Loveday Varian
(2012-2015)

Loveday has worked for the NHS as a hospital-based medical secretary for the past 
thirty years.  She has worked at the RD&E for the last five years as a medical secretary 
within the renal team.  

She was first elected in 2009 and re-elected in 2012. 

Ros Wade
(2013-2014)

Ros is Head of Therapy Services, having worked at the RD&E for thirteen years. Ros 
was a clinical physiotherapist before becoming Head of Therapy. Ros was elected in 
September 2013 for a term of one year.  

Alison Wootton
(2011-2014)

Alison is the Assistant Director of Nursing for Medical Services. She has been a nurse 
for nearly 30 years. Alison lives in Exeter with her family. She was elected for a three 
year term in 2011. 

Cllr Andrew 
Leadbetter
(2012-2015)

Appointed by Devon County Council.  Andrew is an elected County Councillor 
representing Topsham and St Loyes and has been a member of the RD&E Council of 
Governors since 2012.

Professor Peta 
Foxall
(2013-2016)

Appointed by Exeter University Medical School.  Peta joined the Council of Governors 
in December 2013.

STAFF GOVERNOR BIOGRAPHIES 2014

APPOINTED GOVERNORS

The following people were also 
Members of the Council of 
Governors during 2013/14:

Public constituency area: East 
Devon, Dorset & Somerset

Peter Hull (until Sept 13)
Andrew Kyle (until Sept 13)
Nicholas Morse (until Sept 13)

Public constituency area: Exeter 
& South Devon

Janice Cackett (until Sept 13)
Terry Roberts (until Sept 13)

Staff Governors

Dr Mike Jeffreys (until Sept 13)

Appointed Governors

Professor Steve Thornton, 
University of Exeter Medical School 
(until Nov 13)
Rebecca Harriott, NHS Devon  
(until Sept 2013) (or NEW Devon 
Clinical Commissioning Group)
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April 2013 July 2013 AMM Oct 2013 Jan 2014

Public Confidential Public Confidential Public Confidential Public Confidential

Geoff Barr * P P P A P P P P P

Keith Broderick P P P P P P P P P

Kate Caldwell # P P P P P P P P P

Vivien Dibling P A P P A P A A A

Peta Foxall * * * * * * * P P

David Giles P P P P P P A P P

Jill Gladstone # P P P P P P P P P

Hazel Hedicker # * * * * P P P P P

Rachel Jackson P P P P P P P P P

Andrew Leadbetter A A A A A A A A A

Penny Lobb # P P P P P P A A A

Richard May # * P P P P P P P P P

Rachel McInnes # * * * * P P P P P

Celia Powell * * * * P P A P P

Dianah Pritchett-
Farrell # P P A A P P P P P

Barbara Roberts * * * * A P A A A

Anne Stobart P P P A P P P P P

Cynthia Thornton* P P P P A P P P P

Loveday Varian P P P P P P P P P

Linda Vijeh # * P P P P P A A P P

Ros Wade * * * * P P P P P

Alison Wootton P P P P P A A P P

Lynne Wright P P P P A A A P P

Our Governors 2013/14

Attendance at Council of Governor meetings from April 2013 onwards, Governors currently in post

P – Present
A – Apologies 

* – Not in post
# – indicates member of
Nominations Committee

* – indicates member of Non-
Executive Director Remuneration
Committee
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Our Members

The Trust is a public benefit 
corporation that exists for the sole 
purpose of providing healthcare 
services to the population it serves. 
All Foundation Trusts are obliged, 
under statute, to have Members. 
The Board of Directors are obliged 
to keep in touch with the opinions 
of Members and the wider public as 
key stakeholders. Membership is a 
distinguishing feature of FTs which 
brings with it substantial benefits. 
As a membership organisation, 
the RD&E endeavours to reach 
out to inform Members about what 
is happening at the Trust as well 
as listening to their concerns and 
opinions on service delivery, on 
how to improve patient experience 
and on influencing its longer term 
strategy.  

About our Members

On the whole, the Trust’s 
membership broadly reflects 
the average profile for the wider 
community served by the Trust. Key 
findings from an analysis undertaken 
of our Members in comparison to 
the wider community showed that 
Members are:

§ Similar to the social-
demographic groups found in
our constituencies. The majority
of Members are, on the whole,
comfortably well off

§ representative of the ethnic
diversity within the wider public

§ are older than the general public
served by the trust

§ marginally more likely to be
female than males

For research purposes, engaging 
with Members about their priorities, 
concerns and ideas for healthcare 
provides a “good enough” correlation 
with the broader community. This 
means that in our engagement with 
Members, we can be confident that 
the views we hear can be said to 
be sufficiently overlapping to what 
Members of the public generally 
would say. This provides a useful 
rationale for membership for 
Foundation Trusts. 

Having a membership base allows 
a meaningful relationship to be 
developed between Members 
and the Trust. Developing this 
engagement helps us to deepen our 
understanding of their views and 
opinions which we can correlate to 
the views of the wider community.  
Developing an ongoing dialogue with 
Members provides  an opportunity 
for the Trust to develop its thinking, 
test ideas, and give Members an 
overview of potential future strategic 
options which it can then engage 
with Members on in a way that 
genuinely allows for influence and 
boundary setting (i.e. options which 
Members would find unpalatable for 
example). 

The ongoing conversation with our 
Members – expressed primarily 
through our Members’ Say events 
– is a very important aspect of the
Trust’s work that provides genuine
added value in informing its work –
whether that is in a relatively minor
operational detail, potential service
change, ways to improve services
in the best interests of patients/
public, or on bigger and more
strategic issues. The feedback from
the interactive activities and focus
groups helps provide an agenda for

the Governors as well as providing 
insight into the views of Members – 
and thus the public – for the Board 
of Directors. 

This makes it even more 
important, therefore, that we 
have a membership base that 
corresponds ever more closely with 
the demographics of the broader 
population served by the Trust. Over 
the course of the year, a number 
of initiatives were undertaken to 
increase membership – particularly 
among the young. Details of 
these are set out in the section 
on Governors. However, over 
the last year, we have not made 
sufficient progress in encouraging 
a more diverse membership base 
in  particular among those form 
a low socioeconomic bracket. 
Nevertheless, this does not take 
away the fact that our membership 
is sufficiently aligned to the wider 
population to make the results of our 
engagement broadly correspond to 
the wider public served by the Trust.

Our Members
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Membership overview

Our membership now stands at 
17,609  made up of 11682 public 
Members and 5,927 staff Members.

Anyone aged 12 or over or who 
works for the Trust on a permanent 
contract or one of 12 months or 
more, has the right to become a 
Member of the Trust.

The three public constituencies, with 
membership numbers as at 31 March 
2014, are:

East Devon, Dorset & Somerset – 
4,109
Exeter & South Devon and the Rest 
of England – 4,521
Mid, North, West Devon & Cornwall 
– 2,979
The boundaries of the Trust’s public 
membership include Cornwall, 
Devon, Somerset, Dorset and the 
rest of England. 
The three public constituencies, with 
membership numbers as at 31st 
March 2013, were:
East Devon, Dorset & Somerset – 
4,407
Exeter & South Devon – 4,793
Mid, North, West Devon & Cornwall 
– 3,198
New Members recruited during 
2013/14: 166

Members’ Say

The Members Say meetings - in 
which around 200 Trust Members 
are invited into the Trust for a day 
to hear from clinicians about key 
health-related topics as well as take 
part in interactive dialogue – remains 
the most significant way in which the 
Trust engages with its membership 
base. Members’ Say meetings 
provide Members with the opportunity 
to give voice to their views and 
influence the Trust in a number of 
different ways in line with the ethos of 
a public benefit corporation.

The model works well as a way 
of engaging a particular group of 
Members and the outcomes of 
the activities and focus groups 
provides useful research data on the 
perceptions and views of Members 
(and thus the public) on specific 
topics which can help inform and 
influence:

§ Overall strategic direction of the
Trust

§ Strategic issues or “wicked”
problems

§ Service changes or improvements

§ Experiential feedback and
customer insight

§ Lower level service changes or
improvements

In considering the outcomes of the 
Members’ Say events, it can be 
assumed that they represent the best 
possible interpretation of the broader 
views of the membership and thus 
the wider public and therefore 
provide a “good enough” basis for 
analysis. 

The Members Say approach enables 
the Trust to identify, explore and 
understand the views, opinions, 
preconceptions and concerns of 
Members on aspects of healthcare. 
As the profiling of our Members on a 
range of indicators mirrors that of the 
wider population (being somewhat 
older and somewhat wealthier than 
the broader population), the views 
of Members can be, with sufficient 
caveats, be seen as representing 
the broader views of the population 
serviced by the Trust. 

In addition, Members’ Say events 
provide part of the rationale for 
membership of the Trust: having 
the opportunity to attend an event 
is part of the benefits that being a 
Member entails and holding such 
events demonstrates to existing 
and potential future Members that 
membership means something and 
offers those that want it a way of 
becoming more actively engaged. 

Members’ Say, September 
2013

At the end of last September we 
held our latest Members’ Say event. 
Attracting nearly 200 Members on a 
wet and windy Saturday morning, the 
event proved to be another success 
with 90% of those responding to the 
survey saying that the event was 
good.  The Members’ Say event 
included a talk on hips, workshops on 
dementia and focus groups looking 
at the issue of compassionate care 
alongside a marketplace of stalls and 
interactive activities.

In the wake of serious issues faced 
by the Mid Staffordshire hospital 
and recent reports into aspects of 
care within the NHS, the issue of 
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the extent to which care is being 
given with compassion has shot 
up the agenda. We wanted to 
know what Members thought about 
compassionate care so we asked 
them, in focus groups, to help us 
define it, to understand  what it 
would include (and not include) and 
how we could ensure that it was 
delivered appropriately every time. 
The five focus groups provided a 
fascinating insight and the outcomes 
from this work have been put 
together with a similar exercise 
aimed at patients and at staff, to 
ensure that, as a Trust, we were 
clear about what compassionate 
care is and isn’t, that we reflected 
the views and opinions of our 
stakeholders, and then used this to 
inform training and reinforcement 
activities with our frontline staff.  

We held five focus groups with 
around 12 people in each discussing 
compassionate care. All the groups 
were recorded and the outputs were 
analysed by an external supplier 
– Akumen - who have developed
software designed to draw meaning
from qualitative data. Alongside
a report detailing the findings the
company produced a cartoon as an
engaging way of telling the story of
what our Members thought about
compassion.

What is compassion?

Compassion is hard to define - yet, 
as patients and relatives of people 
who use services, we know when 
care is delivered with compassion, 
and when it is not. 

Most definitions talk about 
compassion as being conscious 
of others’ distress, suffering, and 
misfortune, but with a desire 

to alleviate it. This involves 
demonstrating characteristics such 
as empathy, sensitivity, kindness 
and warmth. 

Compassion at the RD&E

§ At the RD&E we want to ensure
that we have a consistent culture 
of compassion

§ Compassionate care is not just
about being nice or kind. Studies
have shown that compassionate
care can have positive
physiological impacts including
prevention of health problems and
faster recovery – it improves the
patient experience (and that of the
clinician).

§ Compassionate care can have
positive psychological and
physical impacts but it also can
reduce the length of stay and
improve patient experience (and
thus save money).

Defining compassion

To help us continue to develop a 
compassionate approach to care, 
the RD&E has drawn together the 
views of Members, patients and staff 

§ Focus group outcomes - analysis
§ Five focus groups held on

compassion at the RD&E’s
Members’ Say meeting in
September 2013.

§ Analysis of key themes and issues
from over 4 hours of discussion
with approximately 70 Members.

§ Analysis completed internally and
then placed against an analysis by
an external company

§ Cluster Maps

Recommendations

1. Healthcare starts with
compassion. We need to develop a
compassion culture starting at the
top of an organisation

2. We need to collect patient staff
and Members experiences  to
observe and  measure compassion
or lack of it

3. We need  to find ways of
removing barriers to compassion

4. We raise awareness of
compassion and include compassion
in training and retraining

5. We need to recognise, praise and
reward people for compassionate
behaviour

6. We need to recruit compassionate
people and develop a process for
recognising it

7. We beed zero tolerance on
bad attitude especially lack of
compassion

See our website to see a cartoon 
which summarises the outcomes 
from the focus groups on 
compassion (www.rdehospital.nhs.
uk/trust/ft/members_say.html).
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Angela Pedder - Chief Executive 

Date: 28 May 2014

observe the Accounts Direction issued by Monitor, including the relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply

suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis;

state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual have been

followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial statements; 

The Accounting Officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time

the financial position of the Trust and to enable her to ensure that the accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above

mentioned Act. The Accounting Officer is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Trust and hence for taking reasonable

steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
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Statement of the Chief Executive's responsibilities as the Accounting Officer of the Royal Devon and Exeter NHS 

Foundation Trust

The National Health Service Act 2006 ("2006 Act") states that the Chief Executive is the Accounting Officer of the NHS Foundation

Trust. The relevant responsibilities of the Accounting Officer, including their responsibility for the propriety and regularity of public

finances for which they are answerable, and for the keeping of proper accounts, are set out in the NHS Foundation Trust

Accounting Officer Memorandum issued by Monitor.  

Under the 2006 Act, Monitor has directed the Royal Devon and Exeter NHS Foundation Trust to prepare for each financial year a

statement of accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on an accruals

basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Trust and of its income and expenditure, total recognised gains

and losses and cash flows for the financial year.

In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual

Reporting Manual and in particular to:

ensure that the use of public funds complies with the relevant legislation, delegated authorities and guidance: and

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in Monitor's NHS Foundation Trust

Accounting Officer Memorandum.

make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;

prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.
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Report on the financial statements

Our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements, defined below:





This opinion is to be read in the context of what we say in the remainder of this report.

What we have audited

The financial statements, which are prepared by Royal Devon and Exeter NHS Foundation Trust, comprise:











What an audit of financial statements involves







In our opinion:
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whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the NHS Foundation Trust’s circumstances and have been consistently

applied and adequately disclosed; 

the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and 

the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report to identify material inconsistencies

with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or

materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any

apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended;

the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory

information.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is the NHS Foundation Trust Annual

Reporting Manual 2013/14 issued by the Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts (“Monitor”).

In applying the financial reporting framework, the directors have made a number of subjective judgements, for example in

respect of significant accounting estimates. In making such estimates, they have made assumptions and considered future

events.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (“ISAs (UK & Ireland)”).

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give

reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.

This includes an assessment of: 

give a true and fair view of the state of the NHS Foundation Trust’s affairs as at 31 March 2014 and of its income and

expenditure and cash flows for the year then ended 31 March 2014; and

have been prepared in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2013/14.

the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2014;

the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year then ended;

the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the NHS

Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2013/14.

Independent auditors’ report to the Council of Governors 
of Royal Devon and Exeter NHS Foundation Trust

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Audit Code for NHS 
Foundation Trusts

the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial

statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
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Other matters on which we are required to report by exception







Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Our responsibilities and those of the directors

Certificate

Heather Ancient (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors

Plymouth

(a)

(b) 
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we have not been able to satisfy ourselves that the NHS Foundation Trust has made proper arrangements for securing

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources; or

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts requires us

to report to you if:

in our opinion the Annual Governance Statement does not meet the disclosure requirements set out in the NHS

Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2013/14 or is misleading or inconsistent with information of which we are

aware from our audit. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether the Annual Governance

Statement addresses all risks and controls or that risks are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls;

we have qualified,  on any aspect, our opinion on the Quality Report.  

As explained more fully in the Chief Executive’s Statement of responsibilities as the Accounting Officer of Royal Devon and

Exeter NHS Foundation Trust set out on page 2 of the Accounts the directors are responsible for the preparation of the

financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust

Annual Reporting Manual 2013/14.

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with the National Health

Service Act 2006, the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts issued by Monitor and ISAs (UK & Ireland). Those standards

require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

The maintenance and integrity of the Royal Devon and Exeter NHS Foundation Trust website is the responsibility of the

directors; the work carried out by the auditors does not involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the

auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements since they were

initially presented on the website.

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from

legislation in other jurisdictions. 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Council of Governors of Royal Devon and Exeter

NHS Foundation Trust in accordance with paragraph 24 of Schedule 7 of the National Health Service Act 2006 and for no

other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other

person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in

writing.

We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 5 of

Part 2 to the National Health Service Act 2006 and the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts issued by Monitor.

28 May 2014
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FOREWORD TO THE ACCOUNTS

These accounts for the year ended 31 March 2014 have been prepared by the Royal Devon and Exeter 
NHS Foundation Trust in accordance with paragraphs 24 and 25 of Schedule 7 to the National Health 
Service Act 2006 in the form which Monitor has, with the approval of the Treasury, directed.

The Royal Devon and Exeter NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and Accounts are presented to 
Parliament pursuant to Schedule 7, paragraph 25(4) of National Health Service Act 2006.

Angela Pedder - Chief Executive 

Date: 28 May 2014



2013/14 2012/13

Note £000 £000

Income from activities 3 316,374 300,852

Other operating income 4 68,349 66,156

Operating income 384,723 367,008

Operating expenses - excluding property impairment charge 5 (381,293) (358,414)

Property impairment charge 5 & 15.3 (5,316) (22,839)

Operating deficit (1,886) (14,245)

Finance costs

Finance income 10 142 268

Finance expense 11 (901) (950)

PDC dividends payable (5,782) (6,653)

Net finance costs (6,541) (7,335)

Deficit for the year (8,427) (21,580)

Other comprehensive income

Revaluation gains / (losses) on property, plant and equipment 13,436 (23,459)

Total comprehensive surplus / (deficit)  for the year 5,009 (45,039)

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2014
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The above property impairment charge £5.3m (2012/13 - £22.8m) has arisen due to the revaluation of the Trust's land and

buildings. This expense is a technical accounting adjustment and has no detrimental impact on the Trust's cash reserves.

Excluding this impairment charge the Trust would have realised a deficit of £3.1m in 2013/14 (2012/13 - a surplus of

£1.3m).
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31 March 2014 31 March 2013

Note £000 £000

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 14 1,008 1,071

Property, plant and equipment 15 209,089 209,243

Trade and other receivables 17 772 944

Total non-current assets 210,869 211,258

Current assets

Inventories 16 6,713 4,459

Trade and other receivables 17 15,773 22,048

Cash and cash equivalents 22 38,420 41,233

60,906 67,740

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 18 (29,075) (31,929)

Borrowings 19 (1,270) (1,270)

Provisions 20 (359) (265)

Other liabilities 18 (1,517) (1,899)

Total current liabilities (32,221) (35,363)

Total assets less current liabilities 239,554 243,635

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 19 (16,402) (17,672)

Other liabilities 18.1 - (9,036)

Provisions 20 (374) (352)

Total non-current liabilities (16,776) (27,060)

Total assets employed 222,778 216,575

Financed by taxpayers' equity

Public dividend capital 150,930 149,736

Revaluation reserve 26,813 15,597

Income and expenditure reserve 45,035 51,242

Total taxpayers' equity 222,778 216,575

The notes on pages 10 to 31 form part of these accounts.

Angela Pedder - Chief Executive

Date: 28 May 2014

The Annual Accounts on pages 6 to 31 were approved by the Board of Directors on 28 May 2014 and signed 

on its behalf by :

ROYAL DEVON AND EXETER NHS FOUNDATION TRUST - ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2013/14

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT

31 MARCH 2014
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Public dividend 

capital

Revaluation 

reserve

Income and 

expenditure 

reserve Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Taxpayers' equity at 1 April 2012 149,736 58,953 52,925 261,614

Surplus for the year excluding property impairment charge - - 1,259 1,259

Property impairment charge - - (22,839) (22,839) 

Revaluations - property - (23,459) - (23,459)

Transfer revaluation reserve element included in impairment charge - (17,600) 17,600 -

Transfer of the excess of current cost depreciation over historical cost 

depreciation to the income and expenditure reserve - (2,297) 2,297 -

Taxpayers' equity at 31 March and 1 April 2013 149,736 15,597 51,242 216,575

Deficit for the year excluding property impairment charge - - (3,111) (3,111) 

Property impairment charge - - (5,316) (5,316) 

Revaluations - property - 13,436 - 13,436

Transfer revaluation reserve element included in impairment charge - (1,949) 1,949 -

Transfer of the excess of current cost depreciation over historical cost 

depreciation to the income and expenditure reserve - (271) 271 -

Public dividend capital received
1,194 - - 1,194

Taxpayers' equity at 31 March 2014 150,930 26,813 45,035 222,778

Public dividend capital ("PDC")

Revaluation reserve

The reserve reflects movements in the value of purchased property, plant and equipment and intangible assets as set out in the accounting policies.

Income and expenditure reserve

The reserve is the cumulative surplus / (deficit) made by the Trust since its inception. It is held in perpetuity and cannot be released to the

Statement of Comprehensive Income.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS' EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014

ROYAL DEVON AND EXETER NHS FOUNDATION TRUST - ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2013/14

PDC represents the excess of assets over liabilities at the time of establishment of the Trust. It also includes new PDC received to fund capital

expenditure on schemes supported by the Department of Health central capital budgets.  PDC has no fixed capital repayment period.
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Note 2013/14 2012/13

£000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities

Operating deficit (1,886) (14,245)

Non-cash income and expense

Depreciation and amortisation 11,572 12,605

Impairments 5,316 22,839

Decrease / (increase) in trade and other receivables 6,318 (7,623)

(Increase) in inventories (2,254) (378)

(Decrease) / increase in trade and other payables (2,221) 6,654

(Decrease) / increase in other liabilities (9,418) 8,100

Increase / (decrease)  in provisions 116 (1,122)

Increase in tax liability payable 69 19

(Gain) on disposal of property plant and equipment (16) (378)

Net cash generated from operations 7,596 26,471

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 142 268

Purchase of intangible assets (98) (101)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (20,278) (26,098)

Sale of property, plant and equipment 16,455 405

Net cash used in investing activities (3,779) (25,526)

Cash flows from financing activities

PDC received 1,194 -

Loans repaid (1,270) (1,271)

Interest paid (901) (950)

PDC dividend paid (5,653) (7,112)

Net cash used in financing activities (6,630) (9,333)

(Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (2,813) (8,388)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 41,233 49,621

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 22 38,420 41,233

ROYAL DEVON AND EXETER NHS FOUNDATION TRUST - ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2013/14

CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2014
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.1 Income recognition 

1.2 Expenditure on employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits 

Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined

benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, general practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of Secretary of

State, in England and Wales. It is not possible for the Trust to identify its share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.

Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as a defined contribution scheme. 

Employers pension cost contributions are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due. 

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees.

The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the accounts to

the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the scheme except where the retirement is due to ill-

health. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the operating expenses at the time the Trust commits

itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment. 

Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of sale have been met, and is

measured as the sums due under the sale contract, less the fair value of the asset.

Revenue relating to patient care treatments (also known as spells) that are part-completed at the year end are apportioned

across the financial years on the basis of length of stay at the end of the reporting period. Where income is received for a

specific activity which is to be delivered in the following financial year, that income is deferred. 

ROYAL DEVON AND EXETER NHS FOUNDATION TRUST - ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2013/14

Income in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs and is measured at the

fair value of the consideration receivable. The main source of income for the Trust is contracts with commissioners in respect of

healthcare services. 

Monitor has directed that the accounts of the Trust shall meet the accounting requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual

Reporting Manual which shall be agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently, the accounts have been prepared in accordance with

the 2013/14 NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual issued by Monitor. The accounting policies contained in that

manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and HM Treasury's Financial Reporting Manual to the extent

that they are meaningful and appropriate to NHS foundation trusts. The accounting policies have been applied consistently in

dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant

and equipment, intangibles assets, inventories at their value to the business by reference to their fair value.

The directors have a reasonable expectation that the Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the

foreseeable future. For this reason, they consider it appropriate to continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the

accounts.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Accounting convention

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of

property, plant and equipment, intangibles assets, inventories at their value to the business by reference to their fair value.

Going concern

The directors have a reasonable expectation that the Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the

foreseeable future. For this reason, they consider it appropriate to continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the

accounts.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

1.3 Expenditure on other goods and services

1.4 Intangible assets

Recognition

Internally generated intangible assets 

Measurement 

Amortisation and impairment

Software 

Useful life 

(years)

4 - 7

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are capable of being sold separately

from the rest of the Trust’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised

only where it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust

and where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 

ROYAL DEVON AND EXETER NHS FOUNDATION TRUST - ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2013/14

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Asset category

Software licences

Subsequently intangible assets are measured at fair value. Revaluation gains and losses and impairments are

treated in the same manner as for property, plant and equipment (see note 1.5).

Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to create,

produce and prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 

Internally generated goodwill, brands, publishing titles, customer lists and similar items are not capitalised as

intangible assets.

Intangible assets are capitalised when they are capable of being used in the Trust's activities for more than one

year and have a cost of at least £15,000.

Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful lives in a manner consistent with the consumption of

economic or service delivery benefits.

The carrying value of intangible assets is reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate

the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Software that is integral to the operation of hardware, e.g. an operating system, is capitalised as part of the

relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software that is not integral to the operation of hardware, e.g.

application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. 

Purchased computer software licences are capitalised as intangible assets where expenditure of at least £15,000

is incurred and amortised over the shorter of the term of the licence and their useful lives.

Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have been received, and is

measured at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses except

where it results in the creation of a non-current asset such as property, plant and equipment.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

1.4 Intangible assets (continued)

Research and development

-

-

-

-

-

-

1.5 Property, plant and equipment

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

has an individual cost of at least £15,000;  or 

it is expected to be used for more than one financial year;  

the cost of the item can be measured reliably and;

the items form a group of assets which individually have a cost of more than £250, collectively have a cost of at least

£15,000, where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are

anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control;  or

form part of the initial equipping and setting-up costs of a new building or on refurbishment, may also be "grouped" for

capitalisation purposes.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Where possible the Trust will disclose the total amount of research and development expenditure charged in the Statement

of Comprehensive Income separately. However, where research and development activity cannot be separated from patient

care activity it cannot be identified and is therefore not separately disclosed.

Other property, plant and equipment assets acquired for use in research and development are amortised over the life of the

associated project.

Expenditure on research is not capitalised. 

the project is technically feasible to the point of completion and will result in an intangible asset for sale or use; 

the Trust intends to complete the asset and sell or use it; 

Expenditure which does not meet the criteria for capitalisation is treated as an operating cost in the year in which it is

incurred.  

Expenditure on development is capitalised only where all of the following can be demonstrated: 

how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic or service delivery benefits, e.g. the presence of a market

for it or its output, or where it is to be used for internal use, the usefulness of the asset; 

the Trust has the ability to sell or use the asset;

the Trust can measure reliably the expenses attributable to the asset during development.

adequate financial, technical and other resources are available to the Trust to complete the development and sell or use

the asset; and 

it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust; 

it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;

Recognition 

Property, plant and equipment are capitalised where: 
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1.

1.5

Useful life 

(years)

10 - 42

32 - 47

5 - 15

5 - 7

3 - 7

5 - 10

Freehold property - buildings

Freehold property - dwellings

Plant and machinery

Equipment - information technology

Equipment - furniture and fittings

Equipment - transport 

Freehold land is considered to have an infinite life and is not depreciated. 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their remaining useful lives in a

manner consistent with the consumption of economic or service delivery benefits. 

Depreciation 

For non-property assets the depreciated historical cost basis has been adopted as a proxy fair value. Non-property

assets acquired up to 31 March 2008 were revalued through an annual uplift by the change in the value of the GDP

deflator. These revalued assets are included in the non-property assets valuation, but further indexation of these

assets has ceased.

Asset category

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Measurement and revaluation

The fair value of land and buildings is determined by valuations carried out by professionally qualified valuers in

accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Appraisal and Valuation Manual. The valuations are

carried out primarily on the basis of depreciated replacement cost for specialised operational property based upon

providing a modern equivalent asset. Existing use value is used for non-specialised operational property. For non-

operational properties, including surplus land, the valuations are carried out at open market value. The frequency of

revaluation is dependent upon changes in the fair value of property assets however, in line with Monitor's view, the

frequency of property asset revaluations will be at least every five years.

All property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at cost, representing the costs directly attributable to

acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of

operating in the manner intended by management. All assets are measured subsequently at fair value. 

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Non-property assets

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been brought into operation, such as repairs

and maintenance, is normally charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which it is incurred.

In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future

economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of an item of property, plant and equipment, and where the

cost of an item can be measured reliably, the expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of that asset or as a

replacement.

Useful lives are determined on a case by case basis.  The typical lives for the following assets are:

Additional alternative open market value figures have only been supplied for operational assets scheduled for imminent

closure and subsequent disposal.

Subsequent expenditure 

Property assets

Assets under construction are valued at cost and may subsequently be revalued by professional valuers when brought

into use or when factors indicate that the value of the asset differs materially from its carrying value. 
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

1.5

1.6

1.7

Work in progress comprises goods in intermediate stages of production.  

Provision is made where necessary for obsolete, slowing moving and defective inventories and work in progress.

1.8 Provisions

The Trust provides for legal or constructive obligations that are of uncertain timing or amount at the Statement of

Financial Position date on the basis of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation. The

Trust uses HM Treasury's pension rate of 1.8% (2012/13 - 2.35%), in real terms, as the discount rate for early

retirement and injury benefit provisions.

Donated, government grant and other grant funded assets

Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt. The

donation/grant is recognised as income unless the donor has imposed a condition that the future economic

benefits embodied in the grant are to be consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in which case, the

donation/grant is deferred within liabilities and is carried forward to future financial years to the extent that the

condition has not yet been met. 

ROYAL DEVON AND EXETER NHS FOUNDATION TRUST - ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2013/14

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Increases in asset values arising from revaluation are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to

the extent that, they reverse an impairment previously recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are

recognised in operating income.

Inventories and work in progress

Property, plant and equipment  (continued)

Impairment

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes

in circumstances indicate their carrying value may not be recoverable.

Decreases in asset values that are due to a loss of economic benefits or service potential in the asset are charged

to operating expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the revaluation reserve to the income and

expenditure reserve of an amount to the lower of (i) the impairment charged to operating expenses; and (ii) the

balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that asset before the impairment.

The excess depreciation on revalued assets over the historical cost is released to the income and expenditure

reserve. On disposal of an asset any remaining revaluation reserve balance is released to the income and

expenditure reserve.

Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of 'other impairments' are treated as revaluation

gains.

Inventories and work in progress are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined

using a first in, first out method.

Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

1.8 Provisions (continued)

Clinical negligence costs

Non-clinical risk pooling

1.9 Value Added Tax

1.10 Contingent liabilities

1.11 Third party assets

1.12 Losses and special payments

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds

for the health service or passed regulation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They

are therefore subject to specific control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are

divided into different categories, which govern the way the individual cases are handled. Losses and special

payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including

losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had the Trust not been bearing its own

risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

The losses and special payments note is compiled directly from the losses and compensations register

which reports on an accruals basis with the exception of provisions for future losses.

ROYAL DEVON AND EXETER NHS FOUNDATION TRUST - ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2013/14

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the

accounts since the Trust has no beneficial interest in them. However, they are disclosed in a separate note,

note 27, to the accounts in accordance with the requirements of HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual.

The Trust has contingent liabilities in respect of NHSLA legal claims arising in the normal course of

activities. Where the transfer of economic benefits in respect of legal claims is possible the Trust discloses

the estimated value as a contingent liability in note 24.

Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply

and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. 

Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase

cost of non-current assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated

net of VAT.

The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Trust pays an annual

contribution, which, in return, settles all clinical negligence claims. Although the NHSLA is administratively

responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the Trust. The total value of

clinical negligence provisions carried by the NHSLA on behalf of the Trust is disclosed at note 20. The 

provision relates to the excess payable on each of the Trust's cases administered by the NHSLA.

The Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both

are risk pooling schemes under which the Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHSLA and in return

receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any

‘excesses’ payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses when the liability

arises.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

1.13 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

In the application of the Trust’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and

assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are

considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying

assumptions are continually reviewed.  

Accounting judgement - Modern Equivalent Asset valuation

The majority of the Trust's estate is considered to be specialised assets as there is no open market for an acute

hospital. The modern equivalent asset valuation is based on the assumption that any modern equivalent

replacement hospital would be built on an alternative site within the Exeter locality.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision

affects only that period. If the revision affects both current and future periods the impact is recognised in the

current and future periods it relates to.

1.14 Leases

Operating leases 

Where leases are regarded as operating leases and the rentals are charged to operating expenses on a straight-

line basis over the term of the lease. Operating lease incentives received are added to the lease rentals and

charged to operating expenses over the life of the lease.

Leases of land and buildings 

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building component and the

classification for each is assessed separately.

1.15 Public dividend capital

Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities

at the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS trust, the Royal Devon and Exeter Healthcare NHS Trust.

HM Treasury has determined that PDC is not a financial instrument within the meaning of IAS 32. 

A charge, reflecting the forecast cost of capital utilised by the Trust, is paid over as public dividend capital

dividend. The charge is calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net

assets of the Trust. 

Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of all liabilities, except for donated

assets and the average daily cash held with the Government Banking Service. Average relevant net assets are

calculated as a simple means of opening and closing relevant net assets in the pre-audit version of the accounts

after adjusting for the average daily cash held within the Government Banking Service.

ROYAL DEVON AND EXETER NHS FOUNDATION TRUST - ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2013/14

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

1.16 Financial instruments and financial liabilities

Recognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from contracts for the purchase or sale of non-financial items (such as

goods or services), which are entered into in accordance with the Trust’s normal purchase, sale or usage requirements, are

recognised when, and to the extent which, performance occurs i.e. when receipt or delivery of the goods or services is made. 

All other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Trust becomes a party to the contractual provisions

of the instrument. 

De-recognition 

All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or the Trust has

transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership. 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement 

Financial assets are categorised as ‘loans and receivables’. Financial liabilities are classified as ‘other financial liabilities’.

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active

market. They are included in current assets. 

The Trust’s loans and receivables comprise: cash and cash equivalents, NHS receivables, accrued income and ‘other

receivables’. 

Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, net of transactions costs, and are measured subsequently at

amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly estimated

future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying

amount of the financial asset. 

Interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the effective interest method and credited to the Statement of

Comprehensive Income. 

Other financial liabilities 

Other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and measured subsequently at

amortised cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly estimated future

cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying

amount of the financial liability. 

They are included in current liabilities except for amounts payable more than 12 months after the statement of financial

position date, which are classified as non-current liabilities. 

Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method and charged to finance

costs. Interest on financial liabilities taken out to finance property, plant and equipment or intangible assets is not capitalised

as part of the cost of those assets. 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

ROYAL DEVON AND EXETER NHS FOUNDATION TRUST - ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2013/14
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

1.16 Financial instruments and financial liabilities (continued)

Impairment of financial assets 

1.17 Corporation tax 

1.18 Consolidation of NHS charitable funds

2. Segmental analysis

The Board of Directors received financial information at service line level up to and including the second quarter of

2013/14. The Trust has been implementing a new patient level costing system to improve both the timeliness of

reporting and the level of segmental financial information that is reported. Since the second quarter of 2013/14 a

decision was made to delay service line reporting to the Board of Directors until the new system has been fully

implemented.

ROYAL DEVON AND EXETER NHS FOUNDATION TRUST - ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2013/14

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

The Chief Operating Decision Maker, who is responsible for the allocation of resources and the assessment of the

performance of operating segments has been identified as the Trust's Board of Directors.

Throughout the financial year the Trust's Board of Directors received a monthly integrated performance report, that

provided information against key standards and targets. The reports included financial performance information

which has assisted the Board of Directors with their financial decisions. The monthly information provided to the

Board of Directors has been similar to the primary statements within these accounts. Note 2.1 provides an example

of the Income Statement included within the monthly integrated performance report.

The Trust is a Health Service Body within the meaning of s519A of the Income and Corporation Tax Act 1988 and

accordingly is exempt from taxation in respect of income and capital gains within categories covered by this. There is

a power for HM Treasury to dis-apply the exemption in relation to specified activities of an NHS foundation trust

(s519A (3) to (8) of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988). Accordingly, the FT is potentially within the scope

of corporation tax in respect of activities which are not related to, or ancillary to, the provision of healthcare, and

where the profits there from exceed £50,000 per annum. Until the exemption is dis-applied then the FT has no

corporation tax liability. 

The Trust is the Corporate Trustee of the Royal Devon and Exeter NHS Foundation Trust General Charity. The

Charity has not been consolidated within these annual accounts as the value of the Charity is low and consolidation

into the Trust’s accounts would have no material effect. Further information relating to transactions between the

Trust and the Charity is disclosed in note 25.  

At the statement of financial position date, the Trust assesses whether any financial assets are impaired. Financial

assets are impaired and impairment losses are recognised if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as

a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the

estimated future cash flows of the asset. 

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference

between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s

original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the carrying

amount of the asset is reduced through the use of a bad debt provision that is determined specifically on individual

assets.
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2.1 Segmental analysis (continued)

Actual Budget Actual Actual Budget Actual Actual Budget Actual Annual

variance to variance to variance to Plan

budget budget budget

fav / (adv) fav / (adv) fav / (adv)

Difference

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000

Income 

NHS clinical income 26,689 29,022 (2,333) 315,245 314,579 666 315,245 314,579 666 306,523

Private patient income 140 221 (81) 1,129 1,127 2 1,129 1,127 2 1,108

Income from activates (SOCI heading) 316,374 - 

Research and development 2,340 2,415 (75) 17,948 17,978 (30) 17,948 17,978 (30) 14,238

Education and training 1,189 1,157 32 12,939 12,907 32 12,939 12,907 32 12,915

Other income 4,071 4,074 (3) 37,433 37,733 (300) 37,433 37,733 (300) 33,901 68,349 29 Note 1

Total income 34,429 36,889 (2,460) 384,694 384,324 370 384,694 384,324 370 368,685 384,723 29

Expense

Employee benefits expenses (pay) (18,905) (18,874) (31) (224,801) (223,383) (1,418) (224,801) (223,383) (1,418) (222,720)

Drug costs (3,991) (3,799) (192) (40,404) (39,911) (493) (40,404) (39,911) (493) (36,207)

Clinical supplies (2,487) (3,658) 1,171 (41,910) (41,214) (696) (41,910) (41,214) (696) (36,589)

Non clinical supplies (417) (438) 21 (5,284) (4,943) (341) (5,284) (4,943) (341) (4,589)

Research and development (2,364) (2,341) (23) (16,959) (16,938) (21) (16,959) (16,938) (21) (13,919)

Miscellaneous other operating expense (4,943) (5,395) 452 (40,350) (40,585) 235 (40,350) (40,585) 235 (35,818)

Cost improvement programme - 312 (312) - 3,273 (3,273) - 3,273 (3,273) - 

Reserves - (756) 756 - (1,780) 1,780 - (1,780) 1,780 - 

Operating expenses (SOCI heading) (381,293) (11,585) Note 3

Total costs (33,107) (34,949) 1,842 (369,708) (365,481) (4,227) (369,708) (365,481) (4,227) (349,842) (381,293) (11,585)

EBITDA 1,322 1,940 (618) 14,986 18,843 (3,857) 14,986 18,843 (3,857) 18,843 3,430 (11,556)

Profit / (loss) on asset disposals 16 (100) 116 16 (100) 116 16 (100) 116 (100) - (16) Notes 1 & 3

Exceptional income / costs & impairments (5,316) - (5,316) (5,316) - (5,316) (5,316) - (5,316) - (5,316) - 

Depreciation (900) (1,000) 100 (11,572) (11,736) 164 (11,572) (11,736) 164 (11,736) - 11,572 Note 2

Operating surplus / (deficit) (4,878) 840 (5,718) (1,886) 7,007 (8,893) (1,886) 7,007 (8,893) 7,007 (1,886) - 

Interest receivable / (payable) 9 9 - 142 104 38 142 104 38 104 142 - 

Interest payable on loans (38) (73) 35 (901) (885) (16) (901) (885) (16) (885) (901) - 

PDC dividend (161) (511) 350 (5,782) (6,126) 344 (5,782) (6,126) 344 (6,126) (5,782) - 

Net surplus / (deficit) (5,068) 265 (5,333) (8,427) 100 (8,527) (8,427) 100 (8,527) 100 (8,427) - 

Notes:

1 - The profit on the disposal of assets of £29,000 is recorded as other income within the SOCI, the integrated performance report records it within a separate net heading under the EBITDA sub-total.

2 - The depreciation charge of £11,572,000 is recorded as other operating expenses within the SOCI, the integrated performance report records it within a separate heading under the EBITDA sub-total.

Statement of Comprehensive

 Income (SOCI)

3 - Operating expenses in the SOCI is £11,585,000 higher due to £11,572,000 depreciation being recorded within this heading (see note 2 above) and a loss on disposal of assets of £13,000 which is recorded as a net £16,000 profit within the 

integrated performance report (see note 1 above).

ROYAL DEVON AND EXETER NHS FOUNDATION TRUST - ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2013/14

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
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3. Income from activities

2013/14 2012/13

£000 £000

Elective income 82,455 81,215

Non-elective income 89,221 91,525

Outpatient income 57,139 55,594

Other NHS clinical income 75,836 61,047

A & E income 10,567 10,522

Private patient income 1,129 925

Other non-protected clinical income 27 24

316,374 300,852

Income from commissioner requested services 315,218 299,903

Income from non-commissioner requested services 1,156 949

316,374 300,852

3.1 Income from activities - by source

2013/14 2012/13

£000 £000

NHS foundation trusts 2 22

NHS trusts 195 19

CCGS and NHS England and Primary Care Trusts 313,818 298,991

Non-NHS - private patients 1,129 925

Non-NHS - overseas patients (non-reciprocal) 120 111

NHS injury scheme 647 761

Non-NHS - other 463 23

316,374 300,852

4. Other operating income

2013/14 2012/13

£000 £000

Research and development 17,948 14,254

Education and training 12,939 13,765

Charitable and other contributions to expenditure 46 320

Non-patient care services to other bodies 26,511 24,447

Staff recharges 4,293 6,437

Profit on disposal of property - 390

Profit on disposal of plant and equipment 29 15

Other 6,583 6,528

68,349 66,156

Included within "Other income" above is catering income of £2 million, (2012/13 - £2 million), car parking income of

£1.6 million (2012/13 - £1.6 million), nursery/crèche income of £1 million (2012/13 - £1 million), staff accommodation

£0.5 million (2012/13 - £0.7 million).

Included within "Non-patient care services to other bodies" are laundry services, transport services, payroll services,

IT services, finance services, estates services, pathology services, pharmacy services and drug sales totalling £13

million (2012/13 - £14.5 million).

ROYAL DEVON AND EXETER NHS FOUNDATION TRUST - ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2013/14

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

NHS Injury Scheme income is subject to a provision for doubtful debts of 12.6% to reflect expected rates of collection

based upon historical experience.
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5. Operating expenses

2013/14 2012/13

£000 £000

Services from other NHS foundation trusts 2,912 2,039

Services from NHS trusts 2,133 2,132

Services from other NHS bodies 1,443 1,466

Employee expenses - executive directors (see note 5.1) 1,018 1,218

Employee expenses - non-executive directors (see note 5.1) 140 140

Employee expenses - staff 223,643 213,708

Drug costs 40,404 33,976

Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drug costs) 41,007 39,193

Supplies and services - general 5,065 5,116

Establishment 2,039 3,161

Research and development - not included in employee expenses 12,874 9,391

Research and development - included in employee expenses (note 6.1) 4,085 3,668

Transport 1,465 487

Premises 15,236 15,158

Increase in bad debt provision 24 52

Depreciation 11,411 12,385

Amortisation of intangible assets 161 220

Impairments 5,316 22,839

Audit fees - statutory audit 80 79

Other auditors' remuneration - 164

Clinical negligence 6,793 6,113

Losses, ex gratia and special payments 129 133

Loss on disposal of plant and equipment and intangibles 13 27

Other 9,218 8,388

386,609 381,253

Operating expenses - excluding property impairment charge 381,293 358,414

Property impairment charge - note 15.3 5,316 22,839

386,609 381,253

The total employer's pension contributions are disclosed in note 6.1.

5.1 Directors' remuneration and other benefits

2013/14 2012/13

£000 £000

Aggregate directors' remuneration 1,099 1,272

Employer's contribution to pension scheme 59 86

Total 1,158 1,358

5.2 Other auditors' remuneration

5.3 Auditors' liability

5.4 Operating leases

2013/14 2012/13

£000 £000

Operating lease payments recognised in expenses 1,983 1,596

Future aggregate minimum lease payments due under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Land and 

buildings Other Total

Land and 

buildings Other Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

No later than 1 year 452 331 783 294 385 679

Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 1,145 223 1,368 1,040 451 1,491

Later than 5 years 2,913 - 2,913 3,143 - 3,143

4,510 554 5,064 4,477 836 5,313

ROYAL DEVON AND EXETER NHS FOUNDATION TRUST - ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2013/14

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

The Board of Governors appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC) as external auditors for the financial year ending 31 March 2014. The

engagement letter signed on 4 March 2013, states that the liability of PwC, its members, partners and staff (whether in contract, negligence or

otherwise) shall in no circumstances exceed £1 million in the aggregate in respect of all services (2012/13 - £1 million).

In the year ended 31 March 2014 six directors accrued benefits under defined benefit pension schemes (2013 - six).

Lease expenditure relates to minimum lease payments and is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in a straight line basis over the

term of the lease.

The audit fee for the statutory audit including quality accounts in 2013/14 was £80,000 (2012/13 - £79,000) including VAT not recoverable. This was

the fee for an audit in accordance with the Audit Code issued by Monitor in March 2011. No non-audit work fees were incurred in 2013/14, in 2012/13

payments of £164,000 were made to the auditors for non audit work relating to providing support in reviewing the frail and elderly care pathway.

Included within "Other expenditure" above is consultancy costs of £1.7 million (2012/13 - £2.3 million), consultancy costs includes various services

received in particular assisting with transforming future services to enable the Trust to operate more effectively and efficiently, academic health

science network fees incurred by the Trust and proportionally recharged to other NHS Trusts, medical productivity review and report. Patient travel

£2.7 million (2012/13 - £2.6 million), training courses and conferences £0.7 million (2012/13 - £0.7 million), operating lease expenditure £2 million

(2012/13 £1.6 million).

Transport includes £1m of business travel expenditure.  In 2012/13 this expenditure was included within the establishment heading.

2013/14 2012/13

Page 21



6. Staff costs and numbers

6.1 Staff costs 2013/14 2012/13

£000 £000

Salaries and wages 184,749 174,418

Social security costs 13,793 13,136

Employer contributions to NHSPA 21,695 20,585

Termination benefits 177 901

Agency and contract staff 8,332 9,554

228,746 218,594

Analysed into operating expenses (note 5):

Employee expenses staff 223,643 213,708

Employee expenses executive directors 1,018 1,218

Research and development 4,085 3,668

228,746 218,594

6.2 Average number of persons employed including directors

Permanent 

employees

Other 

employees

2013/14 

total

2012/13 

total

Number Number Number Number

Medical and dental 649 - 649 629

Administration and estates 1,203 - 1,203 1,231

Healthcare assistants and other support staff 612 - 612 546

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff 2,169 - 2,169 2,010

Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff 737 - 737 684

Bank and agency staff - 352 352 340

Total 5,370 352 5,722 5,440

6.3 Staff exit packages

2013/14 2013/14 2012/13 2012/13

Exit package cost Number £000 Number £000

Less than £10,000 4 20

£10,000 to £25,000 1 10 2 23

£25,001 to £50,000 - - 5 206

£50,001 to £100,000 1 59 4 236

£100,001 to £150,000 1 108 2 221

£150,001 to £250,000 - - 1 195

Total number 3 177 18 901

7. Pensions

8. Retirements due to ill-health

9. The late payment of commercial debts (Interest) Act 1998

10. Finance income 2013/14 2012/13

£000 £000

Interest on cash and cash equivalents 142 268

In 2013/14 the Trust did not incur expenditure (2012/13 - £nil) arising from claims made under this legislation.

ROYAL DEVON AND EXETER NHS FOUNDATION TRUST - ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2013/14

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

During 2013/14 there were 4 (2012/13 - 9) early retirements from the Trust agreed on the grounds of ill-health. The estimated additional pension

liabilities of these ill-health retirements will be £125,000 (2012/13 - £731,000). The cost of these ill-health retirements will be borne by the NHS

Pensions Agency.

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme

that covers NHS employers, general practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. It

is not possible for the Trust to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for a defined

contribution scheme.

The NHS Pension Scheme is subject to a full valuation every four years by the Government Actuary. The latest published valuation relates to

the period 1 April 1999 to 31 March 2004 which was published in December 2007 and is available on the NHS Pensions Agency.

Exit packages relate to staff voluntary redundancies and includes employer's NIC. In 2012/13 there were redundancies and also exit packages

under the Department of Health mutually agreed voluntary scheme.

Employer pension cost contributions are charged to operating expenses as and when the become due.

The national deficit of the scheme was £3.3 billion as per the last scheme valuation by the Government Actuary. The conclusion of the valuation

was that the scheme continues to operate on a sound financial basis.

Employer contribution rates are reviewed every four years following the scheme valuation, on advice from the Government Actuary. At the last

valuation it was recommended that employer contribution rates should continue at 14% of pensionable pay. During 2013/14 employees' pay

contributions were tiered on scales from 5% to 13.3% of their pensionable pay.
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11. Finance expense 2013/14 2012/13

£000 £000

Loans from the Independent Trust Financing Facility 892 940

Unwinding of discount on provisions 9 10

Total 901 950

12. Better Payment Practice Code

2013/14 2013/14 2012/13 2012/13

Number £000 Number £000

Total non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year 108,495 153,344 98,777 132,343

Total non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 104,794 143,754 94,806 124,281

Percentage of non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 96.59% 93.75% 95.98% 93.91%

Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year 3,406 28,217 3,821 37,868

Total NHS trade invoices paid within target 3,034 25,703 3,365 34,629

Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target 89.08% 91.09% 88.07% 91.45%

13. Losses and special payments 2013/14 2013/14 2012/13 2012/13

Number Value Number Value

£000 £000

Losses:

Cash losses 9 3 12 2

Bad debts and claims abandoned 82 3 72 2

Stores losses, including damage to buildings 20 44 8 41

Total losses 111 50 92 45

Special payments - Ex-gratia 91 79 82 88

Total losses and special payments 202 129 174 133

14. Intangible assets Software 

licences 

14.1 Intangible assets at 31 March 2013 £000

Fair value at 1 April 2012 2,285

Additions - purchased 101

Fair value at 31 March 2013 2,386

Accumulated amortisation at 1 April 2012 1,095

Provided during the year 220

Accumulated amortisation at 31 March 2013 1,315

Net book value

Purchased at 31 March 2013 1,069

Donated at 31 March 2013 2
Total at 31 March 2013 1,071

14.2 Intangible assets at 31 March 2014

Fair value at 1 April 2013 2,386

Additions - purchased 98

Disposals (79)

Fair value at 31 March 2014 2,405

Accumulated amortisation at 1 April 2013 1,315

Provided during the year 161

Eliminated on disposals (79)

Accumulated amortisation at 31 March 2014 1,397

Net book value

Purchased at 31 March 2014 1,008

Donated at 31 March 2014 - 
Total at 31 March 2014 1,008

ROYAL DEVON AND EXETER NHS FOUNDATION TRUST - ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2013/14

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Trust to aim to pay all valid non-NHS invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of goods

or a valid invoice, whichever is later.  
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15. Property, plant and equipment

15.1 Property, plant and equipment at the statement of financial position date comprise the following elements:

 Freehold land Freehold 

buildings 

excluding 

dwellings

Freehold 

dwellings 

Assets under 

construction 

and payments 

on account

Plant and 

machinery 

Transport 

equipment 

Information 

technology 

Furniture and 

fittings 

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2013 15,765 145,921 2,300 26,460 40,188 1,136 8,033 45 239,848

Additions - purchased - 1,930 - 13,617 3,936 - 47 - 19,530

Additions - donated - 30 - - 16 - - - 46

Reclassifications - 30,471 - (33,087) 2,194 57 365 - - 

Revaluation (4,940) 6,895 (100) - - - - - 1,855

Disposals - (14,530) - - (3,631) - (521) - (18,682)
Total at 31 March 2014 10,825 170,717 2,200 6,990 42,703 1,193 7,924 45 242,597

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2013 - - - - 23,410 449 6,703 43 30,605

Provided during the year - 6,170 95 - 3,868 156 1,121 1 11,411

Impairments 5,050 266 - - - - - - 5,316

Revaluation (5,050) (6,436) (95) - - - - - (11,581)

Eliminated on disposals - - - - (1,726) - (517) - (2,243)
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2014 - - - - 25,552 605 7,307 44 33,508

Purchased at 31 March 2014 10,825 167,722 2,200 6,990 16,645 581 617 1 205,581

Donated at 31 March 2014 - 2,995 - - 506 7 - - 3,508

Total at 31 March 2014 10,825 170,717 2,200 6,990 17,151 588 617 1 209,089

There were no assets held under finance leases, hire purchase contracts or private finance initiative (PFI) at the statement of financial position date.

ROYAL DEVON AND EXETER NHS FOUNDATION TRUST - ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2013/14

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

The Trust's land, buildings and dwellings were revalued as at 31 March 2014. The valuation was undertaken by the District Valuer, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and also complies

with HM Treasury's requirements to value land and buildings on the basis of utilising modern equivalent buildings that would give the same service potential as is provided by the actual estate that the Trust owns, note

15.3 provides further details.  
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15. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

15.2 Property, plant and equipment at the prior year's statement of financial position date comprised the following elements:

 Freehold land Freehold 

buildings 

excluding 

dwellings

Freehold 

dwellings 

Assets under 

construction 

and payments 

on account

Plant and 

machinery 

Transport 

equipment 

Information 

technology 

Furniture and 

fittings 

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2012 32,780 181,636 2,400 10,984 37,426 1,076 7,859 45 274,206

Additions - purchased - 490 - 26,570 360 45 113 - 27,578

Additions - donated - 2 - 224 94 - - - 320

Reclassifications - 5,099 - (9,344) 4,018 161 66 - - 

Revaluation (17,015) (41,259) (100) (1,974) - - - - (60,348)

Disposals - (47) - - (1,710) (146) (5) - (1,908)
Total at 31 March 2013 15,765 145,921 2,300 26,460 40,188 1,136 8,033 45 239,848

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2012 - 6,901 51 - 21,385 452 5,320 42 34,151

Provided during the year - 7,094 51 - 3,708 143 1,388 1 12,385

Impairments 5,232 15,569 64 1,974 - - - - 22,839

Revaluation (5,232) (29,517) (166) (1,974) - - - - (36,889)

Eliminated on disposals - (47) - - (1,683) (146) (5) - (1,881)
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2013 - - - - 23,410 449 6,703 43 30,605

Purchased at 31 March 2013 15,765 143,158 2,300 26,303 16,272 678 1,328 2 205,806

Donated at 31 March 2013 - 2,763 - 157 506 9 2 - 3,437

Total at 31 March 2013 15,765 145,921 2,300 26,460 16,778 687 1,330 2 209,243

ROYAL DEVON AND EXETER NHS FOUNDATION TRUST - ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2013/14

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

The Trust's land, buildings and dwellings were revalued as at 31 March 2013. The valuation was undertaken by the District Valuer, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and also complies

with HM Treasury's requirements to value land and buildings on the basis of utilising modern equivalent buildings that would give the same service potential as is provided by the actual estate that the Trust owns, note

15.3 provides further details.  
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15. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

15.3 Impairment and revaluation of land, buildings and dwellings

16. Inventories

16.1 Inventories held at year end

31 March 2014 31 March 2013

£000 £000

Drugs 1,740 1,567

Work in progress 91 53

Consumables 4,136 2,111

Energy 269 330

Inventories carried at fair value less costs to sell 477 398

Total inventories 6,713 4,459

16.2 Inventories recognised in expenses 2013/14 2012/13

£000 £000

Inventories recognised in expenses 55,522 49,854

Write-down of inventories recognised in expenses 44 37

Total inventories recognised in expenses 55,566 49,891

17. Trade and other receivables

31 March 2014 31 March 2013

£000 £000

Current

NHS receivables 8,966 13,893

Non-NHS receivables 1,967 2,343

Provision for impaired receivables (71) (67)

Prepayments 2,580 2,591

Accrued income 1,158 2,293

Other receivables 183 334

PDC dividend receivable 344 473

VAT receivable 646 188

Total current trade and other receivables 15,773 22,048

Non-current

Accrued income 772 944
Total trade and other receivables 16,545 22,992

Provision for impairment of receivables

At 1 April 67 68

Increase in provision 24 52

Unused amounts reversed (20) (53)

At 31 March 71 67

The provision for impairment of receivables relates to specific receivables over 3 months old.

17.1  Analysis of impaired receivables 31 March 2014 31 March 2013

£000 £000

Ageing of impaired receivables

Over three months 201 143

17.2

Up to three months 3,541 2,534

ROYAL DEVON AND EXETER NHS FOUNDATION TRUST - ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2013/14

Ageing of non-impaired receivables

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

The Trust's land, buildings and dwellings were revalued by the District Valuation Office as at 31 March 2014 and as at 31

March 2013. The Trust's specialised buildings and associated land have been valued using the depreciated replacement

cost method, based upon providing a modern equivalent asset (MEA). A fundamental principal of MEA valuations is that a

hypothetical buyer would purchase the least expensive site that would be suitable and appropriate for the existing

operations. The valuation of the Trust's specialised land and buildings has therefore been based upon the Trust

hypothetically being located on a suitable alternative site away from the city centre, where the cost of the land would be

significantly lower, but where the Trust would still be able to re-provide its services. In 2013/14 there has been a net

overall increase of £8.1m (2012/13 - decrease £46.3m) in the value of the Trust's Estate. A £5.3m impairment has been

incurred and is recorded in the property plant and equipment note 15.1 (2012/13 - £22.8m) this has been recognised as an

impairment charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. An increase in value of £13.4m has been recognised

within the revaluation reserve and is mainly due to a general rise in construction costs (2012/13 - reduction £23.5m).  

Consumables inventories includes an increase of £1.9m of theatre stock held, of which £1.4m is due to additional stock

being counted in the main theatres following the introduction of the theatre stock control system. The balance of £0.5m

relates to additional stock being held in particular surgical robot consumables and spinal cord stimulators.
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18. Current trade and other payables

31 March 2014 31 March 2013

£000 £000

3,932 2,564

2,574 3,276

2,858 5,615

Other taxes payable 4,467 4,398

3,144 2,938

12,100 13,138

29,075 31,929

Other liabilities

Other deferred income 1,517 1,899

18.1 Non-current other liabilities

Other deferred income - 9,036

19. Borrowings

Current 31 March 2014 31 March 2013

£000 £000

Loans from Foundation Trust Financing Facility 1,270 1,270

Loans from Foundation Trust Financing Facility 16,402 17,672

Total borrowings 17,672 18,942

Amounts falling due within: -

In one year or less by instalments 1,270 1,270

Between one and five years by instalments 5,084 5,084

Over five years by instalments 11,318 12,588
17,672 18,942

20. Provisions

Early 

retirements

Legal 

claims

Other Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 2013 123 240 254 617

Arising during the year 10 149 29 188

Utilised during the year (11) (25) (14) (50)

Reversed unused - (31) - (31)

Unwinding of discount 3 - 6 9
At 31 March 2014 125 333 275 733

Expected timing of cash flows: 31 March 2014 31 March 2013

£000 £000

In one year or less 359 265

Between one and five years 211 96

Over five years 163 256
733 617

Contingent liabilities relating to legal claims are shown in note 24.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

ROYAL DEVON AND EXETER NHS FOUNDATION TRUST - ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2013/14

NHS payables

Other trade payables

Accruals 

The "Other" category relates to injury benefit claims against the Trust. 

The NHS Litigation Authority is carrying provisions as at 31 March 2014 in relation to Existing Liabilities Scheme and in

relation to Clinical Negligence Scheme on behalf of the Trust of £43,777,000  (2013 - £39,056,000).

Legal claims relate to employee and public liability claims.

Trade payables - capital

Other payables

The first loan of £17 million, was entered into in the year ended 31 March 2006. It is a repayable over a 20 year period,

ending 30 March 2026, by equal quarterly instalments.  The interest rate of the loan is fixed at 4.55% per annum. 

The second loan of £10 million, was entered into in the year ended 31 March 2007, and is repayable over a 25 year

period, ending 30 March 2032, by equal quarterly instalments.  The interest rate of the loan is fixed at 5.05% per annum. 

Two loans are repayable to the Secretary of State for Health.

Non-current

The 2013 deferred income related to income received in advance of a building disposal. The element of the building was

disposed of in 2013/14 and the income received in advance was treated as part of the sale proceeds. No similar accrued

income is required this year.
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21. Prudential Borrowing Limit

22. Cash and cash equivalents

31 March 2014 31 March 2013

£000 £000

At 1 April 41,233 49,621

Net change in the year (2,813) (8,388)

At 31 March 38,420 41,233

Broken down into:

Cash at commercial banks and in hand 55 55

Cash with Government Banking Service 38,365 41,178

Cash and cash equivalents as in SoFP and Cash Flow Statement 38,420 41,233

23. Capital commitments

24. Contingent liabilities

31 March 2014 31 March 2013

£000 £000

Contingent NHSLA legal claims. - -

25. Related party transactions

Directors' remuneration and other benefits are disclosed within the operating expenditure, note 5.1.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

ROYAL DEVON AND EXETER NHS FOUNDATION TRUST - ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2013/14

The Trust is under the common control of the Board of Directors.  

Commitments under capital expenditure contracts, which relate to property, plant and equipment, at the statement of financial position date were

£1,624,000  (2013 - £11,928,000).

Cash and cash equivalents represents cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution with a short term maturity period of three months or

less from the date of the acquisition of the investment.

The Trust is a public benefit corporation established under the NHS Act 2006. Monitor, the Regulator of NHS foundation trusts has the power to

control the Trust within the meaning of IAS 27 'Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements' and therefore can be considered as the Trust's

parent. Monitor does not prepare group accounts but does prepare separate NHS Foundation Trust Consolidated Accounts. The NHS

Foundation Trust Consolidated Accounts are then included within the Whole of Government Accounts. Monitor is accountable to the Secretary of

State for Health. The Trust's ultimate parent is therefore HM Government.

The prudential borrowing code requirements in section 41 of the NHS Act 2006 have been repealed with effect from 1 April 2013 by the Health

and Social Care Act 2012. The accounts disclosures that were provided previously are no longer required.
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25. Related party transactions (continued)

Income Expenditure Receivables Payables

£000 £000 £000 £000

2013/14

Department of Health (excludes PDC dividend) 16,561 359 63 58

Health Education England 13,305 - - - 
NHS England (Includes Bristol North Somerset and South Gloucester LAT) 78,041 124 5,347 854

NHS North East West Devon CCG 211,070 1,627 - 2,371

NHS Somerset CCG 6,490 - - 18

NHS South Devon and Torbay CCG 15,187 1 183 42

Northern Devon Healthcare NHS Trust 8,316 2,063 584 440

2012/13

Bristol Primary Care Trust 36,592 - 1,543 - 

Department of Health (excludes PDC dividend) 13,033 10 1,060 11

NHS Devon Primary Care Trust 247,303 1,284 6,422 362

Northern Devon Healthcare NHS Trust 9,423 1,882 2,469 775

Somerset Primary Care Trust 6,587 2 - 3

South West Strategic Health Authority 14,044 52 27 - 

Torbay Primary Care Trust 5,004 - 39 - 

26. Financial instruments

Credit risk

Liquidity risk

Market risk

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

ROYAL DEVON AND EXETER NHS FOUNDATION TRUST - ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2013/14

The Royal Devon and Exeter NHS Foundation Trust is the Corporate Trustee of the Royal Devon and Exeter NHS Foundation Trust General Charity

("Charity"), registered charity number 1061384, registered office Bowmoor House, Barrack Road, Exeter, EX2 5DW. The Charity's objective is for any

charitable purpose and purposes relating to the National Health Service or mainly for the Royal Devon and Exeter NHS Foundation Trust. The Trust has

received during the year £58,000 (2012/13 - £57,000) revenue income and £46,000 (2012/13 - £320,000) capital contributions from the Charity. At 31

March 2014 the Trust was due £50,000 (2013 - £219,000) from the Charity. The Charity's most recent audited accounts were for the year ended 31 March

2013.  The Charity held aggregated reserves of £1,831,000.

A financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to both a financial asset in one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument in another entity. IFRS 7,

Financial Instruments: Disclosures, requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the risks an

entity faces in undertaking its activities. The financial assets and liabilities of the Trust are generated by day to day operational activities rather than being

held to change the risks facing the Trust in undertaking its activities.

Credit risk arises when the Trust is exposed to the risk that a party is unable to meet its obligation to the Trust in respect of financial assets due. 

Income from contracted activities with CCG and LAT are based upon a nationally set tariff, which under Payment by Results is paid to the Trust in twelve

monthly instalments throughout the year; any performance in excess of agreed targets is paid in accordance with the terms of the relevant contract.

Payment by instalments allows the Trust to accurately forecast cash inflows and through the preparation and review of cash flow forecasts, as well as the

controls in place governing the authorisation of expenditure, ensures that the Trust maintains sufficient funds to meet obligations as they fall due.

Market risk arises when the Trust is exposed to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in

market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.

During the year the Royal Devon and Exeter NHS Foundation Trust has had a significant number of material transactions with the Department of Health

("DoH") , and with other entities for which the DoH is regarded as the parent of those entities. Income from activity - by source (note 3.1) and the operating

expense (note 5) provides details of revenue transactions with those entities.  Below are considered to be the significant material transactions.

Financial assets mainly comprise monies due from clinical commissioning groups (CCG) and local area teams (LAT) for services rendered by the Trust in

fulfilment of service agreements, and cash balances held on deposit. It is considered that financial assets due from these organisations pose a low credit

risk as these entities are funded by HM Government. 

A significant proportion of the Trust's cash balances are held on deposit with the Government Banking Service, and as such the credit risk on these

balances is considered to be negligible. 

Liquidity risk arises if the Trust is unable to meet its obligations arising from financial liabilities. The Trust's financial liabilities mainly arise from net operating 

costs, which are mainly incurred under legally binding annual service agreements with CCG and LAT, and liabilities incurred through expenditure on capital

projects.  Other liquidity risks are loans repayable to the Foundation Trust Financing Facility.
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26. Financial instruments (continued)

Currency risk

26.1 Financial assets by category

Loans and 

receivables

£000

NHS receivables 13,893

Accrued income 3,237

Other receivables 2,610

Cash at bank and in hand 41,233

Total at 31 March 2013 60,973

NHS receivables 8,966

Accrued income 1,930

Other receivables 2,079

Cash at bank and in hand 38,420

Total at 31 March 2014 51,395

An analysis of any impairment of receivables is provided in note 17.1.

26.2 Financial liabilities by category

Other 

financial 

liabilities

£000

Borrowings 18,942

NHS payables 2,564

Other payables 8,553

Accruals 13,138

Capital payables 3,276

Provisions under contracts 617

Total at 31 March 2013 47,090

Borrowings 17,672

NHS payables 3,932

Other payables 6,002

Accruals 12,100

Capital payables 2,574

Provisions under contracts 733

Total at 31 March 2014 43,013

26.3 Fair value

27. Third party assets

Interest rate risk

Other price risk 

The Trust does not enter into contracts where cash flows are determined by the use of a variable interest rate.

For all of the financial assets and liabilities at 31 March 2014 and 31 March 2013 the fair value is equal to book value.

ROYAL DEVON AND EXETER NHS FOUNDATION TRUST - ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2013/14

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

The Trust enters into legally binding contracts with both its customers and suppliers that stipulate the price to be paid. As such it does

not consider itself exposed to material other price risk.

The Trust receives income denominated in sterling. The Trust, on occasion, does enter in agreements to make payments in non-

sterling denominated currencies. Non-sterling payments are principally short term liabilities and for non-significant amounts. Given

this, the Trust does not consider that it is exposed to any material currency risk and therefore has elected not to hedge its exposure.

The Trust held £nil cash at bank and in hand at 31 March 2014 (2013 - £nil) relating to monies held on behalf of patients.
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28.

IAS 27 - Separate Financial Statements

IAS 28 - Associates and joint ventures

IFRS 10 - Consolidated Financial Statements

IFRS 11 - Joint Arrangement

IFRS 12 - Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

IFRS 13 - Fair Value Measurement

IAS 32 - Financial Instruments: Disclosures

ROYAL DEVON AND EXETER NHS FOUNDATION TRUST - ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2013/14

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

The accounts have been prepared in accordance with the 2013/14 NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual (FT ARM) issued

by Monitor. The accounting policies contained in that manual follow International Reporting Standards (IFRS) and HM Treasury's

Financial Reporting Manual to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to NHS foundation trusts. Below is a list of recent

standards issued but not yet adopted in the NHS. It is not known or it is reasonably estimated that when these accounting standards

are adopted they will not materially affect the Trust's annual accounts.  

Accounting standards issued and not adopted

IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments
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